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LUKOIL is celebrating its 20th anniversary this year. Over 
the past twenty years we have achieved substantial 
results. We have grown from a few production assets 
in Russia into a global energy company with operations 
in 37 countries on four continents. We have worked 
consistently for two decades to make all aspects of our 
business more efficient and to maximize income to our 
shareholders. 

We have entered our third decade with confidence, and 
we are starting a new age which reflects the reality of 
today’s global business environment. In the fall of 2011 
we are going to present a new business development 
strategy. Taking into account the shrinkage of traditional 
hydrocarbon deposits, we will particularly focus on new 
technologies to make the best use of our reserve base in 
the future. This approach will give us new competitive 
advantages and increase our shareholder value.

The business of LUKOIL Group developed well in 2010 as 
the world economy made a gradual recovery after the 
global financial crisis. Ability of our Company to adapt 
quickly to a changing environment brought strong 
financial results, and we remained in the vanguard of 
the Russian oil & gas industry. Tight financial discipline, 
good decision-making, and efficient management 
gave a record level of free cash flow in the reporting 
year. We focused our efforts on priority projects and 
on improvement of the business efficiency, including 
a strong emphasis on innovation policy and business 
structure optimization. 

Net income of LUKOIL Group increased by 28.5% in 2010 
to $9,006 million, and return on average capital employ-
ed was 14.0%. Free cash flow reached $6,930 million. 
LUKOIL remains one of the most financially efficient oil 
companies in Russia, as shown by achievement of $11 net 
income per boe in 2010.

Growth of net income helped us to increase income 
to shareholders. We reacted to the decision by 
ConocoPhillips to exit its shareholding in LUKOIL by car-
rying out one of the largest-ever buyback transactions 
on the Russian market, with value in excess of $3.4 billion. 
Net profit per share increased by 32.2% in comparison 
with 2009 and approached $11.

We continue to expand our dividend payouts to 
shareholders. On April 26, 2011 the Board of Directors 
recommended the General Meeting of Shareholders 
to approve dividends of 59 roubles per share for 2010  
($1.94 at the exchange rate on December 31, 2010). So the 
share of net profits paid as dividends will be more than 
18%. Dividend yield in 2010 will be 3.5%. 

In the Exploration & Production segment the Company 
increased its hydrocarbon output thanks to strong 
growth of gas production, rapid development of 
international projects and stabilization of production 
levels in Western Siberia. Daily hydrocarbon production 
by the Group rose by 1.2% to 2.24 million barrels of oil 
equivalent in 2010. Output of marketable gas rose by 
24.5% thanks to increase of purchases by OJSC Gazprom.

Letter 
to SharehoLderS

Dear Shareholders,
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Launch of production in the Caspian region was a 
particularly important event for the Company in 2010: 
commissioning of the Yu. Korchagin field was the first of 
a series of start-ups scheduled by LUKOIL at promising 
areas in the Caspian, which will ensure quality growth of 
production in the long term. 

The Company is also pursuing expansion of its 
international E&P business. A consortium between 
LUKOIL and the American company Vanco won a tender 
for blocks 29 and 30 in the Black Sea, held as part of a  
10-year licensing round by Romania’s National Agency 
for Mineral Resources. 

A major achievement in the Company’s  exploration 
business last year was the discovery of a deepwater 
oil field on the continental slope of the Gulf of Guinea 
(Ghana). The discovery was made at the Dzata structure 
as part of the Cape Three Points Deep Water (CTPDW) 
project, and is at a depth of 2,000 meters. Well depth is 
about 4,500 meters below sea level.

In the Refining & Marketing segment the Company 
focused its attention on capacity modernization in order 
to achieve further increase of the rate of conversion. We 
have invested and continued to invest considerable sums 
in our oil refineries to ensure leading positions in Russia 
for production of high-quality and environmentally 
friendly fuels. In December 2010 we commissioned 
a catalytic cracking facility at our Nizhny Novgorod 

refinery, which is the largest catalytic cracking facility 
built in Russia for the last 25 years, enabling production 
of gasoline that fully meets Euro-4 standards.

Crude oil refining at Company facilities in 2010, including 
LUKOIL’s share of refining at the ISAB and TRN complexes, 
rose by 5.6% to 66.2 million tonnes.

We completed creation of the Group’s new Power 
Generation sector in 2010. LUKOIL Group now has power 
generating capacity of  4.4 GW and we plan to launch 
a further 600 MW capacity in 2011 using advanced gas 
turbines, which will make power and heat production 
significantly more efficient. Electricity output in 2010 was 
close to the level in 2009 and totaled 14.6 billion kWh. 
Heat production in 2010 was 15.3 million Gcals. 

Innovation policy is becoming a key aspect of Company 
development, as application of new technologies 
increases efficiency of the business. We are now the first 
Russian Company with experience of work on Africa’s 
deep-water continental shelf. We are continuing to 
perfect our technologies for production of heavy and 
high-viscosity oils in Russia and we accounted for 20% 
of total Russian output of oil in these categories in 2010. 
Testing is being carried out of extraction techniques for 
low-permeability reservoirs in Bazhenov strata. These 
strata are a close geological analogue of the well-known 
Bakken formations in the U.S. Their enormous potential 
for oil production has been held back by the lack of a 

Valery Grayfer

Chairman of the Board of Directors of  LUKOIL

VaGit alekperoV

President of LUKOIL 
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suitable technology. We are now working to address 
this task. We are also in dialogue with partners in Saudi 
Arabia on development of a project for extraction of non-
traditional gas from reservoirs with low permeability.

In 2010 the Group created a unified corporate R&D center, 
LLC LUKOIL-Engineering. The task of the new LLC will 
be to organize and carry out R&D work in the geology, 
development and production spheres at all LUKOIL 
operating sites. A business structure has also been set up 
at OJSC RITEK for work with complex and unproductive 

fields, and will spearhead use of innovative approaches 
in oil production. 

LUKOIL is entering a new era of self-sufficient 
development in its jubilee year, 2011. Our main task in 
2011 will be to configure a new development strategy 
based on strong cash flow, increase of oil recovery 
ratios, careful choice of investment projects, innovative 
development, maintenance of strong competitive 
positions, and growth of Company profitability   and 
capitalization.

Chairman of the Board of Directors of LUKOIL                                                                                       VaLery grayFer

President of LUKOIL                                                                                                                                           VagIt aLeKperoV
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LUKOIL Is a majOr InternatIOnaL vertIcaLLy-Integrated OIL & gas cOmpany, 
accOUntIng fOr 2.2% Of gLObaL OUtpUt Of crUde OIL

The strong position, which the Company enjoys today, 
is the fruit of 20 years work to expand the reserve base, 
increasing business scale by seeking out and executing 
strategic transactions. 

GeoloGical exploration 
or preparation for production

production of oil, Gas 
& Gas condensate

production of oil & Gas 

petrochemicals

power Generation

marketinG

• 2.2% of global production of crude oil1

• 17.8% of Russian crude oil production and 18.2% of Russian crude  
oil refining

• One of the biggest Russian oil business groups with $100 billion 
revenue and net income in excess of $9 billion 

• A leader among Russian companies by information openness and 
transparency. The first Russian company to obtain full listing for its 
shares on the London Stock Exchange 

• The only privately owned Russian oil company, in which the largest 
part of shares belongs to minorities  

• One of the biggest tax payers in the Russian Federation. Total tax 
payment by the Company in 2010 was $30.2 billion

           1 Figures from EIG

LUKOIL In the WOrLd
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2010 2009 Change, %

Sales, $ million 104,956 81,083 29.4

EBITDA, $ million 16,049  13,475  19.1

Net income, $ million 9,006 7,011 28.5

Basic EPS, $ 10.95  8.28  32.2

ROACE, % 14.0 11.8 –

Capital expenditures, $ million 6,844  6,534  4.7

Investments (acquisition of subsidiaries and minority stakes)1, $ million 1,124  2,945  -61,8

Share price (end of year, MICEX), roubles  1,732.02    1,695.47          2.16   

Dividend per share, roubles 59 52       13.46   

Main operating indicators    

Oil reserves, million barrels 13,319  13,696  -2.75

Gas reserves, billion cubic feet 23,615  22,850  3.3

Hydrocarbon reserves, million boe 17,255  17,504  -1.4

Crude oil production, million barrels 708.1  719.6 -1.6

Production of marketable natural gas, million cubic meters 12,770  10,218 25.0

Production of marketable associated gas, million cubic meters 5,784  4,680 23.6

Production of marketable hydrocarbons, thousand boe per day 2,239  2,212  1.2

Throughputs at own refineries and at ISAB and TRN, million tonnes 66.2  62.7  5.6

Gas processing, million cubic meters 3,178 2,962 7.3

Production of petrochemicals, million tonnes 1.036 0.902 14.9

Crude oil exports, million tonnes 40.59 42.02 -3.4

Petroleum product exports, million tonnes 25.82 27.76 -6.9

Crude oil sales, million tonnes 51.38 49.97 2.8

Wholesale sales of petroleum products, million tonnes 91.02 86.68 5.0

Retail sales of petroleum products, million tonnes 14.34 14.08 1.8

Number of filling stations (owned, leased and franchises) 6,508 6,620 -1.7

Average number of employees, thousand 130.0 143.4 -9.4

1 Including prepayments related to acquisition of subsidiaries and non-controlling interests and non-cash transactions.

Hydrocarbon reserves and production data include the Group share in equity affiliates.

Main Operating and Financial 
indicatOrs
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JanUarY

LUKOIL signs a contract for development and production 
at the West Qurna-2 field in Iraq. Parties to the contract 
are Iraq’s state-owned South Oil Company and a consor-
tium of contractors consisting the Iraqi state North Oil 
Company (25%), LUKOIL (56.25%) and Norwegian Statoil 
(18.75%). The contract is for 20 years with an option to ex-
tend for 5 years. Drilling at the field is scheduled to start 
in 2011, and production should begin in early 2013.  

LUKOIL approves an Energy-Saving Program for Group 
companies in 2010 and for the period 2010–2012. The 
Program will focus on better use of energy, and installa-
tion of new energy-efficient technology and equipment. 
The Company should obtain energy savings in excess 
of 2.4 billion kWh and more than 970,000 Gcals in 2010-
2012 as a result of the Program. Target savings in money 
terms are 9.2 billion roubles (about $300 million).

FeBrUarY

A consortium consisting of LUKOIL, the US company 
Vanco and the Ghana National Oil Company (GNPC) 
discovers substantial oil reserves at the Dzata structure, 
which is part of the CTPDW block, on the Ghana shelf in 
the Gulf of Guinea. The exploration well, Dzata-1, which 
made the discovery, has subsea depth of 4,500 meters. 
Further exploration is planned for purposes of reserve 
assessment and commercialization. 

MarcH

LUKOIL approves a one-year R&D program for the Group 
in 2010 and a medium-term program of R&D work for  
the period 2011–2012. The one-year program includes 

more than 800 research, design and technology tasks 
relating to field development as well as provision of 
various technology services. Financing is over 4 billion 
roubles (about $140 million). Financing for the medium-
term program is 12 billion roubles (over $400 million). 
Most of spending in both programs is focused on the 
exploration & production segment.

april

LUKOIL produces first oil at the Yu. Korchagin field in the 
Russian sector of the Caspian Sea. The field has 3Р reserve 
in excess of 250 million boe. Peak annual production 
will be 2.4 million tonnes of crude oil and 1 billion cubic 
meters of gas. Investments for development of the field 
in 2004-2009 were about $1.2 billion.

LUKOIL is acclaimed best Russian company for investor 
relations based on a survey by Institutional Investor 
magazine.  More than 1,000 analysts and 650 fund 
managers from 531 companies took part in the survey.

eVents in 2010
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JUne

LUKOIL holds its Annual General Meeting of Share-
holders, which approves the Annual Report for 2009 and 
annual accounts. Shareholders also approved payment 
of dividends for 2009 in the amount of 52 roubles per  
ordinary share ($1.72 at the exchange rate of 31.12.2009).

JUlY

A consortium of LUKOIL and the US company Vanco wins 
a tender for exploration and development of the Est Rap-
sodia and Trident blocks in the Romanian sector of the 
Black Sea. The blocks have total area of 2,000 km2, and 
sea depth in the region is 90–1,000 meters. 3D seismic 
work is planned in order to clarify geological structure at 
the blocks. The LUKOIL share in the project is 80%, and 
the remaining 20% is held by Vanco. 

The Board of Directors of LUKOIL approves a Code of 
Business Ethics. The Code regulates relations between 
employees and LUKOIL shareholders and investors, 
business partners, state authorities and public organi-
zations. It also specifies corporate ethics and social 
responsibility. 

A LUKOIL organization signs a agreement to acquire 7.6% 
of shares of LUKOIL from ConocoPhillips at $53.25 per 
share to overall value of $3.4 billion. The transaction was 
completed in August 2010. The agreement also includes 
a sixty-day option 2010 for acquisition of up to 11.61% of 
LUKOIL shares in ADR form.

aUgUst

LUKOIL Group takes an unsecured $1.5 billion credit.  
The facility is for one year and is to be used for share buy-
back from ConocPhillips.

septeMBer

LUKOIL and a group of investors, with Unicredit Bank 
acting as organizer, acquires 42.5 million common shares 
of LUKOIL in ADR form. This transaction represented 
partial use by the Company of the options provided 
under the agreement with ConocoPhillips, which was 
signed in July 2010. The transaction sum was about 
$2.4 billion. The option was exercised in the framework 
of a program, approved by the Board of Directors, for 
increase of income to shareholders by market purchase 
of shares.

OctOBer

LUKOIL begins retail sales of Euro-5 diesel fuel in Russia. 
The fuel is produced at Company refineries in Nizhny 
Novgorod, Perm and Ukhta. Euro-5 diesel has a high 
cetane number, which optimizes combustion of the fuel 
mixture, reduces noise and vibration, prevents corrosion 
processes, eases engine ignition and saves fuel. 

nOVeMBer

 
LUKOIL takes 5th place among oil & gas companies in 
Europe, Middle East and Africa and 10th place globally in 
the Platts Top 250 Global Energy Company Rankings for 
2010. Companies were assessed by four main criteria — 
asset size, turnover, income, profitability and return on 
average capital employed. The Company took 8th and 
12th places in the same Platts rankings in 2009. 

LUKOIL places two Eurobond tranches with overall value 
of $1 billion at 6.125 coupon rate. The first tranche of 
$800 million gives 6.25% yield to maturity and matures in 
2020, and the second tranche of $200 million gives 5.80% 
yield to maturity and has maturity in 2020. Funds raised 
from the placement were used for general corporate 
purposes, including repayment of existing debt.
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deceMBer

LUKOIL takes second place among the country’s 75 
biggest companies in a ranking by levels of social 
responsibility, prepared for 2010 by Trud newspaper and 
the Agency for Political and Economic Communications. 
For purposes of the ranking ‘social responsibility’ is 
understood to mean creation and preservation of jobs, 
tax discipline, delivering on commitments to employees, 
and playing an active part in projects to develop social 
infrastructure. The ranking is based on results of a 
survey among representatives of trade unions, research 
institutes, business associations and recruitment 
agencies, as well as members of the Social Chamber and 
deputies of the Russian State Duma. 

LUKOIL signs a memorandum of understanding with the 
Skolkovo Foundation. The document states the LUKOIL 
will apply its R&D capacity in such spheres as energy 
efficiency in oil production and refining, clean and 
alternative energies, IT development, etc. Signing of an 
agreement on participation by LUKOIL in work by the 
Foundation is planned for spring 2011. 

LUKOIL wins the nomination for ‘Company with Best 
Corporate Governance’ in the annual competition, 
‘Russian Corporate Governance Leaders’, organized 
by the Association for Protection of Investor Rights, 

which brings together some of the largest Russian and 
foreign institutional investors. Winners are determined 
by a three-stage secret ballot. Representatives of the 
investment community acclaimed LUKOIL for operating a 
system of corporate governance which has set standards 
in Russia over a number of years.
 

LUKOIL places $1.5 billion of convertible bonds at 2.625% 
coupon rate, redeemable in June 2015. The bonds are 
convertible into ADRs trading on the London Stock 
Exchange, each of which represents one ordinary share 
of LUKOIL. The conversion price was set at $73.7087 per 
ADR. The transaction represents the first large-scale issue 
of convertible debt instruments by a Russian issuer since 
the start of the crisis period. The LUKOIL bonds found 
strong among from the investment community thanks 
to the Company’s high investment rating and positive 
attitude of investors towards the oil & gas sector. 

LUKOIL starts production of Euro-4 automotive gasoline. 
Launch of Euro-4 gasoline production was made possi-
ble by commissioning in December 2010 of a catalytic 
cracking complex at the Nizhny Novgorod Refinery. In-
vestments in the project were about $1 billion. Euro-4 
automotive gasoline gives ‘clean’ exhaust gas, minimiz-
ing content of sulphur oxides and products of incom-
plete combustion of aromatic hydrocarbons, including 
the particularly dangerous carcinogen and mutagen, 
benzopyrene.  



Oil & gas explOratiOn  
and prOdUctiOn1

12
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We focused our efforts in 2010 on efficient development 
of the Exploration & Production segment, which 
generates more than 69% of Company net income, and 
our efforts gave substantial results. 

WE WERE ABLE TO RAISE AVERAGE DAILY OUTPUT OF 
HYDROCARBONS BY 1.2% THROUGH  INCREASE OF GAS 
PRODUCTION AND REDUCING DECLINE RATES OF OIL 
OUTPUT IN WESTERN SIBERIA.  DAILY PRODUCTION OF 
HYDROCARBONS WAS 2.239 MILLION BOE, CONSISTING 
OF 1.940 MILLION BARRELS FOR CRUDE OIL AND 0.299 
MILLION BOE FOR GAS.

Start of oil production at the Yu. Korchagin field in the 
Caspian Sea and obtaining of tax preferences for the 
project are important achievements in 2010. Starting 
from December 2010 oil exported from the Yu. Korchagin 

field is subject to export duties at a special low rate, 
comparable to that used for oil from fields in Eastern 
Siberia. 

price and tax enVirOnMent

 

Crude Oil Market

International prices for crude oil were higher in 2010 
thanks to recovery of the world economy and soft 
monetary policies by central banks. Average price of 
Brent crude rose significantly by 28.9% in 2010 compared 
with 2009 to a level of $79.5 per barrel. Most of the 
growth in oil prices occurred at the end of 2010.

Creating potential for long-term Company growth through reserve replacement in 
traditional production regions and accelerated development of new production regions 
in Russia and abroad.

Improving efficiency of geological exploration by careful selection of projects and use  
of the latest technologies.

Steady increase of hydrocarbon production in the medium term. 

Improvement of production indicators and efficient control over lifting costs through 
application of the latest technologies, and through optimization of the well stock  
and field development systems. 

Greater use of advanced technology in operations.

Application of financial criteria to assess projects and business results, and to optimize 
the asset portfolio.

strategY

Indicator 2010 2009 Change, %

Revenue, $ million 36,976 24,353 51.8

EBITDA, $ million 11,390 10,175 11.9

Net income, $ million 6,226 5,456 14.1

Capital expenditure, $ million 4,933 4,687 5.2

E&P sEgmEnt indicators 
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Crude oil prices in the first half of the year were in a 
corridor between $67 and $86 per barrel. Favorable 
macroeconomic statistics from the US and developing 
markets indicating the recovery in the consumer demand 
served as a growth driver for oil, but there was negative 
impact from decline of consumption in the Eurozone as a 
result of the debt crisis. Sentiment on commodity markets 
improved in the second half of the year. This was due, 
firstly, to the launch of ‘quantitative easing’ programs in a 
number of developed countries , which helped liquidity 
on goods and commodity markets and also on stock 
exchanges, supporting prices for oil and shares (further 
monetary emissions in the US weakened the dollar, 
which contributed to oil price growth). Secondly, steady 
growth of crude oil imports by China in an environment 
of refining volume growth and stable production roused 
expectations of further growth of demand in China. And, 
thirdly, onset of a cold winter with heavy snowfalls in 
Europe drove up demand for fuel oil.

The Company’s main operating regions, accounting for 
93% of crude oil production, are the oil & gas provinces 
of the Russian Federation (Western Siberia, Southern 
and Central Russia, and Timan-Pechora). So the price 
for Russian Urals export blend has direct impact on the 
Company’s financial results. The average Urals price rose 
by 27.9% in 2010 compared with 2009 and was $78.3 
per barrel. The average price differential between Urals 
and Brent in 2010 was $1.2 compared with $0.5 in 2009. 
Weaker positions of Urals blend on the world market were 
due to increased output of competing types of crude by 
OPEC members as the world economy recovered. 

For objective assessment of the market environment, in 
which the Company operated in 2010, it is important to 
take account of the tax burden on Russian oil exporters 

and how it changed in comparison with 2009. The main 
types of tax payable by oil companies in Russia, including 
LUKOIL, are mineral extraction tax, excises and export 
duties. Rates of these taxes are tied to international prices 
for oil and vary as a function of international price levels.

As a result of growth of oil prices in 2010 the average 
mineral extraction tax rate for oil  rose by 39.5% in dollar 
terms to $13.8 per barrel.

The Company pays export duties on crude oil exports 
from Russia calculated using a progressive scale based 
on Urals prices. Increase of export duty on Urals oil in 
2010 was 52%, and the average duty rate for the year was 
$37.3 per barrel.

THE PRICE OF URALS OIL FOR A RUSSIAN EXPORTER NET 
OF TAXES (THE INTERNATIONAL MARKET PRICE WITHOUT 
EXPORT TARIFFS AND MINERAL EXTRACTION TAX) WAS $27.2 
PER BARREL IN 2010. THE SHARE OF MINERAL EXTRACTION 
TAX AND EXPORT TARIFFS IN THE AVERAGE ANNUAL OIL 
PRICE WAS 65.3%, WHICH IS ROUGHLY EQUAL TO THE 
AVERAGE LEVEL IN THE LAST FIVE YEARS.

LUKOIL pays taxes in international projects based on 
production sharing agreements (PSAs), concession 
agreements and current legislation in respective 
countries. For example, the concession agreement in 
Egypt makes the Company liable only for income tax and 
a tax on personnel, with exemption from other taxes, 
tariffs and duties. Income tax is paid for LUKOIL by the 
Egyptian General Petroleum Corporation from LUKOIL’s 
share of production. In Kazakhstan a new Tax Code 
came into force from January 1, 2009. It includes several 
significant changes with respect to Company projects: 
taxes paid by the Company are now governed by current 
legislation (at the date when a contract for mineral use 
comes into force), making LUKOIL liable for payment 
of income tax, tax on super profits, mineral extraction 
tax and a progressive rent tax. The Government of 
Kazakhstan presented plans in 2009 to lower corporate 
income tax rates in 2010-2011. However, no decision on 
this issue was taken in 2010.

Taxation of projects regulated by PSAs remains as stated 
in the agreements.

Gas market

There was a sharp increase of European spot prices 
for natural gas at the end of 2010 due to growth of oil 
prices, industrial recovery after the global recession, and 
cold weather in Europe at the start of the winter. Spot 
prices for gas on European exchanges exceeded prices 
in Gazprom’s long-term export contracts for the first 

rEvEnuE structurE of a russian 
crudE oil ExPortEr, $ per barrel
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time in a year and a half. At the same time gas prices on 
the American market were almost twice lower than in 
Europe, and this encouraged rapid developing of shale 
gas production in America. However, reserves of shale 
gas in the US continued to grow faster than production.

The price environment on the Russian domestic gas 
market remained unchanged in 2010. The average price 
of marketable gas rose slightly by 4.5% to $34.9 per 
thousand cubic meters due to rouble appreciation. 

The geography of LUKOIL’s gas operations (most of 
the Company’s gas is produced in Russia) entails that 
most of it is sold to OJSC Gazprom and to other Russian 
consumers. Most of LUKOIL’s Russian gas output is sold 
at the well and then transported through the Unified 
Gas Supply System, which is owned by Gazprom. LUKOIL 
has no opportunity to export gas, because of Gazprom’s 
ownership of the Supply System and its monopoly 
on exports. Gazprom increased its purchases from 
independent gas producers in Russia during 2010 thanks 
to increase of global demand. This resulted in signifi-
cant growth of Company output of marketable gas (by 
27.9%). Most of the growth was at the Nakhodkinskoye 
field, where production in 2010 rose by 37.2% to 8,146 
million cubic meters. All of this gas was sold to Gazprom. 

The Company pays natural gas extraction tax, rates 
of which have remained unchanged since 2008 at  
147 roubles per thousand cubic meters. 

Production of marketable gas by LUKOIL in international 
projects rose by 16.2% in 2010. More than 50% of gas 
production outside Russia is at the Khauzak-Shady 

project in Uzbekistan. Gas from Khauzak-Shady is sold 
at an official price, fixed by agreements between Russia 
and Uzbekistan. The price in 2010 exceeded $140 per 
1,000 cubic meters. Royalty is paid on production at a 
rate of 30% as part of the PSA agreement. LUKOIL has a 
seven-year holiday from income tax, beginning from the 
start of production, at the end of which income tax will 
also be payable at the rate fixed in the PSA. The Uzbek 
Government share in profit production varies depending 
on the project’s internal rate of return for LUKOIL Group. 

Natural gas produced as part of the Karachaganak 
project in Kazakhstan is supplied to the Orenburg  
Gas-processing Plant. Taxation in this project is specified 
by terms of the PSA.

Gas produced at the Shakh-Deniz field is supplied to the 
domestic market in Azerbaijan and also via the Southern 
Caucasus pipeline to Georgia and Turkey, where it is sold 
at market prices. Under terms of the PSA in Azerbaijan, 
LUKOIL is exempt from payment of taxes in cash on 
production and export of gas. The only significant tax 
paid by the Company is income tax at a fixed rate (the tax 
is withheld as a share of production).

inFlatiOn and excHange rates

LUKOIL Group produces most of its hydrocarbons 
inside Russia, so the largest part of Company costs 
are in roubles, while a significant share of revenues is 
expressed in US dollars or is tied to dollar oil prices to 
a significant extent. So rouble inflation and fluctuation 
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of the exchange rate can have substantial impact on 
Company results. Purchasing power of the US dollar in 
Russia, calculated from the $/rouble exchange rate and 
the Russian inflation rate, declined by 11.6% in 2010 
compared with 2009. 

This development was one of the main causes of 
growth in lifting costs per unit of production in Russia 
last year: lifting costs rose from $3.53 to $4.11 per boe, 
or by 16.4%. Average unit lifting costs for the Group 
increased by 15.7% from $3.56 to $4.12 per boe in 2010. 
Capital expenditures in the E&P segment rose by 5.2% to  
$4.9 billion.

LUKOIL pursued its strategy in 2010 for strengthening 
of the Company’s financial position by focus on high-
margin projects and increase of cash flows. As a result, 
most of capex growth in 2010 related to international 
projects, while growth of the indicator in Russia was only 
0.5% (to $3.9 billion).

acqUisitiOns

The Company demonstrated its commitment to growth 
of shareholder value and increase of shareholder income 
in 2010. Following the decision by ConocoPhillips to exit 
its shareholding in LUKOIL, our Company carried out 
one of the largest buy-back transactions in the history of 
the Russian stock market, with value of $3.4 billion. The 
operation was completed in August 2010. By carrying out 
the buy-back, LUKOIL protected its shareholders from a 

sharp fall in the share price, which would have occurred, 
if the ConocoPhillips stake had been sold on the open 
market. ConocoPhillips had fully exited share capital of 
LUKOIL as of February 7, 2011.

BEST EFFORTS OF THE COMPANY TO MAXIMIzE 
SHAREHOLDER INCOME LED TO INCREASE OF EARNINGS 
PER SHARE FROM $8.28 IN 2009 TO $10.95 IN 2010. 

The Company continued increase of its production 
capacities in 2010 through acquisition of highly efficient 
assets. A consortium of LUKOIL and the US company 
Vanco won a tender for exploration and development 
rights at the Est Rapsodia and Trident blocks in the 
Romanian sector of the Black Sea. The blocks cover 
an areas of 2,000 km2, with water depth of 90–1,000 
meters. LUKOIL has an 80% stake in the project, and the 
remaining 20% is held by Vanco. 

OptiMizatiOn OF cOrpOrate 

strUctUre and cOnsOlidatiOn

The total number of LUKOIL subsidiaries and affiliates 
decreased by 19 in 2010 and totalled 362 (subsidiaries 
and affiliates determined in accordance with US GAAP), 
including disposal of 13 non-core assets. Several market-
ing operators were augmented by their merger with 
subsidiaries. Consolidation of 100% of shares in CJSC 
LUKOIL-Neftekhim was completed and target ownership 
structure for petrochemical assets was approved.
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The Group continued its work in 2010 to obtain new 
licenses for mineral use and optimize its existing license 
portfolio in order to raise overall quality of the mineral 
base. LUKOIL obtained amendments and additions to 
conditions of its mineral use rights, extending the period 
of validity of its rights in some cases, as well as clarifying 
commitments of Group companies to achieve specific 
output levels in accordance with project documentation.

LUKOIL GROUP COMPANIES HAD 421 LICENSES ON 
THEIR BALANCE SHEETS AT THE END OF 2010, OF 
WHICH 340 WERE FOR EXPLORATION & PRODUCTION 
OF HYDROCARBONS, 18 WERE FOR GEOLOGICAL 
STUDY, INCLUDING PROSPECTING AND EVALUATION OF 
MINERAL FIELDS, AND 63 WERE FOR GEOLOGICAL STUDY, 
EXPLORATION AND PRODUCTION OF HYDROCARBONS.

The Company obtained 11 new licenses for use of mineral 
resources in 2010, of which 2 were based on proof of a 
field discovery, 8 were obtained as a result of auctions 
and competitions, and one was obtained through 
application for geological study. Spending on license 
acquisitions was $15 million. 

LUKOIL obtained reissue of 71 licenses for use of mineral 
resources in 2010 in connection with further restructuring 
of oil & gas production companies within the Group.

The Group registered 16 additions to licenses in 2010 
in order to extend their period of validity. Work also 
continued on amendments and additions to current 
license agreements. A total of 35 additions were obtained 
to reflect changes in geological exploration schedules, 
clarification of borders of license areas, confirmation 

of ownership rights to production from license areas, 
and clarifications concerning obligations to achieve 
specific production levels in accordance with project 
documentation, as well as other issues. 

licensing
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Oil and gas reserVes

ProvEd oil & gas rEsErvEs of luKoil grouP by rEgions in 2010
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Reserve replacement is fundamental to long-term, 
sustainable development of the Company. LUKOIL 
Group carries out extensive geological exploration work 
in Russia and abroad in order to increase its reserves, 
and also monitors new projects and assets, which could 
represent acquisition targets, on a constant basis. 

ACCORDING TO DATA AUDITED BY MILLER AND LENTS 
(USA), THE COMPANY’S PROVED RESERVES OF HYDRO-
CARBONS AS OF JANUARY 1, 2011 WERE 17.255 BILLION 
BOE, CONSISTING OF 13.319 BILLION BARRELS OF OIL 
AND 23.615 TRILLION CUBIC FEET OF GAS.

The audit was carried out to the standards of the 
US Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). The 
Company decided in 2009 to adopt SEC standards for 
measurement of reserves in order to ensure greater 
transparency and comparability of Group reserve figures 
with those of competitors.

In accordance with SEC requirements, proved reserves 
that are not in development can only be recognized if 
there is an approved development plan. The plan must 
stipulate that development of the relevant reserves will 
start within five years, unless specific circumstances 
justify a longer period before the start of development. 
The audit of LUKOIL reserves took account of changes in 
development plans contained in the Group’s Strategic 
Development Program. 

LUKOIL also completed an evaluation of contingent 
resources under PRMS classification in 2010. Unaudited 
figures as of January 1, 2011  showed 3C contingent 

resources of 10.7 billion barrels of oil equivalent. These 
oil and gas volumes will be moved from resources to 
reserves in the future as the time for their development 
approaches, as the Company’s associated gas utilization 
program moves forward, and as new technologies make 
production of hard-to-recover reserves commercially 
viable.

The greater part of the Company’s proved reserves 
of oil are in Western Siberia, Timan-Pechora and the 
Urals region. The main part of proved gas reserves are 
in the Bolshekhetskaya Depression (Western Siberia), 
Uzbekistan and the Caspian region. 60% of Company 
proved reserves are in development (66% of oil reserves 
and 38% of gas reserves). This reserve structure reflects 
large potential of the Company to increase production in 
the medium term, particularly production of gas. 

Most of the Company’s proved hydrocarbon reserves are 
conventional. Only about 4% of the total represent high-
viscosity oil and 4% are at offshore fields. This reserve 
structure enables the Company to control development 
costs in an efficient manner and to bring new fields into 
production rapidly.

Growth of proved hydrocarbon reserves in 2010 as a 
result of geological exploration work, production drilling 
and acquisitions was 687 million boe, representing 
82% of production during the year. Growth due to 
geological exploration work and production drilling was  
625 million boe, and 62 million boe were added as a 
result of acquisitions. So organic growth of hydrocarbon 
reserves compensated 75% of production (81% for 
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oil and 44% for gas). Most of the organic growth of 
proved oil reserves was obtained in Western Siberia 
(68% of the total) and the Komi Republic (12% of the 
total). Organic growth of proved gas reserves was also 
obtained in Western Siberia (61% of the total, including 
35% at Bolshekhetskaya Depression) and in international 
projects: Kandym-Khauzak-Shady and Karachaganak 
(30% of the total for gas).

Proved reserves were lowered by 102 million boe in 
2010 due to revision of earlier evaluations. One cause 
of the revision was worsening of economic parameters 
following increase of mineral extraction tax on oil and 
free gas. 

Inclusion of the Company’s stake in proved reserves at 
the West Qurna-2 field, amounting to 62 million barrels of 
oil, did not have significant impact on total reserve levels 
for the Company, since the preliminary development 
plan only takes account of volumes brought into the first 
stage of development (‘early oil’). However, significant 
increase of reserves is expected in the future as drilling-
over of the field continues in the second development 
stage.

OVERALL, THE FIGURES FOR 2010 SHOW THAT LUKOIL 
REMAINS AMONG RUSSIAN AND INTERNATIONAL LEAD-
ERS BY VOLUME OF PROVED HYDROCARBON RESERVES. 
THE GROUP’S RATIO OF PROVED HYDROCARBON  
RESERVES TO PRODUCTION IS 21 YEARS (19 YEARS FOR 
OIL AND 31 YEARS FOR GAS).

January 1, 2011 Oil Gas Oil + gas 1

million barrels billion cubic feet million boe

Proved reserves 13,319 23,615 17,255

of which:

Developed 8,790 8,882 10,270

Undeveloped 4,529 14,733 6,985

Probable reserves 6,474 11,888 8,455

Possible reserves 2,780 2,318 3,167

1 The ratio used for recalculation of cubic feet as barrels of oil equivalent (boe) is: 1 boe = 6,000 cubic feet

oil & gas rEsErvEs of luKoil grouP

3P crudE oil rEsErvEs, billion boe

3P gas rEsErvEs, trillion cubic feet

3P hydrocarbon rEsErvEs and 
contingEnt rEsourcEs, billion boe
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geOlOgical explOratiOn

 main gEological ExPloration rEgions of luKoil grouP
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Geological exploration work by companies of LUKOIL 
Group in 11 countries around the world is focused 
on replacement of production with new commercial 
reserves of hydrocarbons, and preparation of reserves for 
rapid launch and expansion of production in promising 
regions, both in Russia and abroad (Timan-Pechora, the 
Northern Caspian, the Bolshekhetskaya Depression, 
Ghana). The Company uses the latest technologies in 
order maximize efficiency of its geological exploration. 

THE MOST NOTABLE ACHIEVEMENT OF LUKOIL’S 
GEOLOGICAL EXPLORATION WORK IN 2010 WAS THE 
FIRST-EVER DISCOVERY BY A RUSSIAN OIL COMPANY OF 
A DEEPWATER OIL & GAS FIELD. THE DISCOVERY WAS 
MADE ON THE CONTINENTAL SLOPE IN THE GULF OF 
GUINEA, OFF THE COAST OF GHANA, AS PART OF THE 
CTPDW PROJECT. THE FIELD IS A PART OF THE DzATA 
STRUCTURE, AND IS AT A SEA DEPTH OF 2,000 METERS. 
THE WELL, WHICH DISCOVERED THE FIELD, WAS DRILLED 
TO A DEPTH OF 4,500 METERS BELOW SEA LEVEL.

Most of the Company’s geological oil & gas exploration 
work in 2010 was concentrated in Western Siberia, the 
Timan-Pechora oil province and international projects. 
The Company’s largest prospecting projects in 2010 
were further study of the Tsentralno-Astrakhanskoye gas 
and condensate field and work in the offshore Caspian 
to assess oil & gas prospects in Neocomian sediments at 
the Rakushechnoye field and Lower-Chalk and Jurassic 
sediments at the Ukatnaya structure. Prospecting work 
also continued in 2010 to study geological structure and 
oil & gas potential at the Denisovskaya Depression in the 
Komi Republic. Outside Russia we carried out studies of 
prospects on the West African shelf, in the Aral region 
and also as part of the Riyadh project in Saudi Arabia. 
Geological exploration work in other regions was focused 
on preparation and reconnaissance of prospective new 
geological targets and additional exploration at fields, 
which were discovered earlier.

The Company substantially increased 2D seismic work 
in 2010 to locate and detail geological structures and to 
prepare for drilling of prospecting and exploration wells, 
shooting a total of 6,178 km of 2D in comparison with 
2,446 km in 2009. International projects accounted for 
17% of the total, reflecting expansion of the Company’s 
operations outside Russia. 3D seismic volumes also 
increased, reaching 5,840 km2, of which 30% was as part 
of international projects. Quality of our seismic work and 
speed of processing and interpretation have improved 
in recent years, due particularly to application of new 
computer technologies. 

HIGH STANDARDS OF THE GROUP’S SEISMIC WORK ARE 
DEMONSTRATED BY CONSISTENT SUCCESS RATES ABOVE 
70% IN PROSPECTING AND EXPLORATION DRILLING

LUKOIL companies are in the process of switching to 
denser and wider-amplitude observation systems in 
order to obtain more informative data and achieve more 
accurate forecasting of filtration-volume characteristics 

3d sEismic, km2 2d sEismic, km

ExPloration drilling by rEgions 
(2010), %
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of reservoirs, and of their fracturing qualities. Surveys at 
the Tsentralno-Astrakhanskoye, Rossokhinskoye, Severo-
Vozeiskoye and Sredne-Nazymskoye fields are using 
high-amplitude 3D techniques.

LUKOIL completed 793 km of electrical exploration in 
2010. Vertical seismic profiling, which enables detailing 
of geological structure around an existing well, was 
carried out at eight wells. Total exploration drilling in 
2010 amounted to 118,800 meters, and efficiency was 
1,143 tonnes of conditional fuel per meter. A total of 32 
prospecting and exploration wells were completed in 
2010 of which 22 were productive. 

Group companies discovered six fields in 2010  
(Olginskoye in Tatarstan, Dulepovskoye in Perm Territory, 

South-East Kyzylbairak and West Aral  in Uzbekistan, 
Arcadia in Egypt and Dzata in Ghana), as well as 25 new oil 
deposits at fields in Western Siberia and Perm Territory.

Increase of proved reserves under SEC standards during 
2010 through geological exploration and additional 
information obtained in the course of production drilling 
amounted to 625 million boe. Most of the organic growth 
of proved oil reserves was obtained in Western Siberia 
(68% of the total) and the Komi Republic (12% of the 
total). Organic growth of proved gas reserves was also 
obtained in Western Siberia (61% of the total, including 
35% at Bolshekhetskaya Depression) and in international 
projects: Kandym-Khauzak-Shady and Karachaganak 
(30% of the total for gas). Spending by LUKOIL Group on 
geological exploration work in 2010 was $435 million.

ElEctric ExPloration, km sPEnding on gEological 
ExPloration, $ million
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rUssia

Exploration drilling in Russia in 2010 totalled 102,000 me-
ters, 2D seismic exploration was 5,076 km and 3D seismic 
was 4,116 km2. Spending on geological exploration in 
Russia was $236 million.

Western Siberia

KHANTY-MANSIYSK AUTONOMOUS DISTRICT (YUGRA)

The Khanty-Mansiysk Autonomous District (Yugra) is 
the main oil production base of LUKOIL Group. The chief 
aim of geological exploration work there is replacement 
of reserves in order to maintain the Group’s current 
production levels in the region. Although reserves in 
the region have been extensively explored, geological 
exploration work there is particularly efficient and 
productive.

Exploration drilling in the District totalled 44,900 meters 
in 2010 and nine wells were completed, of which seven 
were productive. The success rate of exploration drill-
ing was 78%. The main task in the reporting year was 
study of oil & gas potential of Neocomian, Achimian and 
Jurassic sediments in the vicinity of earlier discoveries. 
The Company shot 499 km of 2D seismic and 2,415 km2 
of 3D seismic in the course of the year. Most of the work 
was in peripheral areas of large fields, and was aimed at 
detailing oil & gas contours and identifying oil saturation 
in strata prior to production drilling. Some 275 km2 of 3D 
surveying was carried out at the Vostochno-Kayumovski-
ye areas, which were acquired in 2009.  

LUKOIL identified 14 new deposits at previously disco-
vered fields in the region during 2010. Largest growth of 
oil reserves was at the Mishaevskoye, Pokachevskoye and 

Vateganskoye fields, thanks to 3D work and exploration 
drilling. Proved hydrocarbon reserves of the Company in 
Khanti-Mansiysk Autonomous District to SEC standards 
were 7.6 billion boe by the end of the year. Significant oil 
flows were obtained at a number of fields. 

Testing of Achimian sediments gave a daily oil flow of  
180 barrels and a daily flow of 160 barrels was obtained at 
the Yuzhno-Pokachevskoye field. Geological work led to 
a water-free daily flow of 1,010 barrels at the Kozhevskoye 
field. Drilling and well-testing was also carried out at the 
Vostochno-Perevalny, zapadno-Kotukhtinsky, Aprelsky, 
and Bolshoi license areas. Oil flows were obtained at all 
wells and daily flow rate at the Vostochno-Perevalny field 
was up to 320 barrels.

hydrocarbon rEsErvE ExtEnsions 
and discovEriEs, million boe

ExPloration drilling, 
thousand meters
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Yamal-Nenets Autonomous District

LUKOIL is developing gas reserves at the Bolshekhetskaya 
Depression in Yamal-Nenets Autonomous District as part 
of its program for accelerated growth of gas production. 
The Company is also working at the Severo-Gubkinskoye, 
Prisklonovoye, and Yuzhno-Tarasovskoye oil, gas and 
condensate fields, as well as the Urabor-Yakhinsky and 
Vansko-Namyssky areas.

2D seismic work amounting to 700 km was carried out at 
the Nakhodkinsky license area in order to identify non-
anticlinal traps in chalk sediments.

Proved hydrocarbon  reserves at Company fields in 
the Bolshekhetskaya Depression grew by 5.5% in 2010 
compared with 2009 to 2.2 billion boe (more than 13% of 
LUKOIL’s total proved hydrocarbon reserves).

Timan-Pechora

Timan-Pechora (the Nenets Autonomous District and 
Komi Republic) is a promising region for oil production 
by the Company. The region is little studied, with high 
potential for new discoveries, and the Company carried 
out extensive geological exploration work there during 
2010. Volumes of 2D and 3D seismic work during 2010, 
for clarification of geological models, were 1,066 km and 
813 km2, respectively, and exploration drilling was 9,400 
meters. 

Total 9,400 km of prospecting and exploration drilling 
was carried out during 2010 in the Komi Republic and 
two wells were completed at the Bayandyskoye field, 
both of which were productive. The drilling success rate 
was thus 100%.  Well-testing gave daily flows of 200 and  
1000 barrels of oil, respectively. Both wells have been 
brought into production. 

Testing of an exploration well was completed at the Osh-
skoye field in Nenets Autonomous District, and daily oil 
flow of 2,700 barrels was obtained. 2D seismic surveying 
was carried out on 710 km at the Yuzhno-Tedinsky and 
Predtimansky areas, and 776 km2 of 3D seismic was shot 
at the Yuzhno-Khoreiverskoye, Vostochno-Tedinsky and 
Vangureyakhinskaya areas. A 3D survey of 128 km2 was 
in progress during 2010 at the Denisovskaya Depression. 

Geological work and additional information obtained 
in the course of production drilling  added 78 million 
barrels of proved reserves to international standards in 
Timan-Pechora during 2010.

Naryanmarneftegaz, the joint venture between LUKOIL 
Group and ConocoPhillips began secondary testing of an 
exploration well to investigate production potential of a 
high-viscosity oil deposit in Carbonaceous sediments. 
Initial daily oil flow was 200 barrels. 

Urals

The Urals is a traditional production region for the 
Company, and reserves in the region have been 
extensively explored. LUKOIL carried out 61 km of 
2D seismic and 768 km2 of 3D work in the region for 
geological purposes during 2010. Exploration drilling 
totaled 13,900 meters. Exploration drilling to discover 
new fields and increase reserves was carried out mainly 
in the vicinity of sites with established commercial oil 
presence. 

In Perm Territory construction of three wells was 
completed, two wells were drilled, and testing work 
began at the Enapaevskaya and zabrodovskaya areas. 
All of the wells gave flows from productive strata at daily 
rates of 100-200 barrels, so the prospecting success rate 
was 100%. One new field was discovered in 2010 —  
the Dulepovskoye field, at which testing gave an oil flow 
of 200 barrels per day. 

Volga (onshore)

The Volga is another traditional hydrocarbon production 
region for LUKOIL and its geology has been extensively 
studied. Exploration drilling in 2010 was 19,500 meters 
and 1,385 km  of 2D seismic was carried out in Volgograd 
Region (the administrative territory). LUKOIL companies 
also completed 593 km of electric exploration work and 
100 km of geochemical studies. Drilling of an exploration 
well was begun at the Beshkulskoye field. 

An exploration well was completed at the Nemirovskoye 
field and gave a commercial flow of 400 barrels per day 
when tested. The well has been brought into production.
Drilling of an exploration well began at the Tsentralno-
Astrakhanskoye field to clarify field structure, so that 
reserves can be transferred to the industrial category 
and 3D seismic work began in the northern part of the 
field (45 km2 were shot during 2010).

Drilling and well testing were carried out at the 
Agryzsky, Menzelinsky and Ozerny areas in the Republic 
of Tatarstan. One prospecting well was completed at 
the Yuzhno-Izhevskaya structure and a new field — 



26

the Olginskoye field — was discovered. Testing of a 
zavolzhsky horizon in the Upper Devonian gave a daily 
oil flow of 610 barrels using a choke. С1 recoverable oil 
reserves are 1.4 million tonnes. 

2D seismic work (301.3 km) was carried out at the 
Menzelinsky license area. 

Northern Caspian

The Northern Caspian is one of the key regions for 
increase of oil & gas production by LUKOIL in the medium 
term and the Company attaches great importance to 
development of resource potential in the region.

In the offshore Caspian Well-7 was completed at the 
Rakushechnoye field, and results suggest С1 reserve 
increase of 621 billion cubic feet and additional  
2.7 million boe of gas condensate. 2D seismic work 
was completed at the Tsentralno-Kaspiisky license area  
(500 km), and 200 km of electrical exploration was also 
carried out.  

The Caspian Oil Company, in which a subsidiary of  
LUKOIL owns 49.89% (another 49.89% is owned by a 
subsidiary of Rosneft and remaining shares belong to 
Gazprom), drilled a prospecting well at the Ukatnaya 
structure and discovered oil & gas strata in Mid-Jurassic 
sediments. The deposit is in thin-layered, medium-to-fine 
grained sandstone. Strata testing gave flows of oil, gas 
and water, and discovery of a commercial hydrocarbon 
deposit was confirmed. 

Azov Sea  

Priazovneft, in which LUKOIL Group has a 42.5% stake 
(42.5% is owned by a subsidiary of Rosneft and 15% be-
longs to the State Property Fund of Krasnodar Territory) 
carried out 414 km of 2D seismic during 2010. The mate-
rial has been processed and interpretation has begun. 

Priazovneft discovered the Novoye field in the offshore 
Azov Sea in 2007 and has taken a joint decision with Ros-
neft to carry out further geological work at the central 
part of the license area. 

Kaliningrad Region

LUKOIL companies carried out geological work in 2009 
in Kaliningrad Region both onshore and in the offshore 
Baltic Sea. Offshore work was in preparation for drilling 
of a first prospecting well.

internatiOnal prOJects

In accordance with LUKOIL’s strategy for intensive devel-
opment of its international business in the E&P segment, 
the main task of geological exploration by the Company 
outside Russia is to prepare the resource base for rapid 
launch of production. Exploration drilling in internation-
al projects with LUKOIL participation was 17,300 meters 
in 2010. The Group’s share of 2D seismic work in interna-
tional projects in 2010 totaled 1,102 km and its share of 
3D work was 1,724 km2. Spending on geological explora-
tion outside Russia was $199 million. 

LUKOIL was involved in geological exploration projects 
in nine countries outside Russia by the end of 2010: 
Colombia, Kazakhstan, Saudi Arabia, Uzbekistan, Cote 
d’Ivoire, Ghana, Egypt, Venezuela and Iraq (preparation 
for production). Seven exploration wells were drilled as 
part of these projects in the course of the year, of which 
four were productive (a success rate of 57%).

Drilling of Well Dzata-1 with depth of 4,500 meters was 
completed in 2010 at the CTPDW block in the Republic 
of Ghana (Company share in the project is 56.66%). The 
well discovered an oil and gas condensate field and con-
firmed presence of an oil & gas bearing system at the 
block. The main sandstone reservoir contains gas and 
light crude oil. the well was drilled using a semi-submers-
ible rig with a dynamic positioning system. A plan of field 
evaluation was approved in 2010 in order to clarify filtra-
tion-volume features of reservoirs, the nature of satura-
tion and geometry of deposits. The calculations, which 
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have been carried out, suggest that the field is commer-
cially viable. Main risks are associated with confirmation 
of reserves and obtaining commercial flows. The Com-
pany is preparing for reconnaissance of other geological 
targets on the block territory, evaluation of which could 
increase the resource base and improve financial criteria 
of the project.

The Cape Three Points discovery makes LUKOIL the first 
Russian company to locate an oil & gas field on a deep-
water continental slope, and proves that use of new 
technologies is helping the Company to remain in the oil 
& gas industry vanguard. 

The Dzata structure confirms good prospects of Ghana’s 
deepwater shelf and provides an excellent opportunity 
to deploy the latest production technology to best ef-
fect.

Drilling of Well Orca-1 to depth of 4,000 meters was 
completed at Block Cl-401 in Cote d’Ivoire, and drilling 
gave evidence of oil & gas saturation in Campanian and  
Turonian stages, including a sample of water-free oil. The 
drilling results point to presence of lithologic and strati-
graphic deposits in the Turonian complex at block CI-401.

A technical description was prepared for the Kakao site 
at Block 205 in Cote d’Ivoire. Hydrocarbon resources 
amounting to 147.3 million tonnes of oil and 31.3 billion 

cubic feet of gas have been confirmed. Drilling of a well 
is planned in 2011.

At the Riyadh (Block A) project in Saudi Arabia drilling 
of Well Tukhman-4 was completed to sediments at 
the Sharavra formation, and a modest flow of gas 
and condensate was obtained from testing of the 
Unaiza formation. The well has been suspended until 
a technology can be applied to increase the flow rate. 
Additional testing of the middle and upper interval of the 
Sara formation was carried out at Well Faidakh-2. Current 
daily gas flow rate is 53,000 cubic meters. The well has 
been suspended pending choice of a technology, which 
can enhance the rate of flow.

3D survey work totaling 674 km2 was carried out at 
Condor project in Colombia during 2010 in the region of 
the East-Guavio and Cumoral structures. 

The first stage of preparatory work began at the end 
of 2009 for drilling of Well Amarilo-1, and a co-investor 
for well drilling is being sought. Preparation of an 
environmental impact assessment and the procedure of 
obtaining an environment license are also underway.

The investment consortium working on the Aral project 
in the Uzbek sector of the Aral Sea (LUKOIL has a 20% 
stake in the project) completed drilling of the first well, 
WAEx-1. Bottom-hole is at a depth of 3.3 km. The well has 



28

found a multi-bed field with gas-condensate deposits 
in Mid-Jurassic sediments. Maximum daily gas flow is 
319,500 cubic meters. 

Preparatory work was carried out at the Kungrad block in 
Uzbekistan for drilling of Well Shege-1.

In the South-West Gissar project in Uzbekistan a well was 
drilled to 2,521 meters at the western dome of the South-
East Kyzylbairak structure and penetrated prospective 
Upper Jurassic sediments obtaining a daily gas flow 
of 442,000 cubic meters. Prospecting and exploration 
Well Shamoltegmas-4 is to be drilled in 2011 in order to 
transfer reserves from С2 to С1 at the Kyzylbairak field. 
Planned well depth is 350 meters. 

Preparations were made for drilling of a well in the  
Kazakh sector of the Caspian Sea as part of the Tyub-
Karagan project. Geological resources at the structure 
are 317.6 million tonnes of conditional fuel under Russian 
classification.
 
In February 2009 the Group became the operator at 
the WEEM Extension, adjacent to the WEEM block in 

Egypt. More than 60% of the WEEM Extension was 
already studied by LUKOIL in 2006 using high-definition  
3D seismic. A slanted well, WEEM E-A-1, drilled to a 
depth of 1,829  meters found more than 30 meters of oil-
saturated reservoirs and obtained daily oil flow of 1,100 
barrels from the Nubia structure. The well has reached 
the contour zone of the deposit. Drilling of Well WAE-2 
has been completed: planned depth was 2,324 meters, 
but bottom-well is at 2,658 meters. The well penetrated 
the Matulla and Nubia horizons in a lowered section 
of the block, but was unproductive. The well has been 
suspended pending a decision based on results of  
3D seismic work.

LUKOIL won a tender in 2010 for exploration and 
development rights at the Est Rapsodia and Trident 
offshore blocks in the Black Sea off the coast of 
Romania. 3D seismic exploration work is planned to 
clarify geological structure of the blocks. A concession 
agreement is being prepared for signing with Romania’s 
National Agency for Mineral Resources. An office of 
LUKOIL Overseas Holding Ltd will be opened for project 
management purposes.
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CRUDE OIL PRODUCTION BY LUKOIL GROUP IN 2010 
(INCLUDING SHARE OF PRODUCTION BY EQUITY 
AFFILIATES) WAS 95.922 MILLION TONNES (1.940 MILLION 
BARRELS PER DAY). 

Average daily output fell by 1.6% in comparison with 
2009. Lower oil output in 2010 reflects a production de-
cline at fields in Western Siberia, where the Company 
produces 53% of its crude, and was due primarily to ob-
jective changes in the structure of recoverable reserves. 
However, use of the latest enhanced recovery technolo-
gies and horizontal drilling enabled LUKOIL to reduce 
the rate of crude output decline in Western Siberia from 
5.7% in 2009 to 3.8% in 2010. LUKOIL has also successfully 
addressed the problem of electricity supply shortages 
for production operations, which arose in recent years 
in Western Siberia. The Company is building and com-
missioning its own power generating capacities at fields, 
and the shortages have now been almost completely 
overcome.

The main achievement in the Company’s production 
business during 2010 was launch of production at the 
Yu. Korchagin field where annual oil extraction will reach 
2.4 million tonnes and gas output will be 1 billion cubic 
meters at peak production. Yu. Korchagin is the first of a 
group of LUKOIL fields in Russian territorial waters of the 
Caspian Sea to have been brought into operation. Devel-
opment of the field will use a system of long horizontal 
wells (over 5 km in length) representing a unique solu-
tion for the Russian industry. Logging will be carried out 
as part of the horizontal-well drilling process. Radial dis-
tribution of wells will enable simultaneous penetration 
of all productive layers.

The Company continued its work on improvement of 
field development efficiency and reduction of operating 
costs in the reporting year. LUKOIL production compa-
nies carried out a range of measures to raise well produc-
tivity and oil recovery rates in order to achieve oil pro-
duction targets for 2010. As a result field development 
spending rose by 4.0% in 2010 compared with 2009 to 
a level of $4.599 billion, despite increase of inflation to 
8.7% and real strengthening of the rouble by 11.6%. 

LUKOIL subsidiaries and equity affiliates produced hy-
drocarbons at 355 fields in Russia and 11 projects abroad 
in 2010. A total of 11 new fields were brought into de-
velopment during the year, as follows: Severo-Pokamas-
ovskoye, Mishaevskoye, Svobodnoye, Timerovskoye, 
Olginskoye and Lenzitskoye (Western  Siberia); Yu. Ko-
rchagin  (Volga); Sharonovskoye, Preobrazhenskoye 
(Urals); Olginskoye and Yu. Rossikhina (Timan-Pechora). 
The largest production increases (more than 200,000 
tonnes) were achieved at four fields: Bayadynskoye and 
Usinskoye in Timan-Pechora; and Kechimovskoye and 
Urevskoye in Western Siberia.

The Company had 30,340 oil production wells as of Janu-
ary 1, 2011, of which 25,990 were actually in use, and the 
number of water injection wells was 10,320, of which 
8,120 were under pressure. The number of oil production 
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wells was 2.0% higher than in 2009. The share of idle wells 
was almost unchanged from the end of 2009 at 14.3% 
of the total number. Average daily oil flow from wells in 
projects with Group participation was 14.5 tonnes. 

Volumes of production drilling were nearly unchanged, 
totaling 2,732,000 meters, which is 0.3% less than in 
2009. The number of new production wells brought into 
operation was 1,077, of which 101 were horizontal. High 
efficiency of horizontal well drilling has persuaded the 
Company to increase numbers of such wells in the medi-
um term. Average daily flow from new wells in projects, 
in which the Group is a participant, was 35.8 tonnes, in-
cluding 156.6 tonnes from horizontal wells. Flow rates 
at new wells were 3% higher than in 2009 thanks to im-
provement in geological and hydrodynamic models and 
greater application of such models in planning of drilling 
work, and also as a result of further work to improve well 
completion technologies and initial and secondary pen-
etration of productive formations.

USE OF NEW DRILLING AND WELL COMPLETION 
TECHNOLOGIES, SELECTION OF OPTIMAL BOREHOLE 
TRAJECTORY WITH CLARIFICATION OF THE GEOLOGICAL 
MODEL DURING DRILLING, USE OF BOTTOM-HOLE 
CONTROL SYSTEMS AND REAL-TIME DRILLING 
MANAGEMENT TO MAXIMIzE BOREHOLE CONTACT 
WITH THE RESERVOIR GAVE AN INCREASE OF AVERAGE 
OUTPUT FROM HORIzONTAL WELLS BY 2.3 TIMES 
COMPARED WITH 2009.

The Company increased efficiency of sidetracks by 
17.3% in 2010, despite a 15.2% reduction of this work in  
Russian operations compared with 2009. The improve-
ment was mainly due to more accurate forecasting of ge-
ological structure and the structure of reserves at areas 
where sidetracks were used. Sidetrack drilling is carried 
out mainly at wells, which have been taken out of opera-
tion, in order to extract residual oil reserves. Sidetracks 
were drilled at 224 wells in 2010 and gave average daily 
flow of 19.7 tonnes. 

Efficiency of hydrofracturing operations at Company 
wells in 2010 was comparable with the result in 2009. 
Positive effect from hydrofracturing was maintained 
thanks to effective planning work, selection of wells us-
ing full-time hydrodynamic models, and tighter control 
over the quality of materials and reagents used by serv-
ice companies.  

A total of 4,869 operations were carried out on produc-
tive formations using physical, chemical, hydrodynamic 
and heat techniques (see ‘Exploration and Produc-
tion Technologies’ on page 78). Additional oil output in  
Russia thanks to application of enhanced oil recovery 
techniques was 22.1 million tonnes, or 25% of total oil 
production by the Group in Russia.

rUssia

Oil production by LUKOIL in Russia during 2010 was 
89.767 million tonnes, of which 89.431 million tonnes 
were produced by Group subsidiaries. 

Subsidiaries and equity affiliates of LUKOIL produced 
hydrocarbons at 355 fields in Russia in 2010. Production 
drilling in Russia declined slightly to 2,286,000 meters. 
The Group owned 28,610 production wells at the end of 
2010, of which 24,420 were actually in use.

Western Siberia

Fields in Western Siberia accounted for 56.7% of LUKOIL’s 
Russian oil production in 2010. Production in the region 
was somewhat lower than in 2009 at 50.93 million tonnes. 
Use of enhanced oil recovery methods and drilling of 
horizontal boreholes enabled LUKOIL to reduce the rate 
of production decline in Western Siberia from 5.7% in 
2009 to 3.8% in 2010. The Company will continue to focus
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on stabilization of production levels in main operating 
regions, stepping up investments into development of 
new technologies and improvement of field efficiency.  

Stabilization of output levels in Western Siberia is 
complicated by gradual natural exhaustion of the 
resource base, due to the long period of production at 
most Company fields in the region, which has depleted 
their reserves. LUKOIL is combating output decline by 
use of the latest technologies, which enable substantial 
increase of the recovery ratio and production of oil 
from reservoirs with difficult access. Another problem is 
shortage of electric power supply in the region, which 
leads to losses in the production process and makes 
it difficult to pump in sufficient volumes of water to 
maintain reservoir pressure. The Company is successfully 
dealing with power shortages at its own fields by 

construction of small power stations, fuelled mainly by 
associated gas (see ‘Power Generation’ on page 58).

Despite long periods of exploitation, some of the 
Company’s fields in Western Siberia have significant 
potential for production growth. In particular, the 
Kechimovskoye and Urevskoye fields showed strong oil 
production growth once again in 2010.

Oil production at the Kechimovskoye field, which was 
launched in 1995, grew by 30.2% in 2010 compared with 
2009 to 2.01 million tonnes thanks to new production 
drilling: a total of 102 new wells were brought into 
production with average daily flow rates of 32.8 tonnes, 
including 27 horizontal wells with average daily flow 
rate of 61.9 tonnes. Oil production from new wells was 
530,800. New wells brought into operation during 2009 
(92 wells with average daily flow rate of 27.9 tonnes, 
totaling 644,300 tonnes in the year) made an important 
contribution to output in 2010, which was their first full 
calendar year in production. Work continued on a system 
to maintain reservoir pressure: 49 new injection wells 
were put under pressure during the reporting year.

The Kechimovskoye field is one of the Company’s largest 
investment projects in Western Siberia: in accordance 
with the project schedule, 361 wells remained to be 
drilled as of January 1, 2011, of which 270 oil wells and  
91 injection wells.
 
Oil production at the Urevskoye field, which was brought 
into production in 1978, rose by 9.3% to 2.86 million 
tonnes in 2010. The increase was achieved thanks to pro-
duction drilling: 83 new wells were launched with aver-
age daily output of 25.7 tonnes, including two horizontal 
wells with daily flow of 59.1 tonnes. Oil production at 
new wells in the reporting period was 352,300. A total 
of 12 sidetracks were drilled at the field in 2010 in order 
to maintain output levels at wells, and they gave aver-
age daily flow increases of 12.5 tonnes, producing 20,700 
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tonnes of additional oil in total. Work continued on a sys-
tem for maintaining strata pressure, and 29 new injec-
tion wells were put under pressure in the reporting year.
There were 843 wells still to be drilled at the Urevskoye 
field as of January 1, 2011, in accordance with the field 
development schedule. LUKOIL’s development program 
for the Exploration & Production segment includes 
maintenance of high production drilling rates at 
Urevskoye with further increase of oil output.

Timan-Pechora 

The Timan-Pechora oil province accounted for 23.6% of 
Company production in Russia in 2010. Output by LUKOIL 
in the province declined slightly in comparison with 2009 
to a level of 21.18 million tonnes but Timan-Pechora still 
has great potential. LUKOIL will develop fields using new  
technologies in order to speed up extraction of heavy 
crude oil in Timan-Pechora. Such oil represents 4.3% 
of the Company’s total proved hydrocarbon reserves, 
mostly located at the Yaregskoye and Usinskoye fields in 
Timan-Pechora.

The Yaregskoye field has proved reserves of 315 million 
barrels of high viscosity oil under SEC classification. 
Production at the field mainly uses a shaft technique. 
Industrial testing has been underway at Yaregskoye 
since 2005 of new techniques for production from the 
surface using horizontal wells and heat applications. The 
work will help the Company to assess technical aspects 
of use of horizontal wells for injection and production 
purposes. The technology is similar to Steam Assisted 
Gravity Drainage (SAGD), which is being applied for oil 
sands at Atabasca in Canada. Three pairs of horizontal 
boreholes with horizontal sections of 250–300 meters 
have been drilled using this technology at Test Area № 3. 
Further application of SAGD techniques involve constant 
steam input to an upper injection hole and extraction of 
oil from a lower production hole. Steam condenses on 
the walls of a steam chamber, which forms in the strata, 
then flows into the production hole together with oil 
under the effect of gravity.

Thermo-gravitational drainage technology was used 
at the Lyaelskaya area of the Yaregskoye field in 2010 
for drilling of three horizontal wells with 1,000 meter 
horizontal sections. Industrial application of thermo-
gravitational drainage will enable non-draining reserves 
to be brought into production, increasing the overall 
level of oil production at the Yaregskoye field. 

The highest rate of oil production growth (more than 
200,000 tonnes) in Timan-Pechora was achieved at the 
Usinskoye and Bayadynskoye fields.

Output increase of 210,700 tonnes (+10.0%) was 
achieved in 2010 at the Usinskoye field, thanks to higher 
extraction volumes from a Permian-Carbonaceous 
deposit (+219,200 tonnes).  Higher extraction from the 
deposit was achieved using various efficient geological  
interventions (steam cycles, etc.), and diversion of wells 
to the deposit from other geological targets at the 
Usinskoye field.

Two wells were transferred from drilling to production 
status and gave average daily flow rates of 93.1 tonnes, 
totalling 8,900 tonnes for the year. A further 522 wells 
remain to be drilled as of January 1, 2011, in accordance 
with the field schedule. Application of enhanced recovery 
techniques in future drilling will enable the Company to 
maintain strong results in work at the Usinskoye field.

Extensive industrial testing of steam-heat treatment is 
being carried out in order to improve recovery ratios 
from high-viscosity Permian-Carbonaceous deposits. 
Heat treatment of strata using a system of horizontal 
boreholes was applied in practice at a deposit for the 
first time in 2010, and testing of a perpendicular thermo-
gravitational drainage technique is planned. Drilling of 
a new horizontal well with length up to 900 meters is 
scheduled, and the well will be capable of supporting 
steam-cycle treatment techniques.

The Permian-Carbonaceous deposit at the Usinskoye 
field was brought into operation in 1977 and its proved 
reserves under SEC standards as of January 1, 2011 were 
434 million barrels. Structure of the Carbonaceous 
reservoir is discontinuous, it contains high-viscosity 
oil and is a natural target for heat treatment. In order 
to raise the recovery ratio, steam is being injected in a 
steam-heat process across an area of the deposit, with 
application of a steam cycle at several production wells, 
combined in some places with use of chemical reagents. 
Additional output from the deposit thanks to application 
of heat methods has totaled 6.1 million tonnes since the 
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operation was started. Other new technologies are also 
being tested at the deposit, including drilling of radial 
drain-holes with subsequent steam-cycle treatment, and 
drilling of sidetracks. Application of binary mixtures at 
production wells is also planned.

The highest rates of production growth in Timan- 
Pechora were at the Bayandyskoye field. Growth of out-
put at the field in 2010 compared with 2009 was 265,500 
tonnes (+123.6%). This was achieved thanks to transfer of 
seven wells (six production and one exploration) from 
drilling to production status. These wells gave average 
daily oil flow of 258.5 tonnes and total output of 322,000 
tonnes in the reporting period. The current state of  
development suggests that it will be possible to pro-
duce confirmed recoverable reserves without installing  
a system for maintenance of strata pressure. Construc-
tion of a horizontal well with horizontal section of about 
3,000 meters is planned in order to optimize the well 
combination at this highly productive field.

Crude oil output at the Yuzhnaya Khylchuya field, which 
was commissioned jointly with ConocoPhillips in mid-
2008, was 6.9 million tonnes in 2010, which is 1.1% less 
than in 2009. Rapid production drilling and simultaneous 
launch of new production wells in 2008–2009 gave 
high oil-take from initial recoverable reserves, so that 

stabilization was inevitable in 2010, when five wells were 
transferred to production status (four production wells 
and one exploration well), with average daily output of 
806 tonnes, and five injection wells were brought into 
operation. Measures to regulate field operations are 
now being carried out. They include reinforcement of 
the system for strata pressure maintenance at the north-
eastern part of the deposit, and increase of injection 
pressure at the modular cluster pump station to planned 
levels.

LUKOIL is working hard to ensure rapid development of 
Timan-Pechora’s substantial reserves, which will help 
to compensate natural decline of output in traditional 
production regions. 

Urals

PRODUCTION OF OIL BY LUKOIL IN THE URALS REGION 
INCREASED TO 12.5 MILLION TONNES IN 2010, OR 
BY 3.8%, THANKS TO USE OF NEW TECHNOLOGIES, 
SUCH AS SIDETRACKS, RADIAL DRILLING AND ACID 
HYDROFRACTURING. THE URALS ACCOUNTED FOR 
13.9% OF TOTAL PRODUCTION BY THE COMPANY IN 
RUSSIA DURING 2010, COMPARED WITH A FIGURE OF 
13.4% IN 2009.
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Output at the Unvinskoye field grew by 6.2% in 2010 to 
1.5 million tonnes. The increase was due to extensive 
use of new enhanced recovery methods and large-
scale production drilling.  Eight sidetracks were drilled 
and gave average daily flow of 26 tonnes, four hydro- 
fracturing operations were carried out, giving 20.4 
tonnes additional daily flow, and radial drilling technolo-
gy was used at two wells (resulting average daily produc-
tion growth was 7.7 tonnes). Overall production growth 
as a result of these measures and various traditional tech-
nologies was more than 80,000 tonnes. Two new wells 
were transferred to production status with average daily 
flow of 34.4 tonnes, including one well with a horizontal 
borehole. 

The Unvinskoye field is one of the Company’s biggest 
investment projects in Perm Region by size of initial oil 
reserves. The field has been almost completely drilled 
over and only fringe zones of deposits remain to be 
drilled.

Oil production at the Sibirskoye field rose by 4.5% in 
2010 to 0.7 million tonnes thanks to geological work at 
wells and use of various techniques for enhanced recov-
ery and production intensification. The techniques were 
applied at nine wells in 2010 and enabled additional  
extraction of 12,700 tonnes of oil. However, most of  
production growth in 2010 was obtained from continu-
ation of geological interventions from 2009: a total of  
18 well operations, which gave average daily output 
growth of 19.9 tonnes and total additional output of 
58,100 tonnes.  Principal techniques used at the field are 
acid and proppant fracturing of strata, repeat fracturing 
of strata at a depression and drilling of sidetracks and ra-
dial holes at wells.

The field is of average size by reserves compared 
with others in the region around Perm. Main geologi-
cal targets at the field are Riphean sediments of the  
Turnei-Famenskiye stages, Terrigenous sediments in the  
Tulsko-Bobrikovsky horizon and Carbonaceous sedi-
ments in the Bashkirean stage. Nearly all planned wells 
have now been drilled.

Volga

Crude oil production by LUKOIL in the Volga region 
increased by 2.1% in 2010 compared with 2009 to  
3.14 million tonnes. Work by the Company to improve 
field development efficiency in the region has led to 
increase of the oil recovery rate and made it possible to 
maintain output levels, despite considerable depletion 
of reserves.

LUKOIL’s most important achievement in the E&P 
segment during 2010 was launch of production at the 
Yu. Korchagin field, where peak production levels will be 
about 2.5 million tonnes of oil and 1 billion cubic meters 
of gas. 

The Yu. Korchagin field is the first to come on line 
of a series of fields that are being developed by the 
Company in the offshore Caspian. Development of 
these fields will be the main source of oil production 
growth for LUKOIL in the medium term. The Yu. 
Korchagin and Viktor Filanovsky fields will account 
for most production growth, and they are the first in 
order for launch. The Yu. Korchagin field development 
will use a system of extra-long horizontal wells (over  
5,000 meters), representing a unique solution for 
Russia. Well logging will be carried out in the process 
of horizontal drilling, and radial distribution of wells  
will enable simultaneous penetration of all productive 
strata. Rates of field development slowed down in 2010 
due to lower commercial drilling speed and 14% loss of 
calendar work time due to accidents and downtime.

Work is being carried out on production stabilization 
at the Pamyatno-Sasovskoye field, which is one of the 
largest in the Volga region, accounting for 77% of  
LUKOIL’s regional output. Total additional oil production 
achieved by drilling of sidetracks was 67,300 tonnes, av-
erage daily flow rates were increased by 122 tonnes. Two 
efficient repair and insulation operations were carried 
out, giving average 53.5 tonnes additional daily output, 
and adding 30,600 tonnes of oil for the year. 

internatiOnal prOJects 

LUKOIL’S SHARE OF PRODUCTION IN INTERNATIONAL 
PROJECTS WAS 6.255 MILLION TONNES, WHICH IS 8.3% 
MORE THAN IN 2009. THE GROWTH WAS MAINLY DUE 
TO THE TENGIz AND NORTH BUzACHI PROJECTS IN 
KAzAKHSTAN, SOUTH-WEST GISSAR IN UzBEKISTAN 
AND SHAKH-DENIz IN AzERBAIJAN. 

Production drilling in the Company’s international 
projects increased by 25.6% in 2010 compared with 2009 
to 446,000 meters.  The number of oil production wells 
rose by 14.2% to 1,738, of which 1,583 were actually in use. 
A total of 279 new production wells were commissioned 
as part of international projects, in which the Company 
is a participant. 

The largest oil production increase as part of internatio-
nal projects came from the Tengiz project in Kazakhstan. 
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Crude oil production from the project (Company share) 
grew by 101.8% to 1,296,000 tonnes, and average 
daily output per well was 955 tonnes. PreFEED work 
was completed in 2010 for planned expansion of the 
Tengiz field, which will involve construction of a new oil 
preparation plant with 12 million tonnes annual capacity 
and enlargement of the gas reinjection system. The 
Company plans to resume drilling at Tengiz in order to 
load existing plant capacities and as part of the future 
expansion project. The rate of use of associated gas 
at Tengiz has been raised to 99% thanks to a series of 
measures, ending routine flaring of gas at the field.

The Group’s share of crude oil and gas condensate  
production in the Karachaganak project in Kazakhstan 
was 1.5 million tonnes in 2010, almost unchanged from 
the previous year. Five new horizontal wells with aver-
age daily flow of 761 tonnes were brought into produc-
tion during the year as part of the field investment pro-
gramme. 

Rapid development work continued at the Kumkol field 
in Kazakhstan during the reporting year. LUKOIL’s share 
in crude production in this project during 2010 was  
1.47 million tonnes. 71 new production wells were drilled 
in the reporting year and gave average daily flow of  
36 tonnes.

Share of the Group in the KarakudukMunai project in 
Kazakhstan was 718,900 tonnes in 2010. In the course of 
the year 19 new wells were brought into operation, and 
gave average daily production of 18.3 tonnes. Expansion 
of the system for maintenance of strata pressure was 
completed by commissioning of two pumping units 
with daily capacity of 10,000 cubic meters. The central 
oil processing unit was modernized by assembly and 
activation of a compressor with capacity of 1,100 cubic 
meters per hour. A separator for natural gas liquids was 
built and brought into use.

Intensive development work continued at the North 
Buzachi field in Kazakhstan, where LUKOIL’s share of 
production grew by 3.8% to 497,500 tonnes, and 151 new 
production wells were commissioned giving average 
daily flows of 9.7 tonnes. Five pumping stations were 
built in the reporting year, and work was completed on 
three horizontal wells and eight sidetracks.

Oil production grew by 4.3% at the Alibekmola and 
Kozhasai fields (the Kazakhoil Aktobe project in 
Kazakhstan) to a level of 244,000 tonnes. Nine new wells 
were brought into operation with average daily output  
of 57.1 tonnes, and an agreement was reached for 
carrying out of two pilot actions for deep treatment 
of strata. Construction of a system of strata pressure 
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maintenance was completed at the Kozhasai field, and 
planning and equipment sourcing was carried out for a 
complex gas preparation facility at the Alibekmola field 
and a gas preparation facility at the Kozhasai field, both 
as part of the project for use of associated gas.  

Gas condensate production as part of the Shakh-Deniz 
project in Azerbaijan rose by 7.3%, to 149,300 tonnes in 
response to growth of demand in Azerbaijan and from 
Turkish consumers. Four wells were in operation during 
2010. Gas was supplied through the South-Caucasus 
pipeline to Azerbaijan, Georgia and Turkey. Condensate 
was shipped via the Baku-Tbilisi-Ceyhan pipeline.

The Company’s share of gas condensate production 
at the Khauzak-Shady area in Uzbekistan (developed 
as part of the Kandym-Khauzak-Shady project), which 
was commissioned in 2007, was 10,400 tonnes in 2010.  
One new production well was commissioned in the 
course of the year and gave daily flow of 2.8 tonnes of 
condensate. A tendering competition was announced 
for design and construction of a booster compressor 
station.

LUKOIL’s share of production at the South-West Gissar 
project in Uzbekistan, which was acquired in 2008, 

grew by a substantial 131% in 2010 compared with 
2009 to 87,900 tonnes. Four new production wells 
were brought into operation during the reporting year  
and gave average daily output of 47.7 tonnes. A contract 
and agreement was made concerning supply of technical 
documentation and equipment for the Adamtash, 
Gumbulak, and Djarkuduk-Yangi-Kizilcha gas conden-
sate fields in the Republic of Uzbekistan.

The Group’s share in the Meleiha project in Egypt 
was 12.6% less in 2010 than in 2009 and amounted  
to 69,000 tonnes, despite overall growth of project 
output. This was due to reduction of LUKOIL’s production 
share from 9.57% to 7.35%  resulting from increase of 
Brent prices and 18% reduction of capital expenditures  
in 2010 to $19.3 million. Lower investments were due 
to change in the construction schedule of the project 
operator, Agiba Petroleum, which delayed construction 
of vent lines to the new wells (part of the loss-reduction 
project) and construction of  burial facilities for 
radioactive waste until 2011. A further 16 wells with 
average daily output of 34.9 tonnes were brought into 
operation in 2010.

drilling of sidEtracKs,
sidetracks

drilling of horizontal wElls, 
wells
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LUKOIL’s gas program is focused on accelerated growth 
of gas production both in Russia and abroad and 
increase in the share of gas to a third of total hydrocarbon 
production by the Group. The main aim of this strategy is 
to commercialize gas reserves and reduce the Company’s 
exposure to major price volatility on the international oil 
market.

Total gas production by LUKOIL Group in 2010 (including 
the share of production by equity affiliates) rose by 20.4% 
to 21.328 billion cubic meters (344,000 boe per day). 
Output of marketable gas (net of own use, reinjection into 
reservoir formations and transport losses) rose by 24.5% 
to 18.554 billion cubic meters (299,000 boe per day), 
and the increase in Russia alone was 27.9%. Significant 
growth of marketable gas output was possible thanks 
to growth of purchases by Gazprom, due to increase of 
demand in Europe and the effect of a low base in 2009. 
European spot prices for gas rose sharply at the end of 
2010 in the context of high oil prices, industrial recovery 
after the recession and severe weather conditions on the 
continent. As a result Company revenue from sales of 
natural gas increased by 46.2% in 2010 compared with 
2009 to a level of $835 million.

Most of the output growth was provided by the 
Nakhodkinskoye field, where production of marketable 
gas rose by 37.2% in 2010 to 8.146 billion cubic meters. 
All of this gas was sold to Gazprom. We also increased 
rates of associated gas use in Western Siberia. Net income 
of LUKOIL Group in 2010 from gas projects in Russia was 
$116 million, which is 107.1% more than in 2009.

The Company was operating 397 gas wells at the end of 
2010, of which 286 were in production.

Natural gas output rose by 21.8% to 13.936 billion cubic 
meters in 2010, of which 12.770 billion cubic meters was 
marketable gas. Increase in output of marketable gas 
was 25.0%.

Production of associated gas rose by 17.8% to 7.392 
billion cubic meters, of which 5.784 billion cubic 
meters was marketable associated gas. Increase in 
marketable associated gas production was 23.6%. 
Growth in production of marketable associated gas 
was due to growth of oil production and development 
of the system for associated gas utilization at Company 
fields. Associated gas is used at fields for injection into 
formations to maintain reservoir pressure, for production 
of electrical energy at gas-fired power stations, and 
for other production needs. Marketable associated 
gas is delivered to gas-processing plants and to local 
consumers. 

The Company has been increasing the share of associated 
gas , which it puts to use, year by year and the share 
reached 76.8% in 2010 compared with 71.1% in 2009 and 
70.4% in 2008. The increase has been made possible by 
development of systems for utilization of associated gas 
at Company fields, including construction of compressor 
stations and gas pipelines. The level of utilization of 
associated gas at main Company fields in Western Siberia 
is now more than 95%.

The Company is pursuing construction of gas-fired pow-
er stations at fields as part of a small-scale generating 
program in order to further increase utilization of associ-
ated gas. This reduces gas flaring and gives cost savings 
on electricity, lowering oil lifting costs. LUKOIL is imple-
menting a program, approved in 2009 for the years 2009-
2011, which aims to  increase rates of associated gas utili-
zation by organizations in the Group. The program target 
is to raise the utilization rate to 95% by 2012.

Russia

Production of marketable gas in Russia in 2010 was 13.635 
billion cubic meters, which is 27.9% more than in 2009. 

Gas production wells, 
wells

Gas production wells in use, 
wells

  1 Share of produced gas in total gas extracted from formations. The remainder is flared off.
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The Company had 306 gas production wells in Russia at 
the end of 2010, of which 213 were actually in use. 

Most of the Company’s natural gas production in 2010 in 
Russia (more than 90%) came from the Nakhodkinskoye 
field in the Bolshekhetskaya Depression. Gas production 
there in 2010 was 8.2 billion cubic meters, which is 37.1% 
more than in 2009, reflecting increase of gas purchase 
volumes by Gazprom.

Scheduled work is being carried out at the field for 
modernization of low-temperature gas separation 
technologies in order to raise strata pressure in the 
complex gas preparation unit. Four turbodetander 
aggregates were brought into operation in a first stage 
of this work in 2010, and the second stage will involve 
installation of a booster compressor station, design of 
which began at the end of 2010. Completion of these 
tasks will ensure stability in production, preparation and 
transport of gas from the Nakhodkinskoye field. 

Design work was completed in 2010 for the main 
compressor station in a gas transport system to serve 
fields in the Bolshekhetskaya Depression in the region 
of Nakhodkinskoye. Tendering competitions have 
been carried out and agreements have been made for 
construction of the station, and for design, manufacture, 
delivery, assembly and testing & commissioning of gas 

pumping aggregates as well as ancillary equipment. 
Commissioning of the first part of the main compressor 
station is scheduled for the end of 2012. 

LUKOIL began drilling work at gas condensate deposits 
at the Pyakyakhinskoye field in 2009. Two drilling rigs 
have been deployed at the field, the first section of a gas 
turbine power station was brought into operation in July, 
10-kilowatt aerial transmission cables were installed to 
carry power to two drilling pads, and a well was drilled 
to provide gas for energy generation. There were eight 
wells at the field at the start of 2011: seven wells are 
suspended, and one well provides gas for an energy 
generation unit. 

The plan for development of the Pyakyakhinskoye field 
was adjusted in 2010 based on results of geological work 
and production drilling, and on decisions that were taken 
for optimization of well performance. 

LUKOIL has reached an agreement with OJSC Rosneft, 
by which the Company will  accept 5.6 billion cubic me-
ters of gas each year starting in 2013 from the Vankor 
field to be fed into the gas transport system serv-
ing the Bolshekhetskaya Depression in the region of 
the Khalmerpayutinskoye field and transport it to the 
Yamburgskaya gas compression station on Gazprom’s 
Unified Gas Supply System. Construction of pipelines 
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from Khalmerpayutinskoye to Pyakyakhinskoye and  
from Pyakyakhinskoye to Nakhodkinskoye  are sched-
uled for completion in 2013. Tenders have been car-
ried out for purchases of pipes and pressure regulating 
equipment, and contactors for construction of the gas 
transport system have been selected.

In return, Rosneft guarantees to accept up to 3 million 
tonnes per year of stabilized oil and condensate to be 
fed into the Vankor-Purpe pipeline for transport to the 
Transneft trunk pipeline system. However, LUKOIL has 
decided to use the Zapolyarye-Purpe pipeline (owned 
by Transneft) in preference to the Vankor route for liquid 
hydrocarbons, so construction of the Pyakyakhinskoye 
field and start of production have been synchronized 
with planned launch of the Zapolyarye-Purpe pipeline, 
which will pass across the Pyakyakhinskoye field.

When all fields in the Bolshekhetskaya Depression reach 
planned production levels, the Company’s total output 
of natural gas in the region will be 20 billion cubic meters.

InternatIonal projects

Production of marketable gas in 2010 as part of inter-
national projects rose by 16.2% to 4.919 billion cubic  
meters. The share of natural gas was 86%, representing  
a decline of 6 percentage points. The Company had  
91 gas production wells in international projects at the 
end of 2010, of which 73 were actually in use.

Most of marketable gas production outside Russia  
(54%) was at the Khauzak-Shady area, which was 
brought into production at the end of 2007 and is being  
developed as part of the Kandym-Khauzak Shady pro-
ject in Uzbekistan. Production of marketable gas at the  
Khauzak-Shady area rose by 19.2% to 2.66 billion cubic 
meters in 2010. Production drilling at the area contin-
ued in 2010, and one new well was commissioned giving 
average additional daily gas flow of 356.2 cubic meters.  
Intensive work is also underway in Uzbekistan on drilling 
of gas wells at the Adamtash field as part of the Gissar 
project, where four new production wells were launched 
with average daily flow of 59,000 cubic meters. Full-scale 
production of natural gas is due to start at Adamtash  
in 2012.

The Company’s share of gas output in the Tengiz project  
increased by a record 112% in 2010 to 568.4 million 
cubic meters. Completion of a project for utilization of 
associated gas raised the usage rate to 99%, and routine 
gas flaring is no longer carried out.

Marketable gas production in 2010 at the Shakh-Deniz 
project in Azerbaijan, which was brought into production 
in December 2006, was 545 million cubic meters 
(Company share), which is 5.2% more than in 2009, 
reflecting growth of consumer demand. Agreement was 
reached in 2010 between Azerbaijan and Turkey on price 
increase for first-stage gas from Shakh-Deniz. Agreement 
was also reached between Azerbaijan and its partners on 
extension of the project PSA for a further five years.

Marketable gas production, 
billion cubic meters
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CompAny results in the refining & mArketing 
segment were impressive in 2010: segment net 
inCome rose by 29.7% to $2.934 billion. 

the strong improvement of net income reflected 
recovery of demand and profitability of refining business 
as the world economy emerged from the financial crisis. 
lukoil pursued work in 2010 to develop its oil refining 
business through modernization and expansion of 
refining capacities.

Price and Tax environmenT

growth of the world economy led to gradual recovery in 
demand for petroleum products during 2010, and there 
was substantial price growth both domestically and on 
export markets. the external price environment was 
of greatest importance for lukoil since the Company 
sold 83% of its petroleum products outside russia in 
the reporting year. Average prices for fuel oil in europe 

rose by 28% (fob rotterdam), and prices for high-octane 
gasoline were 27% higher. the domestic market for 
petroleum products also saw price growth: boiler fuel oil 
was 51.3% more expensive and prices for Ai-95 gasoline 
rose by 16.8%.

refining of oil and petroleum products by the Company, 
including volumes at third-party refineries, totaled 
66.29 million tonnes in 2010, of which volumes at group 
refineries (including lukoil’s share of isAb and trn) 
were 66.18 million tonnes (5.6% more than in 2009).

lukoil group has five refineries outside russia, which 
reduces risks associated with a single geographical 
region, and gives opportunities to take advantage of 
more favourable tax regimes in other countries. many 
european countries provide attractive tax regimes for 
companies with operations on their territories. 

this applies particularly to the trn refinery in the 
netherlands, where the government has consistently 
lowered corporate income tax rates over the last five 

maximizing refinery throughputs

production of high-quality, environmentally friendly petroleum products  
with high value added

use of the latest technologies

Control over production costs

STraTegy

Indicator
2010 2009

Growth, %

revenue, $ million 99,976 77,434 29.1

ebitDA, $ million 5,934 5,225 13.6

net income, $ million 2,934 2,263 29.7

Capital expenditures, $ million 1,320 1,316 0.3

Main indicators for LUKoiL’s refining & MarKeting bUsiness
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years despite problems in the global economy: rates  
have come down from 29.6% in 2006 to 25% in 2011. 
Also the mechanism for calculation of TRN’s tax base is 
enshrined in a special agreement with the Dutch tax au-
thorities. This makes TRN’s tax position stable and pre-
dictable.  The effective tax rate for TRN in 2010 was 21.7%.

The ISAB Refinery is one of the biggest tax payers in its 
region. The Italian Government has brought in a number 
of tax measures since 2009, which are designed to  

encourage fixed asset investment and reduce unem-
ployment, and which have reduced the tax burden for 
the ISAB Refinery. Nevertheless the effective rate of tax 
paid by ISAB was 44% in 2010, which exceeds the level 
at other LUKOIL refineries. This was due to additional 
income tax, charged at 6.5%, and a special 16% tax  
on revaluation of inventories. Revenues from the latter 
tax are earmarked for income support to poor families, 
and it is levied on all companies in the Italian oil & gas 
sector. 
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Oil reFining

luKoil grouP rEfinEriEs

1 Capacities of the ISAB and TRN refineries are shown as the Company share (49% and 45%, respectively).
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New catalytic crackiNg complex 
at the NizhNy Novgorod refiNery

RefineRy descRiption: 

 
• The Refinery produces fuels and lubricants

• Located in the town of Kstovo in Nizhny Novgorod 
region

• Refines a blend of West Siberian oils and Tatarstan 
oils

• Crude oil is supplied to the Refinery via the 
Almetyevsk — Nizhny Novgorod and Surgut —
Polotsk pipelines

• Petroleum products are shipped by rail, road and 
river transport and by pipeline

• Capacity — 17.0 mln tons per year

• Nelson index — 6.3

• Main conversion process is visbreaking  
(42,200 barrels per day)

A new catalytic cracking complex was brought into 
operation at the Nizhny Novgorod refinery in 2010, 
and it is already producing Euro-4 gasoline. It is the 
largest catalytic cracking complex built in Russian for 
the last 25 years. Due to conversion of vacuum gas oil 
into light products the complex substantially increases 
the production of gasoline in the Central region. Project 
investments were about $1 billion. 

The new complex will increase total annual gasoline 
output at the Refinery from 1.8 to 3.2 million tonnes, and 
output of diesel fuel will be raised from 4.2 to 4.6 million 
tonnes. The complex can also produce 150,000 tonnes of 
propylene each year. 

The new complex consists of five main units, as follows 
(figures are annual capacity):

• a vacuum gasoil hydrotreatment unit  
(2.5 million tonnes)

• a catalytic cracking unit (2 million tonnes) with a 
propylene concentration unit (150,000 tonnes of 
propylene)

• alkylation with blocks for isomerization  
of normal butanes and selective hydration of diene 
hydrocarbons. Alkylate capacity is 360,000 tonnes

• hydrogen production (40,000 tonnes)

• elemental sulphur production (130,000 tonnes)

The complex also comprises five infrastruture facilities: 
a sulphur granulation and shipment shop, a boiler water 
preparation unit, a water circulation block, flaring equip-
ment, and inter-unit communications. 

The production chain begins from the hydro-treatment 
unit, which is fed with vacuum gasoil from the primary 
refining facilities. Nitrogen and sulphur compounds are 
removed from the straight-run vacuum gasoil by appli-
cation of hydrogen.

The output from this process — gasoil low in sulphur 
compounds — is sent to the catalytic cracking unit, where 
it is passed through a reactor, which converts heavy 
hydrocarbons into lighter ones at a high temperature in 
the presence of a catalyst. 

The main outputs from catalytic cracking are gasoline 
fractions (53% of total outputs, with octane number of 
92 or above), and propylene and butane-butylene frac-
tions, which are sent to the alkylation unit to produce an-
other gasoline alkylate component, with octane number 
of 95, free of sulphur compounds and aromatics. Sulphur 
is processed in the elemental sulphur unit.

Marketable gasoline is produced in a constant flow at a 
blending facility, after which it is quality-tested and given 
a product passport, ready for delivery to customers.

An alkylation unit will be brought into operation at the 
Nizhny Novgorod Refinery in 2011, which will enable 
production of automotive gasoline to Euro-5 standards. 
Aromatic content in gasoline produced on the new 
equipment is no higher than 35%, maximum content of 
sulphur in class-4 fuel is 50 mg per kg, and 10 mg per 
kg in class-5 fuel. This gasoline ensures ‘clean exhaust’, 
minimizing sulphur oxide and products of incomplete 
aromatics combustion, including the highly carcinogenic 
and mutagenic benzopyrene. 

European Standards on 
Nizhny Novgorod Refinery 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Gasoline  Euro-3 Euro-3 Euro-3 Euro-4 Euro-4 Euro-5

Diesel fuel Euro-4 Euro-5 Euro-5 Euro-5 Euro-5 Euro-5 Euro-5

shaRe of clean diesel 
in total output of diesel 
fuel, %

shaRe of high-octane gasoline 
in total output of motoR 
gasoline, %
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LUKOIL GrOUp cOntInUed rapId deveLOpment Of 
Its OIL refInInG bUsIness In 2010 thrOUGh mOdern-
IzatIOn and expansIOn Of refInInG capacItIes.

the vOLUme Of refInery thrOUGhpUts, IncLUd-
InG prOcessInG at thIrd-party refInerIes, was  
66.29 mILLIOn tOnnes In 2010, Of whIch  
66.18 mILLIOn tOnnes were refIned at GrOUp re-
fInerIes (IncLUdInG cOmpany shares Of refInInG 
at the Isab and trn cOmpLexes), representInG  
an Increase Of 5.6% Over 2009.

capital expenditures by LUKOIL on its refinery business 
in russia and abroad were $702 million in 2010 (the figure 
in 2009 was $828 million). 

the Group raised operating efficiency of its refineries 
in 2010 through measures to optimize production 
capacities, increase capacity load of refining units, raise 
energy efficiency and reliability of equipment (increasing 
the period in operation between overhauls), as well as 
to optimize personnel numbers and rotation. financial 
impact from these measures was about $208 million. the 
largest positive effect was at the perm, nizhny novgorod, 
and Ukhta refineries ($85 million).

Russian refineries

crude oil throughput at russian refineries in ownership 
of LUKOIL Group was 45.21 million tonnes in 2010, which 
is 1.7% more than in 2009. the share of high-octane 
gasoline in total output of gasoline at Group refineries 
in russia (not including mini-refineries) rose to 91.5% 
in 2010 (from 89.7% in 2009). Light-product yield was 
48.5%, down slightly from the previous year due to 
reduction in the amount of light fractions in refined oil 
and unscheduled downtime of hydrocracking facilities at 
the perm refinery.

measures were implemented during the reporting 
year to reduce operating costs and raise production 
efficiency at russian refineries. this enabled reduction 
of irretrievable losses at refineries from 0.51% to 0.47%. 
average personnel numbers at russian refineries were 
reduced by 2.0%. capital expenditures at company 
refineries in russia were $542 million in the reporting 
year (against $520 million in 2010).

at the Ukhta refinery test operation of the at-1 
distillation unit confirmed increase of light-oil refining by 
10%. the rectification tube on the vacuum column of the 
atmospheric-vacuum distillation unit was replaced, and 
test operation confirmed 6% increase in production of 
diesel fraction from heavy crude oil supplied from the 
yaregskoye field. 

the new catalytic cracking complex at the nizhny 
novgorod refinery was commissioned in 2010. the com-
plex will increase annual output of high-octane automo-
tive gasoline at the refinery by 1.4 million tonnes and of 
diesel fuel by 400,000 tonnes, raising light product out-
put by 12%. all of the gasoline produced will meet the 
standards of euro-4 and euro-5. the new complex raises 
the nelson complexity Index score at nizhny novgorod 
by 2.3 points. reconstruction of the diesel hydrotreat-
ment unit (completed in december 2009) has substan-
tially increased output of diesel fuel that meets euro-5 
standards.

a new absorption and gas fractionation unit has been 
commissioned at the refinery, which enables production 
of propane-butane fractions, providing inputs for the 
alkylation unit and for production of hydrogen in the 
catalytic cracking complex.

the volgograd refinery completed  construction of a 
short-cycle absorption unit in 2010 to produce concen-
trated hydrogen for the needs of fuel hydrotreatment 

RefineRy thRoughputs by LuKoiL, 
million tonnes
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units. the heat exchanger on the diesel hydrotreatment 
units was modernized, increasing unit capacity by 8%. 
a production system was created for low-sulphur bun-
ker fuel, providing supplies for development of LUKOIL’s 
bunkering business. 

construction of a second section of the diesel hydrot-
reatment unit and modernization of coke production are 
currently in progress at the refinery.

the perm refinery continued upgrading work on exist-
ing coke production facilities in 2010. the upgrade will 
reduce energy needs in coke production and enable 
launch of a new product: a coking additive for the metal-
lurgy industry.

Foreign refineries

refinery throughputs in 2010 at LUKOIL Group’s 
international refineries, including the Group share of 
refining at the Isab and trn complexes, were 20.97 
million tonnes, which is 14.9% more than in 2009, and 
met the company’s business targets based on levels of 
market demand. production at Group own and third-
party refineries increased by 16.9 compared to 2009 as 
a result of acquisition of the trn refinery in september 
2009. the production at our bulgarian and Ukranian 
refineries was lower due to performed overhauls. 

Light product yield (not including Isab and trn) was 
66.0% (up from 65.3% in 2009). Irretrievable losses at  
refineries outside russia fell from 0.85% in 2009 to 0.64% 
in 2010.

capital expenditures in modernization of the Group’s 
foreign refineries were $160 million in 2010 ($308 million 
in 2009).

during the reporting year the burgas refinery started to 
operate a hydrotreatment unit for diesel and gasoline 
produced by catalytic cracking, enabling 100% output 
of diesel fuel and gasoline that meets euro-5 standards.

the vacuum generating system for primary refining fa-
cilities at burgas was also upgraded in 2010, which sub-
stantially improved quality of dark-product separa-tion 
and improved the output balance between vacuum 
gasoil and boil fuel oil in favour of the former. a waste- 
heat boiler was installed on the primary refining unit, 
which will significantly reduce energy use in primary re-
fining and create energy for refinery processes.

design work on a heavy-residue processing complex was 
begun in 2010. construction of the complex should be 
completed in 2015. 

the ploiesti refinery (romania) installed two coke 
chambers on the delayed coking facility in 2010 as part 
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of a program to improve reliability, and also completed 
work on a system to heat buildings at the refinery using 
heat generated from refining processes, which will raise 
energy efficiency and lower operating costs.

the Odessa refinery completed construction of a 
gasoline blending facility, which will raise efficiency in 
production of marketable gasoline. the refinery was 
stopped in the fourth quarter of 2010 due to unfavour-
able economic conditions in Ukraine. 

the LUKOIL share in refinery throughput at the Isab 
refining complex (sicily, Italy), in which the Group 
bought a 49% stake in 2008, was 6.57 million tonnes in 
2010.

In september 2009 the Group began refining of oil at 
the trn refinery in the netherlands after completing 
a transaction for acquisition of a 45% stake. the Group 
share in refining of oil and petroleum products at trn 
was 4.48 million tonnes in 2010.

Change in output LeveLs of 
petRoLeum pRoduCts at Company 
RefineRies in 2010 CompaRed 
with 2009, % 1

shaRe of dieseL fueL with suLphuR 
Content beLow 50 ppm in totaL  
dieseL pRoduCtion, % 1

1 excluding mini-refineries and the Isab and trn complexes.

shaRe of high-oCtane  
gasoLine in totaL gasoLine 
pRoduCtion, % 1
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Production of Lubricants

LubRiCant pRoduCtion at LuKoiL gRoup RefineRies
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production and sale of lubricants is an important part of 
LUKOIL’s business. the Group is constantly improving the 
quality of products and expanding their range, as well 
as raising efficiency of the sales system and diversifying 
business geography.

LUKOIL is the leader on the russian lubricants market, 
accounting for about 44% of domestic production. 
Lubricants are produced at Group refineries in perm, 

volgograd and nizhny novgorod. the company also 
mixes lubricants from ready-made components (both 
produced by the company and bought from third parties) 
at facilities in russia, finland, romania and turkey. 

Group refineries produced 1.19 million tonnes of 
lubricants in 2010, and lubricant mixing volumes were 
101,000 tonnes. Output of packaged oils was 251,000 
tonnes (205,000 tonnes in 2009). 

LubRiCant pRoduCtion at Company 
RefineRies, thousand tonnes

pRoduCtion of paCKaged LubRiCants, 
thousand tonnes
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LUKOIL prOdUced 230 dIfferent OILs and 
LUbrIcants and Other nOn-fUeL aUtOmOtIve 
chemIcaLs at Its rUssIan pLants In 2010. they 
IncLUde mOtOr and transmIssIOn OILs fOr aLL 
types Of transpOrt, base OILs (Used as InpUts fOr 
prOdUctIOn Of ready-tO-Use OILs, LUbrIcants 
and addItIves), and LUbrIcants fOr IndUstrIaL 
eqUIpment. 

the Group continued its efforts in 2010 to improve 
efficiency in sales of lubricants, including further 
development of an import substitution program. a full-
time arrangement was put in place as part of the program 
for deliveries of lubricants to the coal mining company, 
OJsc Kuzbassrazrezugol, enabling LLK-International to 
make an agreement for 2011 and remain the sole supplier 
to this customer. deliveries began to OJsc metalloinvest 
and OJsc mechel, and agreements were reached on 
starting cooperation with GmK norilsk nickel. 

sales by the Group of automotive chemicals were 
systematized in 2010: LLK engineering took 2–3% market 
share and a place in the top-10 automotive chemical 
brands in russia. 

LLK-naftan, the joint venture between LUKOIL and 
the naftan refinery (belarus), met 46% of LUKOIL’s 
requirements for additives used in lubricant production 
in 2010, the Jv has increased output by almost seven 
times, from 3,000 to 20,000 tonnes, since its creation in 
2006.

the company carries out sales of lubricants in more 
than 40 countries worldwide and sales geography is 
constantly expanding. In 2010 LUKOIL began lubricant 

sales in India, bangladesh, Iraq, and several countries in 
north africa and the middle east.

the company further expanded its lubricant sales in 
turkey in 2010, making a contract for supplies to the 
service network of the automotive manufacturing 
group, chelik motors (assembly and sales of honda, 
Isuzu, Kia,Lada, and Geely vehicles).

constant expansion of the product range and 
improvement in the quality of company oils and 
lubricants supports growth of sales volumes. sales of 
LUKOIL branded lubricants were over 229,000 tonnes in 
2010, which is 45% more than in 2009. 

an important breakthrough in 2010 was design and 
application of a system for changeover of ship engines 
to LUKOIL navIGO lubricants without the need to wait 
for a scheduled oil change, which involves financial loss 
for the ship owner. the company also cooperated with 
a british company, seatec, to design and deploy a global 
service for technical support and analysis of LUKOIL 
navIGO lubricants. approvals have been obtained from 
more than 80% of the world’s ship engine manufacturers 
(including man, b&w, sulzer, wartsila and maK). the 
company’s ship lubricants were available in 499 ports in 
more than 55 countries worldwide by the end of 2010.

the company has done much work to develop customer 
relations in its lubricant business. LUKOIL was among the 
first companies in the industry to offer comprehensive 
service with full product support, from placement of 
client orders to delivery of the product and final disposal 
of used lubricants.

LUKOIL motor oils match international requirements of the society of automotive engineers 
(sae), the american petroleum Institute (apI), the european automobile manufacturers 
association (acea) and the russian association of automobile engineers (aae). Our oils 
are produced using the latest technologies and contain high-quality additives supplied by 
russian and foreign producers.

high performance qualities of LUKOIL lubricants have been acknowledged by major 
automotive manufacturers in russia and abroad. company motor oils have passed tests 
at western certification centers on engines made by daimlerchrysler, bmw, volkswagen, 
man, porsche, volvo, renault trucks and cummins, and have been approved for use in these 
engines. a total of 40 new lubricant products were brought into production in 2010 and  
144 manufacturer approvals were obtained.
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Gas ProcessinG

gas-pRoCessing pLants of LuKoiL gRoup
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Gas-prOcessInG pLants Of LUKOIL GrOUp prOcess 
assOcIated Gas frOm fIeLds In rUssIa IntO 
marKetabLe Gas (fed IntO the GazprOm Gas 
pIpeLIne system) and LIqUId hydrOcarbOns.

In 2010 the cOmpany’s Gas-prOcessInG pLants 
prOcessed 3.178 bILLIOn cUbIc meters Of Gas 
feedstOcK and 760,000 tOnnes Of natUraL 
Gas LIqUIds (7% and 6% mOre than In 2009, 
respectIveLy). the Increase was dUe tO hIGher 
demand fOr prOdUcts.

during 2010 company plants produced 2.471 billion 
cubic meters of stripped gas, 846,000 tonnes of liquefied 
gas and 889,000 tonnes of liquid hydrocarbons (stable 
gas naphtha, isopentane and hexane-heptane fractions, 
and natural gas liquids).

work continued in the reporting year at the company’s 
Usinsk Gas-processing plant on construction of an 
associated gas compressor unit with annual capacity 

of 500 million cubic meters, and on installation of a 
desulphurization unit with annual capacity of 100 million 
cubic meters.

work was carried out at permneftegazpererabotka to 
identify pipeline sections in need of replacement, which 
are located adjacent to residential areas, water crossings, 
railways and roads. Installation work was completed on a 
stenching unit for propane-butane mixtures.

work in 2010 on safety systems at the Lokosovsky 
Gas-processing plant included installation of a gas 
discharge pipe, modernization of flaring equipment, and 
modernization of fire and accident systems.

no major modernization work was carried out at the 
Korobkovsky Gas-processing plant. however, a long-
term program of measures was designed and approved 
to keep the plant in working order and ensure operating 
safety. 



56

PetrochemicaLs 

LuKoiL gRoup petRoChemiCaL pLants
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LUKOIL's petrochemical business is one of the biggest 
in russia, cIs and eastern europe. company plants in 
russia, Ukraine and bulgaria make pyrolysis and organic 
synthesis products, fuel fractions and polymer materials. 
LUKOIL meets a major share of russian domestic demand 
for various chemicals and is a major exporter of chemicals 
to more than 30 countries worldwide. 

In accOrdance wIth Its deveLOpment strateGy 
In the petrOchemIcaLs sectOr, LUKOIL Is steadILy 
IncreasInG prOdUctIOn Of chemIcaLs wIth hIGh 
vaLUe added (pOLymers, mOnOmers and OrGanIc 
synthesIs prOdUcts) and redUcInG prOdUctIOn 
Of chemIcaLs wIth LOw vaLUe added (secOndary 
pyrOLysIs prOdUcts and fUeL fractIOns).

LUKOIL petrochemical plants produced 1,036,000 tonnes 
of petrochemicals in 2010, which is 14.9% more than in 
2009. the increase was due to the launch of production 
at Karpatneftekhim in september 2010 as well as increase 
of demand for petroleum products.

demand for petrochemical products recovered in 2010, 
as did prices. the sale price for polyethylene in russia rose 
by 15.6%, for polypropylene by 41.7%, and for benzol by 
58.4%. prices for all three products also rose in europe, 
by 25.3% for polyethylene, 37.5% for polypropylene and 
37.8% for benzol.

LUKOIL took further measures for modernization of 
existing production and installation of new facilities 
in 2010 as part of its strategy for development in the 
petrochemical sector. capital expenditures in the sector 
were $76 million in 2010, which is 33% less than in 2009.

Operations were resumed in september 2010 at 
Karpatneftekhim after completion of a new chlorine 
and caustic soda production unit with 200,000 tonnes 
annual capacity. annual capacity of the new unit is 
182,000 tonnes of gaseous chlorine and 200,000 tonnes 
of caustic soda. completion of the project enables 
Karpatneftekhim to produce caustic soda, which meets 
international quality standards, and to fully cover the 
plant’s own chlorine needs.

It was decided in 2010 to include a commercial project 
for expansion of sodium cyanide production to 
18,000 tonnes per year in the investment program for 
saratovorgsintez. the existing unit was inspected and 
changes were made to current technical documentation. 
equipment delivery and assembly work is due to be 
carried out in 2011.

work was completed at stavrolen for installation and 
launch of a polyethylene compounding line. the 
stavrolen plant will be the site for one of the main 
projects scheduled by LUKOIL in the next few years: 
construction of the caspian Gas-chemical complex. the 
complex will use hydrocarbons produced by LUKOIL 
Group in the caspian region. the purpose of the project 
is to increase value added through deeper processing 
of gas feedstocks (ethane and natural gas liquids). the 
caspian complex will carry out refining of ethylene and 
its derivatives into polyethylene, polypropylene and 
other petrochemical products.

pre-project work and configuration of the complex was 
completed in 2010. the first gas-processing line with 
2 billion cubic meter capacity is scheduled for launch 
in 2015, and modernization of existing ethylene and 
polyethylene facilities will be completed at the same 
time. that will be followed in 2017 by launch of new 
ethylene and polyethylene capacities together with a 
second gas-processing line with capacity of 4 billion 
cubic meters. 

petRoChemiCaL pRoduCtion,  
thousand tonnes
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LuKoiL poweR geneRating Companies
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LUKOIL’s new business sector, power Generation, was 
created in 2008 as part of the Group’s strategic deve-
lopment program, and the sector has a special role to play 
in the Group’s updated strategy for 2010-2019. power 
Generation sector will be an important factor for growth 
of cash flow and shareholder value in the long term. 

the new business comprises all aspects of power 
generation, including delivery and marketing of 
electrical energy and of heat produced at power plants.  
the nucleus of the segment is the russian power 
generating company, UGK tGK-8, which was acquired by 
LUKOIL in 2008, but it also includes companies producing 
electricity and heat in bulgaria, romania, and Ukraine. 

the sectOr prOvIdes enerGy bOth fOr the cOm-
pany’s Own needs (In the expLOratIOn & prO-
dUctIOn and refInInG & marKetInG seGments) 
and fOr externaL pOwer and heat cUstOmers In 
the sOUthern federaL dIstrIct Of rUssIa.
 

business restructurinG

reorganization of UGK-tGK-8 was completed in the 
reporting year. the company was renamed ‘LUKOIL-
ecoenergo’ and was united with the company’s hydro-
electric facilities. LUKOIL-ecoenergo will now focus 
specifically on renewable energy projects (wind power, 
hydroelectric and solar power). 

eLectricity and heat Generation

companies in LUKOIL’s power Generation sector 
generated about 13.2 billion kwh of power in 2010. total 
supplies of heat were 15.3 million Gcal, which is 9% less 
than in 2009. Lower heat production in the reporting 
year was due to a decline in demand from consumers in 
the southern federal district.

work continued in 2010 under the capacity provision 
agreement, to which LUKOIL committed during 
reorganization of raO Ues (the former russian power 
sector monopoly). steam turbine facilities are being built 
in astrakhan region (110 mw capacity) and Krasnodar 
territory (410 mw), which should enter service in 2011. 
however, these two facilities, with combined capacity 
in excess of 500 mw are only the first stage of LUKOIL’s 
ongoing work for modernization of russian energy 
facilities and capacity expansion in energy-deficient 
regions. Other projects in the southern district in 
fulfilment of the capacity provision agreement are now 
at the design stage, and LUKOIL is committed to building 
900 mw of generating capacity in total. 

LUKOIL is also working consistently to optimize 
production costs of its generating assets and to maintain 
close control of anti-crisis program implementation in 
terms of reduction of non-production expenses. 

stRuCtuRe of LuKoiL’s poweR geneRation business
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smaLL-scaLe GeneratinG

LUKOIL Is rapIdLy deveLOpInG Its Own pOwer Gen-
eratInG facILItIes at OIL & Gas fIeLds, enabLInG 
the GrOUp tO sUbstantIaLLy redUce eLectrIcIty 
pUrchases and Increase the rate Of assOcIated 
Gas Use by tUrnInG It IntO eLectrIcIty. 

Installed capacity of small-scale generating facilities is  
0.7 Gw. the Group generated 1,409 million kwh of 
electricity at its own facilities in 2010, representing 9.9% 
of total consumption in production operations.

electricity supply arrangements have been made more 
secure by use of the latest technologies in investment 
projects for construction and reconstruction of the  
company’s own generating facilities. Use of new tech-
nologies also enables the company to limit spending 
on its electricity needs, through improvement of energy  
efficiency and use of the company’s own refined pro-
ducts as generating fuel.

enerGy-savinG technoLoGies 

LUKOIL works constantly to improve reliability of its 
electricity supply arrangements and to reduce spending 
on energy. these efforts have been coordinated through 
corporate programs for energy saving and improvement 
of reliability of power supplies.

spending on measures as part of the program for 
improving reliability of electricity supplies was over  
$149 million in 2010. Implementation of the program 
reduced power cuts and resulting underproduction 
of crude oil by nearly 30%. also during the reporting 
year petrotel LUKOIL s.a. brought a power and heat 
generating facility into test production using circulating 
fluidized-bed technology, in order to improve reliability 
and enable flexibility in power supplies. 

an energy audit schedule for Group oil & gas production 
subsidiaries was approved during 2010. the purpose of 
the audit is to identify potential for energy saving  and 
greater efficiency in use of electricity, and also to devise 
energy-saving measures. energy audits were carried out 

in 2010 at LUKOIL-western siberia, LUKOIL-perm, LUKOIL-
Komi, LUKOIL-volgogradneftepererabotka and LUKOIL-
nizhegorodnefteorgsintez. 

a generating unit that meets the latest efficiency and 
ecology criteria was launched and put into commercial 
use in 2010 by LUKOIL energy & Gas Ukraine. visbreaking 
residues from refining operations in Ukraine can now be 
put to commercial use as main fuel inputs to the new 
generating unit.

rational use of electricity considerably reduces 
Group spending on purchase of energy resources. an 
automated system for measurement of electricity use 
has been installed at all company subsidiaries. the 
system makes it possible to take advantage of tariffs in 
force at different times of the day, to increase accuracy 
in measurement of electricity consumption, and to 
purchase electrical energy and generating capacity on 
the wholesale market.

renewabLe enerGy

UGK-tGK-8, renamed ‘LUKOIL-ecoenergo’ at the end 
of 2010, now brings together all of the hydroelectric 
generating facilities of LUKOIL. the main purpose of 
LUKOIL-ecoenergo is to carry out renewable energy 
projects. 

LUKOIL specialists are fully aware of the huge potential 
for resource and energy savings, which is offered 
by alternative sources of energy. renewable energy 
projects are being considered, which would use hydro, 
wind, solar and geothermal energy. these activities 
are being pursued in partnership with international 
companies, which are also interested in development 
of renewables. In 2010 LUKOIL signed an agreement of 
mutual understanding with the Italian company, erG 
renew, on cooperation in the field of renewable energy. 
In accordance with the agreement, the partners will 
consider potential for combining their renewable energy 
businesses in bulgaria, romania, serbia and russia. the 
primary focus will be on wind power projects. erG has 
extensive experience in construction and operation of 
renewable energy facilities.
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Optimizing logistics: reduction of transportation expenses

prompt management of trade flows

Increasing efficiency of trading operations

Increase of retail sales of petroleum products and of related goods and services

retail network optimization

strateGy
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crude oiL deLiveries 

tOtaL crUde OIL sUppLIes by the cOmpany In 
2010, IncLUdInG deLIverIes fOr refInInG at the 
cOmpany’s Own refInerIes and at thIrd-party 
refInerIes, were 114 mILLIOn tOnnes. deLIverIes 
Of OIL tO the dOmestIc marKet were mOre 
effIcIent than mOst nOn-cIs deLIvery expOrt 
rOUtes, sO that sUbstantIaL vOLUmes Of OIL were 
reaLLOcated frOm Less effIcIent expOrt rOUtes tO 
cOmpany refInerIes Or tO the dOmestIc marKet. 

refining at facilities inside russia remains the most 
efficient use of crude oil produced by LUKOIL. crude 
oil deliveries to Group refineries in russia were 
45.21 million tonnes in 2010, which is nearly 2% more 
than in 2009. In order to optimize transport costs the 
company resumed the practice of crude oil substitution 
with other companies in deliveries to refineries. starting 
in may 2010 LUKOIL-western siberia delivered 50,000 
tonnes of oil per month to refineries at Ufa, which are 
owned by bashneft, and bashneft supplied an equivalent 
amount of oil to LUKOIL’s nizhny novgorod refinery. 
total oil supplies using this arrangement were in excess 
of 500,000 tonnes.

crude oil deliveries to the Group’s foreign refineries 
and to the Isab and trn complexes1 were 20.97 million 
tonnes in 2010, which is 15% more than in 2009. the 
increase was due to acquisition of a stake in trn in 
september 2009. LUKOIL also delivered its oil to third-
party refineries outside russia in 2010, but the volume 

of such deliveries was much reduced in comparison with 
2009 (by 97% to 110,000 tonnes). this reduction was due 
to halting of deliveries to refineries in belarus at the end 
of 2009, after refining in belarus became less profitable. 
In the third quarter of 2010 the company began refining 
of crude oil at a third party refinery in Kazakhstan. 

some 3.6 million tonnes of crude oil were sold on the 
domestic market in 2010, which is 22% more than in 
2009. the increase was a result of reallocation of crude 
oil volumes which were previously refined at third party 
refineries in russia and belarus.

crude oil exports from russia by LUKOIL subsidiaries 
(including oil acquired from other producers) were  
40.59 million tonnes in 2010 (815 th. barrels per day), 
which is 3.4% less than in 2009. Lower exports were the 
result of lower output and also termination of deliveries 
to belarus refineries.

most exports of crude oil in 2010 were via the transneft 
pipeline system (deliveries via the system were 78% of 
exports during the year), but transneft deliveries declined 
by 4.3% in the reporting year to 31.59 million tonnes. the 
volume of export deliveries by-passing the transneft 
system in 2010 was 9 million tonnes, unchanged from 
2009. these deliveries were valued on the basis of actual 
quality of the crude oil, at a premium to the Urals price. 
(there is no oil quality bank in the transneft system, so 
crude oil of any quality supplied through this system 

1 Including deliveries of petroleum products to the Isab and trn complexes.



65annual report 2010

is sold at the price for Urals blend crude, making Urals 
blend the company’s main export commodity).

the cOmpany expOrted 8.73 mILLIOn tOnnes Of 
crUde OIL vIa Its Own transpOrt termInaLs In 2010. 
expOrts thrOUGh the varandey termInaL In 2010 
were 7.5 mILLIOn tOnnes, and expOrts thrOUGh 
the pOrt Of svetLy were 1.2 mILLIOn tOnnes.

the company managed export deliveries in 2010 in order 
to make them as efficient as possible. black sea export 
deliveries, which had been scheduled for shipment via 
the port of yuzhny, were redirected to a more efficient 
route — via the port of primorsk.

the situation on the freight market and low tariffs 
for demurrage made deliveries of oil by rIteK via 
the northern export route financially advantageous.  
a logistics system was designed and implemented 
on the route using LUKOIL’s own infrastructure (direct 
transportation to europe without trans-shipment onto 
afromax-type tankers).

sales of crude oil on the international market (exports 
and oil produced outside russia) were 47.74 million 
tonnes in 2010, of which 3.18 million tonnes were sold in 
near-abroad countries and 44.56 million tonnes on other 
markets. total sales of oil on russian and international 
markets in 2010 were 51.38 million tonnes, which is 2.8% 
more than in 2009.

CRude oiL expoRts fRom Russia, 
million tonnes

stRuCtuRe of CRude oiL 
deLiveRies, %

1 Including deliveries of petroleum products to the 
  Isab  and trn complexes
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the Gas seGment Is a new and rapIdLy deveLOpInG 
bUsIness seGment fOr LUKOIL GrOUp. expansIOn In 
the Gas seGment Is One Of OUr strateGIc tasKs, 
emphasIzInG cOmmercIaLIzatIOn Of Gas reserves 
tO bOOst cOmpany vaLUe.

sales of natural, associated, stripped and dry gas by the 
Group’s russian organizations totalled 14.087 billion 
cubic meters in 2010, which is 29% more than in 2009. Of 
this total, 10.051 billion cubic meters of gas were sold to 
Gazprom (including more than 8 billion cubic meters of 
natural gas from the company’s nakhodkinskoye field) 
and 4.036 billion cubic meters of gas were sold to other 
consumers. Increase of sales volumes was due to higher 
global demand for gas and corresponding lifting of 
purchase volume restrictions by Gazprom. there was also 
an increase by three times in associated gas deliveries 
by LUKOIL-western siberia to purgaz, after the severo-
Gubkinskoye field reached full operating capacity (the 
field was launched in June 2009).

average-weighted price of gas sales in the reporting year 
rose by 7.4% in comparison with 2009 to 1,238 roubles 
per thousand cubic meters (1,148 roubles in sales to 
Gazprom and 1,461 roubles in sales to end-users). the 
increase was due to growth of more efficient sales to 
end-users.

Gas deLiveries

LuKoiL seLLing pRiCe foR gas, 
roubles per thousand cubic meter

stRuCtuRe of gas saLes by LuKoiL, 
billion cubic meters
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RUSSIA

INTERNATIONAL

GAS pROdUcTION 
ANd SUppLy STRUcTURE

Natural gas

Natural gas

associated gas 

associated gas 
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PetroLeum 
Product marketinG

LuKoiL RetaiL netwoRK (numbeR of fiLLing stations)
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PetroLeum Product whoLesaLe

 
volume of LUKOIL’s petroleum product wholesale 
business in russia in the accounting year was 10.98 
million tonnes, which is 12% more than in 2009.

petroleum product exports decreased by 6.9% in 2010 
to 25.8 million tonnes due to increase in deliveries of 
medium distillates to the russian domestic market. 
structure of exports remained unchanged in the 
reporting year, and was dominated by heating oil, diesel 
fuel and vacuum gas oil, which accounted for 92% of 
total export volumes. the company’s petroleum product 
export structure mainly corresponds to the structure of 
product exports from russia as a whole. 

railway remained the chief means of transport for Group 
exports of petroleum products (over 80% of the total 
in 2010). the company used the rail infrastructure for 
shipment of petroleum products to the vysotsk terminal. 
a total 12.3 million tonnes of petroleum products were 
shipped through vysotsk in the reporting year, including 
3.4 million tonnes of vacuum gasoil, 3.6 million tonnes of 
diesel fuel and 5 million tonnes of fuel oil. 

export of petroleum products was also carried out by 
sea and river transport, and by pipeline (respectively 11% 
and 9% of export volumes) in the reporting year.

the company continued its efforts to optimize petroleum 
product deliveries in 2010. export deliveries of diesel 
fuel with sulphur content of 10 ppm via the port of 
primorsk were increased and deliveries of vacuum gasoil 
were redirected from the port of vysotsk to baltic ports 
without loss of efficiency, freeing capacity at vysotsk for 
shipment of fuel oil via the most efficient route. products 
were also exported using new routes in 2010 including 
jet fuel Jet a-1 and diesel fuel delivered to afghanistan, 
and bitumen to countries in west and east africa and to 
Indonesia.

LUKOIL is rapidly developing its international petroleum 
product trading business, increasing both scale and 
international diversification. the Group’s objective is this 
business is to achieve maximum efficiency in resource 
placement, including direct sales to end-users without 
use of intermediaries, as well as deliveries of third-party 
petroleum products and  supplying own sales networks. 
petroleum product wholesaling on international markets 
(including export) rose by 4.1% in 2010 to 80.04 million 
tonnes.

LUKOIL has trading offices in nine countries worldwide 
and makes deliveries of crude oil and petroleum 
products to markets in europe, the Usa and the asia-
pacific region, as well as increasing its sales volumes in 
new regions (africa, Latin america and the middle east). 
the company had trading business in 90 countries 
worldwide during the reporting year. 

stRuCtuRe of petRoLeum 
pRoduCt expoRts,  %

stRuCtuRe of petRoLeum pRoduCt 
saLes in 2010 (own production, 
wholesale and retail)



70

PetroLeum Product retaiL

by the start of 2011 the company’s retail network ex-
tended to 27 countries, including russia, cIs and euro-
pean countries (azerbaijan, belarus, belgium, bosnia and 
herzegovina, bulgaria, croatia, cyprus, czech republic, 
estonia, finland, Georgia, hungary, Italy, Latvia, Lithua-
nia, Luxembourg, macedonia, moldova, montenegro, 
poland, romania, serbia, slovakia, turkey and Ukraine) as 
well as the Usa. the network includes 189 storage facili-
ties with total capacity of 2.88 million cubic meters and 
6,508 filling stations (including franchises).

retaIL saLes Of cOmpany petrOLeUm prOdUcts 
thrOUGh Owned and Leased fILLInG statIOns 
Increased by 1.8% In the repOrtInG year 
cOmpared wIth 2009 tO a LeveL Of 14.34 mILLIOn 
tOnnes. averaGe daILy saLes per fILLInG statIOn 
(Owned Or Leased) rOse frOm 7.8 tO 8.1 tOnnes 
thanKs tO OptImIzatIOn Of the retaIL netwOrK 
and redUctIOn In nUmbers Of statIOns wIth LOw 
effIcIency.   

Increase of retail sales mainly reflected a trend on the 
russian market, where sales volumes were 13% higher 
than in 2009. retail sales outside russia declined in 2010, 
mainly due to restructuring of the company’s retail 
network in the Us. 

the company continued optimization of its retail 
network in 2010 in order to reduce costs and increase 
efficiency. In europe and the cIs the changes affected 
100 filling stations (one was leased, 13 were closed down, 
one was sold and 85 were franchised) and three storage 
facilities, which were temporarily closed. In russia the 
changes affected 25 filling stations (eight were leased, 
one was closed down, and 16 were sold) and nine storage 
facilities (seven were sold and two were temporarily 
closed). however, construction and acquisition of highly-
efficient stations continued, and upgrading was carried 
out at existing stations. In europe and the cIs 23 filling 
stations were built, 59 were acquired and 50 were 
upgraded. In russia 38 filling stations were built, 26 were 
acquired and 45 were upgraded.   

Investments in the retail sector in 2010 were $414 million.

the company continued to implement its program 
for development of a marketing and sales network for 
liquefied and compressed gas in 2010. total Group sales 
of these products were 836,300 tonnes (of which 474,500 
tonnes via the retail network), which is 12.3% more than 
in 2009. 

the company continued to develop its system for non-
cash payment by customers at its filling stations in 2010, 
using the LIcard fuel card system. a total of 2,864 filling 
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stations in russia were capable of accepting the cards for 
payment at the start of 2011, of which 1,952 were LUKOIL 
stations. there were 673 stations using the card outside 
russia, of which 530 were company stations.

the total number of stations accepting LUKOIL fuel cards 
was 3,537 at the start of 2011, having increased by 56 
since the start of 2010. more than 4.4 million LIcards 
were in circulation as of January 1, 2011 (including more 
than 4.2 million inside russia), representing an increase 
of 35% compared with 2009.  

total volume of fuel sales using all LIcard types was 
3.65 million tonnes in 2010, of which about 3.44 million 
tonnes inside russia and about 212,000 tonnes abroad.   

Russia 

as of January 1, 2011 LUKOIL’s retail network in russia 
consisted of 2,242 filling stations (including franchises) 
and 110 storage facilities with reservoir capacity of 1.11 
million cubic meters. the filling stations and storage fa-
cilities are operated by 7 petroleum product supply or-
ganizations, which do business in 62 of russia’s adminis-
trative regions.

volume of retail sales of petroleum products on the do-
mestic market in 2010 was 7.02 million tonnes, which is 

13% more than in 2009. average daily sales per filling sta-
tion in russia rose to 10.2 tonnes.

Investments in development of the Group’s russian retail 
business were $204 million in 2010.  

the company sold 16 filling stations and seven storage 
facilities in 2010 as part of its program for optimization 
of the sales network, and leased out eight filling stations, 
while one filling station was closed down and two stor-
age facilities suspended operations. the Group acquired 
and built 64 new filling stations, and rebuilt 45. three of 
total 38 filling stations newly built by the company are in 
‘Olympic’ format, of which two were built face-to face on 
opposite sides of the m-7 highway in nizhny novgorod 
region and the third is at Utkina zavod in Leningrad re-
gion. 

the company continued to develop production and 
sales of its new-generation eKtO fuel brands in 2010. 
total eKtO sales (gasoline and diesel) through the com-
pany’s russian retail network in 2010 were 2.67 million 
tonnes, which is 23% more than in 2009. the share of 
eKtO brands in total sales of retail fuel by LUKOIL in rus-
sia rose to 38% from 35% in 2009 .

total sales of eKtO gasoline in 2010 through the com-
pany’s retail network were 1.6 million tonnes, which 
is 23% more than in 2009, and the share of eKtO gaso-
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line in total gasoline retail sales rose to 31% from 28% 
in 2009. sales of eKtO diesel fuel at filling stations were 
1.08 million tonnes, which is 24% more than in 2009. the 
share of eKtO diesel in total russian retail sales of diesel 
fuel was almost unchanged from 2009 at 56%.

work continued in 2010 on development of retail sales 
of non-fuel products and services by LUKOIL Group’s 
russian petroleum product organizations (part of the 
Group’s refining & marketing strategy for the period 
2010-2019). revenue from sales of non-fuel products and 
services through the Group’s retail network was over 
$210 million in 2010 (45% of this revenue was from sales 
of food goods, 26% represented packaged products, and 
22% was from accessories). the revenue increase reflects 
improvement in service quality at filling stations and 
expansion of the range of goods and services on offer. 
development of non-fuel business is an important factor 
for positioning of LUKOIL Group as a customer-oriented 
company with international standards of service. 

International 

LUKOIL’s retail network in the cIs (outside russia), europe, 
and the Usa consists of 4,266 filling stations (including 
franchises) and 79 storage facilities with reservoir 
capacity of 1.77 million cubic meters.

retail sales of petroleum products on international 
markets in the reporting year were 7.31 million tonnes, 
which is 7% less than in 2009. the decline was due to 
lower consumer demand resulting from shrinkage of 
household incomes and associated reduction of tourist 
and vehicle traffic, as well as falls in industrial output 
in a number of countries. average daily sales per filling 
station in europe and cIs countries (except russia) were 
6.5 tonnes compared with 7 tonnes in 2009. sales per 
station in the Usa were 7 tonnes in 2010 (withdrawal of 
inefficient stations gave an increase in sales volume per 
filling station in the Usa, despite reduction of demand).

Investments for retail network development in europe 
and the cIs (outside russia) were $210 million in 2010.

the Group brought 82 new filling stations into operation 
in europe and the cIs (outside russia) during 2010, of 
which 23 were newly built and 59 were acquired, and 
upgraded 50 filling stations. 

work continued to promote the Group’s eKtO fuel brand 
on foreign markets in 2010 (in Lithuania, Latvia, estonia, 
Ukraine, romania, turkey, and moldova). total sales of 
eKtO fuel (diesel and gasoline) in 2010 were 768,300 
tonnes, which is 3.6 times more than in 2009.

LuKoiL began RetaiL saLes of euRo-5 dieseL fueL in 2010 

 
during 2010 LUKOIL began retail sales in russia of diesel fuel that meets euro-5 criteria.  
the fuel is produced at company refining facilities in nizhny novgorod, perm and Ukhta 
and is sold under the eKtO diesel brand through LUKOIL filling stations. euro-5 diesel 
produced by the company had been exported in previous periods.

LUKOIL made substantial investments in new production facilities to enable changeover 
to euro-5 diesel, including a hydrocracking complex at the perm refinery, modernization 
of the diesel hydrotreatment facility at the nizhny novgorod refinery, and installation  
of a number of other units, which use the most up-to-date catalytic systems.

euro-5 diesel has a high cetane number, which ensures best-possible combustion of the 
fuel mixture, reduces noise and vibration, prevents corrosion, facilitates engine ignition, 
and reduces fuel consumption. euro-5 diesel also slows down engine wear and prolongs 
life of the exhaust system, piston units, and the fuel system.
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abroad, as in russia, LUKOIL is working hard to increase 
profitability of its filling stations, particularly through 
development of retail sales of non-fuel products and 
services. revenue from sales of non-fuel products and 
services at filling stations in europe and the cIs were more 
than $500 million in 2010. the company plans to further 
increase non-fuel revenues from filling stations abroad 
through marketing, optimization of the product range, 
improvement of catering services, new service additions, 
work with big suppliers, other trading practices, and 
better standards of customer service. 

aveRage daiLy saLes of petRoLeum 
pRoduCts peR fiLLing station, tonnes
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Trade balance of lUKoIl 
sUbsIdIarIes (2010)
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LUKOIL cOUnts new technOLOgy And InnOvAtIOn 
AmOng Its cOmpetItIve strengths. the cOmpAny’s 
specIALIsts bOth desIgn new technOLOgIes And 
wOrK tO mOdernIze exIstIng technOLOgIes.

the group continued to work closely in 2010 with the 
russian corporation of nanotechnologies (rUsnAnO) 
on commercialization of nanotechnologies and their 
application in the oil & gas industry. the companies 
are working jointly on design and development of 
various projects, including creation of large-scale (multi-
tonne) production of a unique nano-reagent, rItIn, 
which enables major improvement of oil recovery from 
formations, as well as development and production 

of permanent-magnet electric motors using highly 
efficient, nano-built magnets. the partners are also 
considering potential for testing at group enterprises 
of other nanotechnologies, developed with rUsnAnO’s 
participation. these include multi-functional nano-
coatings, sulphur purification units that use nano-
catalyzers, and a number of other nanotechnologies.

LUKOIL group spent more than $120 million on research 
& development in 2010, substantially more than  
$80 million in 2009. Institutes in the company’s r&d 
complex carried out project and research tasks and other 
work with total value of $200 million during the year.
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LUKOIL fully recognizes the vital role of technology 
in supporting competitiveness of the exploration & 
production segment. most r&d work in the segment 
in 2010 was focused on development of geological and 
geophysical study techniques, improvement of reserve 
assessment methods (work continued on a methodology 
to assess hydrocarbon reserves in reservoirs with 
complex structure), as well as design and improvement 
of methods for increasing oil recovery and optimizing 
technological solutions used for development of new 
areas and accumulations. the company is particularly 
keen to develop technologies that ensure environmental 
safety during field development, most notably in 
development of offshore fields.

production of oil began in 2010 at the yu. Korchagin field, 
where a system of extra-long horizontal wells (more than 
5 km) is being applied. this is a unique project solution 
in russia. All works at the field are being carried out 
on a ‘zero-discharge’ basis, which excludes negative 
environmental impacts.

In 2009 a consortium of LUKOIL and the norwegian 
company statoil won development rights at west 
Qurna-2, which is one of the largest oil fields in the 
republic of Iraq with recoverable reserves estimated at 
14 billion barrels of oil. A preliminary development plan 
was prepared and agreed between the partners in 2010, 
specifying measures to clarify filtration-volume features 

of productive layers at the field and a schedule for drilling 
of wells in the ‘early oil’ stage.

work at west-Qurna in 2011 will involve 3d seismic, 
drilling of two appraisal wells and the start of production 
drilling for early oil (four wells). Oil production at the field 
should begin in 2013. target annual oil production level 
of 1.800 mln barrels per day should be attained in 2017.

LUKOIL continued to make extensive use of horizontal 
well drilling, which offers well productivity growth of 
1.5–2 times. the usage of horizontal and multi-branch 
horizontal wells increases the filtration area, preventing 
water penetration into the well. A total of 101 new 
horizontal wells were commissioned in 2010 with average 
daily flow rate of 156.6 tonnes. 

enhanced oIl recovery TechnIques

One of the most important outcomes of the company’s 
technology development efforts is increasingly 
widespread application of methods for intensifying 
oil production and of enhanced oil recovery (eOr) 
techniques. these methods offer significant increase 
of recoverable reserves and oil production, enabling 
commercial development of high-viscosity oil, oil in low 
permeability reservoirs, and hard-to-recover reserves 

exploraTIon & producTIon 
TechnologIes
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at late stages of field development. In recent years the 
share of oil produced at LUKOIL fields using various eOr 
techniques has been over 20% of total oil production. 
the company applies physical, chemical, hydrodynamic 
and heat methods to stimulate extraction.

the group carried out 4,869 eOr operations in 2009, 
which is 229 less than in 2009. Additional production 
obtained as a result of eOr techniques was 22 million 
tonnes, or 25% of total oil production by the company 
in russia. most of the additional production volume (14 
million tonnes) was obtained using physical methods, 
primarily hydrofracturing. 

the group carried out 690 hydrofracturing operations 
at fields in 2010, achieving average additional oil flows 
of 10.8 tonnes per day. the extent and the effectiveness 
of hydrofracturing operations in 2010 was greater than 
in 2009. hydrofracturing was applied as a method 
of intensifying production mainly at fields that have 
been in development for a long period of time and 
have highly depleted reserves. LUKOIL achieved higher 
levels of additional oil flow from hydrofracturing 
operations in 2010 than in 2009 through improvement 
of hydrofracturing design, selection of wells using 
hydrodynamic models, and tighter quality control over 
the materials and reagents, which were used by service 
companies.

Use of other eOr methods (hydrodynamic, heat, chemical 
methods and oil production intensification) gave 8 
million tonnes of production. the company continued 
to make extensive use of chemical technologies in 2010. 
the number of chemical eOr interventions was almost 

unchanged (1,351 in 2010 compared with 1,357 in 2009) 
and gave 1.8 million tonnes additional output.

drilling of sidetracks at existing wells has also proved a 
highly-efficient form of eOr. the company continued 
drilling of sidetracks in 2010, when 224 such operations 
were carried out (264 in 2009), giving average daily 
flow increase of 19.7 tonnes. the company reduced 
drilling of sidetracks at russian fields by 15.2% in 2010, 
but efficiency of the technique increased by 17.3%. the 
efficiency improvement was achieved thanks to greater 
accuracy in forecasting of the geological structure of 
reserves at locations where sidetracks were drilled. 
sidetracks are mainly used to extract residual oil reserves 
at wells, which have been taken out of operation.

producTIon of hIgh-vIscosITy oIl

LUKOIL is rapidly developing and applying new 
technologies for production of high-viscosity oils. 
experience of work with high-viscosity oil extraction 
in russia is concentrated in the Komi republic, where 
LUKOIL is developing the yaregskoye and Usinskoye 
fields. thermal methods are used at both fields to 
increase oil recovery and annual production is about  
2.3 million tonnes, representing two thirds of total heavy 
oil production in russia.

the permocarbon deposit at the Usinskoye field is being 
developed using areal steam-heating and cyclic-steam 
stimulation. there has been successful work in recent 
years to improve efficiency of thermal applications 

Structure of eor techniqueS 
uSed by LuKoiL Group in 2010

ShareS of additionaL production 
obtained by uSe of variouS eor 
techniqueS in 2010
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at vertical wells (development of combined cyclic-
steam stimulation (css) is being continued and trials 
have begun to increase oil flow through simultaneous 
injection of heat carriers and compositions for oil 
displacement). new thermal technologies are being 
introduced: steam-heat stimulation of rock formations 
in horizontal well systems; technology for perpendicular 
thermo-gravitational deposit draining; ccs technologies 
for horizontal wells, vertical wells with radial channels, 
and for an entire productive interval; and technologies 
for oil recovery by steam.

the yaregskoye field is being developed using a thermo-
shaft technology. surface production is still at the 
industrial testing stage, with the objective of establishing 
optimal techniques for use of horizontal wells in injection 
and production applications. three horizontal wells 
with horizontal sections of 1,000 meters were drilled 
in 2010 at the Lyaelskaya area of the yaregskoye field 
for application of thermo-gravitational strata draining 
technology. Another two production wells and then five 

injection wells will be drilled in 2011, creating a total of 
five well-pairs. the area will then be tested by primary 
steam injection into the injection and production wells. 
Oil production should begin in 2012. 

Industrial application of thermo-gravitational strata 
draining will enable development of non-draining 
reserves (up to 16.5 million tonnes), increasing overall 
output at the yaregskoye field. 

Further use was made in 2010 of assembled drive 
mechanisms using permanent-magnet motors for 
pump installations, developed and produced by 
LUKOIL group. new types of cavity pumps are being 
used in timan-pechora for production of high-viscosity 
oil using permanent-magnet-motor drives. work 
in 2011 will include testing of metal carcases for oil 
production equipment with various new protective 
coatings, including coatings obtained using gas thermal 
deposition and nanotechnologies. 

effect from eor in ruSSia (2010)
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geologIcal and hydrodynamIc  

models

Oil & gas production subsidiaries of LUKOIL were 
producing hydrocarbons at 355 fields in the russian 
Federation during 2010. project documents for 
development work at these fields identify 986 geological 
targets for development. geological and hydrodynamic 
modelling is used for monitoring of development 
processes, choice of technologies, and for measuring 
efficiency during production of reserves. by the end of the 
reporting year geological and hydrodynamic models had 
been prepared for a total of 964 geological targets. Use 
of geological and hydrodynamic models allows optimal 
technological solutions to be put into effect during field 

development, tailored to peculiarities of geological 
structure and composition of available reserves. 
modelling enables improvement of oil recovery rates 
and reduction of expenditures on field development. 
models are widely used by the company when drilling 
over fields and applying eOr methods, and are designed 
to cover all fields in western siberia, timan-pechora and 
Kaliningrad region. Although reserves in traditional 
production regions have been in development for 
long periods of time, use of modelling has enabled the 
company to keep output levels steady and in some cases 
to increase output. this result reflects improved quality 
of the models and ever greater use of such models 
during production drilling, as well as continued work to 
improve well completion technologies, and widespread 
use of primary and secondary drilling into productive 
formations.

additionaL production from eor 
in ruSSia, million tonnes

uSe of chemicaL methodS, 
wells

number of GeoLoGicaL-
hydrodynamic fieLd modeLS 
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refInIng 
TechnologIes

LUKOIL places much emphasis on development, mod-
ernization and construction of high-tech equipment 
that reduces costs in refining operations and enables 
production of new, high-quality product types. constant 
improvement of quality serves the interests of customers 
and protects the environment, and sale of products with 
a large share of value added generates additional profit 
for the group.

LUKOIL cArrIed OUt LArge-scALe wOrK In 2010 tO 
mOdernIze exIstIng UnIts And LAUnch new UnIts 
At cOmpAny reFInerIes In Order tO IncreAse yIeLd 
OF hIgh-QUALIty prOdUcts. the hIghLIght OF sUch 
wOrK In 2010 wAs LAUnch At the nIzhny nOvgOrOd 
reFInery OF A cAtALytIc crAcKIng cOmpLex And A 
new AbsOrptIOn-gAs FrActIOnAtIOn UnIt.

Other improvements to refining technology in the  
reporting year included completion of a short-cycle ab-
sorption block for hydrogen at the volgograd refinery. 
modernization of the heat exchanger on the diesel  
hydrotreatment unit was also carried out at volgograd.

A diesel hydrotreatment unit and a unit for hydrotreat-
ment of catalytic-cracking gasoline were brought into 
operation at the burgas refinery in bulgaria during 2010.

LUKOIL is also devoting much attention to development 
of up-to-date production technologies for lubricants 
and additives, which is the responsibility of a  science 
and technology unit within the company. the focus is 
on developing and bringing to market new, high-quality 
products suited to modern machinery, as well as creating 
new technologies and blends. this work is being carried 
out by company specialists in close association with 
scientific centers in russia. 

work was carried out in the same sphere for development 
of new-generation turbine lubricant technologies. 
company specialists have also developed techniques for 
cleansing compressor lubricants of hydrogen sulphide.
 
the company worked hard in the accounting year to 
optimize technological processes at production units 
and to improve the quality of its lubricants. steps were 
taken to improve yield of priority products, reduce 
energy consumption and raise the quality of base oils. 
the company began production of 40 new lubricant 
types during the reporting year.
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InformaTIon 
TechnologIes

we apply the latest information technologies to optimize 
business processes in various spheres. LUKOIL continues 
to develop and install automated systems for manage-
ment of production and technology processes, as well as 
It systems to help run group companies. the company 
is also working to improve quality of its telecommuni-
cation systems, information security, It hardware and  
office equipment. 

It technologies can be of great value for enhancing the 
efficiency of both management and operations. LUKOIL 
has expanded functionality of all software programs and 
applied them at an ever increasing number of group 
organizations. progressive creation and development 
of the Integrated management system with sAp archi-

tecture had enabled installation of 23 modules at nearly  
110 group organizations by the end of 2010. 

work continued in 2010 to prepare for implementation of 
the Ims global solution. It will allow company employees 
to work in a unified It space, supporting proper balance 
and efficiency of the LUKOIL management system. In 
2010 the LUKOIL management committee approved 
main documents for the management system, setting 
out  the final form which it will take, and prepared for  
a pilot project.

elements of the Ims are to be developed and applied in 
all spheres of group business.
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socIal 
responsIbIlITy



85Annual report 2010

LUKOIL Is gUIded In Its wOrK by the hIghest 
stAndArds OF cAre FOr the envIrOnment And 
IndUstrIAL sAFety. the cOmpAny AcKnOwLedges 

Its respOnsIbILIty tO sOcIety FOr rAtIOnAL 
Use OF resOUrces And tAKes AccOUnt OF the 
envIrOnmentAL ImpLIcAtIOns OF Its OperAtIOns.
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scheduled work continued in 2010 at LUKOIL group 
to ensure industrial and environmental safety and for 
prevention and resolution of emergency situations. A 
re-certification audit of the group’s health, safety and 
environment management system was carried out by 
auditors of bureau veritas, who visited eight LUKOIL 
organizations and the group’s central headquarters. For 
the first time in the history of company hse audits, no 
substantial compliance failure was found. the system 
was once again recommended for re-certification as 
compliant with criteria of the IsO 14001 and OhsAs 
18001 standards. 

environmental measures as part of the group’s hse policy 
are carried out in the framework of LUKOIL’s medium-
term environmental safety program for 2009-2013 and 
of environmental action plans of subsidiaries, which 
are prepared annually. In 2010 LUKOIL achieved steady 
reduction of industrial impacts on the environment 
and improvement of environmental indicators in its 
operating regions thanks to measures, which included: 

modernization of purification facilities; improvement of 
systems dealing with dangerous waste; landscaping of 
production zones and adjacent areas; and monitoring of 
the state of the environment.

Implementation of environment policy by the company 
is significantly hampered by inadequacy of environ-
mental legislation, which is subject to frequent changes 
and various interpretations. the company’s environmen-
tal services and subsidiaries spend much time studying 
changes in the law, adapting their activity to new legal 
requirements, and preparing proposals for improve-
ments to current legislation.

monitoring of environment law, rapid notification 
of relevant departments of subsidiaries concerning 
changes, and legal assistance by the group enabled 
LUKOIL companies to avoid serious criticisms and 
claims from government environmental control and 
supervisory organizations during 2010. 

WaSte Water diScharGe, 
million cubic meters 

environmentaL SpendinG, 
$ million

proTecTIng 
The envIronmenT
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A number of changes in russian environmental law, which were approved at the end of 2009 and 
in 2010, have substantial impact on environmental security work by companies in LUKOIL group. 
the changes include:

• approval by the president of russia in december 2009 of the climate doctrine of the russian 
Federation, which coordinates actions to ensure russia’s safe and sustainable development 
in the context of climate change

• approval by the russian government of the Federal target program, ‘clean water’, for 
implementation in 2011–2017, and also of various rules regulating proper and sustainable use 
of water resources

• approval by the russian ministry of natural resources of legal rules governing formation 
of waste and limits on its storage, rules for calculation of damage caused to environmental 
components, and other documents

• approval of various hygiene standards and norms (for levels of pollutants in the atmosphere 
and soil, hygiene quality in preparation of drinking water, etc.)

preparation by the russian ministry of natural resources of a draft decree, ‘On approval of 
methodological instructions for calculating indicators of associated gas burning’, which details 
requirements of the government resolution №7, dated 08.01.2009, setting a 95% target for 
associated gas utilization by 2012.
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LUKOIL AchIeved A neArLy twOFOLd redUctIOn 
OF FOUL wAter dIschArge In 2010 thAnKs tO mOre 
eFFIcIent OperAtIOn OF pUrIFIcAtIOn eQUIpment.

volumes of dangerous waste held by LUKOIL companies 
were reduced by 56,000 tonnes in 2010. LUKOIL is 
implementing a program for utilization of associated gas 
to ensure compliance with government requirements, 
by which at least 95% of associated gas must be utilized 
by 2012 (companies, which fail to meet this target, will 
be subject to extra environmental impact payments). 
measures as part of the program enabled LUKOIL to raise 
the share of associated gas, which is utilized, from 71% 
in 2009 to 77% in 2010. the company also carried out 
work in 2010 for installation of facilities for utilization of 
associated gas in Kazakhstan, specifically for generation 
of electricity to power the company’s production 
operations. 

OrgAnIzAtIOns In LUKOIL grOUp spent AbOUt 
$715 mILLIOn In 2010 On meAsUres tO ensUre 
envIrOnmentAL sAFety (spendIng In 2009 wAs  
$420 mILLIOn).

environmental security measures at LUKOIL companies 
in 2010 included: actions for rational use of water 
resources and prevention of water pollution; reduction 
of atmospheric emissions; recycling of accrued waste 
that contains crude oil; and non-polluting, sustainable 
use of land. specific steps carried out in the reporting 
year were as follows:

• diagnostics and major repairs of pipelines;

• modernization and construction of facilities, which 
increase the rate of utilization of associated gas;

• acquisition of equipment for resolving crude oil and 
petroleum product leakages; 

• recultivation of disturbed land and land polluted by 
crude oil; 

• various works for monitoring of environmental 
components;

• construction of new and reconstruction of existing 
networks for water supply and water discharge;

• installation of chlorination units for 
decontamination of industrial and river water;

• replacement of equipment and optimization of 
technologies for reducing pollutant emissions; 

• construction of a complex for processing of waste 
that contains crude oil. 

thanks to these actions, the company succeeded in  
reducing the share of additional (non-standard) environ-
mental impact payments from 22% of its total environ-
mental impact payments in 2009 to 17.6% in 2010.

recycLinG and buriaL of toxic WaSte, 
thousand tonnes
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LUKOIL continued to ensure health and safety of its 
employees in the reporting period in accordance with 
the company’s health, safety & environment policy for 
the 21st century and with due respect for russian law 
and the laws of countries where LUKOIL has operations.

LUKOIL also pursued work in 2010 to implement its 
program for health and safety, improvement of working 
conditions, and prevention and resolution of emergency 
situations at organizations in LUKOIL group for 2006–
2010. spending on measures as part of the program was 
about $212 million. 

Accident and injury rates improved in 2010 compared 
with 2009. there were 43 accidents at LUKOIL organiza-

tions during the year compared with 51 in the previous 
year. the number of personnel who suffered injuries de-
clined from 60 to 49, and fatalities were down from 5 to 2.

scheduled preventatives measures ensured that there 
were no incidents during 2010, which could be classed as 
emergencies. safety drills and training sessions are held 
regularly at sea and river terminals, and at production, 
refining and storage sites, to ensure that the company’s 
special teams and equipments remain in a high state 
of readiness to deal with any oil or petroleum product 
leakages. A total of 80 drills and training sessions were 
held in 2010 for dealing with emergency oil and product 
leakages. 

number of accidentS number of accidentS

healTh and safeTy
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we UnderstAnd thAt sOcIAL gUArAntees And 
prOvIsIOns Are An ImpOrtAnt FActOr determInIng 
prOdUctIve And hIgh-QUALIty perFOrmAnce In 
the wOrK pLAce. we ALsO UnderstAnd thAt the 
exceLLent resULts, whIch LUKOIL AchIeves In Its 
bUsIness yeAr-On-yeAr, depend On the dAILy 
cOntrIbUtIOns OF the mAny thOUsAnds OF peOpLe 
whO wOrK At the cOmpAny. we thereFOre tAKe 
IssUes OF stAFF mOtIvAtIOn very serIOUsLy And try 
tO ensUre thAt eAch empLOyee tAKes A persOnAL 
Interest In AchIevement OF the best pOssIbLe 
resULts by the cOmpAny.

work continued in 2010 for implementation of the 
LUKOIL group hr policy, the company’s social code, and 
Functional hr strategy. As instructed by the company 
president, work was carried out in the reporting year to 
create a code of business ethics and rules of corporate 
culture. A business ethics commission was set up inside 
the company.

Further steps were taken in 2010 for restructuring of 
LUKOIL group in order to improve operating and financial 
efficiency. A number of structural sub-divisions were 
reorganized, non-core sub-divisions were transferred 
from the group to external providers, and changes were 
made to organizational structure and overall numbers 
of subsidiaries in several business sectors: electric 
power, refining, petrochemicals and gas processing. 
As a result the overall number of employees at LUKOIL 
organizations decreased by 9.4% in comparison with 

2009, with the largest reduction in the exploration  
& production segment, where employee numbers fell  
by 11.8%. Increase in revenue contributed to much higher 
productivity levels in the company in 2010: revenue rose 
by 42.8% and net income by 24.7% per employee.

In fulfilment of the group’s hr policy, further 
improvements were made in 2010 to the system of 
remuneration at LUKOIL companies. performance 
criteria were proposed for determining the size of annual 
bonuses to deputy heads of LUKOIL companies as part 
of efforts to optimize incentives throughout the group. 
In order to ensure that payroll levels of our employees 
remain competitive, we constantly monitor payrolls in 
the respective market segment in regions where the 
company has presence, taking part in surveys of wage 
and compensation levels that are carried out by leading 
consulting companies.

In addition to material incentives, LUKOIL uses moral en-
couragement as a way of developing personnel poten-
tial: 16 company employees received national awards 
for professional excellence and for conscientious and 
successful work, while 550 were awarded sectoral marks 
of distinction for their work, and 702 employees and 
33 groups of workers were presented with company 
awards in 2010. the annual competition for the title of 
‘best employees and Organizations in LUKOIL group’ 
has become an established and popular tradition within  
the company: the winners receive prizes and cash bo-
nuses.

personnel and socIal 
programs
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the company continued implementation of social 
programs and measures, which are designed to attract 
highly qualified personnel to LUKOIL and ensure that 
they remain our employees. spending in 2010 by 
LUKOIL organizations on social programs for employees, 
their families and pensioners were $296 million. social 
programs being implemented by the company include:

• leisure and recreation provisions for employees 
and their families, organization of sport and fitness 
events

• health care and medical treatment for company 
employees, including voluntary health insurance

• help to employees in acquiring housing

• social support to women and families with children

• social support to young specialists

• non-state pension provision for employees, which 
has operated since 2004 on the principle of shared 
funding of non-state pensions by employee and 
employer

by the end of 2010 a total of 39,300 russian employees  
of LUKOIL had entered the shared funding system, 
and the sum of their annual contributions was about  
$11 million. the company’s total contributions under 
non-state pension provision programs in russia and 
abroad for the reporting period were over $30 million.

empLoyeeS by buSineSS SeGmentS  
aS of January 1, 2011, %
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the company makes full use of social partnerships in the 
labour sphere in order to maintain current levels of social 
provision for employees, their families and pensioners. 
we are constantly expanding cooperation with trade 
unions, government bodies and local communities as 
part of these efforts.

since 2008 LUKOIL has been the official representative 
of the russian Union of Industrialists and entrepreneurs 
in the tripartite commission for regulation of social 
and Labour relations, which is the most senior social 
partnership organization acting under the Labour code 
of the russian Federation. the company has taken an 
active part in the commission’s work, making proposals 
for drafting of new laws and other legal acts in the labour 
sphere at the stage of their design by the government. 

In 2010 the company took part in 10 sessions of the 
commission, at which 74 issues were considered, and 
also in 34 meetings of the commission’s permanent 
working groups, at which 54 topical labour issues were 
discussed.

training and professional study is a highly important part 
of hr management at LUKOIL, particularly for employees 
in positions of responsibility and reserve executives. 
LUKOIL has a program for training of reserve executives 
for positions of responsibility at the parent company and 
subsidiaries, and various training measures were carried 
out under this program in 2009-2010. programs for 
development of leadership potential and management 
skills have been designed and are being provided at oil 
& gas sector institutes and other russian and foreign 
higher-education establishments. LUKOIL uses the whole 
spectrum of modern training aids: workshops, seminars 
away from the work place, special training programs, 
work placements abroad, training sessions, courses to 
gain higher qualifications, professional training days, 
distance learning, mbA programs, etc. In 2010 a total of 18 
employees from the corporate centre and 94 employees 
of LUKOIL subsidiaries benefited from additional study 
periods as part of mbA programs at the leading russian 
oil & gas institutes — the gubkin russian state Oil & gas 
University and the Oil & gas business Institute.

LUKOIL designed and approved a general program for 
cooperation with higher education Institutes in 2010 
to optimize personnel training work, which was carried 
out jointly with such institutes. seminars were organized 
for personnel of LUKOIL Overseas holding in may 2010 
as part of the program to help familiarize company 
specialists with foreign countries, where LUKOIL now 
has business: Iraq, colombia, venezuela, cote d’Ivoire 
and saudi Arabia. A total of 137 employees attended the 
seminars.

the company continues to pay stipends and grants 
on a selective basis to students and young teachers at 

hydrocarbon production per 
empLoyee, thousand boe

net income per empLoyee, 
$ thousand
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higher education institutes, with which the group has 
cooperation agreements, as well as organizing visits 
and work experience at LUKOIL companies (at product 
facilities and for pre-diploma purposes) for students at 
such institutes.

work continued in 2010 to set up a corporate study 
center in Astrakhan for training of LUKOIL personnel. As 
required by legislation, the centre has been registered as 
a non-state institution for further professional education, 
and has obtained a license for provision of education 
services.

Further steps were taken in the reporting year to devel-
op the company’s distance learning system. At present  
41 group organizations are connected to the system, 
which had 61,000 registered users at the end of  2010. 
A total of 9,800 applications have been made to carry 
out studies using the system and 5,900 courses of study 
have been completed by LUKOIL employees. new study 
courses were designed in the reporting year on topical 
themes, and a total of 120 courses had been designed 
and placed in open access on the portal by the end of 
2010. In July 2010 company specialists took part in the 7th  
International exhibition and conference on e-Learning  
in russia, at which the group was awarded a  special 
prize for support to e-learning.

the personnel exchange program between LUKOIL 
and conocophillips has been a important part of the 
process for improving professional training of company 
specialists. A fifth group of 13 specialists from LUKOIL 
completed a period of work experience at conocophillips 
at part of the program in 2010. 

LUKOIL gives priority to work with young specialists as 
part of the group’s comprehensive target program for 
cooperation with young people and young specialists 
in the period from 2008 to 2017. committees of young 
specialists operate at company enterprises, and 
their functions include support to young specialists 
in adjustment to new working conditions, support 
for acquisition and improvement of skills by young 
employees, and work to encourage commitment to 
corporate values and corporate culture. As part of its 
efforts to encourage fulfilment of the creative and 
professional potential of young employees, the company 
held a fifth competition in 2010 to find the best young 
specialist of the year: 152 competitors took part in 17 
categories, and 71 employees won awards. results were 
also announced in 2010 of LUKOIL’s Fuel & energy 2009 
competition, which  sought the best fuel and energy 
r&d designs by young specialists. more than 140 entries 
were submitted and there were about 40 prize winners.

SaLeS per empLoyee, 
$ thousand

refinery throuGhput at oWn 
refinerieS per empLoyee, tonnes
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social and charity programs are an integral part of 
the company’s corporate strategy and help to ensure 
constructive partnership with the state, business and 
society. corporate programs have a targeted character 
and are based on professional experience and human 
potential in regions where the company operates. At 
the same time, the company has come to understand 
the danger of creating social dependence through 
charity actions. LUKOIL therefore makes increasing use, 
alongside its traditional charity actions, of strategic 
support programs and social investments, which 
combine solutions to social problems with strategic 
interests of the company. this approach is based on 
joint work between business and the non-profit and 
government sectors to address urgent social and 
economic problems in local communities.

tOtAL spendIng by the cOmpAny On chArIty And 
sOcIAL prOgrAms wAs AbOUt $112 mILLIOn In 2010.  

the company’s social policy and charity activities have 
two principal components:

• social investments

• sponsorship and traditional charity programs

supporT for chIldren’s homes 

and schools

helping children is a company priority, and underlies 
all of the social programs, which we have built and 
which we pursue: charitable programs, sponsorship, 
sports development programs for children and young 
people, and cultural programs. social investments 
in human capital are particularly valuable in the 
current environment and LUKOIL strives to achieve 
a balanced approach, providing support both to 
children, who by virtue of their family circumstances or 
health find themselves in a worse situation than their 
contemporaries, and to children with favourable family 
backgrounds by helping them to develop their natural 
abilities and talents.

the company, its subsidiaries and the LUKOIL charity 
Fund provide help to children in 60 russian children’s 
homes and boarding schools, ensuring that they remain 
in good health and obtain an education, which will 
enable them to acquire a profession and find their place 
in life: 52 out of 55 children who left LUKOIL-sponsored 
children’s homes in 2010 entered higher or technical 
education, and three went straight into employment.

 

sponsorshIp 
and charITy 
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every year the LUKOIL charity Fund organizes summer 
vacations by the black sea for children from sponsored 
children’s homes in Ishim, Kirov, rostov-on-don, nizhny 
novgorod, Kstovo, sasykol and perm region  as well as 
organizing educational trips around russia.

the charity Fund has also been providing special LUKOIL 
grants since 2006 to students who continue their studies 
in higher education or technical institutes after leaving 
children’s homes. such grants were paid to 80 young 
people in 2010.

since 2008 LUKOIL and its subsidiaries in Astrakhan 
region have been working on a project, by which chil-
dren from care homes and disadvantaged families are 
trained for work in managerial and technical capacities at  
LUKOIL. the project is motivated by a severe deficit of 
technical specialists, needed for new large-scale projects, 
which LUKOIL is implementing in the region. gifted chil-
dren from disadvantaged backgrounds will be prepared 
for work at the company in technical and higher-educa-
tion colleges: 20 such students have already been placed 
at Astrakhan polytechnic-college and the volga-caspian 
Fishery and Industry complex. the LUKOIL charity Fund 
is covering costs of their tuition and living expenses, and 
they will be given employment at group organizations  
in the region after completion of their studies.

In nizhny novgorod region the company provides 
assistance to the Kstovo Oil Industry polytechnic, where 
students also include children who were formerly at 
LUKOIL care homes. the students regularly visit LUKOIL’s 

nizhny novgorod refinery to learn about its operations 
and to acquire practical knowledge and skills. this helps 
to achieve social adaptation of young people, who have 
had a relatively difficult start in life. 

the group gives special attention to children with special 
medical needs. One project, which LUKOIL has main-
tained over a number of years, is called ‘An illustrated 
book for every blind child’ and is part of a larger program, 
‘Illustrated books for blind children’. publications were 
supplied to specialized children’s institutions in rostov 
region in 2010 as part of this project. 

educaTIon programs

cOncern FOr the yOUng generAtIOn And trAInIng 
OF QUALIFIed, yOUng specIALIsts FOr the rUssIAn 
OIL IndUstry Are ImpOrtAnt Aspects OF LUKOIL’s 
bUsIness. the grOUp cArrIes OUt mUch wOrK 
On brIngIng edUcAtIOn And scIence cLOser tO 
prOdUctIOn. edUcAtIOnAL prOgrAmmes hAve A 
three-stAge A ‘schOOL — UnIversIty — enterprIse’ 
system.  these prOgrAmmes Are beIng ActIveLy 
ImpLemented In regIOns where LUKOIL hAs 
OperAtIOns.

the company’s program of assistance to higher education 
institutions enables them to improve their teaching 
resources, ensuring that the educational process is up-
to-date and of a high standard. help with acquisition 
of laboratory equipment is one important contribution 
made by LUKOIL. the company allocated substantial 
amounts for development of teaching resources and 
reconstruction of buildings at russian higher-education 
institutions in 2008-2010, when recipients included the 
gubkin state Oil & gas University, tyumen state Oil & 
gas University, Ufa state Oil and technical University, 
Ukhta state technical University, perm state technical 
University, the diplomatic Academy of the russian 
ministry of Foreign Affairs and the Financial University 
(attached to the russian Federal government).

since 2000 the company has paid grants to particularly 
talented students at oil industry and technical institutes 
in russia. In 2010 monthly corporate grants of 2,500-
3,000 roubles were paid 208 students in various russian 
cities.  

About 90 talented young teachers at leading russian oil 
& gas institutes received grants in 2010 as part of LUKOIL’s 
program for support to young teachers. grant payments 
as part of this program totaled $300,000 in 2010. 
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supporT for medIcal 

InsTITuTIons

LUKOIL group provides assistance to a number of major 
specialized medical research centers, including the 
the center for haematology research, and the russian 
cardiovascular scientific and production complex.

the company also supports development of the system 
of medical services in regions where it has operations. 
About 10 russian hospitals obtained expensive 
equipment from the company in 2008-2010 including 
Astrakhan children’s clinical hospital №1, penza 
region clinical hospital, city children’s hospital №1 
in st. petersburg, Liman central district hospital and 
novoburassk central district hospital.

socIal projecT 

compeTITIons 

social project competitions, which are held annually 
by LUKOIL subsidiaries in association with the LUKOIL 
charity Fund, represent a particularly efficient way of 
implementing programs of social importance. holding

 

of the competitions in regions, where the company 
has operations, has become an integral part of LUKOIL’s 
system of corporate  responsibility. the competition 
mechanism for allocating funds has been found to 
operate very well in encouraging projects and initiatives 
among local communities to address their specific 
problems and aspirations. this in turn increases the 
efficiency of LUKOIL’s social and charity allocations.

social project competitions have been held in regions 
of LUKOIL presence since 2002, when the first compe-
tition was organized  in perm territory. geography of 
the events has greatly increased in recent years: they 
are now held in 10 of russia’s administrative regions. In 
2010 a social projects competition was held in tatarstan 
for the first time. A total of 8,600 projects have been  
proposed over nine years and 1,700 projects have re-
ceived funding. the total amount spent to date by  
LUKOIL on social project funding is $10 million. 

nearly 400 projects were selected for financing in 2010 
out of 1,923 applications, which were submitted for con-
sideration in various regions. the competition budget in 
2010 was about $2 million. 

social project competitions consist of several categories: 
‘environment’, ‘charity’ ‘culture and Art’, ‘physical cul-
ture, sport and tourism’, and ‘my region’. A special cat-
egory was added in 2010 to mark the 65th Anniversary of 
victory in the great patriotic war (world war II). 
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In the years since they began, LUKOIL’s social project 
competitions have proved their worth as a unique vehicle 
for nurturing social initiative. Independent experts 
agree that the competition mechanism enables funds 
to be allocated more efficiently. most importantly, the 
system has a strong motivational element, encouraging 
‘grassroots’ initiative by the people and organizations, 
who receive funding. 

the mechanism enables project participants to develop 
their potential, set themselves goals and organize their 
progress towards achievement of those goals, helped 
by the informational and financial resources, which the 
company puts at their disposal. 

culTural and hIsTorIcal 

herITage 

support to culture is a traditional sphere of sponsorship 
and charity for russian companies. partnership with 
cultural organizations has a dual nature, combining 
sponsorship (financing of productions, concerts, 
exhibitions, etc.) with a charity element. the company 
supports various types of classical art and, together with 
its subsidiaries, lends a hand in the revival of religious 
and spiritual traditions.
     
In 2010 LUKOIL cOntInUed Its prOgrAmme OF 
sUppOrt tO A nUmber OF LeAdIng rUssIAn mUseUms. 
the cOmpAny prOvIded FInAncIAL sUppOrt tO the 
tretyAKOv gALLery, the mUseUms OF the mOscOw 
KremLIn, the pUshKIn mUseUm OF FIne Art, the 
rUssIAn mUseUm, the centrAL stAte mUseUm OF 
cOntempOrAry rUssIAn hIstOry, the vyAtKA v.m. 
And A.m. vAsnetsOv Art mUseUm, And the nIzhny 
nOvgOrOd stAte mUseUm OF FIne Art.

LUKOIL has a long-running association with the 
tchaikovsky symphony Orchestra, conducted by vladimir 
Fedoseyev and the perm state theatre of Opera and 
ballet. the company has also provided financing over 
many years to the Kaliningrad regional philharmonia to 
finance its program, ‘bring the family to the concert hall’, 
as well as to the Urals Academic philharmonic Orchestra. 
LUKOIL supports the spasskaya bashnya festival of 
military bands, which is held annually on red square in 
moscow.  

LUKOIL provides support to religious institutions that 
have an important place in society. the company is 

helping to finance restoration and rebuilding of churches 
and monasteries, supports the Optina pystyn monastery, 
as well as funds purchases of auditorium equipment for 
cyril and methodius post-graduate and doctoral courses. 
Funding was also provided in 2010 to the central Office 
of muslims of russia and to the church of st.vladimir in 
sochi. company subsidiaries take an active part in revival 
and development of centers of religious and spiritual life 
in russia and abroad.

LUKOIL-perm has carried out a number of programs 
in recent years to support traditional crafts of ethnic 
groups in the russian north. the 11th inter-regional 
festival of historic towns along the Kama river was held 
in 2010 in the town of Kudymkar with support from 
LUKOIL-perm, and the company also helps to organize 
the selenitovaya shkatulka children’s arts & crafts festival 
in the village of Ashap (Orda district). the community of 
stone-engravers in Orda district is one of very few, which 
has kept this tradition alive in modern russia, and has 
won recognition both in russia and internationally.
 

assIsTance To peoples 

of The far norTh

Operations by LUKOIL in siberia and the Far north of 
russia can have significant impact on the living conditions 
of small indigenous peoples, creating various social and 
economic problems. Areas that are being developed 
for extraction of oil & gas are also areas where these 
peoples carry out economic activities (reindeer herding, 
fishing and hunting), that are essential to their way of life. 
resulting changes can give rise to social and economic 
problems. LUKOIL’s objective is to resolve these issues 
by moving gradually away from charity provision to the 
indigenous inhabitants of these regions and towards an 
economic partnership with them.

In the Khanty-mansiysk Autonomous district (yugra), 
the nenets Autonomous district, and the Komi republic 
LUKOIL has made and is implementing agreements on 
socio-economic development and improvements to 
infrastructure and dwellings on the land traditionally 
inhabited and exploited by indigenous groups in order 
to preserve and support the traditional life-styles of 
the Khanti, mansi and nenet peoples. LUKOIL also has 
a cooperation agreement with the organization ‘save 
yugra’ and the association ‘yamal for our children’.
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help for war veTerans 

and The dIsabled

Oil workers and other veterans of the great patriotic war 
(world war II), as well as veterans of the labour front, have 
a special place in LUKOIL’s social programs. every year 

veterans of the great patriotic war who live in regions 
where the company has operations receive special 
payments and gifts from the company to coincide with 
victory day. the company also provides assistance 
to families of members of the armed forces, who have 
perished in more recent armed conflicts.

LUKOIL provides financial assistance to people with 
disabilities, including support to help them to earn a 
living independently and thus to feel a part of society.
 
LUKOIL realized a number of events in the year of 65th 
anniversary of the great victory. excursions to the 
museums and places of military glory, recreational tours, 
health resort treatment and medical inspections were 
organized for veterans of the world war II. company 
provided support for holding the exhibitions, organizing 
books and medals to mark the memorable date. 

sporT

russian sport has been a beneficiary of LUKOIL’s social 
policy over many years. company priorities in the sphere 
include promotion of health and fitness pursuits among 
employees and their families, development of mass 
sport, support for professional sports teams in russia, 
for national federations and for the national Olympic 
movement, as well as assistance in development of 
children’s sport in russia. 

the company has proved its commitment to encoura-
ging health and fitness among its own workers and their 
families by organizing regular competitions  in various 
summer and winter sports. LUKOIL’s international 
amateur sports competitions (‘spartakiada’) are among 
the biggest events in russia for popularization of fitness 
and mass sport among corporate employees. the first 
such competition was held in 2001 in Astrakhan, the 
second in perm in 2003, the third in Kaliningrad in 2005, 
and the fourth in 2007 in Kogalym. the fifth LUKOIL 
spartakiada will be held in summer 2011 in perm. 
Another corporate sports competition, held in 2010, was 
the LUKOIL president’s cup, which was dedicated to the 
65th anniversary of victory in the great patriotic war, 
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and which attracted participation by 300 sportsmen in 
10 teams from LUKOIL operating regions.
 
LUKOIL backs professional sport in russia by its 
support to leading sports teams, including moscow 
spartak football team, the zarya Kaspiya handball team 
(Astrakhan), spartak water polo team (volgograd), the 
dinamo-yantar volleyball team (Kaliningrad), dinamo 
ice-hockey team (moscow), and torpedo ice-hockey 
team (nizhny novgorod).  

For many years the company has been general sponsor 
of the national ski-racing team and partner of the russian 
ski-racing Federation. LUKOIL assists both in training of 
the national team and development of amateur ski sport 
in russia. As part of its support to the russian Olympic 
movement the company is cooperating with the russian 
Olympic support Foundation, which provides targeted 
support to sportsmen and women in russian national 
teams practising Olympic sports. 

LUKOIL also plays a major role in development of sport 
among children and young people. the company has 
provided support since 2001 for one of russia’s biggest 
sports organizations, the children’s Football League. 
About 3,000 teams and 5,000 young footballers from all 
over russia take part in League competitions each year. 
since 2002 the children’s Football League has held an 
annual tournament under the title, ‘LUKOIL International 
children’s League of champions’. A special children’s 
football competition was organized in 2010 jointly with 
sports clubs and organizations that are supported by the 
company to celebrate the 65th anniversary of victory in 
1945.

In addition to its support for sports teams, LUKOIL also 
views sport as a way of testing the company’s own 
products to the limits. the successes and victories of 
LUKOIL racing team, which is the strongest car racing 
team in russia, continue to prove the efficiency of the 
company’s fuels and lubricants.

blood donaTIon

In 2010 LUKOIL InvIted Its empLOyees tO vOLUnteer 
As bLOOd dOnOrs And OrgAnIzed sessIOns FOr 
thAt pUrpOse At cOmpAny premIses.
   
the first such action was carried out in April 2010, and 
152 company employees took part. A second action was 
carried out in december 2010 at the company’s central 
office, and was attended by 280 employees. the total 
amount collected was 170 liters, which was used to help 
patients of the haematology center of the russian Acad-
emy of medical science. the action helps to address a 
pressing social problem, strengthens corporate culture 
and facilitates cohesion among the company workers.
LUKOIL plans to hold more such actions in the future.

The luKoIl museum

LUKOIL’s museum network consists of LUKOIL corporate 
museum created in 2005 and more than 20 museums 
in group organizations in various regions of russia, and 
also in Ukraine, bulgaria and romania.

more than 15 travelling exhibitions were held in 2010 in-
cluding ‘LUKOIL in Africa’, ‘80 years of the gubkin Oil & 
gas University’, ‘LUKOIL charity Actions’, ‘65 years since 
victory’, ‘we were young too’, and ‘Five years of LLK-In-
ternational’. the exhibitions were displayed at the com-
pany’s central office and elsewhere. A stand presenting 
LUKOIL’s history and current business was also presented 
at the european business summit in brussels.

A LUKOIL section was included in the exhibition, ‘From 
soviet electrification to 21st century Innovation’, which 
was held at the central state museum of contemporary 
russian history.

the LUKOIL museum holds regular sessions with stu-
dents of the gubkin Oil & gas University to study the his-
tory of the russian oil industry.
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7

LUKOIL’s system OF cOrpOrAte gOvernAnce Is An 
eFFectIve tOOL FOr prOtectIng the rIghts And 
ObservIng the Interests OF cOmpAny shArehOLd-
ers. eFFIcIent cOrpOrAte gOvernAnce LOwers the 
weIghted AverAge cOst OF cApItAL And redUces 
Investment rIsKs, mAKIng Investments In LUKOIL 
mOre AttrActIve And, As A cOnseQUence, rAIsIng 
shArehOLder vALUe OF the cOmpAny. LUKOIL’s cOr-
pOrAte gOvernAnce system AttAches specIAL Im-
pOrtAnce tO prOtectIng the rIghts OF mInOrIty 
shArehOLders.

high quality of the company’s corporate governance 
system has been recognized by the investment commu-
nity for over many years. In 2010 LUKOIL won the nomi-
nation for ‘company with best corporate governance’ in 
the annual competition, ‘russian corporate governance 
Leaders’, organized by the Association for protection of 
Investor rights, which brings together some of the larg-
est russian and foreign institutional investors. 

corporaTe governance
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board of dIrecTors  

of luKoIl

the board of directors plays a crucial role in LUKOIL’s 
system of corporate governance, exercising overall 
control of company activities in the interests of investors 
and shareholders. In accordance with russian legislation 
and the LUKOIL charter, the board of directors defines 
priorities for company development and ensures effi-
cient functioning of the company’s executive bodies. 

the board of directors of LUKOIL has 11 members who 
are elected by a cumulative vote of the general meeting 
of shareholders. shareholders who own no less than 
2% of voting shares in the company have the right to 
propose candidates to the board. such proposals much 
be submitted to the company not later than 30 days 
after the end of the financial year. the board of directors 
takes a decision on the final list of candidates during the 
last five days before the end of that period, usually by a 
vote in absentia. members of the board of directors are 
elected until the next general meeting of shareholders 
and there is no limit on the number of times they can be 
re-elected. 

In accordance with the code of corporate conduct, 
which was recommended for adoption by companies by 
the decree of the Federal commission for the securities 
market on April 4, 2002, the board of directors of LUKOIL 
includes independent directors, whose presence ena-
bles the board to formulate an objective opinion on mat-
ters discussed and therefore to strengthen confidence in 
the company on the part of investors and shareholders. 
At the present time 7 of the 11 members of the board of 
directors are independent.

Amendments to the LUKOIL charter, made in 2005, ex-
panded the authority of the board of directors and es-
tablished a principle of unanimous agreement on key 
matters, and specifically concerning: inclusion in the 
Agm agenda of issues related to any increase of LUKOIL’s 
charter capital above 10% or issue of securities, which 
can be converted into more than 10% of the company’s 
outstanding shares, during any 12 month period; and ap-
proval of any transaction or any number of interrelated 
transactions amounting to more than 7.5% of consoli-
dated non-core asset value.

the board of directors held 8 meetings in person during 
2010 and carried out 17 votes in absentia. the board of 
directors dealt with the following matters in its compe-
tence during 2010:

board of dIrecTors 
and managemenT commITTee 
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• definition of company business priorities, strategic, 
medium-term and annual planning, and review of 
business results

• in-depth study and design of specific measures for 
development of specific group business segments

• improvement of corporate governance (approval 
of the LUKOIL program for improvement of 
shareholder rights mechanisms in the period 
2010–2014, and approval of performance criteria for 
the the board of directors and its committees)

• appointment of the management committee, 
selection of the external auditor

• preparations for holding the general meeting of 
shareholders

• approval of transactions with interest.
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members of The board 
of dIrecTors of luKoIl

vaLery Grayfer

chairman of the LUKOIL board of directors
ceO of rIteK (1992 – January 2010), chairman of the rIteK board of directors 
(from January 12, 2010)

born 1929

graduated in 1952 from the gubkin moscow Oil Institute. doctoral candidate 
in technical sciences. Awarded six orders, four medals, and a diploma of the 
supreme soviet of the tatar Assr. Awarded a diploma of the president of the 
russian Federation in 2009. deputy to the Ussr Oil Industry minister, head of 
the tyumen main Office for the Oil & gas Industry (from 1985). ceO of rIteK 
(1992-2009); chairman of the board of directors of rIteK (from 2010). chairman 
of the board of directors of LUKOIL (from 2000). professor of the gubkin 
russian state Oil & gas University, Lenin prize winner and russian government 
prize winner.

elected to the LUKOIL board of directors since 1996.

vaGit aLeKperov

president of LUKOIL
member of the LUKOIL board of directors
chairman of the LUKOIL management committee

born 1950

graduated in 1974 from the Azizbekov Institute of Oil and chemistry in 
Azerbaijan. doctor of economics, current member of the russian Academy 
of natural sciences. Awarded four orders, eight medals, and official thanks of 
the president of the russian Federation. winner of two russian government 
prizes. worked in the oil industry in Azerbaijan and western siberia (from 
1968). ceO of Kogalymneftegaz (oil production company), a division of 
glavtyumenneftegaz within the ministry of the Oil & gas Industry of the 
Ussr (1987-1990). deputy, then First deputy to the Ussr Oil & gas Industry 
minister (1990-1991). president of Langepasuraykogalymneft (oil production 
group) (1992-1993). chairman of the board of directors of LUKOIL (1993-2000). 
president of LUKOIL (from 1993).

elected to the LUKOIL board of directors since 1993.
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iGor beLiKov

Independent member of the board of directors of LUKOIL 1

director of the russian Institute of directors (since 2002 )
member of the hr and remuneration committee of the LUKOIL board of 
directors 

born 1956

graduated in 1980 from voronezh state University, post-graduate studies 
at the Africa Institute of the Academy of sciences of the Ussr, candidate of 
historical science, completed a period of study at London University, diploma 
in banking and Insurance awarded by the Further Qualification Institute of the 
Financial Academy (attached to the government of the russian Federation), 
Audit certificate and corporate governance certificate from schulich school 
of business (york University, toronto, canada, 2002), corporate governance 
consulting certificate (global corporate governance Forum, washington, UsA, 
2008).
director in the russian Institute of directors since 2002. co-author of the 
russian code of corporate conduct (2002) and of the first national report on 
corporate governance (2004). member of the expert council  of the Federal 
commission for the securities market (Fcsm) (2002-2004). executive secretary 
of the national council for corporate governance (2003-2004). member of the 
expert council for corporate governance at the Federal service for Financial 
markets, deputy chairman of the college of the Association of corporate 
directors, member of the International corporate governance network (Icgn) 
(from 2004). expert on the Intergovernmental group of experts on International 
Accounting standards of the Un conference on trade and development 
(UnctAd, geneva) (2003-2006). 

elected to the board of directors of LUKOIL since 2008 (except the period from 
June 2009 to June 2010).

viKtor bLazheev

Independent member of the LUKOIL board of directors 1

rector of the Kutafin moscow state Academy of Law
member of the LUKOIL bod Audit committee

born 1961

graduated from the All-Union correspondence-study Law Institute (AcLI) in 
1987; completed a post-graduate program at AcLI/moscow Law Institute in the 
civil Litigation Faculty in 1990. since 1994 he has combined work as a lecturer 
with various administrative posts at the moscow state Academy of Law. dean 
of the Full-time department of the moscow state Academy of Law (1999-2001). 
vice-rector of moscow state Academy of Law in charge of academic agenda 
(2001-2002). First vice-rector of moscow state Academy of Law in charge of 
academic agenda (2002-2007). rector of Kutafin moscow state Academy of Law 
(from 2007).

elected to the LUKOIL board of directors since 2009.

1 According to provisions of the code of corporate conduct whose application is recommended by an instruction of the Federal Financial  
   markets service, dated April 4, 2002.
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donaLd WaLLette Jr

Independent member of the LUKOIL board of directors 1

president of the Asia-pacific regional division of conocophillips
member of the LUKOIL bod strategy and Investment committee

born 1958

graduated from the University of southern california with a degree in 
chemical engineering in 1981. conocophillips manager for production 
support and Optimization (2002-2005). vice-president for the shtokman 
project in the russia/caspian region division of conocophillips (2005-2006). 
russia/caspian region president of conocophillips (december 2006 to August 
2010). president of the Asia-pacific regional division of conocophillips (from 
september 2010). 

elected to the LUKOIL board of directors since 2007.

German Gref

Independent member of the LUKOIL board of directors 1

president, chairman of the executive board of sberbAnK 
(savings bank of the russian Federation)
chairman of the LUKOIL bod Audit committee

born 1964

graduated from Omsk state University in 1990, completed a post-graduate 
program at st. petersburg state University in 1993. First deputy minister of 
property relations of the russian Federation (1998-2000). minister of economic 
development and trade of the russian Federation (2000-2007). president, 
chairman of the executive board of sberbAnK (savings bank of the russian 
Federation) (from 2007).

elected to the LUKOIL board of directors since 2009.

1 According to provisions of the code of corporate conduct whose application is recommended by an instruction of the Federal Financial  
   markets service, dated April 4, 2002.
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iGor ivanov

Independent member of the LUKOIL board of directors 1

professor of moscow state Institute of International relations (University)
chairman of the LUKOIL bod strategy and Investment committee

born 1945

graduated from the maurice thorez moscow state Institute of Foreign 
Languages in 1969. doctor of history. professor. Awarded russian and foreign 
orders and medals. First deputy minister of Foreign Affairs of the russian 
Federation (1993-1998). minister of Foreign Affairs of the russian Federation 
(1998-2004). secretary of the security council of the russian Federation (2004-
2007).

elected to the LUKOIL board of directors since 2009.

raviL maGanov

member of the LUKOIL board of directors
member of the LUKOIL management committee
First executive vice-president of LUKOIL (exploration & production)
member of the LUKOIL bod strategy and Investment committee

born 1954

graduated in 1977 from moscow gubkin petrochemical & gas Institute. honored 
employee of the Oil & gas Industry of the russian Federation. Awarded three 
orders and three medals. winner of three russian government prizes in science 
and technology. chief engineer, deputy ceO, ceO of Langepasneftegaz (oil 
production company) (1988-1993). vice-president of LUKOIL (1993-1994). First 
vice-president of LUKOIL (1994-2006). First executive vice-president of LUKOIL 
(from 2006).

1 According to provisions of the code of corporate conduct whose application is recommended by an instruction of the Federal Financial  
   markets service, dated April 4, 2002.
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SerGey miKhaiLov

member of the LUKOIL board of directors
ceO of the company management-consulting
member of the LUKOIL bod Audit committee
member of the LUKOIL bod hr and remuneration committee

born in 1957

graduated in 1979 from dzerzhinsky military Academy, in 1981 from moscow 
Aviation Institute (Further Qualification Faculty), and in 1998 from the 
plekhanov russian economics Academy. doctoral candidate in technical 
sciences, doctor of economics, professor. Awarded four medals. service in 
armed forces (1974-1992). head of section, deputy chairman of the russian 
Federal property Fund (1992-1996). head of restructuring and Investment 
department of ministry of Industry (1996-1997). ceO of management-center 
(management company) (1997-2003). ceO of the company management-
consulting (from 2001 till February 28, 2011). ceO of consulting group (since 
2002). chairman of the board of directors of capital Unit Investment Funds 
(management company), member of the board of russian mediagroup, 
spartak-moscow Football club, and petrocommerce commercial bank (from 
2004). member of the board of directors of IFd capital and of Izvestiya 
newspaper editorial (from 2005). chairman of the board of directors of capital 
Investment group (2008-2009). member of the board of directors of capital 
management company (from 2008). chairman of the board of directors of 
capital group Asset management (from 2010).

elected to the LUKOIL board of directors since 2003.

marK moebiuS

Independent member of the board of directors of LUKOIL 1

executive president of templeton emerging markets group
member of the strategy and Investment committee of the board of directors 

born in 1936

graduated from the massachusetts Institute of technology (UsA) in 1964; 
bachelors and masters degrees. the University of boston (UsA). doctor of 
economic and political science. executive president of templeton Asset 
management Ltd till August, 2010. since August, 2010 executive president of 
templeton emerging markets group, part of Franklin templeton Investments 
(since 1987).

elected to the board of directors of LUKOIL in 2002-2004 and since June 2010.

1 According to provisions of the code of corporate conduct whose application is recommended by an instruction of the Federal Financial  
   markets service, dated April 4, 2002.



109Annual report 2010

aLexander ShoKhin 

Independent member of the LUKOIL board of directors 1

president of the russian Union of Industrialists and entrepreneurs
president of the state University — higher school of economics
chairman of the LUKOIL bod hr and remuneration committee

born in 1951

graduated from economics Faculty of Lomonosov moscow state University 
in 1974, doctor of economics, professor. Awarded an order for ‘services to 
russia’ (4th grade) and a medal of the russian security council for ‘services 
to national security’. began working career in 1969. deputy chairman of the 
government of the russian Federation, minister of the economy, minister 
for Labour and employment (1991-1994). deputy of the state duma of the 
russian Federation (1994-2002). First deputy chairman of the state duma of 
the russian Federation (1996-1997). chairman of duma Fraction ‘Our home 
is russia’ (1997-1998). deputy chairman of the russian government in 1998. 
chairman of the supervisory council of renaissance capital Investment group 
(2002-2006). member of the public chamber of the russian Federation (2005-
2009). president of the russian Union of Industrialists and entrepreneurs (from 
2005). member of the competitiveness and enterprise council of the prime 
minister of russia, member of government commissions for Administrative 
reform, for Legislature, for Investment projects of national Importance, and for 
high-technology and Innovation.

elected to the LUKOIL board of directors since 2005.

1 According to provisions of the code of corporate conduct whose application is recommended by an instruction of the Federal Financial  
   markets service, dated April 4, 2002.
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cOmmIttees OF the bOArd OF dIrectOrs hAve been 
creAted tO ensUre eFFIcIent FUnctIOnIng OF the 
bOArd OF dIrectOrs, As FOLLOws: FOr strAtegy And 
Investments; FOr AUdIt; And FOr hr And remUner-
AtIOn. the cOmmIttees cArry OUt preLImInAry ex-
AmInAtIOn OF mAtters OF ImpOrtAnce And prepAre 
recOmmendAtIOns tO the bOArd OF dIrectOrs.

sTraTegy and InvesTmenT 

commITTee

the committee for strategy and Investments prepares 
recommendations to the board of directors concerning 
strategy objectives for long-term company develop-
ment. the principal function of the committee is to pre-
pare recommendations on the following issues:

• analysis of strategic development concepts, 
programs and plans of the company

• dividend amounts and procedure for dividend 
payment

• distribution of company profit and loss for the 
financial year

members of the strategy and Investments committee 
are elected from among bod members and are three 
in number. At least one member of the committee 
must be independent, assuming presence of at least 
one independent member on the board. committee 
members are elected at a meeting of the newly elected 
board of directors for the period until election of the 
next board of directors by the general meeting of 
shareholders.

the committee consists of Igor Ivanov (chairman), ravil 
maganov, mark moebius and donald wallette Jr.

audIT commITTee

the Audit committee analyzes the results of audit of 
the financial accounts of LUKOIL, carried out by external 
auditors, and prepares recommendations to the bod for 
decisions on the following issues:

• selection of the candidate for external auditor of 
the company

 
• assessment of the auditor’s opinion

• assessment of the level of objectivity and 
independence of the company auditor

commITTees of The board 
of dIrecTors
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members of the Audit committee are elected from 
among non-executive members of the board of directors 
of the company and are at least three in number.  At least 
one members of the committee must be independent, 
assuming presence of at least one independent member 
on the board. committee members are elected at a 
meeting of the newly elected board of directors for the 
period until election of the next board of directors by the 
general meeting of shareholders.

the committee consists of german gref (chairman), 
sergei mikhailov and viktor blazheev.

hr and remuneraTIon 

commITTee

the hr and remuneration committee has responsibility 
for the following issues:

• defining criteria for choice of candidates to the 
board of directors, management committee and 
the post of company president

• preliminary assessment of candidates to the 
management committee and post of company 
president

• preparing recommendations to the board of 
directors for decisions on hr issues and issues 
of remuneration to members of company 
management bodies and of the Audit commission

members of the hr and remuneration committee are 
elected from among non-executive members of the 
board of directors of the company and are at least three 
in number.  At least one member of the committee must 
be independent, assuming presence of at least one 
independent member on the board. committee members 
are elected at a meeting of the newly elected board of 
directors for the period until election of the next board of 
directors by the general meeting of shareholders. 

the committee consists of Alexander shokhin (chairman), 
Igor belikov and sergei mikhailov.

Участие членов совета директоров 

в очных заседаниях совета 

parTIcIpaTIon by members of The 

board of dIrecTors aT In-person 
meeTIngs of The board 

of dIrecTors In 20101

Board 
of Directors

valery grayfer 8/8

vagit Alekperov 8/8

Igor belikov 5/5

viktor blazheev 8/8

donald wallette Jr 7/8

german gref 7/8

Igor Ivanov 8/8

ravil maganov 8/8

richard matzke. (until June 24, 2010) 3/3

sergei mikhailov 8/8

mark moebius 5/5

nikolai tsvetkov (until June 24, 2010) 3/3

Alexander shokhin 7/8

1 In accordance with the resolution of the board of directors, for 
purposes of defining a quorum in conduct of a bod meeting and 
voting results, the written opinion of an absent board member 
concerning the agenda items, which is received by the board 
secretary before the start of the meeting, is taken into account. so 
a board member who submits his written opinion before the start 
of the meeting is considered to have taken part in the meeting.
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CoDe of Corporate ConDuCt 

In August 2010 the board of directors of LUKOIL approved the new code of corporate conduct 
of LUKOIL, which regulates the most important rules of conduct for company business and its 
employees, ethical norms for intra-corporate relations and social responsibility. 

specifically, the document regulates the relationships of LUKOIL employees with investors and 
shareholders of the company. the code give special attention to disclosure of information, 
which could have significant impact on the company share price (insider information). A special 
procedure is set out, which give an unambiguous definition of an ‘insider’, a list of insiders is to 
be constantly updated, and a special procedure for conduct of operations with shares of  LUKOIL 
is prescribed for insiders.  the code also regulates conflicts of interest when an employee of 
LUKOIL could fail in his loyalty and objectivity with respect to the company as a result of family 
and other connections. the conflict of personal interests with interests of the company could 
have impact on company performance in such instances, and the company has the right to 
prevent such conflicts from arising. 

A separate part of the code is devoted to relationships between employees within the company. 
the code forbids discrimination against any employees on grounds of sex, race age, nationality, 
religion or political convictions.

the code sets out rules to govern relationships with business partners, by which LUKOIL 
should  establish and maintain a mutually beneficial relationship with any partners if those 
partners and the company follow principles of mutual respect and mutual advantage, honesty  
and good faith, and strict observance of obligations. At the same time, the company stands 
for fair competition and observance of all current laws on competition in all its countries of 
presence.

the code also sets out rules for relationships with government bodies and social organizations, 
with special attention to health, safety and environment issues. 
 
In accordance with the code, a commission for business ethics has been set up in the company.
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managemenT commITTee of luKoIl

vaGit aLeKperov

president of LUKOIL
member of the LUKOIL board of directors
chairman of the LUKOIL management committee

born 1950

graduated in 1974 from the Azizbekov Institute of Oil and chemistry in Azerbaijan. doctor 
of economics, current member of the russian Academy of natural sciences. Awarded 
four orders and eight medals. winner of two russian government prizes. worked from 
1968 in the oil industry in Azerbaijan and western siberia. ceO of Kogalymneftegaz (oil 
production company), a division of glavtyumenneftegaz within the ministry of the Oil 
& gas Industry of the Ussr (1987-1990). deputy, then First deputy to the Ussr Oil & gas 
Industry minister (1990-1991). president of Langepasuraykogalymneft (oil production 
group) (1992-1993). chairman of the board of directors of LUKOIL (1993-2000). president 
of LUKOIL from 1993. elected to the LUKOIL board of directors since 1993.

anatoLy barKov

member of the LUKOIL management committee
vice-president, head of the main division of general Affairs, corporate security and 
communications of LUKOIL 

born 1948

graduated in 1992 from Ufa Oil Institute. doctoral candidate of economics. honored 
employee of the Oil & gas Industry of the russian Federation. Awarded an order and 
10 medals. head of Operations, head of Oil & gas production, senior engineer at 
Kogalymneftegaz (1987-1992). executive director, then director of the department of 
Foreign projects at Langepasuraykogalymneft (1992-1993). vice-president, head of the 
main division of general Affairs, corporate security and communications of LUKOIL 
(from 1993).

vadim vorobev
 
member of the management committee of LUKOIL
vice-president, head of the main department for petroleum product 
marketing of LUKOIL

born 1961

graduated in 1983 from gorky state University (nizhny novgorod state University in 
1998). candidate of economic science. Awarded a medal, ‘For services to russia’ (2nd 
grade). Komsomol and communist party work (1981-1992). management positions 
in insurance and bank structures in nizhny novgorod (1992-1998). vice-president, 
president of nOrsI-OIL (1998-2002). ceO of LUKOIL-volganefteprodukt (2002-2005). 
vice-president of the main department for coordination of petroleum product sales in 
russia (2005-2009). vice-president, head of the main department for coordination of 
petroleum product sales in russia (from 2009).
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raviL maGanov

member of the LUKOIL board of directors
member of the LUKOIL management committee
First executive vice-president of LUKOIL (exploration & production)
member of the LUKOIL bod strategy and Investment committee

born 1954

graduated in 1977 from moscow gubkin petrochemical & gas Institute. honored 
employee of the Oil and gas Industry of the russian Federation. Awarded three 
orders and three medals. winner of three russian government prizes. chief 
engineer, deputy ceO, ceO of Langepasneftegaz (oil production company) (1988-
1993). vice-president of LUKOIL (1993-1994). First vice-president of LUKOIL (1994-
2006). First executive vice-president of LUKOIL (from 2006).

ivan maSLiaev

member of the LUKOIL management committee
head of the main division of Legal support of LUKOIL

born 1958

graduated in 1980 from Lomonosov moscow state University. doctoral candidate 
in Law. honored Lawyer of the russian Federation. Awarded three medals. head 
of the Legal section of Langepasuraykogalymneft (1992-1993). head of the LUKOIL 
Legal department (1994-1999). head of the main division of Legal support at 
LUKOIL since 2000.

SerGey KuKura

member of the LUKOIL management committee
First vice-president of LUKOIL (economics and Finance)

born 1953

graduated in 1979 from the Ivano-Frankovsk Institute of Oil & gas. doctor of 
economics. honored economist of the russian Federation. Awarded an order and 
five medals. vice-president of Langepasuraykogalymneft (1992-1993). First vice-
president of LUKOIL (from 1993).
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aLexander matytSyn

member of the LUKOIL management committee
vice-president, head of the main division of treasury and corporate Finance 
of LUKOIL

born 1961

graduated in 1984 from Lomonosov moscow state University. doctoral candidate 
in economics. mbA from bristol University (1997). Awarded a medal, ‘For services 
to russia’ (2nd grade). director and ceO of international auditing firm Kpmg (1994-
1997). vice-president, head of the main division of treasury and corporate Finance 
of LUKOIL from 1997.

anatoLy moSKaLenKo

member of the LUKOIL management committee
head of the main division of human resources of LUKOIL

born 1959

graduated in 1980 from moscow higher school of the Armed Forces, from the 
military-diplomatic Academy in 1987, and from the russian presidential civil 
service Academy in 2005. doctoral candidate in economics. Awarded five orders 
and 20 medals. served in the Armed Forces (1976-2001). head of human resources 
department of LUKOIL (2001-2003). head of the main division of human resources 
at LUKOIL from 2003.

vLadimir muLyaK
 
member of the LUKOIL management committee
vice-president, head of the main division of Oil & gas production of LUKOIL

born 1955

graduated from moscow gubkin petrochemical & gas Institute in 1977. doctor  
of engineering, doctoral candidate in geological and mineral sciences.  
Awarded a medal, 'For services to russia' (2nd grade). winner of a russian  
government prize. chief engineer, head of Lasyeganneft oil & gas production  
unit of LUKoil-Langepasneftegaz (1990-1996). First deputy ceO for production,  
ceO of belorusneft (1996-2001). First vice-president for production of KomiteK 
in 2001. chief engineer, First deputy ceO, ceO of LUKOIL-Komi (2002-2007).  
vice-president, head of the main division of Oil & gas production of LUKOIL  
from 2007.
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vaLery Subbotin

member of the LUKOIL management committee
vice-president, head of the main division of supplies and sales of LUKOIL

born 1974

graduated from tyumen state University in 1996. worked at LUKOIL-prague, 
LUKOIL-bulgaria, and the moscow representative Office of the company LItAscO., 
First deputy head of the Office of the board of directors of LUKOIL (2003-2005). 
First deputy head of the main division of supplies and sales of LUKOIL (2005-
2007). vice-president, head of the main division of supplies and sales of LUKOIL 
(from 2007).

Gennady fedotov

member of the LUKOIL management committee 
vice-president, head of the main division for economics and planning of LUKOIL

born 1970

graduated from the moscow physics and technology Institute in 1993. worked at 
the companies halliburton and shell (1994-2002). head of section, deputy head, 
head of the main division for corporate budget and economic planning of LUKOIL 
(2002-2007). vice-president, head of the main division for economics and planning 
of LUKOIL (from 2007).

vLadimir neKraSov

member of the LUKOIL management committee
First vice-president of LUKOIL (refining & marketing)

born 1957

graduated in 1978 from tyumen Industrial Institute. doctoral candidate in 
technical science, member of the Academy of mining sciences. Awarded an order 
and three medals. winner of a russian government prize. chief engineer, ceO of 
Kogalymneftegaz (part of LUKOIL-western siberia) (1992-1999). vice-president 
of LUKOIL and ceO of LUKOIL-western siberia (1999-2005). First vice-president of 
LUKOIL since 2005.
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evGueny KhavKin

member of the LUKOIL management committee
secretary of the board of directors, head of the bod Office of LUKOIL

born 1964

graduated in 2003 from moscow Institute of economy, management and Law. 
Awarded two medals. worked in oil companies in western siberia (from 1988). 
deputy head, then First deputy head of the bod Office of LUKOIL (1997-2003). bod 
secretary, head of the bod Office of LUKOIL (from 2003).

Lyubov Khoba

member of the LUKOIL management committee
chief Accountant of LUKOIL (until 25.08.2009, inclusively)

born 1957

graduated in 1992 from sverdlovsk Institute of national economy. doctoral 
candidate of economics. honored economist of the russian Federation. Awarded 
two medals and an order. chief Accountant at Kogalymneftegaz (1991-1993). chief 
Accountant at LUKOIL (1993-2000). vice-president of LUKOIL, head of Financial 
Accounting (2000-2003). chief Accountant and vice-president of LUKOIL (2003- 
2004). chief Accountant of LUKOIL (2004 to August 25, 2009, inclusively).

Leonid fedun

member of the LUKOIL management committee
vice-president, head of main division of strategic development and Investment 
Analysis of LUKOIL

born 1956

graduated in 1977 from rostov nedelin higher military school. doctoral candidate 
of philosophy. Awarded an order and 7 medals. ceO of LUKoil consulting (1993-
1994). vice-president and head of main division of strategic development and 
Investment Analysis of LUKOIL (from 1994).
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ShareS of bod and manaGement committee memberS in charter capitaL, 
aS of december 31, 2010 1

BoD and Management Committee members Stake, %

vagit Alekperov 20.60 2

Igor belikov -

viktor blazheev -

donald wallette, Jr -

valery grayfer 0.007

german gref -

Igor Ivanov -

ravil maganov 0.37

sergei mikhailov 0.04

mark moebius -

Alexander shokhin -

Anatoly barkov 0.07

vadim vorobev 0.006

sergey Kukura 0.39

Ivan masliaev 0.02

Alexander matytsyn 0.30

Anatoly moskalenko 0.01

vladimir mulyak 0.01

vladimir nekrasov 0.04

valery subbotin 0.005

gennady Fedotov 0.001

Leonid Fedun 9.27 2

evgueny Khavkin 0.01

Lyubov Khoba 0.34

1 Unless otherwise indicated, share stakes of bod and management committee members are shown in accordance with requirements of 
russian law for disclosure of such information, and include shares held directly by board/management committee members as well as shares 
held by nominee investors in their names.

2 Including beneficiary ownership.
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remuneration to memberS of the board of directorS 
and manaGement committee

remuneration paid to manaGement committee and bod memberS of LuKoiL

each member of the board of directors was paid a 
remuneration of 4.47 million roubles in 2010 for carrying 
out their duties. there were additional payments for 
the roles of board chairman (1.04 million roubles), 
chairman of a bod committee (520,000 roubles), as well 
as some other types of payment associated with duties 
of board members and members of bod committees. 
each member of the board of directors was paid a 
compensation associated with duties of board members, 
as defined by the Agm on 24 June 2004, in the amount 
of factually incurred and documentarily confirmed 
expenditures. 

In the reporting year members of the management 
committee were paid remuneration equal to their 

monthly salary in their principle job. this payment is 
made in accordance with main conditions of contracts, 
drawn up with members of the management committee, 
subject to achievement of key corporate targets in 
the reporting period. members of the management 
committee also received an annual base salary, annual 
bonus payments based on results of their work during 
the year, additional compensations of a social nature, and 
annual long-term premium payments in the framework 
of the long-term incentive program for employees of 
LUKOIL and its subsidiaries. size of long-term premium 
payments was calculated by multiplying the number of 
shares conditionally owned by a company official by the 
dividend per share, which was decided at the Annual 
general meeting of shareholders.

paid in 2010, thousand roubles

salary bonuses remuneration Other 
payments

total

board of directors 1 – – 58,738.0 5,644.0 64,382.0

management committee 452,294.0 430,488.8 32,862.0 21,544.8 937,189.6

1 For members of the board of directors who were simultaneously members of the management committee, remuneration received for 
membership of the board of directors is shown only in the ‘board of directors’ line, while salary, bonuses and remuneration to members of the 
management committee, and other payments are shown only in the ‘management committee’ line.
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changes In group 
sTrucTure

fInancIal managemenT

the program for restructuring of LUKOIL has been in 
progress since 2002. Its main purpose is to increase 
shareholder value by raising the level of transparency and 
efficiency of management processes, consolidating core 
subsidiaries and withdrawing non-core and inefficient 
assets from the group.

total value of shares and stakes in charter capital of 
subsidiaries and affiliates, which were withdrawn from 
the group in 2010 was about $113 million. 

the most significant event in 2010 was complete exit by 
conocophillips from the company’s share capital. In July 
2010 a LUKOIL group organization signed an agreement 
with a subsidiary of conocophillips for acquisition from 

the subsidiary of 64.6 million ordinary shares (7.6% of total 
shares) in LUKOIL at a price of $53.25 apiece. total value of 
the purchase was therefore $3.4 billion. the transaction 
was completed in 2010. the agreement also included 
an option for acquisition until september 26, 2010 of 
remaining 98.7 million shares of LUKOIL (11.61%) in the 
form of depositary receipts. In september the company 
partly exercised the option and purchased 42.5 million 
of its own shares in Adr form from conocophillips jointly 
with a group of investors and Unicredit bank. value of 
the transaction was $2.38 billion. conocophillips sold its 
remaining shares in LUKOIL during the first quarter of 
2011, so it has now completely exited share capital of the 
company.

the cOmpAny Uses A gLObAL ApprOAch tO 
FInAncIAL mAnAgement, reFLectIng the scALe 
And geOgrAphIcAL dIversIty OF Its bUsIness. the 
system FOr centrALIzed mAnAgement OF treAsUry 
OperAtIOns, whIch wAs creAted InsIde the 
cOmpAny In 2006, ensUres eFFIcIent dIstrIbUtIOn 
OF cApItAL AmOng grOUp OrgAnIzAtIOns.

work continued in 2010 for improvement of the cash 
management system inside LUKOIL group. specifically, 
possibilities were reviewed for optimizing systems of cash 
management inside russia, and a model was designed 
for calculation of the liquidity ratio in compliance with 
the method used by standard & poor’s.

the first stage of a project for construction of a risk 
management system was completed in 2010, as a result of 

which information on positions of LUKOIL organizations 
was collected and processed, and an assessment was 
made of vulnerability of LUKOIL group to various types 
of risk. 

the company was able to provide sufficient level of 
liquidity and keep its cost of debt at best market levels 
in the reporting year, despite instability on international 
financial markets and adoption of tougher positions 
by creditors. this ensured smooth financing of LUKOIL 
group business in full measure and to the schedules, 
which were laid down by company management. 

specifically, more than $4 billion of long-term loans were 
raised in 2010, which is an unprecedented sum in the 
history of the group. At the same time, external debt of 
LUKOIL group declined in comparison with 2009.
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InTernal conTrol 
and InTernal audIT

the system of internal control and internal audit is an 
integral part of the company’s corporate governance 
structure, enabling the company to function efficiently 
and the interests of its shareholders and investors to 
be protected. the group has created an Internal Audit 
service, which ensures that management receives 
objective and accurate information on the business of 
organizations in LUKOIL group.

there were 19 control and internal audit checks at 
LUKOIL group organizations during 2010, spread over all 
business segments. the main tasks of the checks were:

• analysis of business efficiency, including investment 
efficiency, of LUKOIL group organizations;

• checking that business of group organizations is 
in accordance with LUKOIL’s strategic goals and 
monitoring compliance with company management 
decisions, including decisions taken as a result of 
previous checks

• identification of significant risks related to 
business of group organizations and designing 
recommendations on ways to minimize risks

• assessing measures by management of subsidiaries 
and structural subdivisions of the company to 
ensure stable and efficient functioning of various 
components of the internal control system

• assessing whether organization and conduct of 
financial accounting help to make operating and 
financial control more efficient, contribute to 
further growth of shareholder value and protect 
shareholder interests

• ensuring safe-keeping of LUKOIL group assets and 
their efficient use

results of audit and control checks were submitted to 
the company president, brought to the notice of heads of 

In August 2010 LUKOIL group  drew a club credit of $1.5 
billion for one year. the credit was arranged quickly and 
at the best market rate of LIbOr + 1.4% annualized. the 
money was used to finance repurchase of a share stake 
from conocophillips.

In August 2010 the company registered a program for 
issue of rouble bonds to the value of 100 billion roubles 
with 10-year maturity. this will enable LUKOIL to access 
capital markets in order to raise financing for long 
periods on optimal market terms.

In november 2010 the company placed an issue of 
eurobonds with value of $1 billion for 10 years. despite 
volatility on international capital markets the placement 
was carried out at a record-low coupon rate for a russian 
company (6.125%). the money raised was used for 
refinancing of the company’s short-term debt.

In december 2010 LUKOIL IssUed cOnvertIbLe 
bOnds tO the vALUe OF $1.5 bILLIOn FOr 4.5 yeArs, 
wIth cOUpOn rAte OF 2.625% AnnUALIzed. the 
ActIOn wAs the LArgest-ever cOnvertIbLe bOnd 
pLAcement by A rUssIAn IssUer. AppLIcAtIOns 
FrOm InvestOrs exceeded the pLAcement vOLUme 
by FOUr tImes, whIch prOves sUccess OF the 
trAnsActIOn And the hIgh degree OF InvestOr 
Interest In the cOmpAny.

A pre-export credit of $1.2 billion was repaid in 2010 
ahead of time, saving $100 million in interest expenses 
and reducing the share of secured debt in total group 
debt from 16% to 4%.
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subsidiaries, and of the Audit committee of the board of 
directors of LUKOIL, in accordance with the established 
procedure.
 
Audit recommendations and management decisions 
were designed based on outcome of the checks in order 
to raise efficiency of company business and minimize 
any risks, which had been identified. based on these 
recommendations, subsidiaries and group sub-divisions, 
which supervise the activity of subsidiaries, have 
designed measures to eliminate failures and violations 
that were identified by the internal audit process.

In order to ensure efficiency of its internal audit process, 
LUKOIL constantly monitors execution of decisions taken 
by the company’s governing bodies as a result of audits 
and execution of approved measures that have been 
designed on the basis of internal audit recommendations. 
monitoring showed that 90.6% of such instructions were 
executed to schedule in 2010 (the level in 2009 was 
93.3%).

the company works constantly to organize and 
coordinate audit activity at LUKOIL group organizations. 
checks of financial and business activity during 2009 were 

held at 73 group organizations in the reporting year in 
order to ensure coordination of the activity of members 
of audit commissions, and preliminary candidates were 
nominated for election to the audit commissions of  
70 company subsidiaries and naryanmarneftegas for 
2010-2011 to be further approved by the company’s 
executive bodies.

the company continued its work in 2010 to improve its 
risk management system. As part of this work tasks were 
defined in 2010 for creation of a risk management system 
that meets the latest criteria, and a LUKOIL draft policy 
for risk management was designed for subsequent con-
sideration and approval by the board of directors.

A number of corporate transactions and investment 
projects of LUKOIL group organizations were reviewed 
and approved during 2010 in order to ensure observance 
of the proper procedure for decision-making in mat-
ters that concern the interests of the company and its 
shareholders. Opinions were prepared with respect to  
11 substantial transactions, and materials were consid-
ered and opinions were issued with respect to 40 invest-
ment projects.

InformaTIon dIsclosure

since receiving a full secondary listing on the London 
stock exchange in 2002 the company has set up and 
successfully operates a system of corporate information 
disclosure for the investment community. LUKOIL’s level 
of informational openness and quality of information 
disclosure fully comply with internationally accepted 
standards and with standards of the UK Financial services 
Authority.

LUKOIL wOn prIzes In severAL AnnUAL repOrt 
cOmpetItIOns In 2009, As In prevIOUs yeArs. sUch 
prIzes Are testImOny tO the cOmpAny’s eFFOrts tO 
enhAnce the scALe And eFFIcIency OF InFOrmAtIOn 
dIscLOsUre AbOUt cOmpAny bUsIness tO InvestOrs, 
shArehOLders And the generAL pUbLIc.
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the company’s policy of informational openness 
includes:

• quarterly publication of financial statements, 
prepared in accordance with Us gAAp

• conference calls and webcasts for the investment 
community to accompany publication of financial 
results and announcement of other important 
corporate events

• annual publication of international audit of 
company hydrocarbon reserves

• annual publication of an Analyst databook and Fact 
book containing detailed industrial and financial 
statistics

• publication every two years of a company 
sustainability report on the company’s activities in 
the russian Federation

• regular meetings with investors and shareholders

• trips for representatives of the investment 
community to company operating regions

the cOmpAny gAve specIAL AttentIOn In the 
repOrtIng yeAr tO meetIngs wIth shArehOLders 
FOr pUrpOses OF ImpArtIng InFOrmAtIOn. sUch 
meetIngs were heLd In 2010 In vOLgOgrAd, 
KALInIngrAd, And perm. mAtters dIscUssed At 
the meetIngs IncLUded: rIghts And dUtIes OF 
shArehOLders; dIvIdend pOLIcy OF LUKOIL And 
prOcedUre FOr dIvIdend pAyment; OwnershIp 
rIghts tO shAres thAt Are InherIted; detAILs OF 
hOw InherIted dIvIdends cAn be receIved; chAnges 
OF shArehOLders detAILs In the regIster OF 
Owners OF secUrItIes; And ObtAInIng InFOrmAtIOn 
FrOm the shArehOLder regIster.

meetings with shareholders were carried out as part 
of the program for improvement of shareholder rights 
mechanisms in the period 2010-2014, which was 
approved by the board of directors of LUKOIL on may 
18, 2010. this program calls for regular meetings with 
company shareholders living in various regions of 
the russian Federation and wider use of information 
technologies, and electronic means of communication 
with shareholders in order to ensure that they are better 
informed of their rights and the means of exercising 
those rights. 
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company securITIes 

there was a process of consolidation on the market for 
company shares in 2010. the sharp fall of the LUKOIL 
share prices  in 2008 (–53.6%), caused by the internation-
al financial crisis, and the strong growth of capitalization 
in 2009 (+76.3%) was followed by a process of stabiliza-
tion in 2010  as the world economy emerged from the 
acute stage of the crisis. LUKOIL remained among the 
most liquid securities on the russian stock market dur-
ing the year and its shares were included in calculation of 
all main stock indexes. main venues for trading of com-
pany shares remained the moscow Inter-bank currency  
exchange (hereinafter ‘mIcex’) and the rts stock  
exchange (hereinafter ‘rts’). the portions of LUKOIL 
shares, which were traded on these exchanges in 2010 
were 6.5% and 5.87%, respectively.

One of the main factors determining price trends for 
company shares in 2010 was the impact of information 
concerning changes in main shareholders (exit by cono-
cophillips from its position as a shareholder of LUKOIL). 
shares were also influenced by russian government 
preparations for changes in the system of oil sector 

taxation, as well as a sustained moderate upward trend 
throughout the year on the market for crude oil.

  As well as impact from external factors, shares were also 
affected by intra-corporate developments. In particular 
measures were taken by LUKOIL in 2010 to improve cor-
porate business efficiency and increase free cash flow, 
production began on the caspian shelf, and projects 
were successfully implemented in west Africa, Iraq and 
Uzbekistan. strength of company results has been ac-
knowledged by sector experts, and the results are an 
excellent foundation for further growth of LUKOIL’s capi-
talization in the future.

the LUKOIL share price rose by 2.16% in 2010 (based 
on mIcex trading) to a level of 1,732 roubles at the 
end of the reporting period ($56.8). growth of prices 
for company shares in 2010 was somewhat below  
the rate of growth of all russian oil & gas sector stocks  
(the mIcex oil & gas index rose by 17.6%) and that  
of the mIcex Index (23.2%).  

LuKoiL Share performance on the micex in 2010, roubles
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monthLy voLume of tradinG in ShareS (adrS) of LuKoiL in 2010, $ billion 

there was some decline in volumes of trading in LUKOIL 
shares on russian exchanges in 2010 compared with 
2009, but there was growth in volumes of trading on 
the London stock exchange in Adrs issued on company 
shares. depositary certificates were also traded over-the-
counter in the Us and on other exchanges in London, 
Frankfurt, munich and stuttgart. by the end of the year 
the total number of Adrs issued on company shares was 
equivalent to 563.99 million shares (66.31% of company 
charter capital). LUKOIL Adr trading volumes on the  
main exchange outside russia, where they are traded —  
the London stock exchange — increased by 13.2%  
to $50.1 billion. LUKOIL Adrs were in second position by 
trading volumes among foreign companies listed on the 
IOb system of the Lse (16.2% of total monthly trading 
volumes in that system). 

LUKOIL shares continued to be used as the base 
instrument for derivatives, which are traded on futures 
markets. Future and option contracts for delivery of 
LUKOIL shares are among the most popular trading 
instruments on the futures section of the rts. 

LUKOIL issued and placed two issues of eurobonds at the 
end of 2010. the first issue of $1 billion with repayment 
in 2020 was placed in november 2010. these bonds 
were issued in two simultaneous tranches (as a single 
issue). the first tranche with total value of $800 million 
was placed at 99.08% of nominal value, with yield to 
maturity equal to 6.25% annualized. the second tranche 
of $200 million was placed at 102.44% of nominal value 
with 5.80% yield to maturity. In december 2010 LUKOIL 
carried out placement of unsubordinated, unsecured 
convertible eurobonds, repayable in June 2015. bonds to 
the value of $1.5 billion were placed with yield of 2.625% 
annualized.

LUKOIL made every effort in the reporting year to 
maintain and increase its shareholder value. Operating 
indicators were improved and a tight policy of cost 
management was implemented,  as a result of which the 
company achieved a record level of free cash flow. this 
enabled the company to retain its attractiveness as an 
object for investment, despite instability in the world 
financial system.
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LUKOIL SHARE PRICE ON MICEX COMPARED WITH URALS OIL PRICE IN 2010, %

LUKOIL SHARE PRICE COMPARED WITH BLOOMBERG OILS INDEX AND MICEX INDEX IN 
2010, %

CHANGES IN OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE OF LUKOIL SHARE CAPITAL IN 2010 

Main LUKOIL shareholders 1 (> 1% of ordinary shares)

 Number of shares 
on January 1, 2010

% of total shares 
on January 1, 2010

Number of shares 
on January 1, 2011

% of total shares 
on January 1, 2011

ING Bank (Eurasia) ZAO 588,130,232 69.15% 645,159,254 75.85

Depositary-Clearing 
Company 75,790,805 8.91% 69,483,048 8.17

National Depositary Center 38,176,573 4.49% 52,526,643 6.18

SDK Garant 33,177,732 3.90% 33,411,404 3.93

DK URALSIB 13,574,885 1.60% 12,065,926 1.42

1 Nominee. 
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dividendS per common Share (roubLeS) and dividend yieLd (%)

dividendS paid on ordinary ShareS of the company, $ million

dIvIdends

LUKOIL bases its dividend policy on a balance of inter-
ests between the company and its shareholders, aiming 
to increase the company's investment attractiveness  
and shareholder value, and to respect and strictly ob-
serve the rights of shareholders, as set out in acting leg-
islation of the russian Federation, the company charter 
and its internal documents. 

dIvIdends AccrUed In 2010 On resULts FOr 2009 
were $1,428 mILLIOn Or 20.4% OF cOnsOLIdAted  
net IncOme OF LUKOIL grOUp FOr 2009 Under  
Us gAAp.

the company decided in 2009 to steadily increase the 
share of dividends in net income from previously ap-
proved 15% to 30%. dividend payments for 2010 will 
be increased in comparison with payments for 2009. 
On April 26, 2011 the board of directors recommended 
the Annual general meeting of shareholders to approve 
dividends for 2010 at a level of 59 roubles per share  
($1.94 at the exchange rate on decmber 31, 2010). so 
the share of dividends in consolidated net income of  
LUKOIL will be 18.3%. dividend yield will be 3.5%. basic 
earnings per share in 2010 were $10.95 in comparison 
with $8.28 in 2009. 

dividend, roubles dividend yield, % 2

2006 38 1.77

2007 42 2.10

2008 50 2.38

2009 52 3.62

2010 1 59 3.52

1  dividends recommended by the LUKOIL board of directors for approval at the Annual general meeting of shareholders.

2  dividend yield is calculated based on the average market price for LUKOIL  ordinary shares (based on mIcex trading)and the exchange rate 
at the end of the year, for which the dividends are paid.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

The Board of Directors 
OAO LUKOIL:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of OAO LUKOIL and subsidiaries as 
of December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ 
equity and comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the years in the three year period ended 
December 31, 2010. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s 
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements 
based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes 
consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no 
such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of OAO LUKOIL and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, and 
the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three year period ended 
December 31, 2010, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted  accounting principles.

ZAO KPMG 
Moscow, Russian Federation
March 4, 2011

ZAO KPMG
10 Presnenskaya Naberezhnaya
Moscow, Russia 123317

ZAO KPMG, a company incorporated under the Laws of the Russian Federation, 
a subsidiary of KPMG Europe LLP, and a member firm of the KPMG network 
of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative 
(“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.

Telephone           +7 (495) 937 4477
Fax                         +7 (495) 937 4400/99
Internet                www.kpmg.ru
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130 OAO LUKOIL Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2010 and 2009
(Millions of US dollars, unless otherwise noted)

Note 2010 2009

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 3 2,368 2,274

Short-term investments 168 75

Accounts receivable, net 5 8,219 5,935

Inventories 6 6,231 5,432

Prepaid taxes and other expenses 2,934 3,549

Other current assets 697 574

Total current assets 20,617 17,839

Investments 7 5,637 5,944

Property, plant and equipment 8, 9 54,629 52,228

Deferred income tax assets 13 676 549

Goodwill and other intangible assets 10 1,446 1,653

Other non-current assets 1,012 806

Total assets 84,017 79,019

Liabilities and Equity

Current liabilities

Accounts payable 5,607 4,906

Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term debt 11 2,125 2,058

Taxes payable 2,099 1,828

Other current liabilities 944 902

Total current liabilities 10,775 9,694

Long-term debt 12, 16 9,069 9,265

Deferred income tax liabilities 13 2,417 2,080

Asset retirement obligations 8 1,788 1,189

Other long-term liabilities 360 412

Total liabilities 24,409 22,640

Equity 15

OAO LUKOIL stockholders’ equity

Common stock 15 15

Treasury stock, at cost (3,683) (282)

Equity-linked notes (980) –

Additional paid-in capital 4,700 4,699

Retained earnings 59,212 51,634

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (67) (75)

Total OAO LUKOIL stockholders’ equity 59,197 55,991

Non-controlling interests 411 388

Total equity 59,608 56,379

Total liabilities and equity 84,017 79,019

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

President of OAO LUKOIL
 
Alekperov V.Y.

Chief accountant of OAO LUKOIL
 
Kozyrev I.A.



131OAO LUKOIL Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008
(Millions of US dollars, unless otherwise noted)

Note 2010 2009 2008

Revenues

Sales (including excise and export tariffs) 22 104,956 81,083 107,680

Costs and other deductions

Operating expenses (7,969) (7,124) (8,126)

Cost of purchased crude oil, gas and products (43,579) (31,977) (37,851)

Transportation expenses (5,608) (4,830) (5,460)

Selling, general and administrative expenses (3,558) (3,306) (3,860)

Depreciation, depletion and amortization (4,154) (3,937) (2,958)

Taxes other than income taxes 13 (8,978) (6,474) (13,464)

Excise and export tariffs (18,878) (13,058) (21,340)

Exploration expenses (336) (218) (487)

Loss on disposals and impairments of assets (363) (381) (425)

Income from operating activities 11,533 9,778 13,709

Interest expense (712) (667) (391)

Interest and dividend income 174 134 163

Equity share in income of affiliates 7 472 351 375

Currency translation loss (122) (520) (918)

Other non-operating income (expense) 125 (13) (244)

Income before income taxes 11,470 9,063 12,694

Current income taxes (2,104) (1,922) (4,167)

Deferred income taxes (247) (72) 700

Total income tax expense 13 (2,351) (1,994) (3,467)

Net income 9,119 7,069 9,227

Less: net income attributable to non-controlling interests (113) (58) (83)

Net income attributable to OAO LUKOIL 9,006 7,011 9,144

Earnings per share of common stock attributable to 
OAO LUKOIL (US dollars):

Basic 15 10.95 8.28 10.88

Diluted 15 10.94 8.28 10.88

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements



132 OAO LUKOIL Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008
(Millions of US dollars, unless otherwise noted)

2010 2009 2008

Stockholders’ 
equity

Comprehen-
sive income

Stockholders’ 
equity

Comprehen-
sive income

Stockholders’ 
equity

Comprehen-
sive income

Common stock

Balance as of January 1 15 15 15

Balance as of December 31 15 15 15

Treasury stock

Balance as of January 1 (282) (282) (1,591)

Stock purchased (3,664) – (219)

Stock disposed 263 – 1,528

Balance as of December 31 (3,683) (282) (282)

Equity-linked notes

Balance as of January 1 – – –

Equity-linked notes purchased (980) – –

Balance as of December 31 (980) – –

Additional paid-in capital

Balance as of January 1 4,699 4,694 4,499

Premium on non-outstanding shares issued 1 – 20

Effect of stock compensation plan 98 20 103

Convertible bonds issue 113 – –

Changes in non-controlling interests (141) (15) –

Treasury stock disposed (70) – –

Proceeds from sale of treasury stock in excess 
of carrying amount – – 72

Balance as of December 31 4,700 4,699 4,694

Retained earnings

Balance as of January 1 51,634 45,983 38,349

Net income 9,006 9,006 7,011 7,011 9,144 9,144

Dividends on common stock (1,428) (1,360) (1,510)

Balance as of December 31 59,212 51,634 45,983

Accumulated other comprehensive loss, 
net of tax

Balance as of January 1 (75) (70) (59)

Pension benefits:

Prior service cost 12 12 (4) (4) (5) (5)

Actuarial (loss) gain (4) (4) 1 1 (6) (6)

Unrecognized loss on available-for-sale 
securities – – (2) (2) – –

Balance as of December 31 (67) (75) (70)

Total comprehensive income for the year 9,014 7,006 9,133

Total OAO LUKOIL stockholders’ equity
as of December 31 59,197 55,991 50,340

Non-controlling interests

Balance as of January 1 388 670 577

Net income attributable 
to non-controlling interests 113 58 83

Changes in non-controlling interests (90) (340) 10

Balance as of December 31 411 388 670

Total equity as of December 31 59,608 56,379 51,010

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Share activity

2010 2009 2008

(thousands 
of shares)

(thousands 
of shares)

(thousands 
of shares)

Common stock, issued

Balance as of January 1 850,563 850,563 850,563

Balance as of December 31 850,563 850,563 850,563

Treasury stock

Balance as of January 1 (3,836) (3,836) (23,321)

Purchase of treasury stock (68,912) – (2,899)

Disposal of treasury stock 3,540 – 22,384

Balance as of December 31 (69,208) (3,836) (3,836)

OAO LUKOIL Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008
(Millions of US dollars, unless otherwise noted)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements



134 OAO LUKOIL Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008
(Millions of US dollars)

Note 2010 2009 2008

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income attributable to OAO LUKOIL 9,006 7,011 9,144

Adjustments for non-cash items:

Depreciation, depletion and amortization 4,154 3,937 2,958

Equity share in income of affiliates, net of dividends received 316 (213) (238)

Dry hole write-offs 225 117 317

Loss on disposals and impairments of assets 363 381 425

Deferred income taxes 247 72 (700)

Non-cash currency translation gain (44) (57) (668)

Non-cash investing activities (67) (20) (29)

All other items — net 167 138 404

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Trade accounts receivable (2,285) (1,171) 2,647

Inventories (813) (1,719) 963

Accounts payable 1,508 96 (989)

Taxes payable 274 292 (521)

Other current assets and liabilities 490 19 599

Net cash provided by operating activities 13,541 8,883 14,312

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of licenses (15) (40) (12)

Capital expenditures (6,596) (6,483) (10,525)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 128 91 166

Purchases of investments (137) (216) (398)

Proceeds from sale of investments 126 478 636

Sale of subsidiaries and equity method affiliates, net of cash disposed 130 92 3

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and equity method affiliates (including advances  
related to acquisitions), net of cash acquired

(932) (2,473) (3,429)

Net cash used in investing activities (7,296) (8,551) (13,559)

Cash flows from financing activities

Net movements of short-term borrowings (213) (1,281) 974

Cash received under sales-leaseback transaction – – 235

Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 2,515 5,467 2,884

Principal repayments of long-term debt (2,267) (2,697) (1,547)

Dividends paid on Company’s stock (1,471) (1,337) (1,437)

Dividends paid to non-controlling interest stockholders (85) (85) (168)

Financing received from non-controlling interest stockholders 18 20 39

Purchase of Company’s stock (3,664) – (219)

Sale of Company’s stock 193 – –

Purchase of equity-linked notes (980) – –

Purchases of non-controlling interests (192) (372) –

Other – net – – 2

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (6,146) (285) 763

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (5) (12) (118)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 94 35 1,398

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 2,274 2,239 841

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 3 2,368 2,274 2,239

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information 

Interest paid 718 520 440

Income taxes paid 2,126 1,575 4,902

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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(Millions of US dollars, except as indicated)

Note 1. OrgANIzATION AND ENVIrONmENT

The primary activities of OAO LUKOIL (the “Company”) 
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are oil explora-
tion, production, refining, marketing and distribution. The 
Company is the ultimate parent entity of this vertically in-
tegrated group of companies.

The Group was established in accordance with Presiden-
tial Decree 1403, issued on November 17, 1992. Under this 
decree, on April 5, 1993, the Government of the Russian 
Federation transferred to the Company 51% of the voting 
shares of fifteen enterprises. Under Government Resolu-
tion 861 issued on September 1, 1995, a further nine en-
terprises were transferred to the Group during 1995. Since 
1995, the Group has carried out a share exchange pro-
gram to increase its shareholding in each of the twenty-
four founding subsidiaries to 100%.

From formation, the Group has expanded substantially 
through consolidation of its interests, acquisition of new 
companies and establishment of new businesses.

Business and economic environment

The Russian Federation has been experiencing political 
and economic change, that has affected and will continue 
to affect the activities of enterprises operating in this en-
vironment. Consequently, operations in the Russian Fed-
eration involve risks, which do not typically exist in other 
markets. In addition, the recent contraction in the capital 
and credit markets has further increased the level of eco-
nomic uncertainty in the environment. 

The accompanying financial statements reflect manage-
ment’s assessment of the impact of the business environ-
ment in the countries in which the Group operates on the 
operations and the financial position of the Group. The 
future business environments may differ from manage-
ment’s assessment.

Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been pre-
pared by the Company in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America (“US GAAP”).

Note 2. SUmmArY Of SIgNIfICANT 
ACCOUNTINg pOLICIES

Principles of consolidation

These consolidated financial statements include the fi-
nancial position and results of the Company, controlled 
subsidiaries of which the Company directly or indirectly 

owns more than 50% of the voting interest, unless minor-
ity stockholders have substantive participating rights, and 
variable interest entities where the Group is determined 
to be the primary beneficiary. Other significant invest-
ments in companies of which the Company directly or in-
directly owns between 20% and 50% of the voting interest 
and over which it exercises significant influence but not 
control, are accounted for using the equity method of ac-
counting. Investments in companies of which the Compa-
ny directly or indirectly owns more than 50% of the voting 
interest but where minority stockholders have substan-
tive participating rights are accounted for using the equity 
method of accounting. Undivided interests in oil and gas 
joint ventures are accounted for using the proportionate 
consolidation method. Investments in other companies 
are recorded at cost. Equity investments and investments 
in other companies are included in “Investments” in the 
consolidated balance sheet. 

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 
US GAAP requires management to make estimates and as-
sumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 
at the date of the financial statements, and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 
period. Significant items subject to such estimates and as-
sumptions include the carrying value of oil and gas prop-
erties and other property, plant and equipment, goodwill 
impairment assessment, asset retirement obligations, 
deferred income taxes, valuation of financial instruments, 
and obligations related to employee benefits. Eventual ac-
tual amounts could differ from those estimates. 

Revenue

Revenues from the production and sale of crude oil and 
petroleum products are recognized when title passes to 
customers at which point the risks and rewards of owner-
ship are assumed by the customer and the price is fixed 
or determinable. Revenues include excise on petroleum 
products sales and duties on export sales of crude oil and 
petroleum products.

Revenues from non-cash sales are recognized at the fair 
market value of the crude oil and petroleum products 
sold.

Foreign currency translation

The Company maintains its accounting records in Russian 
rubles. The Company’s functional currency is the US dollar 
and the Group’s reporting currency is the US dollar.

For the majority of operations in the Russian Federation 
and outside the Russian Federation, the US dollar is the 
functional currency. Where the US dollar is the functional 
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(Millions of US dollars, except as indicated)

currency, monetary assets and liabilities have been trans-
lated into US dollars at the rate prevailing at each balance 
sheet date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities have been 
translated into US dollars at historical rates. Revenues, ex-
penses and cash flows have been translated into US dol-
lars at rates, which approximate actual rates at the date of 
the transaction. Translation differences resulting from the 
use of these rates are included in the consolidated state-
ment of income.

For certain other operations, where the US dollar is not the 
functional currency and the economy is not hyperinfla-
tionary, assets and liabilities are translated into US dollars 
at year-end exchange rates and revenues and expenses 
are translated at average exchange rates for the year. Re-
sulting translation adjustments are reflected as a separate 
component of comprehensive income.

In all cases, foreign currency transaction gains and losses 
are included in the consolidated statement of income.

As of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, exchange rates 
of 30.48, 30.24 and 29.38 Russian rubles to the US dollar, 
respectively, have been used for translation purposes.

The Russian ruble and other currencies of republics of the 
former Soviet Union are not readily convertible outside of 
their countries. Accordingly, the translation of amounts 
recorded in these currencies into US dollars should not be 
construed as a representation that such currency amounts 
have been, could be or will in the future be converted into 
US dollars at the exchange rate shown or at any other ex-
change rate.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include all highly liquid invest-
ments with an original maturity of three months or less. 

Cash with restrictions on immediate use

Cash funds for which restrictions on immediate use exist 
are accounted for within other non-current assets. 

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded at their transaction 
amounts less provisions for doubtful debts. Provisions for 
doubtful debts are recorded to the extent that there is a 
likelihood that any of the amounts due will not be collect-
ed. Non-current receivables are discounted to the present 
value of expected cash flows in future periods using the 
original discount rate.

Inventories

The cost of finished goods and purchased products is de-
termined using the FIFO cost method. The cost of all other 

inventory categories is determined using an “average 
cost” method.

Investments

Debt and equity securities are classified into one of three 
categories: trading, available-for-sale, or held-to-maturity.

Trading securities are bought and held principally for the 
purpose of selling in the near term. Held-to-maturity secu-
rities are those securities in which a Group company has 
the ability and intent to hold until maturity. All securities 
not included in trading or held-to-maturity are classified 
as available-for-sale.

Trading and available-for-sale securities are recorded at 
fair value. Held-to-maturity securities are recorded at cost, 
adjusted for the amortization or accretion of premiums or 
discounts. Unrealized holding gains and losses on trading 
securities are included in the consolidated statement of 
income. Unrealized holding gains and losses, net of the re-
lated tax effect, on available-for-sale securities are report-
ed as a separate component of comprehensive income 
until realized. Realized gains and losses from the sale of 
available-for-sale securities are determined on a spe-
cific identification basis. Dividends and interest income 
are recognized in the consolidated statement of income 
when earned.

A permanent decline in the market value of any available-
for-sale or held-to-maturity security below cost is account-
ed for as a reduction in the carrying amount to fair value. 
The impairment is charged to the consolidated statement 
of income and a new cost base for the security is estab-
lished. Premiums and discounts are amortized or accreted 
over the life of the related held-to-maturity or available-
for-sale security as an adjustment to yield using the effec-
tive interest method and such amortization and accretion 
is recorded in the consolidated statement of income.

Property, plant and equipment

Oil and gas properties are accounted for using the suc-
cessful efforts method of accounting whereby property 
acquisitions, successful exploratory wells, all development 
costs, and support equipment and facilities are capital-
ized. Unsuccessful exploratory wells are expensed when 
a well is determined to be non-productive. Other explora-
tory expenditures, including geological and geophysical 
costs are expensed as incurred. 

The Group continues to capitalize costs of exploratory 
wells and exploratory-type stratigraphic wells for more 
than one year after the completion of drilling if the well 
has found a sufficient quantity of reserves to justify its 
completion as a producing well and the Company is mak-
ing sufficient progress assessing the reserves and the eco-
nomic and operating viability of the project. If these con-
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ditions are not met or if information that raises substantial 
doubt about the economic or operational viability of the 
project is obtained, the well would be assumed impaired, 
and its costs, net of any salvage value, would be charged 
to expense. 

Depreciation, depletion and amortization of capitalized 
costs of oil and gas properties is calculated using the unit-
of-production method based upon proved reserves for 
the cost of property acquisitions and proved developed 
reserves for exploration and development costs.

Production and related overhead costs are expensed as 
incurred.

Depreciation of assets not directly associated with oil pro-
duction is calculated on a straight-line basis over the eco-
nomic lives of such assets, estimated to be in the following 
ranges:

Buildings and constructions 5–40 Years

Machinery and equipment 5–20 Years

In addition to production assets, certain Group companies 
also maintain and construct social assets for the use of lo-
cal communities. Such assets are capitalized only to the 
extent that they are expected to result in future economic 
benefits to the Group. If capitalized, they are depreciated 
over their estimated economic lives.

Significant unproved properties are assessed for impair-
ment individually on a regular basis and any estimated 
impairment is charged to expense.

Asset retirement obligations

The Group records the fair value of liabilities related to its 
legal obligations to abandon, dismantle or otherwise re-
tire tangible long-lived assets in the period in which the 
liability is incurred. A corresponding increase in the carry-
ing amount of the related long-lived asset is also recorded. 
Subsequently, the liability is accreted for the passage of 
time and the related asset is depreciated using the unit-
of-production method.

Goodwill and other intangible assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquired 
entity over the net of the fair value amounts assigned to 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. It is assigned to 
reporting units as of the acquisition date. Goodwill is not 
amortized, but is tested for impairment at least on an an-
nual basis and between annual tests if an event occurs or 
circumstances change that would more likely than not re-
duce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying 
amount. The impairment test requires estimating the fair 

value of a reporting unit and comparing it with its carry-
ing amount, including goodwill assigned to the reporting 
unit. If the estimated fair value of the reporting unit is less 
than its net carrying amount, including goodwill, then the 
goodwill is written down to its implied fair value.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for 
impairment at least annually. Intangible assets that have 
limited useful lives are amortized on a straight-line basis 
over the shorter of their useful or legal lives.

Impairment of long-lived assets

Long lived assets, such as oil and gas properties (other 
than unproved properties), other property, plant, and 
equipment, and purchased intangibles subject to amor-
tization, are assessed for impairment whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount of an asset group may not be recoverable. Recov-
erability of assets to be held and used is measured by a 
comparison of the carrying amount of an asset group to 
the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected 
to be generated by that group. If the carrying amount of 
an asset group exceeds its estimated undiscounted future 
cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized by writing 
down the carrying amount to the estimated fair value of 
the asset group, generally determined as discounted fu-
ture net cash flows. Assets to be disposed of are separately 
presented in the balance sheet and reported at the lower 
of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell, and 
are no longer depreciated. The assets and liabilities of a 
disposed group classified as held for sale are presented 
separately in the appropriate asset and liability sections of 
the balance sheet.

Income taxes

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized in 
respect of future tax consequences attributable to tempo-
rary differences between the carrying amounts of existing 
assets and liabilities for the purposes of the consolidated 
financial statements and their respective tax bases and 
in respect of operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured 
using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable in-
come in the years in which those temporary differences 
are expected to reverse and the assets are expected to 
be recovered and liabilities settled. The effect on deferred 
income tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates 
is recognized in the consolidated statement of income in 
the reporting period which includes the enactment date.

The ultimate realization of deferred income tax assets 
is dependent upon the generation of future taxable in-
come in the reporting periods in which the originating 
expenditure becomes deductible. In assessing the realiz-
ability of deferred income tax assets, management con-
siders whether it is more likely than not that the deferred 
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income tax assets will be realized. In making this assess-
ment, management considers the scheduled reversal of 
deferred income tax liabilities, projected future taxable 
income, and tax planning strategies.

An income tax position is recognized only if the uncertain 
position is more likely than not of being sustained upon 
examination, based on its technical merits. A recognized 
income tax position is measured at the largest amount 
that is greater than 50% likely of being realized. Changes 
in recognition or measurement are reflected in the period 
in which the change in judgment occurs. The Company 
records interest and penalties relating to income tax in 
income tax expense in the consolidated statements of in-
come. 

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings (except those issued with in-
terest rate lower than market value) are initially recorded 
at the value of net proceeds received. Any difference be-
tween the net proceeds and the redemption value is am-
ortized at a constant rate over the term of the borrowing. 
Amortization is included in the consolidated statement of 
income and the carrying amounts are adjusted as amorti-
zation accumulates.

For borrowings (including convertible notes) issued with 
interest rate lower than market interest rate, the Group 
determines book value using market interest rate. The re-
sulting difference is allocated to additional paid-in capital 
and is amortized at a constant rate over the term of the 
borrowings. Amortization is included in the consolidated 
statement of income each year and the carrying amounts 
are adjusted as amortization accumulates.

If borrowings are repurchased or settled before maturity, 
any difference between the amount paid and the carrying 
amount is recognized in the consolidated statement of in-
come in the period in which the repurchase or settlement 
occurs.

Pension benefits

The expected costs in respect of pension obligations of 
Group companies are determined by an independent 
actuary. Obligations in respect of each employee are ac-
crued over the reporting periods during which the em-
ployee renders service in the Group.

The Group recognizes the funded status of the postre-
tirement defined benefit plan in the balance sheet with 
corresponding adjustments to accumulated other com-
prehensive income. The adjustment to accumulated other 
comprehensive income represents the net unrecognized 
actuarial gains and unrecognized prior service costs. 
These amounts are subsequently recognized as net peri-
odic benefit cost. Further, actuarial gains and losses that 

arise in subsequent periods and are not recognized as net 
periodic benefit cost in the same periods are recognized 
as a component of other comprehensive income. These 
amounts are subsequently recognized as a component of 
net periodic benefit cost on the same basis as the amounts 
recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income.

Treasury stock

Purchases by Group companies of the Company’s out-
standing stock are recorded at cost and classified as treas-
ury stock within Stockholders’ equity. Shares shown as Au-
thorized and Issued include treasury stock. Shares shown 
as Outstanding do not include treasury stock.

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net in-
come available to common stockholders of the Company 
by the weighted-average number of shares of common 
stock outstanding during the reporting period. A calcula-
tion is carried out to establish if there is potential dilution 
in earnings per share if convertible securities were to be 
converted into shares of common stock or contracts to is-
sue shares of common stock were to be exercised. If there 
is such dilution, diluted earnings per share is presented.

Contingencies

Certain conditions may exist as of the balance sheet date, 
which may result in losses to the Group but the impact 
of which will only be resolved when one or more future 
events occur or fail to occur. 

If a Group company’s assessment of a contingency indi-
cates that it is probable that a material loss has been in-
curred and the amount of the liability can be estimated, 
then the estimated liability is accrued and charged to 
the consolidated statement of income. If the assessment 
indicates that a potentially material loss is not probable, 
but is reasonably possible, or is probable, but cannot be 
estimated, then the nature of the contingent liability, to-
gether with an estimate of the range of possible loss, is 
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial state-
ments. Loss contingencies considered remote or related 
to unasserted claims are generally not disclosed unless 
they involve guarantees, in which case the nature of the 
guarantee is disclosed.

Environmental expenditures

Estimated losses from environmental remediation obliga-
tions are generally recognized no later than completion 
of remedial feasibility studies. Group companies accrue 
for losses associated with environmental remediation ob-
ligations when such losses are probable and reasonably 
estimable. Such accruals are adjusted as further informa-
tion becomes available or circumstances change. Costs of 
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expected future expenditures for environmental remedia-
tion obligations are not discounted to their present value.

Use of derivative instruments

The Group’s derivative activity is limited to certain pe-
troleum products marketing and trading outside of its 
physical crude oil and petroleum products businesses and 
hedging of commodity price risks. Currently this activity 
involves the use of futures and swaps contracts together 
with purchase and sale contracts that qualify as deriva-
tive instruments. The Group accounts for these activities 
under the mark-to-market methodology in which the de-
rivatives are revalued each accounting period. Resulting 
realized and unrealized gains or losses are presented in 
the consolidated statement of income on a net basis. Un-
realized gains and losses are carried as assets or liabilities 
on the consolidated balance sheet.

Share-based payments

The Group accounts for liability classified share-based 
payment awards to employees at fair value on the date 
of grant and as of each reporting date. Expenses are rec-
ognized over the vesting period. Equity classified share-
based payment awards to employees are valued at fair 
value on the date of grant and expensed over the vesting 
period.

Comparative amounts

Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to 
conform with the current period’s presentation.

Recent accounting pronouncements

In December 2010, the FASB issued Accounting Stand-
ards Update (“ASU”) No. 2010-29, “Disclosure of Supple-
mentary Pro Forma Information for Business Combinations.” 
This ASU requires that the pro forma information be pre-
sented as if the business combination occurred at the be-
ginning of the prior annual reporting period for purposes 
of calculating both the current reporting period and the 
prior reporting period pro forma financial information. 
The ASU also requires that this disclosure be accompa-
nied by a narrative description of the amount and nature 
of material nonrecurring pro forma adjustments. The 
ASU No. 2010-29 is effective for the Group for the report-
ing periods ending after December 15, 2010. The Group 
adopted ASU No. 2010-29 for the 2010 annual financial 
statements. This adoption did not have a material impact 
on the Group’s results of operations, financial position or 
cash flows presentation.

In December 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-28, 
“When to Perform Step 2 of the Goodwill Impairment Test for 
Reporting Units with Zero or Negative Carrying Amounts.” 
This ASU modifies Step 1 of the goodwill impairment test 

for reporting units with zero or negative carrying amounts. 
As a result, ASU No. 2010-28 is eliminating an entity’s abili-
ty to assert that a reporting unit is not required to perform 
Step 2 because the carrying amount of the reporting unit 
is zero or negative despite the existence of qualitative fac-
tors that indicate the goodwill is more likely than not im-
paired. Therefore, goodwill impairments may be reported 
sooner than under current practice. The ASU No. 2010-28 
is effective for the Group for the reporting periods end-
ing after December 15, 2010. The Group adopted ASU No. 
2010-28 for the 2010 annual financial statements. This 
adoption did not have a material impact on the Group’s 
results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

In July 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-20, “Disclo-
sures about the Credit Quality of Financing Receivables and 
the Allowance for Credit Losses,” which amends Account-
ing Standards Codification (“ASC”) No. 310, “Receivables.” 
This ASU provides financial statement users with greater 
transparency about an entity’s allowance for credit losses 
and the credit quality of its financing receivables and re-
quires entities provide disclosures that facilitate financial 
statement users’ evaluation of the following: 1) the nature 
of credit risk inherent in the entity’s portfolio of financing 
receivables; 2) how that risk is analyzed and assessed in 
arriving at the allowance for credit losses; 3) the changes 
and reasons for those changes in the allowance for credit 
losses. The ASU No. 2010-20 is effective for the Group for 
the reporting periods ending after December 15, 2010. 
The Group adopted ASU No. 2010-20 for the 2010 annual 
financial statements. This adoption did not have a mate-
rial impact on the Group’s results of operations, financial 
position or cash flows and did not require additional dis-
closures.

In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-06, “Im-
proving Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements,” which 
requires reporting entities to make new disclosures about 
recurring or nonrecurring fair-value measurements in-
cluding significant transfers into and out of Level 1 and 
Level 2 fair-value measurements and information about 
purchases, sales, issuances, and settlements on a gross 
basis in the reconciliation of Level 3 fair-value measure-
ments. This ASU also clarifies existing fair-value measure-
ment disclosure guidance about the level of disaggrega-
tion, inputs, and valuation techniques. ASU No. 2010-06 
is effective for interim and annual reporting periods be-
ginning after December 15, 2009, except for the detailed 
Level 3 roll forward disclosures (which are effective for 
the annual reporting periods starting after December 15, 
2010 and for interim periods within those annual report-
ing periods). The Group adopted the requirements of ASU 
No. 2010-06 (except for the detailed Level 3 roll forward 
disclosures) starting from the first quarter of 2010. This 
adoption did not have a material impact on the Group’s 
results of operations, financial position or cash flows and 
did not require additional disclosures.
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Note 3. CASh AND CASh EqUIVALENTS
As of December

31, 2010
As of December

31, 2009

Cash held in Russian rubles 367 557

Cash held in other currencies 1,506 1,384

Cash of a banking subsidiary in other currencies 171 131

Cash held in related party banks in Russian rubles 320 174

Cash held in related party banks in other currencies 4 28

Total cash and cash equivalents 2,368 2,274

Note 4. NON-CASh TrANSACTIONS

The consolidated statement of cash flows excludes the effect of non-cash transactions, which are described in the  
following table:

Year ended
December 31, 2010

Year ended
December 31, 2009

Year ended
December 31, 2008

Non-cash investing activity 67 20 29

Non-cash acquisitions – 100 1,969

Total non-cash transactions 67 120 1,998

The following table shows the effect of non-cash transactions on investing activity:

Year ended
December 31, 2010

Year ended
December 31, 2009

Year ended
December 31, 2008

Net cash used in investing activity 7,296 8,923 13,559

Non-cash acquisitions – 100 1,969

Non-cash investing activity 67 20 29

Total investing activity 7,363 9,043 15,557

Note 5. ACCOUNTS rECEIVABLE, NET

As of December
31, 2010

As of December
31, 2009

Trade accounts receivable (net of provisions of $182 million and $191 million 
as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively) 6,748 4,389

Current VAT and excise recoverable 1,149 1,205

Other current accounts receivable (net of provisions of $50 million and $41 million 
as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively) 322 341

Total accounts receivable, net 8,219 5,935
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Note 6. INVENTOrIES

As of December
31, 2010

As of December
31, 2009

Crude oil and petroleum products 5,093 4,391

Materials for extraction and drilling 356 387

Materials and supplies for refining 37 37

Other goods, materials and supplies 745 617

Total inventories 6,231 5,432

Note 7. INVESTmENTS
As of December

31, 2010
As of December

31, 2009

Investments in equity method affiliates and joint ventures 4,529 4,754

Long-term loans given by non-banking subsidiaries 1,092 1,176

Other long-term investments 16 14

Total long-term investments 5,637 5,944

Investments in equity method affiliates and corporate joint ventures

The summarized financial information below is in respect of equity method affiliates and corporate joint ventures.  
The companies are primarily engaged in crude oil exploration, production, marketing and distribution operations in the 
Russian Federation, crude oil production and marketing in Kazakhstan, and refining operations in Europe.

Year ended 
December 31, 2010

Year ended 
December 31, 2009

Year ended 
December 31, 2008

Total
group’s

share Total
group’s

share Total
group’s

share

Revenues 24,348 3,672 5,139 2,275 4,590 2,144

Income before income taxes 9,187 675 1,305 478 1,602 807

Less income taxes (2,682) (203) (407) (127) (869) (432)

Net income 6,505 472 898 351 733 375

As of December 31, 2010 As of December 31, 2009

Total
group’s

Share Total
group’s

Share

Current assets 7,462 1,359 6,796 1,524

Property, plant and equipment 18,053 5,099 18,877 5,284

Other non-current assets 989 350 607 240

Total assets 26,504 6,808 26,280 7,048

Short-term debt 701 57 442 274

Other current liabilities 2,844 551 3,982 817

Long-term debt 7,809 1,079 7,769 732

Other non-current liabilities 1,805 592 1,633 471

Net assets 13,345 4,529 12,454 4,754
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In December 2009, a Group company acquired the re-
maining 46% interest in its equity affiliate LUKARCO B.V. 
for $1.6 billion, thereby increasing the ownership stake to 
100%. LUKARCO B.V. is a holding company, which owns a 
5% share in Tengizchevroil, a joint venture which devel-
ops the Tengiz and Korolevskoe fields in Kazakhstan, and 
a 12.5% share in the Caspian Pipeline Consortium (“CPC”), 
which carries Kazakhstan and Russian oil to Novorossiysk 
marine terminal. Therefore the Group increased the own-
ership in Tengizchevroil from 2.7% to 5% and the owner-
ship in CPC from 6.75% to 12.5%. The first installment in 
the amount of $300 million was paid in December 2009; 
the second installment in the amount of $800 million was 
paid in December 2010; the remaining amount should 
be paid no later than December 2011. The Group is using 
the equity method of accounting for investments in Teng-
izchevroil and CPC.

In June 2009, a Group company entered into an agree-
ment with Total S.A. to acquire a 45% interest in the TRN 
refinery in the Netherlands. The transaction was finalized 
in September 2009 in the amount of approximately $688 
million (after completion adjustment). The Group supplies 
crude oil and market refined products in line with its eq-
uity stake in the refinery. The refinery has the flexibility to 
process Urals blend crude oil as well as significant volumes 
of straight-run fuel oil and vacuum gasoil, which allowed 
the Group to integrate the plant into its crude oil supply 
and refined products marketing operations. This plant 
with a Nelson complexity index of 9.8 has an annual top-
ping capacity of 7.9 million tonnes and an annual capac-
ity of a hydro-cracking unit of approximately 3.4 million 
tonnes. This acquisition was made in accordance with the 
Group’s plans to develop its refining capacity in Europe.

Note 8. prOpErTY, pLANT AND EqUIpmENT AND ASSET rETIrEmENT OBLIgATIONS

At cost Net

As of December 31, 
2010

As of December 31, 
2009

As of December 31, 
2010

As of December 31, 
2009

Exploration and Production:

Western Siberia 26,137 23,465 15,260 13,878

European Russia 25,660 24,908 17,713 17,761

International 7,114 6,371 5,624 5,170

Total 58,911 54,744 38,597 36,809

Refining, Marketing,  
Distribution and Chemicals:

Western Siberia 5 6 3 5

European Russia 11,057 10,009 7,205 6,717

International 6,883 6,849 4,511 4,783

Total 17,945 16,864 11,719 11,505

Other:

Western Siberia 185 186 89 94

European Russia 4,404 4,170 3,881 3,697

International 440 189 343 123

Total 5,029 4,545 4,313 3,914

Total property, plant and 
equipment 81,885 76,153 54,629 52,228



143OAO LUKOIL Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Millions of US dollars, except as indicated)

2010 2009

Asset retirement obligations as of January 1 1,199 728

Accretion expense 124 63

New obligations 190 146

Changes in estimates of existing obligations 314 311

Spending on existing obligations (6) (7)

Property dispositions (4) (13)

Foreign currency translation and other adjustments (19) (29)

Asset retirement obligations as of December 31 1,798 1,199

The asset retirement obligations incurred during 2010 and 2009 were Level 3 (unobservable inputs) fair value measure-
ments.

Note 9. SUSpENDED wELLS

Net changes in capitalized exploratory suspended wells during 2010, 2009 and 2008 were as follows:

2010 2009 2008

Balance as of January 1 406 337 216

Additions pending the determination of proved reserves 156 124 130

Charged to expenses (94) (36) (9)

Reclassification to proved properties (63) (19) –

Balance as of December 31 405 406 337

The Company performs a regular annual impairment test 
of its assets. The test is based on geological models and 
development programs, which are revised on a regular ba-
sis at least annually. The fair value of tested assets is deter-
mined using the present value of the expected cash flows.

As a result of the test, during the year ended December 
31, 2010, the Company recognized an impairment loss 
of $164 million for its exploration and production assets 
in the Western Siberia, Timan-Pechora and Central Euro-
pean regions of Russia. During the year ended December 
31, 2009, the Company recognized an impairment loss of 
$238 million for its exploration and production assets in 

the Timan-Pechora and Central European regions of Rus-
sia. During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Group 
also recognized an impairment loss of $63 million related 
to the project in Iran due to incapability of undertaking 
further works because of the threat of economic sanctions 
of the US Government.

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the asset retirement 
obligations amounted to $1,798 million and $1,199 mil-
lion, respectively, of which $10 million was included in 
“Other current liabilities” in the consolidated balance 
sheets as of each balance sheet date. During 2010 and 
2009, asset retirement obligations changed as follows:



144 OAO LUKOIL Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Millions of US dollars, except as indicated)

Aging of capitalized suspended exploratory well costs were as follows

As of December
31, 2010

As of December
31, 2009

As of December
31, 2008

Exploratory well costs capitalized

     for a period of one year or less 213 124 125

                for two years 7 122 88

                for three years 89 86 61

                for four years 82 58 49

                for five years or more 14 16 14

     for a period of greater than one year 192 282 212

Total exploratory well costs capitalized 405 406 337

Number of projects that have exploratory well costs capitalized  
for a period greater than one year 11 15 20

Aging of the exploratory wells that have been capitalized for more than one year since completion of drilling as of  
December 31, 2010:

project name (field name) Location
As of December 

31, 2010 Years wells drilled

Block A Saudi Arabia 154 2007-2008

Vinnikovskoe European Russia 7 2008

Centralno-Astrakhanskoe European Russia 6 2008-2009

Gabishevskoe European Russia 5 2008-2009

Shiriaevskoe European Russia 4 2004-2005

6 projects of less than $4 million each European Russia 16 2005-2009

Total of 11 projects 192

The Company is currently evaluating the development plans for these projects.

Note 10. gOODwILL AND OThEr INTANgIBLE ASSETS

The carrying value of goodwill and other intangible assets as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 was as follows:

As of December 
31, 2010

As of December 
31, 2009

Amortized intangible assets

Software 391 419

Licenses and other assets 409 465

Goodwill 646 769

Total goodwill and other intangible assets 1,446 1,653

All goodwill amounts relate to the refining, marketing and distribution segment.
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In December 2010, the Group recognized an impairment 
loss of $114 million relating to goodwill on the acquisition 
of the Akpet group due to a change in market conditions 
partly caused by legislative changes. The fair value was de-
termined based on a present value technique (Level 3 fair 
value measurements). The Akpet group operates petrol 

filling stations on the basis of dealer agreements and owns 
eight refined product terminals, five LNG storage tanks, 
three jet fuel terminals and a lubricant production plant in 
Turkey. There were other minor changes in goodwill relat-
ing to the disposition of assets. 

Short-term borrowings from third parties are unsecured 
and include amounts repayable in US dollars of $609 mil-
lion and $282 million, amounts repayable in Euros of $29 
million and $76 million, amounts repayable in Russian ru-
bles of nil and $18 million and amounts repayable in other 
currencies of $90 million and $66 million as of December 
31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The weighted-average 
interest rate on short-term borrowings from third parties 
was 1.87% and 2.02% per annum as of December 31, 2010 
and 2009, respectively.

Russian ruble bonds

In June 2009, the Company issued 15 million short-term 
stock exchange bonds with a face value of 1,000 Russian 
rubles each. The bonds were placed at their face value with 
a maturity of 364 days. The coupon yield was 13.5% per an-
num and was paid at the maturity date. In June 2010, the 
Company redeemed all issued bonds in accordance with 
the conditions of the bond issue.

Note 11. ShOrT-TErm BOrrOwINgS AND CUrrENT pOrTION Of LONg-TErm DEBT

As of December 
31, 2010

As of December 
31, 2009

Short-term borrowings from third parties 728 442

Short-term borrowings from related parties 66 77

13.5% Russian ruble bonds – 496

Current portion of long-term debt 1,331 1,043

Total short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term debt 2,125 2,058
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Note 12. LONg-TErm DEBT 

As of December 
31, 2010

As of December 
31, 2009

Long-term loans and borrowings from third parties (including loans from banks in the amount of 
$2,071 million and $3,967 million as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively)

3,764 4,043

Long-term loans and borrowings from related parties – 1,939

6.375% non-convertible US dollar bonds, maturing 2014 896 895

2.625% convertible US dollar bonds, maturing 2015 1,388 –

6.356% non-convertible US dollar bonds, maturing 2017 500 500

7.250% non-convertible US dollar bonds, maturing 2019 595 595

6.125% non-convertible US dollar bonds, maturing 2020 998 –

6.656% non-convertible US dollar bonds, maturing 2022 500 500

7.10% Russian ruble bonds, maturing 2011 262 265

13.35% Russian ruble bonds, maturing 2012 820 827

9.20% Russian ruble bonds, maturing 2012 328 331

7.40% Russian ruble bonds, maturing 2013 197 198

Capital lease obligations 152 215

Total long-term debt 10,400 10,308

Current portion of long-term debt (1,331) (1,043)

Total non-current portion of long-term debt 9,069 9,265

Long-term loans and borrowings

Long-term loans and borrowings from third parties in-
clude amounts repayable in US dollars of $1,707 million 
and $3,493 million, amounts repayable in Euros of $369 
million and $487 million, amounts repayable in Russian 
rubles of $1,667 million (including loans from ConocoPhil-
lips) and $42 million, and amounts repayable in other cur-
rencies of $21 million and $21 million as of December 31, 
2010 and 2009, respectively. This debt has maturity dates 
from 2011 through 2038. The weighted-average interest 
rate on long-term loans and borrowings from third par-
ties was 4.50% and 2.77% per annum as of December 31, 
2010 and 2009, respectively. The weighted-average inter-
est rate on long-term loans and borrowings from third 
parties, excluding ConocoPhillips, which ceased to be a 
related party of the Group by the end of the third quarter 
of 2010, was 1.92% per annum as of December 31, 2010.  

A number of long-term loan agreements contain certain 
financial covenants which are being met by the Group. 
Approximately 8% of total long-term loans and borrow-
ings from third parties are secured by export sales and 
property, plant and equipment.

A Group company has an unsecured syndicated loan 
agreement with an outstanding amount of $720 million 
as of December 31, 2010, with maturity dates up to 2013. 
The loan was arranged by ABN AMRO Bank, Banco Bilbao 

Vizcaya Argentaria, BNP Paribas, The Bank of Tokyo- 
Mitsubishi UFJ, ING Bank, Mizuho Corporate Bank and 
WestLB. Borrowings under this agreement bear interest 
from three month LIBOR plus 0.85% to three month LIBOR 
plus 0.95% per annum.

Two Group companies have unsecured loan agreements 
with an outstanding amount of $212 million as of Decem-
ber 31, 2010, maturing in 2011. The loans were arranged 
by ABN AMRO Bank, The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ,  
Barclays Capital, BNP Paribas, Citibank, Dresdner Kleinwort,  
ING Bank and WestLB. Borrowings under these agree-
ments bear interest at three month LIBOR plus 3.25% per 
annum.

The Company has an unsecured syndicated loan agree-
ment with the European Bank for Reconstruction and De-
velopment with an outstanding amount of $221 million as 
of December 31, 2010, maturing up to 2017. Borrowings 
under this agreement bear interest from six month LIBOR 
plus 0.45% to six month LIBOR plus 0.65% per annum.

A Group company has a secured loan agreement, ar-
ranged by Credit Suisse, supported by an Overseas Private 
Investment Corporation guarantee, with an outstanding 
amount of $158 million as of December 31, 2010. Bor-
rowings under this agreement bear interest at six month  
LIBOR plus 4.8% per annum and have maturity dates up 
to 2015.
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A Group company has an unsecured loan agreement with 
Citibank with an outstanding amount of $121 million as 
of December 31, 2010, maturing up to 2019. Borrowings 
under this agreement bear interest at euribor plus 0.125% 
per annum.

A Group company has an unsecured loan agreement with 
Citibank with an outstanding amount of $100 million as 
of December 31, 2010, maturing in 2011. Borrowings un-
der this agreement bear interest at one month LIBOR plus 
0.90% per annum.

As of December 31, 2010, the Group has a number of other 
loan agreements with fixed rates with a number of banks 
and other organizations totaling $133 million, maturing 
from 2011 to 2017. The weighted average interest rate un-
der these loans was 3.98% per annum.

As of December 31, 2010, the Group has a number of other 
floating rate loan agreements with a number of banks and 
other organizations totaling $442 million, maturing from 
2011 to 2018. The weighted average interest rate under 
these loans was 1.18% per annum.

Group companies have a number of loan agreements 
nominated in Russian rubles with ConocoPhillips, the 
Group’s former related party, with an outstanding amount 
of $1,657 million as of December 31, 2010. This amount in-
cludes $1,424 million loaned by ConocoPhillips to our joint 
venture OOO Narianmarneftegaz (“NMNG”) (refer to Note 
18. Consolidation of Variable Interest Entity). Borrowings 
under these agreements bear interest at fixed rates rang-
ing from 6.8% to 8.0% per annum and have maturity dates 
up to 2038. Financing under these agreements is used to 
develop oil production and distribution infrastructure in 
the Timan-Pechora region of the Russian Federation.

US dollar convertible bonds

In December 2010, a Group company issued unsecured 
convertible bonds totaling $1.5 billion with a coupon 
yield of 2.625% and maturity in June 2015. The bonds 
were placed at face value. The bonds are convertible into  
LUKOIL ADRs (each representing one ordinary share of the 
Company) and have a conversion price of $73.7087 per 
ADR. Bondholders have the right to convert the bonds into 
LUKOIL ADRs during the period starting from 40 days after 
the issue date and ending 6 dealing days before the ma-
turity date. The issuer has the right to redeem the bonds 
after December 31, 2013. 

US dollar non-convertible bonds

In November 2010, a Group company issued two tranches 
of non-convertible bonds totaling $1.0 billion with a cou-
pon yield of 6.125% and maturity in 2020. The first tranche 
totaling $800 million was placed at a price of 99.081% of 

the bond’s face value with a resulting yield to maturity 
of 6.250%. The second tranche totaling $200 million was 
placed at a price of 102.44% of the bond’s face value with 
a resulting yield to maturity of 5.80%. These tranches have 
a half year coupon period.

In November 2009, a Group company issued two tranch-
es of non-convertible bonds totaling $1.5 billion. The 
first tranche totaling $900 million with a coupon yield of 
6.375% per annum was placed with a maturity of 5 years at 
a price of 99.474% of the bond’s face value with a resulting 
yield to maturity of 6.500%. The second tranche totaling 
$600 million with a coupon yield of 7.250% per annum was 
placed with a maturity of 10 years at a price of 99.127% of 
the bond’s face value with a resulting yield to maturity of 
7.375%. These tranches have a half year coupon period.

In June 2007, a Group company issued non-convertible 
bonds totaling $1 billion. $500 million were placed with 
a maturity of 10 years and a coupon yield of 6.356% per 
annum. Another $500 million were placed with a maturity 
of 15 years and a coupon yield of 6.656% per annum. All 
bonds were placed at the face value and have a half year 
coupon period. 

Russian ruble bonds

In December 2009, the Company issued 10 million stock 
exchange bonds with a face value of 1,000 Russian rubles 
each. The bonds were placed at the face value with a ma-
turity of 1,092 days. The bonds have a 182 days’ coupon 
period and bear interest at 9.20% per annum.

In August 2009, the Company issued 25 million stock ex-
change bonds with a face value of 1,000 Russian rubles 
each. The bonds were placed at the face value with a ma-
turity of 1,092 days. The bonds have a 182 days’ coupon 
period and bear interest at 13.35% per annum.

In December 2006, the Company issued 14 million non-
convertible bonds with a face value of 1,000 Russian rubles 
each. Eight million bonds were placed with a maturity of 
5 years and a coupon yield of 7.10% per annum and six 
million bonds were placed with a maturity of 7 years and a 
coupon yield of 7.40% per annum. All bonds were placed 
at the face value and have a half year coupon period.

Maturities of long-term debt

Annual maturities of total long-term debt during the next 
five years, including the portion classified as current, are 
$1,331 million in 2011, $1,556 million in 2012, $645 million 
in 2013, $1,069 million in 2014, $1,548 million in 2015 and 
$4,251 million thereafter.
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Note 13. TAxES

The Group is taxable in a number of jurisdictions within 
and outside of the Russian Federation and, as a result, is 
subject to a variety of taxes as established under the statu-
tory provisions of each jurisdiction.

The total cost of taxation to the Group is reported in the 
consolidated statement of income as “Total income tax ex-
pense” for income taxes, as “Excise and export tariffs” for 
excise taxes, export tariffs and petroleum products sales 
taxes and as “Taxes other than income taxes” for other 
types of taxation. In each category taxation is made up of 
taxes levied at various rates in different jurisdictions.

Starting on January 1, 2009, operations in the Russian Fed-
eration are subject to a Federal income tax rate of 2.0% 
and a regional income tax rate that varies from 13.5% to 
18.0% at the discretion of the individual regional admin-
istration. Until January 1, 2009, the Federal income tax 
rate was 6.5% and regional income tax rate varied from 
13.5% to 17.5%. The Group’s foreign operations are sub-
ject to taxes at the tax rates applicable to the jurisdictions 
in which they operate.

As of January 1, 2010 and 2009, and during 2010, 2009 and 
2008, the Group did not have any unrecognized tax ben-
efits and thus, no interest and penalties related to unrec-
ognized tax benefits were accrued. The Group’s policy is to 
record interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax 
benefits as components of income tax expense. In addi-
tion, the Group does not expect that the amount of unrec-
ognized tax benefits will change significantly within the 
next 12 months.

The Company and its Russian subsidiaries file standalone 
income tax returns in Russia. With a few exceptions, in-
come tax returns in Russia are open to examination by the 
Russian tax authorities for tax years beginning in 2008.

There are not currently, and have not been during the 
three years ended December 31, 2010, any provisions in 
the taxation legislation of the Russian Federation to permit 
the Group to reduce taxable profits in a Group company 
by offsetting tax losses in another Group company against 
such profits. Tax losses of a Group company in the Russian 
Federation may, however, be used fully or partially to off-
set taxable profits in the same company in any of the ten 
years following the year of loss.

Domestic and foreign components of income before income taxes were:

Year ended
December 31, 2010

Year ended
December 31, 2009

Year ended
December 31, 2008

Domestic 10,569 9,013 12,767

Foreign 901 50 (73)

Income before income taxes 11,470 9,063 12,694

Domestic and foreign components of income taxes were:

Year ended
December 31, 2010

Year ended
December 31, 2009

Year ended
December 31, 2008

Current

Domestic 1,693 1,677 3,614

Foreign 411 245 553

Current income tax expense 2,104 1,922 4,167

Deferred 

Domestic 299 98 (523)

Foreign (52) (26) (177)

Deferred income tax expense (benefit) 247 72 (700)

Total income tax expense 2,351 1,994 3,467
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The following table is a reconciliation of the amount of income tax expense that would result from applying the Russian 
combined statutory income tax rate to income before income taxes to total income taxes:

Year ended
December 31, 2010

Year ended
December 31, 2009

Year ended
December 31, 2008

Income before income taxes 11,470 9,063 12,694

Notional income tax at the Russian statutory rate (20% for the 
years 2010 and 2009, and 24% for 2008) 2,294 1,813 3,047

Increase (reduction) in income tax due to:

Non-deductible items, net 266 252 792

Foreign rate differences (4) 68 159

Effect of enacted tax rate changes – – (299)

Domestic regional rate differences (226) (251) (261)

Change in valuation allowance 21 112 29

Total income tax expense 2,351 1,994 3,467

Taxes other than income taxes were:

Year ended
December 31, 2010

Year ended
December 31, 2009

Year ended
December 31, 2008

Mineral extraction tax 7,864 5,452 12,267

Social taxes and contributions 429 399 512

Property tax 518 470 405

Other taxes and contributions 167 153 280

Taxes other than income taxes 8,978 6,474 13,464

Deferred income taxes are included in the consolidated balance sheets as follows:

As of 
December 31, 2010

As of 
December 31, 2009

Other current assets 77 66

Deferred income tax assets — non-current 676 549

Other current liabilities (85) (50)

Deferred income tax liabilities — non-current (2,417) (2,080)

Net deferred income tax liability (1,749) (1,515)
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The following tables set out the tax effects of each type of temporary differences which give rise to deferred income tax 
assets and liabilities:

As of 
December 31, 2010

As of 
December 31, 2009

Accounts receivable 42 42

Long-term liabilities 387 295

Inventories 1 5

Property, plant and equipment 263 209

Accounts payable 14 28

Operating loss carry forwards 527 555

Other 161 132

Total gross deferred income tax assets 1,395 1,266

Less valuation allowance (418) (397)

Deferred income tax assets 977 869

Property, plant and equipment (2,513) (2,189)

Accounts payable (2) (6)

Accounts receivable (30) (7)

Long-term liabilities (61) (58)

Inventories (57) (68)

Investments (15) (16)

Other (48) (40)

Deferred income tax liabilities (2,726) (2,384)

Net deferred income tax liability (1,749) (1,515)

As a result of acquisitions during 2009 the Group recognized a net deferred tax liability of $35 million.

As of December 31, 2010, retained earnings of foreign 
subsidiaries included $17,777 million for which deferred 
taxation has not been provided because remittance of 
the earnings has been indefinitely postponed through re-
investment and, as a result, such amounts are considered 
to be indefinitely invested. It is not practicable to estimate 
the amount of additional taxes that might be payable on 
such undistributed earnings.

In accordance with ASC No. 830, “Foreign currency matters” 
and ASC No. 740, “Income Taxes” deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are not recognized for the changes in exchange 
rate effects resulting from the translation of transactions 
and balances from the Russian ruble to the US dollar using 
historical exchange rates. Also, in accordance with ASC No. 
740, no deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognized for 
the effects of the related statutory indexation of property, 
plant and equipment.

Based upon the levels of historical taxable income and 
projections for future taxable income over the periods 

in which the deferred income tax assets are deductible, 
management believes it is more likely than not that Group 
companies will realize the benefits of the deductible tem-
porary differences and loss carry forwards, net of existing 
valuation allowances as of December 31, 2010 and 2009.

As of December 31, 2010, the Group had operating loss 
carry forwards of $2,073 million of which $3 million expire 
during 2011, $203 million expire during 2012, $444 million  
expire during 2013, $14 million expire during 2014,  
$1 million expire during 2015, $389 million expire during 
2016, $40 million expire during 2017, $6 million expire dur-
ing 2018, $15 million expire during 2019, $15 million expire 
during 2020, $374 million expire during 2021, $5 million  
expire during 2025, $67 million expire during 2026,  
$77 million expire during 2027, $107 million expire during 
2028, $60 million expire during 2029, $64 million expire 
during 2030, and $187 million have an indefinite carry for-
ward.
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Note 14. pENSION BENEfITS

The Company sponsors a postretirement benefits pro-
gram. The primary component of the post employment 
and post retirement benefits program is a defined ben-
efit pension plan that covers the majority of the Group’s 
employees. This plan is administered by a non-state pen-
sion fund, LUKOIL-GARANT, and provides pension benefits 
primarily based on years of service and final remunera-
tion levels. The Company also provides several long-term 
employee benefits such as a death-in-service benefit and 
lump-sum payments upon retirement of a defined benefit 
nature and other defined benefits to certain old age and 
disabled pensioners who have not vested any pensions 
under the pension plan.

The Company’s pension plan primarily consists of a de-
fined benefit plan enabling employees to contribute a 

portion of their salary to the plan and at retirement to re-
ceive a lump sum amount from the Company equal to all 
past contributions made by the employee (up to 2% of an-
nual salary up to October 1, 2010 and up to 4% of annual 
salary in further periods). Employees also have the right to 
receive upon retirement the benefits accumulated under 
the previous pension plan that was replaced in Decem-
ber 2003. These benefits have been fixed and included in 
the benefit obligation as of December 31, 2010 and 2009.  
The amount was determined primarily based on a formula 
including past pensionable service and relative salaries as 
of December 31, 2003.

The Company uses December 31 as the measurement 
date for its post employment and post retirement benefits 
program. An independent actuary has assessed the ben-
efit obligations as of December 31, 2010 and 2009.

The following table provides information about the benefit obligations and plan assets as of December 31, 2010 and 
2009. The benefit obligations below represent the projected benefit obligation of the pension plan.

2010 2009

Benefit obligations

Benefit obligations as of January 1 291 288

Effect of exchange rate changes (2) (7)

Service cost 16 17

Interest cost 23 23

Plan amendments 6 6

Actuarial loss (gain) 2 (3)

Acquisitions 3 8

Benefits paid (40) (30)

Curtailment gain (3) (11)

Benefit obligations as of December 31 296 291

plan assets

Fair value of plan assets as of January 1 108 88

Effect of exchange rate changes (1) (1)

Return on plan assets 6 12

Employer contributions 39 45

Divestiture – (6)

Benefits paid (40) (30)

fair value of plan assets as of December 31 112 108

Funded status (184) (183)

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 
2010 and 2009

Accrued benefit liabilities included in “Other long-term liabilities” (144) (143)

Accrued benefit liabilities included in “Other current liabilities” (40) (40)
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Weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations as of December 31, 2010 and 2009:

2010 2009

Discount rate 7.80% 8.70%

Rate of compensation increase 7.70% 8.10%

Weighted average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit costs for the year ended December 31, 2010 and 
2009:

2010 2009

Discount rate 8.70% 9.00%

Rate of compensation increase 8.10% 8.61%

Expected rate of return on plan assets 10.07% 10.89%

Included in accumulated other comprehensive loss as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, are the following before-tax 
amounts that have not yet been recognized in net periodic benefit cost:

2010 2009

Unamortized prior service cost 84 96

Unrecognized actuarial gain (6) (10)

Total costs 78 86

Amounts recognized in other comprehensive loss during the year ended December 31, 2010 and 2009:

2010 2009

Additional loss (gain) arising during the period 4 (5)

Additional prior service cost from plan amendment 6 6

Re-classified prior service cost amortization (18) (2)

Net amount recognized for the period (8) (1)

The real returns on bonds and equities are based on 
what is observed in the international markets over ex-
tended periods of time. In the calculation of the expected 
return on assets no use is made of the historical returns  
LUKOIL-GARANT has achieved.

In addition to the plan assets, LUKOIL-GARANT holds as-
sets in the form of an insurance reserve. The purpose of 
this insurance reserve is to satisfy pension obligations 
should the plan assets not be sufficient to meet pension 

obligations. The Group’s contributions to the pension plan 
are determined without considering the assets in the in-
surance reserve.

The plans are funded on a discretionary basis through a soli-
darity account, which is held in trust with LUKOIL-GARANT.  
LUKOIL-GARANT does not allocate separately identifiable 
assets to the Group or its other third party clients. All funds 
of plan assets and other individual pension accounts are 
managed as a pool of investments.
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The asset allocation of the investment portfolio maintained by LUKOIL-GARANT for the Group and its clients was as fol-
lows:

Type of assets
As of December 

31, 2010 
As of December 

31, 2009

Promissory notes of Russian issuers – 3%

Russian corporate bonds 37% 25%

Russian municipal bonds 2% 4%

Bank deposits 41% 42%

Equity securities of Russian issuers 5% 8%

Shares of OAO LUKOIL 1% 2%

Shares in investment funds 13% 14%

Other assets 1% 2%

100% 100%

Components of net periodic benefit cost were as follows:

Year ended
December 31, 2010

Year ended
December 31, 2009

Year ended
December 31, 2008

Service cost 16 17 22

Interest cost 23 23 19

Less expected return on plan assets (11) (10) (11)

Amortization of prior service cost 18 2 11

Curtailment gain (3) (11) –

Total net periodic benefit cost 43 21 41

Total employer contributions for 2011 are expected to be $32 million. An amount of $14 million before-tax is included in 
other comprehensive income and expected to be recognized in the net periodic benefit cost in 2011.

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future services, as appropriate, are expected to be paid:

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
5-year period 

2011-2015
5-year period 

2016-2020

Pension benefits 55 15 10 10 9 99 28

Other long-term employee benefits 40 16 15 14 13 98 56

Total expected benefits to be paid 95 31 25 24 22 197 84

The investment strategy employed by LUKOIL-GARANT 
includes an overall goal to attain a maximum investment 
return, while guaranteeing the principal amount invested. 
The strategy is to invest with a medium-term perspective 
while maintaining a level of liquidity through proper al-
location of investment assets. Investment policies include 
rules and limitations to avoid concentrations of invest-
ments.

The investment portfolio is primarily comprised of invest-
ments: bank deposits, securities with fixed yield and equi-
ty securities. The securities with fixed yield include mainly 
high yield corporate bonds with low and medium risk rat-
ings. Maturities range from one to three years.
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Note 15. STOCKhOLDErS’ EqUITY

Common stock
As of December 

31, 2010 
(thousands of 

shares)

As of December
31, 2009

(thousands of
shares)

Authorized and issued common stock, par value of 0.025 Russian rubles each 850,563 850,563

Common stock held by subsidiaries, not considered as outstanding – (82)

Treasury stock (69,208) (3,836)

Outstanding common stock 781,355 846,645

Earnings per share

The calculation of diluted earnings per share for these years was as follows:

Year ended 
December 31, 

2010

Year ended 
December 31, 

2009

Year ended 
December 31, 

2008

Net income 9,006 7,011 9,144

Add back interest on 2.625% convertible US dollar bonds, 
maturing 2015 (net of tax at effective rate) 3 – –

Total diluted net income 9,009 7,011 9,144

Weighted average number of outstanding common shares 
(thousands of shares) 822,359 846,646 840,108

Add back treasury shares held in respect of convertible debt 
(thousands of shares) 892 – –

Weighted average number of outstanding common shares, after 
dilution (thousands of shares) 823,251 846,646 840,108

Dividends and dividend limitations

Profits available for distribution to common stockholders 
in respect of any reporting period are determined by refer-
ence to the statutory financial statements of the Company 
prepared in accordance with the laws of the Russian Fed-
eration and denominated in Russian rubles. Under Russian 
Law, dividends are limited to the net profits of the report-
ing year as set out in the statutory financial statements of 
the Company. These laws and other legislative acts gov-
erning the rights of shareholders to receive dividends are 
subject to various interpretations.

The Company’s net profits were 139,853 million Russian 
rubles, 45,148 million Russian rubles and 66,926 million 
Russian rubles respectively for 2010, 2009 and 2008, pur-
suant to the statutory financial statements, which at the 
US dollar exchange rates as of December 31, 2010, 2009 
and 2008, amounted to $4,589 million, $1,493 million and 
$2,278 million, respectively.

At the annual stockholders’ meeting on June 24, 2010, 
dividends were declared for 2009 in the amount of  
52.00 Russian rubles per common share, which at the 
date of the meeting was equivalent to $1.68. Dividends  
payable of $13 million are included in “Other current  
liabilities” in the consolidated balance sheets as of  
December 31, 2010 and 2009.

At the annual stockholders’ meeting on June 25, 2009, 
dividends were declared for 2008 in the amount of  
50.00 Russian rubles per common share, which at the  
date of the meeting was equivalent to $1.61.

At the annual stockholders’ meeting on June 26, 2008, 
dividends were declared for 2007, in the amount of  
42.00 Russian rubles per common share, which at the  
date of the decision was equivalent to $1.78.
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Treasury shares

On July 28, 2010, a Group company signed a stock pur-
chase agreement with a ConocoPhillips’ subsidiary to 
purchase 64.6 million of the Company’s ordinary shares 
at $53.25 per share for the total amount of $3,442 million. 
This transaction was finalized in August 2010. Addition-
ally, under this agreement the Group had a 60-day option 
to purchase any or all of the remaining 98.7 million of the 
Company’s ordinary shares held by the ConocoPhillips’ 
subsidiary for the price of $56 per share.

On September 26, 2010, the Group company exercised 
its option to acquire shares from the ConocoPhillips’ 
subsidiary by sending a notice of exercise in respect of 
42,500,000 LUKOIL ADRs (each representing one ordinary 
share of the Company). The Group company sold these 
ADRs to UniCredit Bank AG. These transactions were com-
pleted on September 29, 2010 when 42,500,000 LUKOIL 
ADRs were directly transferred to UniCredit Bank AG, and  
UniCredit Bank AG paid the purchase price of $2.38 billion 
to the ConocoPhillips’ subsidiary.

Simultaneously, UniCredit Bank AG issued a series of eq-
uity-linked notes to the Group company that are redeem-
able for 17,500,000 LUKOIL ADRs on or before September 
29, 2011. These equity-linked notes have been classified 
within OAO LUKOIL stockholders’ equity. 

UniCredit Bank AG also issued an option to the Group 
company to purchase from UniCredit Bank AG an ad-
ditional 25,000,000 LUKOIL ADRs on or before Septem-
ber 29, 2011. The option provides for the purchase of  
LUKOIL ADRs at market price with a floor of $56 per ADR 
and is not valid if the market price per ADR is $50 or below. 
This option currently has a fair value of zero.

A related party of the Group has equity-linked notes that 
are redeemable for 25,000,000 LUKOIL ADRs on or before 
September 29, 2011 should the Group company not exer-
cise its option or the option becomes invalid. If the Group 
company exercises the option the related party will receive 
from UniCredit Bank AG the cash value of ADRs equivalent 
to that paid by the Group company.
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Note 16. fINANCIAL AND DErIVATIVE 
INSTrUmENTS

Fair value

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, current ac-
counts receivable, long-term receivables and liquid secu-
rities are approximately equal to their value as disclosed 
in the consolidated financial statements. The fair value 
of long-term receivables was determined by discounting 
with estimated market interest rates for similar financing 
arrangements.

The fair value of long-term debt differs from the amount 
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements. The es-
timated fair value of long-term debt as of December 31, 
2010 and 2009 was $10,225 million and $9,976 million, re-
spectively, as a result of discounting using estimated mar-
ket interest rates for similar financing arrangements. These 
amounts include all future cash outflows associated with 
the long-term debt repayments, including the current por-
tion and interest. Market interest rates mean the rates of 
raising long-term debt by companies with a similar credit 
rating for similar tenors, repayment schedules and similar 
other main terms. During the year ended December 31, 
2010, the Group did not have significant transactions or 
events that would result in nonfinancial assets and liabili-
ties measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis.

Derivative instruments

The Group uses financial and commodity-based derivative 
contracts to manage exposures to fluctuations in foreign 
currency exchange rates, commodity prices, or to exploit 
market opportunities. Since the Group is not currently us-
ing hedge accounting, defined by ASC No. 815, “Derivative 
and hedging,” all gains and losses, realized or unrealized, 
from derivative contracts have been recognized in the 
consolidated income statement.

ASC No. 815 requires purchase and sales contracts for com-
modities that are readily convertible to cash (e.g., crude oil, 
natural gas and gasoline) to be recorded on the balance 
sheet as derivatives unless the contracts are for quantities 
the Group expects to use or sell over a reasonable period 
in the normal course of business (i.e., contracts eligible for 
the normal purchases and normal sales exception). The 
Group does apply the normal purchases and normal sales 
exception to certain long-term contracts to sell oil prod-
ucts. This normal purchases and normal sales exception 
is applied to eligible crude oil and refined product com-
modity purchase and sales contracts; however, the Group 
may elect not to apply this exception (e.g., when another 
derivative instrument will be used to mitigate the risk of 
the purchase or sale contract but hedge accounting will 
not be applied, in which case both the purchase or sales 
contract and the derivative contract mitigating the result-
ing risk will be recorded on the balance sheet at fair value).

The fair value hierarchy for the Group’s derivative assets and liabilities accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis was:

As of December 31, 2010 As of December 31, 2009

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets

Commodity derivatives –  226 – 226 – 341 – 341

Total assets – 226 – 226 – 341 – 341

Liabilities

Commodity derivatives – (264) – (264) – (386) – (386)

Total liabilities – (264) – (264) – (386) – (386)

Net liabilities – (38) – (38) – (45) – (45)

The derivative values above are based on an analysis  
of each contract as the fundamental unit of account as  
required by ASC No. 820, “Fair Value Measurements and 
Disclosures;” therefore, derivative assets and liabilities 
with the same counterparty are not reflected net where 

the legal right of offset exists. Gains or losses from con-
tracts in one level may be offset by gains or losses on con-
tracts in another level or by changes in values of physical 
contracts or positions that are not reflected in the table 
above.
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Commodity derivative contracts

The Group operates in the worldwide crude oil, refined 
product, natural gas and natural gas liquids markets and is 
exposed to fluctuations in the prices for these commodi-
ties. These fluctuations can affect the Group’s revenues as 
well as the cost of operating, investing and financing ac-
tivities. Generally, the Group’s policy is to remain exposed 

to the market prices of commodities. However, the Group 
uses futures, forwards, swaps and options in various mar-
kets to balance physical systems, meet customer needs, 
manage price exposures on specific transactions, and do 
a limited, immaterial amount of trading not directly relat-
ed to the Group’s physical business. These activities may 
move the Group’s profile away from market average prices.

As required under ASC No. 815 the amounts shown in the 
preceding table are presented gross (i.e., without netting 
assets and liabilities with the same counterparty where 
the right of offset and intent to net exist). Derivative assets 
and liabilities resulting from eligible commodity contracts 
have been netted in the consolidated balance sheet and 
are recorded as accounts receivable in the amount of $26 
million and accounts payable in the amount of $66 million.

Financial results from commodity derivatives were includ-
ed in the consolidated income statements in “Cost of pur-
chased crude oil, gas and products” and for the years ended 
December 31, 2010 and 2009 amounted to a net loss of 
$232 million (of which realized losses were $235 million 
and unrealized gain was $3 million) and a net loss of $781 
million (of which realized losses were $406 million and un-
realized losses were $375 million), respectively.

As of December 31, 2010, the net position of outstanding 
commodity derivative contracts, primarily to manage price 
exposure on underlying operations, was not significant.

Currency exchange rate derivative contracts

The Group has foreign currency exchange rate risk result-
ing from its international operations. The Group does not 
comprehensively hedge the exposure to currency rate 
changes, although the Group selectively hedges certain 
foreign currency exchange rate exposures, such as firm 
commitments for capital projects or local currency tax 
payments and dividends.

The fair value of foreign currency derivatives assets and  
liabilities open at December 31, 2010 was not significant.

The impact from foreign currency derivatives during the 
year ended December 31, 2010 on the consolidated in-
come statement was not significant. The net position of 
outstanding foreign currency swap contracts as of Decem-
ber 31, 2010 also was not significant.

Credit risk

The Group’s financial instruments that are potentially ex-
posed to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of 
cash equivalents, over-the-counter derivative contracts 
and trade receivables. Cash equivalents are placed in high-
quality commercial paper, money market funds and time 
deposits with major international banks and financial in-
stitutions.

The credit risk from the Group’s over-the-counter deriva-
tive contracts, such as forwards and swaps, derives from 
the counterparty to the transaction, typically a major bank 
or financial institution. Individual counterparty exposure is 
managed within predetermined credit limits and includes 
the use of cash-call margins when appropriate, thereby re-
ducing the risk of significant non-performance. The Group 
also uses futures contracts, but futures have a negligible 
credit risk because they are traded on the New York Mer-
cantile Exchange or the ICE Futures.

Certain of the Group’s derivative instruments contain pro-
visions that require the Group to post collateral if the de-
rivative exposure exceeds a threshold amount. The Group 
has contracts with fixed threshold amounts and other 
contracts with variable threshold amounts that are contin-
gent on the Group’s credit rating. The variable threshold 
amounts typically decline for lower credit ratings, while 

The fair value of commodity derivative assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2010 was:

As of December 31, 2010

Assets

Accounts receivable 224

Liabilities

Accounts payable 264

Hedge accounting has not been used for items in the table.
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both the variable and fixed threshold amounts typically 
revert to zero if the Group falls below investment grade. 
Cash is the primary collateral in all contracts; however, 
many contracts also permit the Group to post letters of 
credit as collateral.

There were no derivative instruments with such credit-
risk-related contingent features that were in a liabil-
ity position on December 31, 2010. The Group posted  
$3 million in collateral in the normal course of business 
for the over-the-counter derivatives. If the Group’s credit 
rating were lowered one level from its “BBB-” rating (per 
Standard and Poors) on December 31, 2010, and it would 
be below investment grade, the Group would be required 
to post additional collateral of $5 million to the Group’s 
counterparties for the over-the-counter derivatives, ei-
ther with cash or letters of credit. The maximum addi-
tional collateral based on the lowest downgrade would be  
$16 million in total.

Note 17. BUSINESS COmBINATIONS

In the first quarter of 2009, the Group acquired 100% in-
terests in OOO Smolenskneftesnab, OOO IRT Investment, 
OOO PM Invest and OOO Retaier House for $238 million. 
These are holding companies, which between them own 
96 petrol stations and plots of land in Moscow, the Mos-
cow region and other regions of central European Russia. 
This acquisition was made in order to expand the Group’s 
presence on the most advantageous retail market in the 
Russian Federation. The Group allocated $165 million to 
goodwill, $113 million to property, plant and equipment, 
$15 million to other assets, $8 million to deferred tax liabil-
ity and $47 million to other liabilities. The value of proper-
ty, plant and equipment was determined by an independ-
ent appraiser.

This business combination did not have a material impact 
on the Group’s consolidated operations for the year ended 
December 31, 2009. Therefore, no pro-forma income state-
ment information has been provided.

Note 18. CONSOLIDATION Of VArIABLE 
INTErEST ENTITY

The Group and ConocoPhillips have a joint venture NMNG 
which develops oil reserves in the Timan-Pechora region 
of the Russian Federation. The Group and ConocoPhillips 
have equal voting rights over the joint venture’s activity 
and effective ownership interests of 70% and 30%, respec-
tively.

The Group originally determined that NMNG is a variable 
interest entity as the Group’s voting rights are not propor-
tionate to its ownership rights and all of NMNG’s activities 

are conducted on behalf of the Group and ConocoPhil-
lips, its former related party. Based on the requirements of 
ASC No. 810, “Consolidation” the Group performs a regular 
qualitative analysis as to whether it is the primary benefi-
ciary of this VIE. As a result the Group is still considered to 
be the primary beneficiary of NMNG and consolidated it.

NMNG’s total assets were approximately $5.5 billion and 
$5.9 billion as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, respec-
tively. 

Note 19. COmmITmENTS AND CONTINgENCIES

Capital expenditure, exploration and investment  
programs

Under the terms of existing exploration and production li-
cense agreements in Russia the Group has to fulfill certain 
obligations: oil and gas exploration, wells drilling, fields 
development, etc., and the Group also has commitments 
to reach a defined level of extraction on the fields. Man-
agement believes that the Group’s approved annual capi-
tal expenditure budgets fully cover all the requirements of 
the described license obligations.

Group companies have commitments for capital expendi-
ture contributions in the amount of $720 million related 
to various production sharing agreements over the next 
27 years.

The Company has signed a three-year agreement for the 
years 2010-2012 for drilling services with OOO Eurasia 
Drilling Company. The volume of these services is based 
on the Group’s capital construction program, which is re-
evaluated on an annual basis. The Group estimates the 
amount of capital commitment under this agreement for 
2011 to be approximately $1,139 million.

The Company has signed a strategic agreement for the 
ongoing provision of construction, engineering and tech-
nical services with ZAO Globalstroy-Engineering. The 
volume of these services is based on the Group’s capital 
construction program, which is re-evaluated on an annual 
basis. The Group estimates the amount of capital commit-
ment under this agreement for 2011 to be approximately 
$349 million.

The Group has a commitment to execute the capital con-
struction program of its power generation segment and 
under the terms of this program power plants with a to-
tal capacity of 890 MW should be constructed. Currently 
the Group is approving certain amendments to the capital 
construction program, including its extension by the end 
of 2013. As of December 31, 2010, the Group estimates 
the amount of this commitment to be approximately $660 
million.
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Operating lease obligations

Group companies have commitments of $846 million pri-
marily for the lease of vessels and petroleum distribution 
outlets. Operating lease expenses were $155 million and 
$185 million during the years ended December 31, 2010 
and 2009, respectively. Commitments for minimum rent-
als under these leases as of December 31, 2010 are as fol-
lows:

As of December
31, 2010

2011 220

2012 168

2013 130

2014 110

2015 100

beyond 118

Insurance

The insurance industry in the Russian Federation and cer-
tain other areas where the Group has operations is in the 
course of development. Management believes that the 
Group has adequate property damage coverage for its 
main production assets. In respect of third party liability 
for property and environmental damage arising from acci-
dents on Group property or relating to Group operations, 
the Group has insurance coverage that is generally higher 
than insurance limits set by the local legal requirements. 
Management believes that the Group has adequate insur-
ance coverage of the risks, which could have a material ef-
fect on the Group’s operations and financial position. 

Environmental liabilities

Group companies and their predecessor entities have op-
erated in the Russian Federation and other countries for 
many years and, within certain parts of the operations, en-
vironmental related problems have developed. Environ-
mental regulations are currently under consideration in 
the Russian Federation and other areas where the Group 
has operations. Group companies routinely assess and 
evaluate their obligations in response to new and chang-
ing legislation.

As liabilities in respect of the Group’s environmental ob-
ligations are able to be determined, they are charged 
against income. The likelihood and amount of liabilities 
relating to environmental obligations under proposed or 
any future legislation cannot be reasonably estimated at 
present and could become material. Under existing legis-
lation, however, management believes that there are no 
significant unrecorded liabilities or contingencies, which 

could have a materially adverse effect on the operating 
results or financial position of the Group.

Social assets

Certain Group companies contribute to Government 
sponsored programs, the maintenance of local infrastruc-
ture and the welfare of their employees within the Russian 
Federation and elsewhere. Such contributions include as-
sistance with the construction, development and mainte-
nance of housing, hospitals and transport services, recrea-
tion and other social needs. The funding of such assistance 
is periodically determined by management and is appro-
priately capitalized or expensed as incurred.

Taxation environment

The taxation systems in the Russian Federation and other 
emerging markets where Group companies operate are 
relatively new and are characterized by numerous taxes 
and frequently changing legislation, which is often un-
clear, contradictory, and subject to interpretation. Often, 
differing interpretations exist among different tax authori-
ties within the same jurisdictions and among taxing au-
thorities in different jurisdictions. Taxes are subject to re-
view and investigation by a number of authorities, which 
are enabled by law to impose severe fines, penalties and 
interest charges. In the Russian Federation a tax year re-
mains open for review by the tax authorities during the 
three subsequent calendar years; however, under certain 
circumstances a tax year may remain open longer. Recent 
events within the Russian Federation suggest that the tax 
authorities are taking a more assertive position in their 
interpretation and enforcement of tax legislation. Such 
factors may create taxation risks in the Russian Federa-
tion and other emerging markets where Group companies 
operate substantially more significant than those in other 
countries where taxation regimes have been subject to 
development and clarification over long periods.

The tax authorities in each region may have a different 
interpretation of similar taxation issues which may result 
in taxation issues successfully defended by the Group in 
one region being unsuccessful in another region. There is 
some direction provided from the central authority based 
in Moscow on particular taxation issues.

The Group has implemented tax planning and manage-
ment strategies based on existing legislation at the time 
of implementation. The Group is subject to tax authority 
audits on an ongoing basis, as is normal in the Russian en-
vironment and other republics of the former Soviet Union, 
and, at times, the authorities have attempted to impose 
additional significant taxes on the Group. Management 
believes that it has adequately met and provided for tax 
liabilities based on its interpretation of existing tax legisla-
tion. However, the relevant tax authorities may have differ-
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ing interpretations and the effects on the financial state-
ments, if the authorities were successful in enforcing their 
interpretations, could be significant.

Litigation and claims

On November 27, 2001, Archangel Diamond Corporation 
(“ADC”), a Canadian diamond development company, filed 
a lawsuit in the District Court of Denver, Colorado against 
OAO Archangelskgeoldobycha (“AGD”), a Group company, 
and the Company (together the “Defendants”). ADC al-
leged that the Defendants interfered with the transfer of 
a diamond exploration license to Almazny Bereg, a joint 
venture between ADC and AGD. ADC claimed total dam-
ages of approximately $4.8 billion, including compensa-
tory damages of $1.2 billion and punitive damages of  
$3.6 billion. On October 15, 2002, the District Court dis-
missed the lawsuit for lack of personal jurisdiction. This 
ruling was upheld by the Colorado Court of Appeals on 
March 25, 2004. On November 21, 2005, the Colorado 
Supreme Court affirmed the lower courts’ ruling that no 
specific jurisdiction exists over the Defendants. By virtue 
of this finding, AGD (the holder of the diamond explora-
tion license) was dismissed from the lawsuit. The Supreme 
Court found, however, that the trial court made a proce-
dural error by failing to hold an evidentiary hearing before 
making its ruling concerning general jurisdiction regard-
ing the Company, which is whether the Company had sys-
tematic and continuous contacts in the State of Colorado 
at the time the lawsuit was filed. In a modified opinion 
dated December 19, 2005, the Colorado Supreme Court 
remanded the case to the Colorado Court of Appeals (in-
stead of the District Court) to consider whether the lawsuit 
should have been dismissed on alternative grounds (i.e., 
forum non conveniens). On June 29, 2006, the Colorado 
Court of Appeals declined to dismiss the case based on 
forum non conveniens. The Company filed a petition for 
certiorari on August 28, 2006, asking the Colorado Su-
preme Court to review this decision. On March 5, 2007, 
the Colorado Supreme Court remanded the case to the  
District Court. On June 11, 2007, the District Court ruled it 
would conduct an evidentiary hearing on the issue of wheth-
er the Company is subject to general personal jurisdiction 
in the State of Colorado. Discovery regarding jurisdiction  
was commenced.

On June 26, 2009, three creditors of ADC filed an Invol-
untary Bankruptcy Petition putting ADC into bankruptcy. 
ADC ultimately confirmed entry of an Order For Relief and 
the matter was converted to a Chapter 11 Case by order 
dated September 29, 2009. On November 25, 2009, after 
adding a claim, ADC removed the case from the Colorado 
District Court to the US Bankruptcy Court. On December 
22, 2009, the Company filed a motion seeking to have 
the case remanded to the Colorado District Court. On  
December 31, 2009, before there was a ruling on the motion 
seeking remand ADC filed a motion seeking withdrawal of 

the reference to the Bankruptcy Court and requesting the 
case be heard by the US District Court. On February 3, 2010, 
the US Bankruptcy Court ordered the Motion For With-
drawal Of The Reference be transferred to the US District 
Court for further action. All pending motions as well as dis-
covery were stayed pending further order of the Court. On  
July 7, 2010, the District Court denied ADC’s Motion for 
Withdrawal of reference and returned the case to the  
Bankruptcy Court for the determination of the Company’s 
Motion for Remand and Abstention seeking return of the 
case to the Colorado state court. On October 28, 2010, 
the Bankruptcy Court granted the Company’s Motion for  
Remand and Abstention and remanded the case to the 
Denver District Court (Colorado state court) where it is 
now pending. ADC is expected to commence discovery re-
garding general jurisdiction shortly after the Court holds 
a status conference on March 18, 2011. Management in-
tends to contest jurisdiction and denies all material allega-
tions against the Company. Management does not believe 
that the ultimate resolution of this matter will have a mate-
rial adverse effect on the Group’s financial condition.

As of the date the financial statements were available to 
be issued 76 claims in relation to a violation of the anti-
monopoly regulation were initiated against several Group 
companies in Russia and abroad. The Group companies 
were accused of violations primarily involving abuse of 
their dominant market position and execution of coordi-
nated actions in oil products retail markets.

In 2008 and 2009, the Federal Anti-monopoly Service of 
the Russian Federation (“FAS of Russia”) considered two 
cases which resulted in decisions being issued against 
a number of major Russian oil companies, including the 
Company and the Group’s refinery plants, alleging abuse 
of their dominant position in the oil products wholesale 
market of the Russian Federation.

As for the first case, the Group refinery plants appealed the 
decisions of FAS of Russia in the Moscow Arbitration Court. 
These appeals were combined in one proceeding. In addi-
tion the Group’s refinery plants appealed against the ad-
ministrative fines accrued by FAS of Russia to the courts 
in their locations. Due to abandonment of the claim by 
the Group’s refinery plants the combined proceeding was 
terminated on December 13, 2010.  Due to the same rea-
son appeals against the administrative fines of the Group’s 
refinery plants have also been terminated. The Group’s re-
finery plants filed an application to FAS of Russia asking 
for payment deferrals for the fines accrued. As of the date 
the financial statements were available to be issued, defer-
ral has been approved for some of the Group’s refineries.  
The remaining applications are under consideration. 

As for the second case, the Group’s refinery plants filed 
claims against the decisions of FAS of Russia and adminis-
trative fines accrued. Due to the signing of the agreement 
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between FAS of Russia and OOO LUKOIL-Volgogradnefte-
pererabotka, OOO LUKOIL-Nizhegorodnefteorgsintez 
and OOO LUKOIL-Permnefteorgsintez fines were signifi-
cantly reduced and lawsuits were terminated. A similar 
agreement is agreed to be signed with OOO LUKOIL-UNP.  
Currently, proceedings on this case are stayed. OOO 
LUKOIL-Nizhegorodnefteorgsintez has already paid 
the fines. FAS of Russia approved payment deferrals  
for OOO LUKOIL-Volgogradneftepererabotka and 
OOO LUKOIL-Permnefteorgsintez. OOO LUKOIL-UNP is  
going to file an application for payment deferrals to FAS 
of Russia.

The total amount of administrative penalties claimed 
from the Group which are estimated to be possible and 
probable is currently $106 million, of which a provision of  
$96 million was accrued in the Group’s consolidated finan-
cial statements as of December 31, 2010 as probable to be 
paid. These expenses were included in “Other non-oper-
ating expense” of the consolidated statements of income.

On February 9, 2011, FAS of Russia filed a new lawsuit 
against the three largest Russian oil companies, including 
the Company, accusing them of abuse of their dominant 
position in the oil products market. However, the Com-
pany is not aware of the claim details until the case starts 
being considered. The order of legal proceedings has not 
been received by the Company as of the date the financial 
statements were available to be issued. 

In March 2010, an ethanol purchase agreement signed 
by Getty Petroleum Marketing Inc., a Group Company, 
and Bionol Clearfield LLC came into force. The initial 
term of the agreement was five years. On June 1, 2010,  
Getty Petroleum Marketing Inc. filed an Arbitration claim 
to make amendments to the ethanol purchase agree-
ment and to compensate for losses. On June 18, 2010,  
Bionol Clearfield LLC filed a counter-claim to the Arbitra-
tion tribunal of the American Arbitration Association with 
examination of the case in Boston to execute the agree-
ment or to pay compensation. The amount of the claim 
of Bionol Clearfield LLC is $250 million. The counterpar-
ties came to an agreement about the schedule of court 
hearings and documents submission. Hearings began on 
February 16, 2011. At this time it is not possible to predict 
whether any of the issues in the Arbitration are remote or 
probable, or the likely outcome of the Arbitration. Man-
agement does not believe that the ultimate resolution 
of this matter will have a material adverse effect on the 
Group’s financial condition.

The Group is involved in cost recovery disputes with the 
Republic of Kazakhstan. The Group’s share of the claim is 
approximately $244 million. Management is of the view 
that substantially all of the amounts subject to dispute 
are in fact recoverable under the Final Production Sharing 
Agreement. Management believes that the ultimate reso-

lution of the claim will not have a material adverse impact 
on the Group’s operating results or financial condition.

The Group is involved in various other claims and legal 
proceedings arising in the normal course of business. 
While these claims may seek substantial damages against 
the Group and are subject to uncertainty inherent in any 
litigation, management does not believe that the ultimate 
resolution of such matters will have a material adverse im-
pact on the Group’s operating results or financial condi-
tion.

Note 20.  rELATED pArTY TrANSACTIONS

In the rapidly developing business environment in the 
Russian Federation, companies and individuals have fre-
quently used nominees and other forms of intermediary 
companies in transactions. The senior management of the 
Company believes that the Group has appropriate proce-
dures in place to identify and properly disclose transac-
tions with related parties in this environment and has dis-
closed all of the relationships identified which it deemed 
to be significant. Related party sales and purchases of oil 
and oil products were primarily to and from affiliated com-
panies and the Company’s shareholder ConocoPhillips.  
Related party processing services were provided by af-
filiated refineries. As a result of the purchase of the Com-
pany’s shares by a Group company from ConocoPhillips in 
September 2010 (refer to Note 15. Stockholders’ equity), 
ConocoPhillips ceased to be a related party of the Group 
by the end of the third quarter of 2010.

Below are related party transactions not disclosed else-
where in the financial statements. Refer also to Notes 3, 
4, 7, 11, 12, 14, 15, 18 and 21 for other transactions with 
related parties.

Sales of oil and oil products to related parties were  
$2,383 million, $1,152 million and $436 million for the years 
ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Other sales to related parties were $134 million, $69 million  
and $86 million for the years ended December 31, 2010, 
2009 and 2008, respectively.

Purchases of oil and oil products from related parties were 
$521 million, $862 million and $1,891 million for the years 
ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Purchases of processing services from related parties were 
$719 million, $539 million and nil for the years ended  
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Purchases of insurance services from related parties 
were nil, nil and $93 million during the years ended  
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
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Other purchases from related parties were $39 million,  
$28 million and $33 million for the years ended  
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Amounts receivable from related parties, including loans 
and advances, were $419 million and $591 million as of 
December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Amounts pay-
able to related parties were $114 million and $97 million as 
of December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Note 21. COmpENSATION pLAN

Since December 2009, the Company has a compensation 
plan to certain members of management for the period 
from 2010 to 2012, which is based on assigned shares 
and provides compensation consisting of two parts. The 
first part represents annual bonuses that are based on the 
number of assigned shares and the amount of dividend 
per share. The payment of these bonuses is contingent on 
the Group meeting certain financial KPIs in each financial 
year. The second part is based upon the Company’s com-
mon stock appreciation from 2010 to 2012, with rights 
vesting after the date of the compensation plan’s termi-
nation. The number of assigned shares is approximately  
17.3 million shares.

For the first part of the share plan the Group recognizes a 
liability based on expected dividends and the number of 
assigned shares.

The second part of the share plan is classified as equity set-
tled. The grant date fair value of the plan was estimated 
at $295 million using the Black-Scholes-Merton option-
pricing model, assuming a risk-free interest rate of 8.0% 
per annum, an expected dividend yield of 3.09% per an-
num, an expected term of three years and a volatility fac-
tor of 34.86%. The expected volatility factor was estimated 
based on the historical volatility of the Company’s shares 
for the previous five year period up to January 2010. 

As of December 31, 2010, there was $197 million of to-
tal unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested 
benefits. This cost is expected to be recognized periodi-
cally by the Group up to December 2012.

During the period from 2007 to 2009, the Company had 
a compensation plan available to certain members of 

management. Its conditions were similar to the con-
ditions of the new compensation plan introduced in  
December 2009. The number of assigned shares was ap-
proximately 15.5 million shares. Because of an unfavorable 
market situation the conditions for exercising the second 
part of this share plan were not met and therefore no pay-
ments or share transfers to employees took place by the 
end of the compensation plan.

Related to these plans the Group recorded $129 million, 
$105 million and $134 million of compensation expens-
es during 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively, of which  
$98 million, $20 million and $103 million, respectively, 
are recognized as an increase in additional paid-in capi-
tal. As December 31, 2010 and 2009, $33 million and  
$26 million related to these plans are included in “Other 
current liabilities” of the consolidated balance sheets, 
respectively. The total recognized tax benefits related  
to these accruals were $21 million during the years ended 
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008.

Note 22.  SEgmENT INfOrmATION

Presented below is information about the Group’s op-
erating and geographical segments for the years ended  
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, in accordance with 
ASC No. 280, “Segment reporting.”

The Group has the following operating segments —  
exploration and production; refining, marketing and dis-
tribution; chemicals; power generation and other busi-
ness segments. These segments have been determined 
based on the nature of their operations. Management on  
a regular basis assesses the performance of these operat-
ing segments. The exploration and production segment 
explores for, develops and produces primarily crude oil.  
The refining, marketing and distribution segment proc-
esses crude oil into refined products and purchases, sells 
and transports crude oil and refined petroleum products.  
The chemicals segment refines and sells chemical prod-
ucts. The power generation segment produces steam and 
electricity, distributes them and provides related services. 
The activities of the other business operating segment 
include businesses beyond the Group’s traditional opera-
tions.
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Geographical segments have been determined based on the area of operations and include three segments. They are 
Western Siberia, European Russia and International.

Operating segments

2010
Exploration

and production

refining, 
marketing and 

distribution Chemicals
power 

generation Other Elimination Consolidated

Sales

Third parties 3,091 99,064 1,331 1,416 54 – 104,956

Inter-segment 33,885 912 278 1,277 529 (36,881) –

Total sales 36,976 99,976 1,609 2,693 583 (36,881) 104,956

Operating expenses 3,891 3,085 385 1,913 335 (1,640) 7,969

Depreciation, depletion 
and amortization 2,841 967 40 183 123 – 4,154

Interest expense 874 1,153 29 38 409 (1,791) 712

Income tax expense 1,449 880 37 (14) – (1) 2,351

Net income 6,226 2,934 102 (167) (12) (77) 9,006

Total assets 59,176 62,458 1,524 4,454 16,575 (60,170) 84,017

Capital expenditures 4,933 1,320 76 420 95 – 6,844

2009
Exploration

and production

refining, 
marketing and 

distribution Chemicals
power 

generation Other Elimination Consolidated

Sales

Third parties 2,257 76,650 1,022 1,087 67 – 81,083

Inter-segment 22,096 784 162 1,065 725 (24,832) –

Total sales 24,353 77,434 1,184 2,152 792 (24,832) 81,083

Operating expenses 3,500 2,682 352 1,474 472 (1,356) 7,124

Depreciation, depletion 
and amortization 2,612 936 41 198 150 – 3,937

Interest expense 886 1,205 14 52 381 (1,871) 667

Income tax expense 1,221 821 12 (7) 6 (59) 1,994

Net income 5,456 2,263 (69) (162) (147) (330) 7,011

Total assets 55,033 56,286 1,371 4,041 14,250 (51,962) 79,019

Capital expenditures 4,687 1,316 113 283 135 – 6,534
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2008
Exploration

and production

refining, 
marketing and 

distribution Chemicals
power 

generation Other Elimination Consolidated

Sales

Third parties 1,753 103,132 2,067 654 74 – 107,680

Inter-segment 25,854 1,582 28 1,260 808 (29,532) –

Total sales 27,607 104,714 2,095 1,914 882 (29,532) 107,680

Operating expenses 3,490 4,713 798 1,171 523 (2,569) 8,126

Depreciation, depletion 
and amortization 1,939 816 34 69 100 – 2,958

Interest expense 870 570 4 60 241 (1,354) 391

Income tax expense 955 2,510 14 (83) 17 54 3,467

Net income 4,234 5,130 (117) (85) (75) 57 9,144

Total assets 47,130 45,039 940 3,982 9,573 (35,203) 71,461

Capital expenditures 7,890 2,067 121 364 147 – 10,589

Geographical segments

2010 2009 2008

Sales of crude oil within Russia 956 735 600

Export of crude oil and sales of crude oil by foreign subsidiaries 26,342 19,914 24,007

Sales of petroleum products within Russia 10,928 8,101 13,872

Export of petroleum products and sales of petroleum products by foreign 
subsidiaries 60,018 46,888 62,542

Sales of chemicals within Russia 728 514 880

Export of chemicals and sales of chemicals by foreign subsidiaries 642 574 1,232

Other sales within Russia 2,881 2,235 2,335

Other export sales and other sales by foreign subsidiaries 2,461 2,122 2,212

Total sales 104,956 81,083 107,680

2010 western Siberia European russia International Elimination Consolidated

Sales

Third parties 385 17,231 87,340 – 104,956

Inter-segment 17,417 27,416 38 (44,871) –

Total sales 17,802 44,647 87,378 (44,871) 104,956

Operating expenses 2,300 4,686 1,972 (989) 7,969

Depletion, depreciation and  
amortization 968 2,425 761 – 4,154

Interest expense 33 530 427 (278) 712

Income taxes 631 1,362 359 (1) 2,351

Net income 2,984 5,556 542 (76) 9,006

Total assets 21,785 56,897 30,225 (24,890) 84,017

Capital expenditures 2,004 3,329 1,511 – 6,844

OAO LUKOIL Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Millions of US dollars, except as indicated)
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2009 western Siberia European russia International Elimination Consolidated

Sales

Third parties 130 13,750 67,203 – 81,083

Inter-segment 11,035 26,918 18 (37,971) –

Total sales 11,165 40,668 67,221 (37,971) 81,083

Operating expenses 1,972 4,387 1,173 (408) 7,124

Depletion, depreciation and  
amortization 963 2,223 751 – 3,937

Interest expense 62 643 406 (444) 667

Income taxes 624 1,210 219 (59) 1,994

Net income 2,873 4,638 (168) (332) 7,011

Total assets 20,418 43,890 28,038 (13,327) 79,019

Capital expenditures 1,878 3,186 1,470 – 6,534

2008 western Siberia European russia International Elimination Consolidated

Sales

Third parties 138 19,905 87,637 – 107,680

Inter-segment 15,436 38,808 40 (54,284) –

Total sales 15,574 58,713 87,677 (54,284) 107,680

Operating expenses 1,918 5,155 2,274 (1,221) 8,126

Depletion, depreciation and  
amortization 832 1,499 627 – 2,958

Interest expense 37 196 260 (102) 391

Income taxes 640 2,397 376 54 3,467

Net income 1,848 7,615 (449) 130 9,144

Total assets 17,136 37,598 23,577 (6,850) 71,461

Capital expenditures 2,915 5,660 2,014 – 10,589

The Group’s international sales to third parties include 
sales in Switzerland of $53,245 million, $37,724 million and 
$47,066 million for the years ended December 31, 2010, 
2009 and 2008, respectively. The Group’s international 
sales to third parties include sales in the USA of $8,595 mil-
lion, $8,144 million and $12,171 million for the years end-
ed December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. These 
amounts are attributed to individual countries based on 
the jurisdiction of subsidiaries making the sale.

Note 23.  SUBSEqUENT EVENTS

In accordance with the requirements of ASC No. 855,  
“Subsequent events,” the Group evaluated subsequent 
events through the date the financial statements were 

available to be issued. Therefore subsequent events were 
evaluated by the Group up to March 4, 2010.

In January 2011, the Company received notice that the 
Board of Directors of ERG S.p.A. (“ERG”) resolved to sell 
to the Company 11% in the joint venture to operate the 
ISAB refining complex located in Priolo (Italy). This is a 
partial exercise of ERG’s option to sell its stake. Thus, the 
Group’s ownership will be increased from 49% to 60%. 
The transaction is expected to be finalized at the end of 
the first quarter of 2011 and the amount payable will be 
€205 million ($283 million), excluding inventory. The no-
tice was received in accordance with the initial agreement 
on creation of the joint venture signed in 2008. Based on 
the agreement ERG has a put option, the effect of which 
would be to increase the Group’s stake in the company op-
erating the ISAB refinery complex up to 100%.
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This section provides unaudited supplemental information on oil and gas exploration and production activities in  
accordance with ASC No. 932, “Disclosures About Oil and Gas Producing Activities” in six separate tables:

I. Capitalized costs relating to oil and gas producing activities
II. Costs incurred in oil and gas property acquisition, exploration, and development activities
III. Results of operations for oil and gas producing activities
IV. Reserve quantity information
V. Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows
VI. Principal sources of changes in the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows

Amounts shown for equity companies represent the Group’s share in its exploration and production affiliates, which  
are accounted for using the equity method of accounting.

I. CApITALIzED COSTS rELATINg TO OIL AND gAS prODUCINg ACTIVITIES

As of December 31, 2010 International russia

Total 
consolidated 

companies

group’s 
share in equity 

companies

Unproved oil and gas properties 536 302 838 293

Proved oil and gas properties 6,578 50,662 57,240 2,319

Accumulated depreciation, depletion, and amortization (1,490) (18,530) (20,020) (597)

Net capitalized costs 5,624 32,434 38,058 2,015

As of December 31, 2009 International russia

Total 
consolidated 

companies

group’s 
share in equity 

companies

Unproved oil and gas properties 545 305 850 285

Proved oil and gas properties 5,826 47,237 53,063 1,998

Accumulated depreciation, depletion, and amortization (1,201) (16,460) (17,661) (454)

Net capitalized costs 5,170 31,082 36,252 1,829

As of December 31, 2008 International russia

Total 
consolidated 

companies

group’s 
share in equity 

companies

Unproved oil and gas properties 519 507 1,026 158

Proved oil and gas properties 5,391 42,248 47,639 855

Accumulated depreciation, depletion, and amortization (901) (14,649) (15,550) (209)

Net capitalized costs 5,009 28,106 33,115 804
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II. COSTS INCUrrED IN OIL AND gAS prOpErTY ACqUISITION, ExpLOrATION, AND DEVELOpmENT 
ACTIVITIES

Year ended December 31, 2010 International russia

Total
consolidated 

companies

group’s
share in equity

companies

Acquisition of properties — proved 113 – 113 –

Acquisition of properties — unproved – 15 15 122

Exploration costs 199 220 419 16

Development costs 798 3,686 4,484 115

Total costs incurred 1,110 3,921 5,031 253

Year ended December 31, 2009 International russia

Total
consolidated 

companies

group’s
share in equity

companies

Acquisition of properties — proved – 17 17 1,154

Acquisition of properties — unproved – 23 23 97

Exploration costs 221 162 383 11

Development costs 549 3,726 4,275 146

Total costs incurred 770 3,928 4,698 1,408

Year ended December 31, 2008 International russia

Total
consolidated 

companies

group’s
share in equity

companies

Acquisition of properties — proved 806 6 812 –

Acquisition of properties — unproved 49 5 54 6

Exploration costs 357 313 670 9

Development costs 719 6,430 7,149 139

Total costs incurred 1,931 6,754 8,685 154
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III. rESULTS Of OpErATIONS fOr OIL AND gAS prODUCINg ACTIVITIES

The Group’s results of operations for oil and gas producing activities are presented below. In accordance with ASC  
No. 932, sales and transfers to Group companies are based on market prices. Income taxes are based on statutory rates.  

The results of operations exclude corporate overhead and interest costs.

Year ended December 31, 2010 International russia

Total
consolidated 

companies

group’s
share in equity

companies

Revenue

Sales 1,926 19,956 21,882 1,350

 Transfers – 12,278 12,278 13

Total revenues 1,926 32,234 34,160 1,363

Production costs (excluding production taxes) (218) (3,023) (3,241) (113)

Exploration expense (240) (96) (336) (2)

Depreciation, depletion, and amortization (292) (2,469) (2,761) (127)

Accretion expense (14) (35) (49) –

Taxes other than income taxes (257) (17,872) (18,129) (321)

Related income taxes (314) (1,813) (2,127) (275)

Total results of operations for producing activities 591 6,926 7,517 525

Year ended December 31, 2009 International russia

Total
consolidated 

companies

group’s
share in equity

companies

Revenue

Sales 1,472 13,870 15,342 824

Transfers – 11,850 11,850 17

Total revenues 1,472 25,720 27,192 841

Production costs (excluding production taxes) (195) (2,592) (2,787) (98)

Exploration expense (147) (71) (218) (10)

Depreciation, depletion, and amortization (323) (2,235) (2,558) (105)

Accretion expense – (43) (43) –

Taxes other than income taxes (206) (12,830) (13,036) (186)

Related income taxes (198) (1,399) (1,597) (203)

Total results of operations for producing activities 403 6,550 6,953 239

Year ended December 31, 2008 International russia

Total
consolidated 

companies

group’s
share in equity

companies

Revenue

 Sales 1,839 24,307 26,146 1,112

 Transfers – 17,941 17,941 11

Total revenues 1,839 42,248 44,087 1,123

Production costs (excluding production taxes) (202) (3,006) (3,208) (74)

Exploration expense (356) (131) (487) (7)

Depreciation, depletion, and amortization (313) (1,572) (1,885) (52)

Accretion expense – (25) (25) –

Taxes other than income taxes (61) (24,668) (24,729) (170)

Related income taxes (294) (3,272) (3,566) (481)

Total results of operations for producing activities 613 9,574 10,187 339



169OAO LUKOIL Supplementary Information on Oil and Gas Exploration and Production Activities (Unaudited)
(Millions of US dollars, except as indicated)

IV. rESErVE qUANTITY INfOrmATION

Proved reserves are the estimated quantities of oil and gas 
reserves which geological and engineering data demon-
strate will be recoverable with reasonable certainty in fu-
ture years from known reservoirs under existing economic 
and operating conditions. In accordance with ASC No. 932 
existing economic and operating conditions are based on 
the 12-months average price (for the years 2010 and 2009) 
or year-end price (for the year 2008) and the year-end 
costs. Proved reserves do not include additional quantities 
of oil and gas reserves that may result from applying sec-
ondary or tertiary recovery techniques not yet tested and 
determined to be economic.

Proved developed reserves are the quantities of proved 
reserves expected to be recovered through existing wells 
with existing equipment and operating methods.

Due to the inherent uncertainties and the necessarily lim-
ited nature of reservoir data, estimates of reserves are in-
herently imprecise, require the application of judgment 
and are subject to change as additional information be-
comes available.

Management has included within proved reserves signifi-
cant quantities which the Group expects to produce after 
the expiry dates of certain of its current production licenses 
in the Russian Federation. The Subsoil Law of the Russian 
Federation states that, upon expiration, a license is subject 
to renewal at the initiative of the license holder provided 
that further exploration, appraisal, production or remedia-
tion activities are necessary and provided that the license 
holder has not violated the terms of the license. Since the 
law applies both to newly issued and old licenses and the 
Group has currently renewed nearly 50% of its licenses, 
management believes that licenses will be renewed upon 
their expiration for the remainder of the economic life of 
each respective field.

In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-03, “Extrac-
tive activities — Oil and Gas (Topic 932): Oil and Gas Reserve 
Estimation and Disclosures.” The adoption of ASU No. 2010-
03 did not have a significant impact on the Group’s proved 
reserves and standardized measure of discounted future 
net cash flows.

Estimated net proved oil and gas reserves and changes 
thereto for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 
2008, are shown in the tables set out below. 

Millions of barrels Consolidated subsidiaries
group’s share in 

equity companies

International Russia Total

Crude oil

January 1, 2008 301 15,191 15,492 223

Revisions of previous estimates 80 (1,205) (1,125) 1

Purchase of hydrocarbons in place 17 19 36 5

Extensions and discoveries 30 493 523 6

Production (24) (660) (684) (19)

December 31, 2008 404 13,838 14,242 216

Revisions of previous estimates (85) (636) (721) 15

Purchase of hydrocarbons in place – 39 39 102

Extensions and discoveries 37 503 540 –

Production (27) (673) (700) (20)

Sales of reserves – (17) (17) –

December 31, 2009 329 13,054 13,383 313

Revisions of previous estimates (4) (292) (296) (5)

Purchase of hydrocarbons in place 62 – 62 –

Extensions and discoveries 10 550 560 10

Production (26) (658) (684) (24)

December 31, 2010 371 12,654 13,025 294

Proved developed reserves

December 31, 2008 208 8,806 9,014 156

December 31, 2009 186 8,442 8,628 199

December 31, 2010 207 8,401 8,608 182
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Billions of cubic feet Consolidated subsidiaries
group’s share in 

equity companies

International Russia Total

Natural gas

January 1, 2008 4,902 22,845 27,747 174

Revisions of previous estimates 566 (386) 180 4

Purchase of hydrocarbons in place 1,395 4 1,399 –

Extensions and discoveries 118 310 428 7

Production (175) (500) (675) (11)

December 31, 2008 6,806 22,273 29,079 174

Revisions of previous estimates (294) (6,081) (6,375) (3)

Purchase of hydrocarbons in place – 13 13 130

Extensions and discoveries 294 164 458 –

Production (175) (436) (611) (15)

December 31, 2009 6,631 15,933 22,564 286

Revisions of previous estimates (35) 1,214 1,179 11

Extensions and discoveries 98 226 324 4

Production (187) (540) (727) (26)

December 31, 2010 6,507 16,833 23,340 275

Proved developed reserves

December 31, 2008 1,912 5,893 7,805 114

December 31, 2009 2,002 5,636 7,638 157

December 31, 2010 2,715 6,024 8,739 143

The minority interest share included in the above total 
proved reserves was 187 million barrels, 242 million 
barrels and 426 million barrels as of December 31, 2010, 
2009 and 2008, respectively. The minority interest share 
included in the above proved developed reserves was  

132 million barrels, 135 million barrels and 203 million 
barrels as of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, 
respectively. Substantially all minority interests relate to 
the reserves in the Russian Federation.

The minority interest share included in the above total 
proved reserves was 31 billion cubic feet, 36 billion cubic 
feet and 34 billion cubic feet as of December 31, 2010, 
2009 and 2008, respectively. The minority interest share in- 
cluded in the above proved developed reserves was  

21 billion cubic feet, 23 billion cubic feet and 24 billion  
cubic feet as of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008,  
respectively. Substantially all minority interests relate to 
the reserves in the Russian Federation.
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V. STANDArDIzED mEASUrE Of DISCOUNTED 
fUTUrE NET CASh fLOwS

The standardized measure of discounted future net cash 
flows, related to the above oil and gas reserves, is calcu-
lated in accordance with the requirements of ASC No. 932. 
Estimated future cash inflows from production are com-
puted by applying the 12-months average price (for the 
years 2010 and 2009) or year-end price (for the year 2008) 
for oil and gas to year-end quantities of estimated net 
proved reserves. Adjustment in this calculation for future 
price changes is limited to those required by contractual 
arrangements in existence at the end of each reporting 
year. Future development and production costs are those 
estimated future expenditures necessary to develop and 
produce year-end estimated proved reserves based on 
year-end cost indices, assuming continuation of year-end 
economic conditions. Estimated future income taxes are 
calculated by applying appropriate year-end statutory 
tax rates. These rates reflect allowable deductions and tax 

credits and are applied to estimated future pre-tax net 
cash flows, less the tax bases of related assets. Discounted 
future net cash flows have been calculated using a ten per-
cent discount factor. Discounting requires a year-by-year 
estimate of when future expenditures will be incurred and 
when reserves will be produced.

The information provided in the tables set out below does 
not represent management’s estimate of the Group’s ex-
pected future cash flows or of the value of the Group’s 
proved oil and gas reserves. Estimates of proved reserve 
quantities are imprecise and change over time as new 
information becomes available. Moreover, probable and 
possible reserves, which may become proved in the future, 
are excluded from the calculations. The arbitrary valuation 
prescribed under ASC No. 932 requires assumptions as to 
the timing and amount of future development and pro-
duction costs. The calculations should not be relied upon 
as an indication of the Group’s future cash flows or of the 
value of its oil and gas reserves.

International russia

Total
consolidated

companies

group’s share
in equity

companies

As of December 31, 2010

Future cash inflows 40,871 432,401 473,272 18,629

Future production and development costs (23,193) (313,375) (336,568) (9,503)

Future income tax expenses (3,843) (19,775) (23,618) (2,107)

Future net cash flows 13,835 99,251 113,086 7,019

Discount for estimated timing of cash flows (10% p.a.) (8,641) (60,808) (69,449) (3,656)

Discounted future net cash flows 5,194 38,443 43,637 3,363

Minority share in discounted future net cash flows – 963 963 –

International russia

Total
consolidated

companies

group’s share
in equity

companies

As of December 31, 2009

Future cash inflows 31,025 385,266 416,291 14,816

Future production and development costs (18,778) (254,811) (273,589) (7,692)

Future income tax expenses (2,337) (22,285) (24,622) (1,489)

Future net cash flows 9,910 108,170 118,080 5,635

Discount for estimated timing of cash flows (10% p.a.) (6,468) (66,015) (72,483) (3,013)

Discounted future net cash flows 3,442 42,155 45,597 2,622

Minority share in discounted future net cash flows – 1,370 1,370 –
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International russia

Total
consolidated

companies

group’s share
in equity

companies

As of December 31, 2008

Future cash inflows 26,612 312,334 338,946 5,546

Future production and development costs (18,647) (185,733) (204,380) (3,074)

Future income tax expenses (318) (21,250) (21,568) (516)

Future net cash flows 7,647 105,351 112,998 1,956

Discount for estimated timing of cash flows (10% p.a.) (6,132) (64,296) (70,428) (950)

Discounted future net cash flows 1,515 41,055 42,570 1,006

Minority share in discounted future net cash flows – 1,333 1,333 –

VI. prINCIpAL SOUrCES Of ChANgES IN ThE STANDArDIzED mEASUrE Of DISCOUNTED 
       fUTUrE NET CASh fLOwS

Consolidated companies 2010 2009 2008

Discounted present value as at January 1 45,597 42,570 71,871

Net changes due to purchases and sales of minerals in place (193) 86 (279)

Sales and transfers of oil and gas produced, net of production costs (12,454) (11,151) (15,663)

Net changes in prices and production costs estimates 22,241 36,633 (113,710)

Net changes in mineral extraction taxes (23,976) (27,376) 79,317

Extensions and discoveries, less related costs 1,886 1,878 1,423

Development costs incurred during the period 5,565 3,201 3,528

Revisions of previous quantity estimates (433) (4,495) (3,520)

Net change in income taxes 407 (1,104) 11,054

Other changes (141) 70 123

Accretion of discount 5,138 5,285 8,426

Discounted present value at December 31 43,637 45,597 42,570

group’s share in equity companies 2010 2009 2008

Discounted present value as at January 1 2,622 1,006 4,828

Net changes due to purchases and sales of minerals in place – 1,182 17

Sales and transfers of oil and gas produced, net of production costs (927) (547) (872)

Net changes in prices and production costs estimates 2,296 2,129 (6,343)

Net changes in mineral extraction taxes (985) (1,086) 901

Extensions and discoveries, less related costs 53 3 38

Development costs incurred during the period 120 31 51

Revisions of previous quantity estimates (56) 137 13

Net change in income taxes (294) (442) 1,553

Other changes 234 95 239

Accretion of discount 300 114 581

Discounted present value at December 31 3,363 2,622 1,006

OAO LUKOIL Supplementary Information on Oil and Gas Exploration and Production Activities (Unaudited)
(Millions of US dollars, except as indicated)
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The following report represents management’s discus-
sion and analysis of the financial condition and results of 
operations of OAO LUKOIL as of December 31, 2010, and 
each of the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 
2008, and significant trends that may affect its future per-
formance. It should be read in conjunction with our US 
GAAP consolidated financial statements and notes and 
supplemental oil and gas disclosure.

References to “LUKOIL,” “the Company,” “the Group,” “we” 
or “us” are references to OAO LUKOIL and its subsidiaries 
and equity affiliates. All dollar amounts are in millions of 
US dollars, unless otherwise indicated. Tonnes of crude 
oil produced are translated into barrels using conversion 
rates characterizing the density of oil from each of our 
oilfields. Tonnes of crude oil purchased as well as other  

operational indicators expressed in barrels were trans-
lated into barrels using an average conversion rate of  
7.33 barrels per tonne. Translations of cubic meters to cu-
bic feet were made at the rate of 35.31 cubic feet per cubic 
meter. Translations of barrels of crude oil into barrels of oil 
equivalent (“BOE”) were made at the rate of 1 barrel per 
BOE and of cubic feet into BOE at the rate of 6 thousand 
cubic feet per BOE.

This report includes forward-looking statements — words 
such as “believes,” “anticipates,” “expects,” “estimates,” “in-
tends,” “plans,” etc. — that reflect management’s current 
estimates and beliefs, but are not guarantees of future 
results. Please see “Forward-looking statement” on page 
43 for a discussion of some of the factors that could cause 
actual results to differ materially.

Key financial and operational results

 
2010

Change to 
2009, % 2009

Change to  
2008, % 2008

Sales (millions of US dollars) 104,956 29.4 81,083 (24.7) 107,680

Net income attributable to OAO LUKOIL 
(millions of US dollars) 9,006 28.5 7,011 (23.3) 9,144

EBITDA 
(millions of US dollars) 16,049 19.1 13,475 (14.7) 15,797

Taxes other than income taxes, excise and export tariffs
 (millions of US dollars

            
(27,856) 42.6 (19,532) (43.9) (34,804)

Basic earning per share of common stock attributable to 
OAO LUKOIL (US dollars) 10.95 32.2 8.28 (23.9) 10.88

Diluted earning per share of common stock attributable to
OAO LUKOIL (US dollars) 10.94 32.1 8.28 (23.9) 10.88

Hydrocarbon production by the Group including our 
share in equity affiliates (thousands of BOE) 817,335 1.2 807,301 0.5 803,109

Crude oil production by the Group including our 
share in equity affiliates (thousands of tonnes) 95,992 (1.7) 97,615 2.5 95,240

Gas available for sale produced by the Group including our
share in equity affiliates (millions of cubic meters) 18,554 24.5 14,898 (12.5) 17,020

Refined products produced by the Group including our
share in equity affiliates (thousands of tonnes) 63,596 6.2 59,879 12.9 53,033

Hydrocarbon proved reserves including our share in 
equity affiliates (millions of BOE) 17,255 (1.4) 17,504 (9.5) 19,334

In 2010, our net income was $9,006 million, which is $1,995 million, or 28.5%, more than in 2009.
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Positive dynamic of our net income for 2010 was mainly 
due to a sharp increase in hydrocarbon prices, compared 
to 2009. Also, in the third quarter of 2010, we recognized 
a $438 million gain resulting from a successful completion 
of the legal dispute regarding one of our joint ventures in 
Kazakhstan. At the same time, our results were affected by 
increased extraction taxes and export tariff rates, which 
growth rates were even higher than those of our revenue, 
appreciation of the Russian ruble, increase in operating 
and transportation expenses and impairment losses in 
total amount of $306 million recognized in the fourth 
quarter of 2010. 

Business overview

The primary activities of OAO LUKOIL and its subsidiaries 
are crude oil exploration, production, refining, marketing 
and distribution. The Company is the ultimate parent en-
tity of a vertically integrated group of companies.

The Group was established in accordance with Presiden-
tial Decree 1403, issued on November 17, 1992. Under this 
decree, on April 5, 1993, the Government of the Russian 
Federation transferred to the Company 51% of the voting 
shares of fifteen enterprises. Under Government Reso-
lution 861 issued on September 1, 1995, a further nine 
enterprises were transferred to the Group during 1995. 
Since 1995, the Group has carried out a share exchange 
program to increase its shareholding in each of 24 found-
ing subsidiaries to 100%. From formation, the Group has 
expanded substantially through consolidation of inter-
ests, acquisition of new companies and establishment of 
new businesses. Now LUKOIL is a global energy company 
operating through its subsidiaries in 37 countries on four 
continents. 

LUKOIL is one of the world’s largest energy companies in 
terms of hydrocarbon reserves. The Company’s proved 
reserves as of January 1, 2011 amounted to 17.3 billion 
BOE and comprised of 13.3 billion BOE of crude oil and  
23.6 trillion cubic feet of gas.

Our operations are divided into four main business 
segments:

• ExPLORATION AND PRODUCTION — which includes 
our exploration, development and production 
operations relating to crude oil and natural gas. 
These activities are primarily located within Russia, 
with additional activities in Azerbaijan, Kazakhstan, 
Uzbekistan, the Middle East, South America, and 
Northern and Western Africa.

• REFINING, MARKETING AND DISTRIBUTION  — 
which includes refining and transport operations, 
marketing and trading of crude oil, natural gas and 
refined products. 

• CHEMICALS — which includes processing and 
trading of petrochemical products.

• POWER GENERATION — which includes generation, 
transportation and sales of electricity, heat and 
related services.

Other businesses include banking, finance and other ac-
tivities. Each of our four main segments is dependent on 
the other, with a portion of the revenues of one segment 
being a part of the costs of the other. In particular, our 
Refining, Marketing and Distribution segment purchases 
crude oil from our Exploration and Production segment.  
As a result of certain factors considered in the “Domestic 
crude oil and refined products prices” section on page 
13, benchmarking crude oil market prices in Russia can-
not be determined with certainty.  Therefore, the prices 
set for inter-segment purchases of crude oil reflect a com-
bination of market factors, primarily international crude 
oil market prices, transportation costs, regional market 
conditions, the cost of crude oil refining and other factors. 
Accordingly, an analysis of either of these segments on a 
stand-alone basis could give a misleading impression of 
those segments’ underlying financial position and results 
of operations. For this reason, we do not analyze either 
of our main segments separately in the discussion that 
follows. However, we present the financial data for each 
in Note 22 “Segment information” to our consolidated  
financial statements. 
 

reCent developments and outlook

The following has been achieved in 2010:

ExPLORATION AND PRODUCTION

• 11 new oil and gas fields were brought into production 
(2009: 8 oil and gas fields).

• On April 28, 2010, first oil was extracted at the 
Yu.Korchagin oilfield in the Russian offshore of the 
Caspian Sea.

• Consortium of LUKOIL and Vanco won a tender to 
explore and develop Est Rapsodia and Trident blocks 
in the Romanian offshore of the Black Sea.

• LUKOIL signed a contract for exploration and 
development of West Qurnah-2 field in Iraq. 

REFINING

• In 2010, we launched a catalytic cracking complex at 
our refinery in Nizhny Novgorod. With this complex 
in operation, the refinery’s production of high-octane 
gasoline and diesel fuel increases by 1.4 million tonnes 
per year and 0.4 million tonnes per year, respectively. 
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The whole volume of motor fuels produced will be 
fully compliant to Euro-4 and Euro-5. Light distillates 
output is increased by 12% and refinery’s Nelson 
complexity index is increased by two points.

MARKETING

• 64 new petrol stations were brought into operation.

• Retail sales of Euro-5 diesel fuel commenced on 
domestic market.

Other achievements in 2010 are described in detail further 
in this report. 

Changes in the group struCture

In January 2011, the Company received notice that the 
Board of Directors of ERG S.p.A. (“ERG”) resolved to sell to 
the Company 11% in the joint venture to operate the ISAB 
refining complex (“ISAB”) located in Priolo (Italy). This is a 
partial exercise of ERG’s option to sell its stake. Thus, the 
Group’s ownership will be increased from 49% to 60%.  
The transaction is expected to be finalized at the end of 
the first quarter of 2011 and the amount payable will be 
€205 million ($283 million), excluding inventory. The no-
tice was received in accordance with the initial agreement 
on creation of the joint venture signed in 2008. Based on 
the agreement ERG has a put option, the effect of which 
would be to increase the Group’s stake in the company 
operating the ISAB refinery complex up to 100%. In  
December 2008, the Group completed the acquisition of a 
49.0% stake in the joint venture for €1.45 billion (approxi-
mately $1.83 billion) and paid €600 million (approximately 
$762 million) as a first installment. The remaining amount 
was paid in February 2009. The agreement states that 
each partner is responsible for procuring crude oil and 
marketing refined products in line with its equity stake in 
the joint venture. ISAB has the flexibility to process Urals 
blend crude oil, includes three jetties and storage tanks 
totaling 3,700 thousand cubic meters and has an annual 
refining capacity of 16 million tonnes. 

On July 28, 2010, a Group company signed a stock pur-
chase agreement with a ConocoPhillips’ subsidiary to 
purchase 64.6 million of the Company’s ordinary shares at 
$53.25 per share for the total amount of $3,442 million. 
This transaction was finalized in August 2010. Addition-
ally, under this agreement the Group had a 60-day option 
to purchase any or all of the remaining 98.7 million of the 
Company’s ordinary shares held by the ConocoPhillips’ 
subsidiary for the price of $56 per share. On September 
26, 2010, the Group company exercised its option to ac-
quire shares from the ConocoPhillips’ subsidiary by send-
ing a notice of exercise in respect of 42,500,000 LUKOIL 

ADRs (each representing one ordinary share of the Com-
pany). The Group company sold these ADRs to UniCredit 
Bank AG. These transactions were completed on Septem-
ber 29, 2010 when 42,500,000 LUKOIL ADRs were directly 
transferred to UniCredit Bank AG, and UniCredit Bank AG 
paid the purchase price of $2.38 billion to the ConocoPhil-
lips’ subsidiary. Simultaneously, UniCredit Bank AG issued 
a series of equity-linked notes to the Group company that 
are redeemable for 17,500,000 LUKOIL ADRs on or be-
fore September 29, 2011. These equity-linked notes have 
been classified within OAO LUKOIL stockholders’ equity. 
UniCredit Bank AG also issued an option to the Group 
company to purchase from UniCredit Bank AG an addi-
tional 25,000,000 LUKOIL ADRs on or before September 
29, 2011. The option provides for the purchase of LUKOIL 
ADRs at market price with a floor of $56 per ADR and is 
not valid if the market price per ADR is $50 or below. As of 
February 7, 2011, ConocoPhillips realized the remainder 
of its holding in LUKOIL in the open market and thereby 
fully quit LUKOIL share capital.

In January 2010, the Company signed an agreement to 
develop the West Qurna-2 field located in the south of 
Iraq. The parties to the agreement are the Iraqi state-
owned South Oil Company and the contracting consor-
tium formed by the Iraqi state-owned North Oil Company, 
the Company and Norway’s Statoil ASA. The Company’s 
share in the project is 56.25%. The West Qurna-2 field has 
recoverable crude oil reserves of about 12.9 billion barrels.

In December 2009, the Group acquired the remain- 
ing 46.0% interest in its equity affiliate LUKARCO B.V.  
(“LUKARCO”) for $1.6 billion, thereby increasing the own-
ership stake to 100%. LUKARCO is a holding company, 
which owns a 5.0% share in Tengizchevroil, a joint ven-
ture which develops the Tengiz and Korolevskoe fields 
in Kazakhstan, and a 12.5% share in Caspian Pipeline  
Consortium (“CPC”), which carries Kazakhstani and  
Russian oil to Novorossiysk marine terminal. Therefore, 
the Group increased the ownership in Tengizchevroil 
from 2.7% to 5.0% and the ownership in CPC from 6.75% 
to 12.5%. The first installment in amount of $300 million 
was paid in December 2009. $800 million were paid in  
December 2010 and the remaining amount should be 
paid no later than December 2011.

In accordance with the Group’s plans to develop its refin-
ing capacity in Europe, in June 2009, a Group company 
entered into an agreement with Total S.A. to acquire a 
45.0% interest in TRN refinery in the Netherlands (“TRN”). 
The transaction was finalized in September 2009 in the 
amount of approximately $688 million (after completion 
adjustment). The Group provides crude oil and market 
refined products in line with its equity stake in the refin-
ery. The refinery has the flexibility to process Urals blend 
crude oil as well as significant volumes of straight-run 
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fuel oil and vacuum gasoil, which allowed us to integrate 
the plant into the Group’s crude oil supply and refined 
products marketing operations. This plant with a Nelson 
complexity index of 9.8 has an annual topping capacity of  
7.9 million tonnes and an annual capacity of a hydro-
cracking unit of approximately 3.4 million tonnes.

In order to expand the Group’s presence on the most 
advantageous retail markets in the Russian Federation, 
in the fourth quarter of 2008, the Group acquired for  
$493 million 100% interests in ZAO Association Grand and  
OOO Mega Oil M, owning 181 petrol stations in Moscow, 
the Moscow region and other regions of central Euro-
pean Russia. In the first quarter of 2009, the Group ac-
quired 100% interests in OOO Smolenskneftesnab, OOO 
IRT Investment, OOO PM Invest and OOO Retaier House 
for $238 million, which between them own 96 petrol sta-
tions and plots of land in Moscow, the Moscow region and 
other regions of central European Russia. 

In July 2008, a Group company signed an agree-
ment to acquire a 100% interest in the Akpet group for  
$555 million. The transaction was finalized in  
November 2008. The amended agreement provided 
for three payments of purchase consideration: the first 
payment in amount of $250 million was made at the 
date of finalization, the second payment in amount of  

$150 million was made in April 2009, and the remaining 
amount was paid in October 2009. The Akpet group op-
erated 689 petrol filling stations on the basis of dealer 
agreements and owned eight refined product terminals, 
five LNG storage tanks, three jet fuel terminals and a lubri-
cant production plant in Turkey.

In accordance with the Company’s plans to develop its 
power generation business, in March 2008, a Group com-
pany entered into an agreement with a related party to 
acquire a 64.31% interest in OAO UGK TGK-8 (“TGK-8”) for 
approximately $2,117 million. The transaction was final-
ized in May 2008. From May 2008 to June 2009, a Group 
company acquired the remaining interest in TGK-8 for a 
total of $1,202 million, increasing the Group’s ownership 
to 100%. In September 2009, TGK-8 was reorganized into 
a limited liability company. TGK-8 is one of the major gas 
consumers in the Southern Federal District with an an-
nual consumption of 6 billion cubic meters per year. Its 
power plants are located in Astrakhan, Volgograd and 
Rostov regions, Krasnodar and Stavropol Districts, and 
the Republic of Dagestan of the Russian Federation 
with total productive capacity of 3.6 GW. By purchasing  
TGK-8 LUKOIL expects significant synergies through natu-
ral gas supplies from the Company’s gas fields located in 
the Northern Caspian and in Astrakhan region, which will 
allow the Company to reach efficient gas price. 
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resourCe Base

The table below summarizes the net oil-equivalent proved reserves of consolidated subsidiaries and our share in equity 
affiliates under SEC standards (until the economic limit of commercial production is reached) that have been derived 
or extracted from the reports of Miller and Lents, Ltd., our independent reservoir engineers, dated as at January 1, 2011 
and 2010.

(millions of BOE)

January  
1, 2011

Changes in 2010

January 
1, 2010production1

extensions, 
discoveries and 

changes in structure

revision of 
previous 

estimates

Western Siberia 9,861 (451) 423                  138 9,751

Timan-Pechora 2,533 (160) 80 (122) 2,735

Ural region 2,033 (97) 64 (58) 2,124

Volga region 845 (27) 17 (40) 895

Other in Russia 223 (16) 14 (6) 231

Outside Russia 1,760 (83) 89 (14) 1,768

proved oil and gas reserves 17,255 (834) 687 (102) 17,504

probable oil and gas reserves 8,455 9,820

possible oil and gas reserves 3,167 5,054

1 Gas production shown before own consumption.

The Company’s proved reserves as at January 1, 
2011 amount to 17,255 million BOE and comprise of  
13,319 million BOE of crude oil and 23,615 billion cubic 
feet of gas.

In 2010, proved reserves growth as a result of geological 
exploration, production drilling and acquisitions, totaled 
687 million BOE of which geological exploration and 
production drilling accounted for 625 million BOE, while 

acquisitions accounted for 62 million BOE. The increment 
of the gas reserves was mainly caused by continued 
development of the Bolshekhetskaya Depression and the 
commencement of drilling at Pyakyakhinskoye field.

The adoption of the law on the adjustment of rates of 
the mineral extraction tax for oil and gas, starting from 
2011, resulted in the cutting of our proved reserves by  
118 million BOE.
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operational highlights

hydroCarBon produCtion

We undertake exploration for, and production of, crude oil and natural gas in Russia and internationally. In Russia,  
our major oil producing subsidiaries are OOO LUKOIL-Western Siberia, OOO LUKOIL-Komi and OOO LUKOIL-Perm. Also 
we have a consolidated joint venture with ConocoPhillips, OOO Narianmarneftegaz (“NMNG”), in the Northern Timan-
Pechora region. Exploration and production outside of Russia is performed by our 100% subsidiary LUKOIL-Overseas, 
that has stakes in PSA’s and other projects in Kazakhstan, Azerbaijan, Uzbekistan, Saudi Arabia, Columbia, Iraq, Ghana 
and Cote d’Ivoire.

The table below summarizes the results of our exploration and production activities.

2010 2009 2008

(thousand BOE per day)

Daily production of hydrocarbons, including the Company’s share in
equity affiliates, including: 2,239 2,212  2,194

- crude oil 1,940 1,972  1,921

- natural and petroleum gas1 299 240  273

(US dollar per BOE)

Hydrocarbon extraction expenses 4.12 3.56  4.12

- in Russia 4.11 3.53 4.11 

- outside Russia 4.29 3.99 4.32 

(millions of US dollars)

Hydrocarbon extraction expenses 3,241 2,787 3,208 

- in Russia 3,023 2,592 3,006

- outside Russia 218 195 202 

Exploration expenses 336 218 487

- in Russia 96 71 131

- outside Russia 240 147 356

Mineral extraction tax 7,864 5,452 12,267 

- in Russia 7,795 5,399 12,267 

- outside Russia 69 53 – 

1 Gas available for sale (excluding gas produced for our own consumption).
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CRUDE OIL PRODUCTION. In 2010, our daily crude oil production decreased by 1.6%, compared to 2009. The Group 
produced (including our share in equity affiliates) 708.1 million barrels, or 96.0 million tonnes of crude oil.

The following table represents our crude oil production in 2010 and 2009 by major regions.

(thousands of tonnes)
2010

Change to 2009

2009
total,

% 
Change in 
structure

organic 
change

Western Siberia 50,934 (3.8) – (2,028) 52,962

Timan-Pechora 21,175 (2.2) – (487) 21,662

Ural region 12,385 3.6 – 427 11,958

Volga region 2,916 2.4 – 68 2,848

Other in Russia 2,021 (5.1) – (109) 2,130

Crude oil produced in Russia 89,431 (2.3) – (2,129) 91,560

Crude oil produced internationally 3,460 (1.6) – (55) 3,515

total crude oil produced by 
consolidated subsidiaries

92,891 (2.3) – (2,184) 95,075

our share in crude oil produced by 
equity affiliates:

in Russia 336 9.1 – 28 308

outside Russia 2,765 23.9 575 (42) 2,232

total crude oil produced 95,992 (1.7) 575 (2,198) 97,615

The main oil producing region of the Company is West-
ern Siberia where we produced 54.8% of our crude oil 
in 2010 (55.7% in 2009 and 60.5% in 2008). A significant  
impact on our production in Western Siberia was caused 
by increased field depletion rate as well as a reduced drill-
ing footage. The reduction in drilling footage was due 
to implementation of the Company’s strategy aiming at 
strengthening its financial position through focusing on 
high return projects and boosting cash flows. 

In line with our strategy the Company is developing new 
oil fields in the Northern Timan-Pechora and Caspian re-
gions in order to compensate for the decrease in crude 
oil production in the traditional regions. In August 2008, 
we began commercial production on the Yuzhnoye  
Khylchuyu oil field, located in the Timan-Pechora region. 
We produced 6.9 million tonnes from this field in 2010, 
compared to 7.0 million tonnes in 2009. This oil field is de-
veloped by NMNG, our joint venture with ConocoPhillips.

In December 2009, we started production drilling on 
the Yu. Korchagin field in the Caspian Sea. In April 
2010, we began commercial production at the field.  
Maximum annual production from this field is expected 

to be 2.5 million tonnes of crude oil and gas condensate,  
and 1.0 billion cubic meters of gas. Starting from  
December 2010, a reduced export tariff rate is applied to 
crude oil produced and exported from this field. Accord-
ing to the current legislation, extraction tax for this field 
is zero. In 2010, we produced 55 thousand tonnes from 
that field and thereby couldn’t benefit a lot from above 
mentioned tax incentives.

The structural growth of our share in equity affiliates’  
production outside of Russia is explained by the increase 
in our effective share in Tengizchevroil, a joint venture 
which develops the Tengiz and Korolevskoe fields in  
Kazakhstan, to 5.0% as a result of acquiring the remaining 
46.0% interest in LUKARCO. 

In addition to our production, we purchase crude oil  
in Russia and on international markets. In Russia we pri-
marily purchase crude oil from affiliated producing com-
panies and other producers. Then we either refine or 
export purchased crude oil. Crude oil purchased on inter-
national markets is used for trading activities, for supply-
ing our international refineries or for processing at third 
party refineries
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Substantial part of crude oil purchased on the international 
market was made for refining. In 2010, we purchased 
12,516 thousand tonnes of crude oil to process at our 
and at third party refineries (including 4,574 thousand 
tonnes at ISAB and 2,292 thousand tonnes at TRN), 
сompared to 11,313 thousand tonnes in 2009 (including  
5,116 thousand tonnes at ISAB and 698 thousand tonnes 
at TRN refinery complex).

GAS PRODUCTION. In 2010, we produced 18,554 million 
cubic meters of gas available for sale (including our share 
in equity affiliates), an increase of 24.5%, compared to 
2009. 

Our major gas production field is the Nakhodkinskoe 
gas field, where we produced 8,146 million cubic meters 
of natural gas in 2010, compared to 5,936 million cubic 
meters in 2009. This 37.2% increase in gas production 
from the field resulted from the increase in purchases 
of our gas by OAO Gazprom (“Gazprom”) starting from 
the second half of 2009. Also, during 2010, we increased 
utilization rates of petroleum gas in Western Siberia.

Our international gas production increased by 16.2%. 
Production from the Khauzak gas field in Uzbekistan was 
2,655 million cubic meters of natural gas, compared to 
2,227 million cubic meters in 2009. In 2010, our share in 
production from the Shakh-Deniz field in Azerbaijan was 
545 million cubic meters, compared to 518 million cubic 
meters in 2009. As a result of acquisition of the remaining 
share in LUKARCO we increased our share in production 
of petroleum gas from Tengiz field by 300 million cubic 
meters.

refining, marketing and trading

REFINING. We own and operate four refineries located in 
European Russia and three refineries located outside of 
Russia — in Bulgaria, Ukraine and Romania. Moreover, we 
currently have a 49% stake in the ISAB refinery complex in 
Italy and a 45% interest in TRN refinery in the Netherlands.

Compared to 2009, production at our consolidated and 
affiliated refineries increased by 6.2%. Russian refineries 
increased their production by 1.8%. Production of our 
international refineries including our share of production 

at ISAB and TRN increased by 16.9%. The increase was 
a result of acquisition of TRN in September 2009. The 
production at our Bulgarian and Ukrainian refineries 
was lower due to performed overhauls. The Odessa 
refinery was stopped in the fourth quarter of 2010 due 
to unfavorable economic conditions in Ukraine. In 2010, 
our share of refined products produced at ISAB amounted 
to 6,540 thousand tonnes (6,153 thousand tonnes in 
2009) and our share in production of TRN amounted to  
4,468 thousand tonnes (1,528 thousand tonnes in 2009).

We invested, and continue to invest, significant resources 
in our refineries aiming at taking leading position in Russia 
in producing ecological fuel of high quality standards. 
Thus, in December 2010, we launched a catalytic cracking 
complex at our refinery in Nizhny Novgorod that enabled 
us to start production of gasoline fully compliant to Euro-4  
quality standard. Related investments amounted to 
approximately $1 billion.

In Russia, LUKOIL holds the leading position in production 
and sales of European standards motor fuel being ahead 
of the official terms of their obligatory implementation in 
the country. At our Russian refineries we produced 8,429, 
7,266 and 7,224 thousand tonnes of Euro 4 and Euro 5 
diesel fuel, and 5,373, 4,746 and 4,191 thousand tonnes 
of Euro 3 gasoline in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. 
In the end of 2010, we commenced production of Euro-4 
gasoline.

Along with our own production of refined products we 
can refine crude oil at third party refineries depending 
on market conditions and other factors. Before 2010, 
we processed crude oil at third party refineries in Russia 
primarily to supply our network in the Ural region and 
for export sales. In 2010, we sell our crude oil to these 
refineries and purchase refined products from them. In 
order to supply our retail networks in Eastern Europe, we 
refined crude oil in Belarus and Serbia. Refined products 
processed in Belarus were used for supplying our local 
retail network and for wholesale export. In the end of 
2009, we ceased refining of crude oil in Belarus due to 
decreased profitability of such operations as a result of 
certain amendments in the customs legislation. However, 
in the third quarter of 2010, we began refining our crude 
oil at a third party refinery in Kazakhstan. The following 
table summarizes key figures for our refining activities.

2010 2009 2008

(thousand   
of barrels)

(thousand 
of tonnes)

(thousand   
of barrels)

(thousand 
of tonnes)

(thousand   
of barrels)

(thousand 
of tonnes)

Crude oil purchases in Russia 2,243 306 4,442 606 1,730 236

Crude oil purchases internationally 156,759 21,386 150,258 20,499 76,078 10,379

total crude oil purchased 159,002 21,692 154,700 21,105 77,808 10,615
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MARKETING AND TRADING. Our marketing and trading 
activities mainly include wholesale and bunkering opera-
tions in Western Europe, South-East Asia, Central Ameri-
ca and retail operations in the USA, Central and Eastern  
Europe, the Baltic States and other regions. In Russia we 
purchase refined products on occasion, primarily to man-
age supply chain bottlenecks.

The Group retails its refined products in 27 countries 
through 6 thousand petrol stations. Most of the stations 
operate under the LUKOIL brand. We continuously devel-
op our retail business and the LUKOIL brand by expanding 
our retail network.

2010 2009 2008

(millions of US dollars)

Own refining expenses 1,088 923 1,115

- in Russia 806 671 780

- outside Russia 282 252 335

Refining expenses at ISAB and TRN 719 543 39

Refining expenses at third party refineries 5 170 400

- in Russia 1 126 341

- outside Russia 4 44 59

Capital expenditures 702 828 1,023

- in Russia 542 520 688

- outside Russia 160 308 335

(thousand barrels per day)

Refinery throughput at the Group refineries 1,103 1,099 1,112

- in Russia1 904 889 881

- outside Russia 199 210 231

Refinery throughput at ISAB and TRN2 3 222 155 13

Refinery throughput at third party refineries 2 77 110

- in Russia – 41 64

- outside Russia 2 36 46

total refinery throughput 1,327 1,331 1,235

(thousand of tonnes)

Refined products produced at the Group refineries 52,588 52,198 52,455

- in Russia1 43,172 42,408 42,067

- outside Russia 9,416 9,790 10,388

Production of ISAB and TRN2 11,008 7,681 578

Refined products produced at third party refineries 107 3,485 5,004

- in Russia – 1,873 2,881

- outside Russia 107 1,612 2,123

total refined products produced 63,703 63,364 58,037

1 Excluding mini refineries.
2 Group’s share.
3 Including refined products processed.
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The overall decrease of our export from Russia was a  
result of decreased crude oil production, cease of process-
ing operations in Belarus and respective decrease of  
export to CIS. However, export to far-abroad increased by  
2,984 thousand tonnes, or by 8.9%, compared to 2009.

In 2010, the crude oil exported through our own export 
infrastructure amounted to 8,732 thousand tonnes and 
was on the level of 2009.

In 2010, we exported from Russia 25.8 million tonnes of 
refined products, a decrease of 6.9%, compared to 2009. 
This was mainly due to decreased export to CIS. Released 

volumes were sold on domestic market. Primarily, we 
export from Russia diesel fuel, fuel oil and gasoil. These 
products account for approximately 92% of our refined 
products export volumes.

In 2010, our revenue from export of crude oil and re-
fined products from Russia both to the Group compa-
nies and third parties amounted to $22,178 million and  
$14,088 million, respectively ($17,485 million for crude oil 
and $11,414 million for refined products in 2009).

Refined products purchases in Russia increased in 2010 
compared to 2009 due to termination of processing ac-
tivities at third-party refineries. We began to sell our crude 
oil to these refineries and purchased refined products 
back from them. In 2010, these purchases amounted to 
approximately 870 thousand tonnes. Our international 
purchases increased due to expansion of trading activi-
ties and increased purchases for refining at ISAB and TRN 
refineries. 

ExPORTS OF CRUDE OIL AND REFINED PRODUCTS 
FROM RUSSIA. In 2010, our export of crude oil from 
Russia was 3.4% less than in 2009, and we exported 45.4% 
of our total domestic crude oil production (45.9% in  
2009 and 43.8% in 2008).

The table below summarizes figures for our trading activities.

2010 2009 2008

(thousand of tonnes) 

Retail sales 14,336 14,079 14,164

Wholesale sales 91,020 86,681 80,983

total refined products sales 105,356 100,760 95,147

Refined products purchased in Russia 1,853 625 1,635

Refined products purchased internationally 45,816 41,445 38,743

total refined products purchased 47,669 42,070 40,378

The volumes of crude oil exported from Russia by our subsidiaries are summarized as follows:

2010 2009 2008

(thousand 
of barrels)

(thousand 
of tonnes)

(thousand 
of barrels)

(thousand 
of tonnes)

(thousand 
of barrels)

(thousand 
of tonnes)

Exports of crude oil using Transneft 
export routes 231,525 31,586 241,890 33,000 264,393 36,070

Exports of crude oil bypassing Transneft 65,999 9,004 66,109 9,019 23,639 3,225

total crude oil exports 297,524 40,590 307,999 42,019 288,032 39,295
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POWER GENERATION. In 2010, we continued to develop 
the new power generation sector of our business as part 
of our strategic development program. This new sec-
tor encompasses all aspects of the power generation 
business, from generation to transmission and sale of 
heat and electrical power. Our power generation busi- 
ness sector now includes OOO “LUKOIL-Kubanenergo”,  
OOO “LUKOIL- Astrakhanenergo”, OOO “LUKOIL-Volgograd-

energo”, OOO “LUKOIL-Rostovenergo”, OOO “LUKOIL-TTK”  
(all spun off from TGK-8), our own power generating fa-
cilities at our oil and gas fields and power generators in  
Bulgaria, Romania and Ukraine. Our total output of elec-
trical energy was 13.2 billion kW-h in 2010 and 13.1 billion 
kW-h in 2009. Our total output of heat energy was approx-
imately 15.3 million Gcal in 2010 (15.1 million Gcal in 2009). 

Changes in the priCe of Crude oil and refined produCts

The price at which we sell crude oil and refined products is 
the primary driver of our revenues. During 2010, the Brent 
crude oil price fluctuated between $67 and $94 per barrel 
and reached its peak of $94.00 in late December of 2010. 

In 2008, the crude oil prices were the highest ever in real 
terms. Starting from July 2008, crude oil prices began 
to descend and by the end of the year crude oil price 
dropped by more than $100 per barrel down to $37 per 
barrel driven by the world economic downturn. Despite 
that, average international crude oil prices for 2008 were 
almost $100 per barrel.

During the second half of 2009, the crude oil price 
stabilized around $70 per barrel and since then fluctuated 
within sloping upward trend. At the same time, average 
international crude oil prices for 2009 were about $60 per 
barrel, which was significantly lower compared to 2008.

Substantially all crude oil we export is Urals blend.  
The following table shows the average crude oil and 
refined product prices products in 2010, 2009 and 2008.

2010
Change to 

2009, % 2009
Change to 

2008, % 2008

(in US dollars per barrel, except for figures in percent)

Brent crude 79.50 28.9 61.67 (36.6) 97.26

Urals crude (CIF Mediterranean) 1 78.29 27.9 61.22 (35.4) 94.76

Urals crude (CIF Rotterdam) 1 78.26 28.0 61.15 (35.5) 94.83

(in US dollars per metric tonne, except for figures in percent)

Fuel oil 3.5% (FOB Rotterdam) 442.35 28.0 345.72 (24.8) 459.74

Diesel fuel 10 ppm (FOB Rotterdam) 688.46 28.7 534.84 (43.6) 948.11

High-octane gasoline (FOB Rotterdam) 735.24 27.0 579.01 (30.8) 836.79

Source: Platts.

1 The Company sells crude oil on foreign markets on various delivery terms. Thus, our average realized sale price of oil on international 
markets differs from the average prices of Urals blend on Mediterranean and Northern Europe markets.

Main MacroeconoMic factors affecting 
our results of operations
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domestiC Crude oil and refined produCts priCes 

Changes in the us dollar-ruBle exChange rate and inflation  

Substantially all crude oil produced in Russia is produced 
by vertically integrated oil companies such as ours. As a 
result, most transactions are between affiliated entities 
within vertically integrated groups. Thus, there is no 
concept of a benchmark domestic market price for crude 
oil. The price of crude oil that is produced but not refined or 
exported by one of the vertically integrated oil companies 
is generally determined on a transaction-by-transaction 
basis against a background of world market prices, but 

with no direct reference or correlation. At any time there 
may exist significant price differences between regions for 
similar quality crude oil as a result of the competition and 
economic conditions in those regions. 

Domestic prices for refined products are determined to 
some extent by world market prices, but they are also 
directly affected by local demand and competition.

A substantial part of our revenue is either denominated in 
US dollars or is correlated to some extent with US dollar 
crude oil prices, while most of our costs in the Russian 
Federation are settled in Russian rubles. Therefore, 
ruble inflation and movements of exchange rates can 
significantly affect the results of our operations.

In particular, the devaluation of the ruble against the US 
dollar generally causes our costs to decrease in US dollar 
terms, and vice versa. The devaluation of the purchasing 
power of the US dollar in the Russian Federation calculated 
on the basis of the ruble-dollar exchange rates and the 
level of inflation in Russia was 11.6% in 2010, compared 
to 2009.

The table below represents average domestic wholesale prices of refined products in 2010, 2009 and 2008. 

2010
Change from 

2009, % 2009
Change from 

2008, % 2008

(in US dollars per metric tonne, except for figures in percent)

Fuel oil 245.27 51.3 162.12 (32.1) 238.87

Diesel fuel 557.36 20.5 462.65 (37.8) 744.07

High-octane gasoline (Regular) 714.26 22.1 584.87 (22.2) 751.95

High-octane gasoline (Premium) 743.17 16.8 636.24 (26.0) 860.07

Source: InfoTEK (excluding VAT).

 

The following table gives data on inflation in Russia and the change in the ruble-dollar exchange rate.

2010 2009 2008

Ruble inflation (CPI), % 8.7 8.9 13.3

Change of the ruble-dollar exchange rate, % (0.8) (2.9) (19.7)

Average exchange rate for the period (ruble to US dollar) 30.37 31.72 24.86

Exchange rate at the end of the period (ruble to US dollar) 30.48 30.24 29.38
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tax Burden

Given the relative size of our activities in Russia, our  
tax profile is largely determined by the taxes payable in 
Russia (based on records maintained under Russian leg-
islation — not US GAAP). In 2010, 2009 and 2008, the tax 
charge on the operations in Russia was approximately 
85%, 81% and 86% of our total tax charge, respectively.

Apart of income tax, fundamental taxes specific to the oil 
industry in Russia are mineral extraction tax, excise and 
export tariffs. In addition to above mentioned taxes, we 
are subject to a number of other taxes in Russia, including 
social taxes, property tax, VAT and other local and regional 
taxes.

The effective rates of total taxes and tariffs (total taxes, 
including income taxes, taxes other than on income and  

excise and export tariffs, divided by income before taxes 
and tariffs) for 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively, were 
77%, 75% and 81%. In 2010, tax expenses in Russia were 
about 49% of the domestic and export sales revenue of 
Russian companies of the Group.

The measures that we use for tax planning and manage-
ment strategies have been based on our understanding 
of tax legislation existing at the time of implementation 
of these measures. We are subject to tax authority audits 
on an ongoing basis, as is normal in the Russian environ-
ment, and, at times, the authorities have attempted to im-
pose significant additional taxes on us. We believe that we 
have adequately met and provided for tax liabilities based 
on our interpretation of existing tax legislation. However, 
the relevant authorities may have differing interpreta-
tions and the effects could be significant.

The following table represents average enacted rates for taxes specific to the oil industry in Russia for the respective 
periods.

20101

Change to 
2009, % 20091

Change to 
2008, % 20081

Export tariffs on crude oil $/tonne 273.55 52.0 179.93 (49.3) 355.08

Export tariffs on refined products

Light distillates (gasoline), middle 
distillates (jet fuel), diesel fuel and gasoils $/tonne 196.60 47.2 133.54 (46.9) 251.53

Liquid fuels (fuel oil) $/tonne 105.91 47.2 71.93 (46.9) 135.51

Excise on refined products

Straight-run gasoline RUR/tonne 4,290.00  10.0 3,900.00  46.8 2,657.00

High-octane gasoline RUR/tonne 3,992.00  10.0 3,629.00  – 3,629.00

Low-octane gasoline RUR/tonne 2,923.00  10.0 2,657.00  – 2,657.00

Diesel fuel RUR/tonne 1,188.00  10.0 1,080.00  – 1,080.00

Motor oils RUR/tonne 3,246.10  10.0 2,951.00  – 2,951.00

Mineral extraction tax

Crude oil RUR/tonne 3,075.76  33.6 2,302.85  (30.8) 3,328.35

Natural gas RUR/1,000 m3 147.00  – 147.00  – 147.00

1 Average values.
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CRUDE OIL ExTRACTION TAx RATE. The base rate is 
419 rubles per metric tonne extracted and it is adjusted 
depending on the international market price of Urals 
blend and the ruble exchange rate.  The tax rate is zero 
when the average Urals blend international market price 
for a tax period was less than or equal to $15.00 per barrel. 
Each $1.00 per barrel increase in the international Urals 
blend price over the threshold ($15.00 per barrel) resulted 
in an increase of the tax rate by $1.61 per tonne extracted 
(or $0.22 per barrel extracted using a conversion factor of 
7.33).

The base rate for 2012 and 2013 is currently set at  
446 rubles and 470 rubles per metric tonne extracted, 
respectively. However, the rate may be amended by the 
authorities later on.

The crude oil extraction tax rate varies depending on the 
development and depletion of a particular oilfield. The tax 
rate is zero for extra-heavy crude oil and for crude oil pro-
duced in certain regions of Eastern Siberia, the Caspian 

Sea and the Nenetsky Autonomous District, depending 
on the period and volume of production. For crude oil pro-
duced in other regions the tax rate calculation described 
above should be multiplied by a coefficient characteriz-
ing the depletion of a particular oilfield. The coefficient is 
equal to 1.0 for oilfields with depletion below 80%. Each 
1% increase of depletion of a particular oilfield above 80% 
results in a decrease of the coefficient by 0.035. The mini-
mum value of the coefficient is 0.3. The depletion level  
assessment is based on crude oil production and reserves 
information reported to the Russian government.

In 2010, the Group produced crude oil from certain  
oilfields in the Caspian Sea and the Nenetsky Autono-
mous District and benefited from the application of 
zero tax rate. However, in beginning of  December 2010,  
we exceeded the accumulated production limit of  
15 million tonnes at Yuzhnoye Khylchuyu oilfield eligi-
ble for the incentive. Thus, starting from December 2010,  
we pay mineral extraction tax at a regular rate at this field.

Tax rates set in rubles and translated at the average exchange rates are as follows:

20101 

Change to 
2009, % 20091

Change to 
2008, % 20081

Excise on refined products

Straight-run gasoline $/tonne 141.26 14.9 122.94 15.0 106.90

High-octane gasoline $/tonne 131.45 14.9 114.40 (21.7) 146.01

Low-octane gasoline $/tonne 96.25 14.9 83.76 (21.7) 106.90

Diesel fuel $/tonne 39.12 14.9 34.04 (21.7) 43.45

Motor oils $/tonne 106.89 14.9 93.02 (21.7) 118.73

Mineral extraction tax

Crude oil $/tonne 101.28 39.5 72.59 (45.8) 133.91

Natural gas $/1,000 m3 4.84 4.5 4.63 (21.7) 5.91

1 Average values.

The rates of taxes specific to the oil industry in Russia are linked to international crude oil prices and are changed in line 
with them. The methods to determine the rates for such taxes are presented below. 
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NATURAL GAS ExTRACTION TAx RATE. The mineral ex-
traction tax on natural gas production is calculated us-
ing a flat rate. During the period since January 1, 2006 till  
December 31, 2010, the rate of 147 rubles per thousand 
cubic meters of natural gas extracted was in effect. How-
ever, the rate was raised up to 237 rubles per thousand 
cubic meters since January 1, 2011.

CRUDE OIL ExPORT DUTY RATE is calculated on a progres-
sive scale. The rate is zero when the average Urals blend 
international market price is less than or equal to approxi-
mately $15.00 per barrel ($109.50 per metric tonne). If the 
Urals blend price is between $15.00 and $20.00 per barrel 
($146.00 per metric tonne), each $1.00 per barrel increase 
in the Urals blend price over $15.00 results in an increase 
of the crude oil export duty rate by $0.35 per barrel ex-
ported.  If the Urals blend price is between $20.00 and 
$25.00 per barrel ($182.50 per metric tonne), each $1.00 
per barrel increase in the Urals blend price over $20.00 
results in an increase of the crude oil export duty rate by 
$0.45 per barrel exported. Each $1.00 per barrel increase 
in the Urals blend price over $25.00 per barrel results in 
an increase of the crude oil export duty rate by $0.65 per 
barrel exported.

Effective from December 2008, the crude oil export duty 
rate is revised monthly on the basis of the immediately 
preceding one-month period of crude oil price monitor-
ing.

Starting from the end of 2009, zero export duty rate was 
set for crude oil produced at certain fields in Eastern  
Siberia. However, in July 2010, a zero rate for these fields 
was substituted for special reduced export duty rate.  
Effective from December 2010, the list of the oil-
fields where reduced rate applies also includes our  
Yu. Korchagin and V. Filanovsky oilfields located in the 
Caspian Sea.

ExPORT DUTY RATES ON REFINED PRODUCTS prior to 
2011 were set by the Russian government. The rate of 
export duty depended on internal demand for refined 
products and international crude oil market conditions. 
Starting from 2011, export duty rates on crude oil refined 
products are calculated as follows: export duty rate on  
refined products equals current crude oil export duty rate 
multiplied by a coefficient according to the table below.

CRUDE OIL AND REFINED PRODUCTS ExPORTED TO 
CIS COUNTRIES, other than Ukraine and Belarus, are not 
subject to export duties. 

In 2010, under the agreement between the Russian 
Federation and Belarus, crude oil exported from Russia to 
Belarus up to total amount of 6.3 million tonnes was not 
subject to export duty. Volumes of crude oil above this 
limit were taxed at a regular export duty rate.

In 2009, сrude oil exported from Russia to Belarus was 
subject to export duties calculated with the application 

of a coefficient 0.356 (0.335 in 2008) to the regular export 
duty rate set by the Russian government.

ExCISE ON REFINED PRODUCTS. The responsibility to pay 
excises on refined products in Russia is imposed on refined 
product producers (except for straight-run gasoline).  
In other countries where the Group operates, excises are 
paid either by producers or retailers depending on the 
local legislation.

Equivalent average ratios calculated for 2010 would be 0.719 for light and middle distillates, diesel fuel and gasoils and 
0.387 for liquid fuels and motor oils.

2011 2012 2013

Multiplier for:

Light distillates (gasoline), middle distillates (jet fuel), diesel fuel and gasoils 0.670 0.640 0.600

Liquid fuels (fuel oil) 0.467 0.529 0.600

Motor and other oils 0.467 0.529 0.600

Other products 0.467 0.529 0.600
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INCOME TAx. Starting from January 1, 2009, the Federal income tax rate is 2.0% and the regional income tax rate 
varies between 13.5% and 18.0%. The Group’s foreign operations are subject to taxes at the tax rates applicable to  
the jurisdictions in which they operate.

Starting from 2011, excise rates on refined products in Russia are increased and now depend on ecological class of fuel. 
Excise tax rates for 2011 are listed below:

Gasoline

Below Euro 3 RUR/tonne 5,995.00

Euro 3 RUR/tonne 5,672.00

Euro 4 and 5 RUR/tonne 5,143.00

Diesel fuel

Below Euro 3 RUR/tonne 2,753.00

Euro 3 RUR/tonne 2,485.00

Euro 4 and 5 RUR/tonne 2,247.00

Motor oils RUR/tonne 4,681.00

Straight-run gasoline RUR/tonne 6,089.00

transportation of Crude oil, gas and 
refined produCts in russia

The main Russian crude oil production regions are remote 
from the main crude oil and refined products markets. 
Therefore, access of crude oil production companies to 
the markets is dependent on the extent of diversification 
of the transport infrastructure and access to it. As a result, 
transportation cost is an important macroeconomic fac-
tor affecting our net income.

Transportation of crude oil produced in Russia to refin-
eries and export destinations is performed primarily 
through the trunk oil pipeline system of state-owned  
OAO AK Transneft (“Transneft”). Access to the Transneft 
crude oil export pipeline network is allocated quar-
terly, based on recent volumes produced and delivered 
through the pipeline and proposed export destinations. 
The crude oil transported by Transneft is Urals blend — 
a mix of crude oils of various qualities. Therefore Russian 
companies that produce crude oil of a higher quality, can-
not obtain benefits from selling it using Transneft’s pipe-
line. Alternative access to international markets bypass-
ing Transneft’s export routes can be obtained through  
railroad transport, by tankers, and by the export infra-
structure of oil producing companies. Our own export 
infrastructure includes the Vysotsk terminal in the Lenin-
grad region, the Varandey terminal in the Nenetsky Au-

tonomous District and the Svetly terminal in the Kalinin-
grad region. We use the offshore ice-resistant terminal in  
Varandey with annual capacity of 12 million tonnes to  
export crude oil produced by our joint venture with  
ConocoPhillips located in Northern Timan-Pechora. 
Through the Svetly terminal we export crude oil primarily 
produced by OOO LUKOIL-Kaliningradmorneft, our sub-
sidiary opera-ting in the Kaliningrad region, and refined 
products. Its annual capacity is 6 million tonnes. We use 
the Vysotsk terminal to export refined products. In the fu-
ture we expect to use the terminal to export both crude 
oil and refined products, depending on market condi-
tions. Currently it has a capacity of 12 million tonnes per 
year and it can be expanded up to 15 million tonnes per 
year.

Transportation of refined products in Russia is per-
formed by railway transport and the pipeline system of  
OAO AK Transnefteproduct. The Russian railway infra-
structure is owned and operated by OAO Russian Rail-
ways. Both these companies are state-owned. Besides 
transportation of refined products, OAO Russian Railways 
provides oil companies with crude oil transportation  
services. We transport the major part of our refined prod-
ucts by railway transport.

As the activities of the above mentioned companies fall 
under the scope of natural monopolies, the fundamentals 
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of their tariff policies are defined by the state authorities 
to ensure the balance of interests of the state and all par-
ticipants in the transportation process. Transportation tar-
iffs of natural monopolies are set by the Federal Service 
for Tariffs of the Russian Federation (“FST”). The tariffs are 
dependent on transport destination, delivery volume, dis-
tance of transportation, and several other factors. Chang-
es in the tariffs depend on inflation forecasts by the Min-
istry of Economic Development of the Russian Federation,  
the investment needs of owners of the transport infra-
structure, other macroeconomic factors, and compensa-
tion of economically reasonable expense, incurred by  

entities of the natural monopolies. Tariffs are revised  
by the FST at least annually.

In Russia, most of gas is sold at the wellhead and then 
transported through the Unified Gas Supply System 
(“UGSS”). The UGSS is responsible for gathering, trans-
porting, dispatching and delivering substantially all nat-
ural gas supplies in Russia and is owned and operated  
by Gazprom. The FST regulates natural gas transporta-
tion tariffs. We do not have any possibility to sell our gas  
other than through UGSS.
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year ended deceMber 31, 2010, coMpared to years ended  
deceMber 31, 2009 and deceMber 31, 2008

The table below presents our consolidated statements of income for the periods indicated. 

2010 2009 2008

(millions of US dollars)

revenues

Sales (including excise and export tariffs) 104,956 81,083 107,680

Costs and other deductions

Operating expenses (7,969) (7,124) (8,126)

Cost of purchased crude oil, gas and products (43,579) (31,977) (37,851)

Transportation expenses (5,608) (4,830) (5,460)

Selling, general and administrative expenses (3,558) (3,306) (3,860)

Depreciation, depletion and amortization (4,154) (3,937) (2,958)

Taxes other than income taxes (8,978) (6,474) (13,464)

Excise and export tariffs (18,878) (13,058) (21,340)

Exploration expense (336) (218) (487)

Loss on disposals and impairments of assets (363) (381) (425)

income from operating activities 11,533 9,778 13,709

Interest expense (712) (667) (391)

Interest and dividend income 174 134 163

Equity share in income of affiliates 472 351 375

Currency translation loss (122) (520) (918)

Other non-operating income (expense) 125 (13) (244)

income before income taxes 11,470 9,063 12,694

Current income taxes (2,104) (1,922) (4,167)

Deferred income taxes (247) (72) 700

total income tax expense (2,351) (1,994) (3,467)

net income 9,119 7,069 9,227

Less: net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (113) (58) (83)

net income attributable to oao lukoil 9,006 7,011 9,144

Basic earning per share of common stock attributable to 
OAO LUKOIL (in US dollars) 10.95 8.28 10.88 

Diluted earning per share of common stock attributable to 
OAO LUKOIL (in US dollars) 10.94 8.28 10.88 

The analysis of the main financial indicators of the financial statements is provided below.
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sales revenues

sales breakdown 2010 2009 2008

(millions of US dollars)

Crude oil

Export and sales on international markets other than CIS 25,251 18,276 22,382

Export and sales to CIS 1,091 1,638 1,625

Domestic sales 956 735 600

27,298 20,649 24,607

Refined products  

Export and sales on international markets  

Wholesale 50,340 38,023 50,553

Retail 9,678 8,865 11,989

Domestic sales  

Wholesale 5,427 3,820 8,049

Retail 5,501 4,281 5,823

70,946 54,989 76,414

Petrochemicals  

Export and sales on international markets 642 574 1,232

Domestic sales 728 514 880

1,370 1,088 2,112

Gas and gas products  

Export and sales on international markets 1,565 1,091 926

Domestic sales 786 548 985

2,351 1,639 1,911

Sales of energy and related services 1,416 1,087 654

Other

Export and sales on international markets 890 1,030 1,286

Domestic sales 685 601 696

1,575 1,631 1,982

total sales 104,956 81,083 107,680
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sales volumes 2010 2009 2008

Crude oil (thousands of barrels)

Export and sales on international markets other than CIS 326,669 305,273 242,784

Export and sales to CIS 23,280 39,106 31,629

Domestic sales 26,637 21,909 15,408

376,586 366,288 289,821

Crude oil (thousands of tonnes)

Export and sales on international markets other than CIS 44,566 41,647 33,122

Export and sales to CIS 3,176 5,335 4,315

Domestic sales 3,634 2,989 2,102

51,376 49,971 39,539

Refined products (thousands of tonnes)

Export and sales on international markets

Wholesale 80,043 76,885 67,669

Retail 7,314 7,863 8,200

Domestic sales

Wholesale 10,977 9,796 13,314

Retail 7,022 6,216 5,964

105,356 100,760 95,147

total sales volume of crude oil and refined products 156,732 150,731 134,686

realized average sales prices 2010 2009 2008

($/barrel) ($/tonne) ($/barrel) ($/tonne) ($/barrel) ($/tonne)

Average realized price international

Oil (excluding CIS) 77.30 566.60 59.87 438.84 92.19 675.76

Oil (CIS) 46.84 343.35 41.89 307.05 51.38 376.58

Refined products

Wholesale 628.91 494.55 747.06

Retail 1,323.31 1,127.44 1,462.14

Average realized price within Russia

Oil 35.90 263.18 33.56 245.97 38.97 285.66

Refined products

Wholesale 494.37 389.92 604.55

Retail 783.49 688.74 976.40

During 2010, our revenues increased by  
$23,873 million, or by 29.4%, compared to 2009 (in 2009 
decreased by $26,597 million, or by 24.7%, compared 
to 2008). Our revenues from crude oil sales increased 
by $6,649 million, or by 32.2% (in 2009 decreased by  
$3,958 million, or by 16.1%, compared to 2008). Our 
revenues from sales of refined products increased by  

$15,957 million, or by 29.0% (in 2009 decreased by  
$21,425 million, or by 28.0%, compared to 2008). In 2010, 
the increase in sales revenue was due to sharp increase 
in hydrocarbon prices, compared to 2009. Moreover, the  
appreciation of the ruble against the US dollar also  
seriously  affected our average realized prices in Russia.
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Sales of crude oil

2010 VS. 2009

Our total crude oil sales revenues increased by  
$6,649 million, or by 32.2%, mainly due to growth of crude 
oil prices. 

Cease in crude oil refining at third party refineries in Rus-
sia and Belarus released crude oil volumes for marketing. 
As a result, our crude oil sales raised by 2.8% in terms of 
volumes. 

In 2010, revenue from export of crude oil from Russia both 
to the Group companies and third parties amounted to 
$22,178 million.

2009 VS. 2008

Our total crude oil sales revenues decreased by 16.1%.  
We sold crude oil to third parties mostly outside Rus-
sia and the CIS. The international sales revenue, which  
accounted for approximately 88.5% of our total crude oil 
sales revenue in 2009 and 91.0% in 2008, decreased by 
18.3% due to a decrease in sales prices by 35.1%. At the 
same time, the volume of international crude oil sales in-
creased by 25.7% due to increased crude oil trading and 
export from Russia.

In 2009, we increased the volume of domestic sales to 
benefit from current market conditions.

In 2009, revenue from export of crude oil from Russia both 
to the Group companies and third parties amounted to 
$17,485 million.

Sales of refined products

2010 VS. 2009

In 2010, our revenue from the wholesale of refined prod-
ucts outside of Russia increased by $12,317 million, or by 
32.4%, due to increased average realized price by 27.2%. 
The decrease in output at our refineries in Bulgaria due 
to overhaul and in Ukraine due to refinery stand-by and 
termination of processing activities in Russia were almost 
fully compensated by commencement of crude oil refin-
ing at TRN in September 2009. At the same time, expan-
sion of trading activities led to an increase in wholesales 
volumes by 4.1%.

In 2010, our revenue from international retail sales  
increased by $813 million, or by 9.2%. Positive effect 

from the increase of average retail prices by 17.4% was  
partially offset by 7.0% sales volumes decrease, that reflects  
restructuring of our retail network in the USA.

In 2010, our revenue from the wholesale of re-
fined products on the domestic market increased  
by $1,607 million, or by 42.1%, mainly due to an increase 
in the average realized price by 26.8%. Sales volumes in-
creased by 1,181 thousand tonnes, or by 12.1%. This was 
primarily due to a decrease in refined products export to 
Belarus.
 
In 2010, our revenue from retail sales in Russia increased 
by $1,220 million, or by 28.5%, due to an increase both  
in volumes, being a result of higher average daily sales  
per petrol station, and in prices. In 2010, our retail sales 
revenue was 50.3% of total refined products sales in  
Russia (in 2009 — 52.8%).

In 2010, our revenue from export of refined products 
from Russia both to Group companies and third parties 
amounted to $14,088 million.

2009 VS. 2008

In 2009, our revenue from the wholesale of refined  
products outside of Russia decreased by $12,530 million, 
or by 24.8%, due to decreased average realized price by 
33.8%. At the same time, commencement of crude oil  
refining at ISAB and TRN and expansion of trading activi-
ties led to an increase in volumes sold by 13.6%.

In 2009, our revenue from international retail sales de-
creased by $3,124 million, or by 26.1%, mainly due to a 
decrease in average retail prices by 22.9%. Sales volumes 
also decreased following the negative economic situation. 

In 2009, our revenue from the wholesale of refined 
products on the domestic market decreased by  
$4,229 million, or by 52.5%, compared to the previous 
year, due to a decrease in the average realized price by 
35.5%, and a decrease in volumes sold by 3,518 thousand 
tonnes, or by 26.4%. The decrease in volume sold was a 
result of decreased domestic purchases and increased re-
fined product exports from Russia by 7.7%.

In 2009, our revenue from retail sales in Russia decreased 
by $1,542 million, or by 26.5%, due to a decrease in prices. 
In 2009, our retail sales revenue was 52.8% of total refined 
products sales in Russia (in 2008 — 42.0%).

In 2009, our revenue from export of refined products 
from Russia both to Group companies and third parties 
amounted to $11,414 million.
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Sales of petrochemical products

2010 VS. 2009

In 2010, our revenue from sales of petrochemical products 
increased by $282 million, or by 25.9%. Outside of Russia, 
decrease in sales volumes due to decreased refining and 
trading was compensated by price growth. At the same 
time, in the fourth quarter of 2010, we commenced pro-
duction at our petrochemical plant Karpatnaftochim Ltd.  
in Ukraine after modernization and construction of a chlo-
rine and caustic production line. The growth of domestic 
sales revenue was largely a result of increase in realized 
prices and the effect of the real ruble appreciation against 
the US dollar.

2009 VS. 2008

In 2009, our revenue from sales of petrochemical products 
decreased by $1,024 million, or by 48.5%. This resulted 
from a decrease in prices by 35.8% and a decrease in sales 
volumes by 19.7%. The decrease in volumes resulted from 
general overhauls at our Russian plants and a temporary 
shutdown of our petrochemical plant Karpatnaftochim 
Ltd. in Ukraine, which was stopped for modernization and 
construction of a chlorine and caustic production line in 
May 2008. Besides, the overall negative situation on the 
world petrochemical markets led to a decrease in sales 
volumes.

Sales of gas and gas products

2010 VS. 2009

In 2010, sales of gas and gas refined products increased 
by $712 million, or by 43.4%. Gas products sales reve-
nue increased by $424 million, or by 40.8%, primarily as 
a result of an increase in sales prices. Retail gas product 
revenue increased up to $506 million, or by 22.2%, due 
to price growth. Retail revenue represented 37.8% and 
44.0% of our total gas product revenue in 2010 and 2009, 
respectively.

Natural gas sales revenue amounted to $835 million — an 
increase of 46.2%, compared to 2009. Our domestic natu-
ral gas sales revenue significantly increased as a result of 
increased sales to Gazprom, the major purchaser of our 
natural gas produced in the Russian Federation. 

In 2010, we sold 8,146 million cubic meters of natural 
gas to Gazprom (5,936 million cubic meters in 2009).  
The average realized price increased by 4.5% to $34.9 per  
1,000 cubic meters as a result of the ruble appreciation.

In 2010, natural gas sales revenue outside of Russia in-
creased by $174 million mostly as a result of a revision of 
sale prices related to the Shakh-Deniz field for 2008-2010 
which led to additional revenue of $101 million, recog-
nized in the third quarter of 2010. 

2009 VS. 2008

In 2009, sales of gas and gas refined products decreased 
by $272 million, or by 14.2%. Gas products sales revenue 
decreased by $158 million, or by 13.2%, primarily as a 
result of decrease in prices. Natural gas sales revenue 
amounted to $571 million — a decrease of 17.2%, com-
pared to 2008. Decrease in domestic sales volumes and 
selling prices were partly compensated by an increase in 
realized selling price in Uzbekistan.

In 2009, we sold 5,936 million cubic meters of natural 
gas to Gazprom (7,856 million cubic meters in 2008). The  
average realized price decreased by 21.6% to $33.4 per 
1,000 cubic meters as a result of the ruble devaluation.

Sales of energy and related services

We have been developing our power generation business 
since the acquisition of TGK-8 in May 2008. Substantially 
we sell energy and related services domestically. Interna-
tional sales are relatively insignificant.

2010 VS. 2009

In 2010, our revenue from sales of electricity, heat and  
related services increased by $329 million, or by 30.3%, 
as we continued to develop the new power generation  
segment as part of our strategic development program. 
The ruble appreciation also contributed to the increase of 
this revenue. 

2009 VS. 2008

In 2009, our revenue from sales of electricity, heat and  
related services increased by $433 million, or by 66.2%. 
Our power generation and distribution business emerged 
in May 2008 and substantially expanded in 2009 that was 
reflected in sales growth.

Sales of other products

Other sales include transportation services, non-petro-
leum sales through our retail network, crude oil extrac-
tion services, rental revenue, and other revenue of our  
production and marketing companies from sales of goods 
and services not related to our primary activities.
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2010 VS. 2009

In 2010, our other sales decreased by $56 million, or  
by 3.4%. A decrease of transportation services provid-
ed abroad was partially compensated by higher non-
petroleum retail revenue. During 2010, sales of goods  
and other products from our retail stations amounted  
to $606 million, an increase of $38 million compared  
to 2009.

2009 VS. 2008

In 2009, our other sales decreased by $351 million, or by 
17.7%. Other sales in Russia were affected by devaluation 
of the ruble. Outside of Russia we had a decrease of trans-

portation services provided and volumes of non-petrole-
um sales from our retail stations.

During 2009, sales of goods and other products from our 
retail stations amounted to $568 million, a decrease of  
$45 million from the level of 2008. This was mainly be-
cause of an overall decrease of such sales outside of Russia 
as a result of the adverse macroeconomic environment.

operating expenses

Operating expenses include the following:

2010 2009 2008

(millions of US dollars)

Hydrocarbon extraction expenses 3,241 2,787 3,208

Own refining expenses 1,088 923 1,115

Refining expenses at third parties and affiliated refineries 724 713 439

Expenses for crude oil transportation to refineries 1,048 955 1,072

Power generation and distribution expenses 654 450 260

Petrochemical expenses 221 127 235

Other operating expenses 1,322 1,385 1,547

8,298 7,340 7,876

Change in operating expenses in crude oil and refined products 
inventory originated within the Group1

                      
(329) (216) 250

total operating expenses 7,969 7,124 8,126

1 The change in operating expenses in crude oil and refined products inventory originating within the Group includes extraction 
and refining expenses related to crude oil and refined products produced by the Group during the reporting period, but not sold to 
third party.

Compared to 2009, operating expenses increased by $845 million, or by 11.9%, which is mainly explained by general 
increase in operating expenses in Russia due to the real ruble appreciation against the US dollar by 11.6%, increase in 
hydrocarbon extraction expenses, refining expenses and power generation and distribution expenses.
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Hydrocarbon extraction expenses

Our extraction expenses include expenditures related to 
repairs of extraction equipment, labor costs, expenses on 
enhancing reservoir recovery, fuel and electricity costs, 
property insurance of extraction equipment and other 
similar costs. 

2010 VS. 2009

In 2010, our extraction expenses increased by  
$454 million, or by 16.3%. This was due to increase in ex-
penses for power supply, general increase in expenses 
and the effect of the real ruble appreciation against the 
US dollar. Our average hydrocarbon extraction cost in-
creased from $3.56 to $4.12 per BOE, or by 15.7%, com-
pared to 2009.

2009 VS. 2008

In 2009, our extraction expenses decreased by  
$421 million, or by 13.1%, despite increased crude oil pro-
duction by 2.5% and an increase in expenses for power 
supply. The decrease was mainly a result of the effect of 
the real ruble devaluation against the US dollar. Our aver-
age hydrocarbon extraction cost decreased from $4.12 to 
$3.56 per BOE, or by 13.6%, compared to 2008.

Own refining expenses 

2010 VS. 2009

In 2010, our refining expenses increased by $165 million, 
or by 17.9%.

Refining expenses at our domestic refineries increased by 
20.1%, or by $135 million, mainly as a result of the real ru-
ble appreciation against the US dollar, increase in power 
supply costs and higher consumption of additives.

Refining expenses at our international refineries increased 
by 11.9%, or by $30 million, mainly as a result of increased 
power supply costs. 

2009 VS. 2008

In 2009, our refining expenses decreased by $192 million, 
or by 17.2%.

Refining expenses at our domestic refineries decreased by 
14.2%, or by $111 million, mainly as a result of the devalu-
ation of the ruble against the US dollar and cost cutting 
program implemented since the fourth quarter of 2008. 
This was despite an increase in power supply and over-
haul costs.

Refining expenses at our international refineries de-
creased by 24.3%, or by $81 million. This resulted mainly 
from a decrease in the cost of power supply at our refinery 
in Bulgaria. In 2009, we produced energy from our own 
resources, while, in 2008, we purchased gas for this pur-
pose from third party. Besides, decreased production and 
changes of the exchange rates of local currencies to the 
US dollar additionally decreased our refining expenses 
abroad.

Refining expenses at third party 
and affiliated refineries

Along with our own production of refined products we 
refine crude oil at third party and affiliated refineries both 
in Russia and abroad. 

2010 VS. 2009

As opposed to 2009, we did not process crude oil on third 
party refineries during 2010 in Russia and Belarus. Never-
theless, the commencement of crude oil refining at TRN in 
late September 2009 almost fully compensated for that. 
As a result, the overall decrease of throughput at third 
party and affiliated refineries was 2.8%, compared to 2009 
(including refined products processed). At the same time, 
in 2010, refining expenses at third party and affiliated re-
fineries increased by 1.5%, compared to 2009, because 
processing cost at our refineries in Western Europe is 
higher than at the refineries in Russia or Belarus. Starting 
from the third quarter of 2010, we also refined crude oil on 
a third party refinery in Kazakhstan.

2009 VS. 2008

Due to commencement of crude oil refining at ISAB and 
TRN we doubled the processing volumes compared to 
2008. However, this was partially compensated by a de-
crease of processing costs and decreased volumes in  
Russia and Belarus. Thus, in 2009 refining expenses at 
third party and affiliated refineries increased by 62.4%, 
compared to 2008.

Petrochemical operating expenses

2010 VS. 2009

In 2010, operating expenses of our petrochemical plants 
increased by $94 million, or by 74.0%. Expenses in  
Russia were impacted by increased production, increa-
sed cost of raw materials and ruble appreciation to the 
US dollar. Despite petrochemical capacity downtime in 
Bulgaria and Ukraine in 2010, the decrease of our inter-
national petrochemical operating expenses compared to 
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2009 was insignificant due to sizeable share of fixed costs.  
In the fourth quarter of 2010, we commenced produc-
tion at our petrochemical plant Karpatnaftochim Ltd.  
in Ukraine after modernization and construction of a chlo-
rine and caustic production line.

2009 VS. 2008

In 2009, operating expenses of our petrochemical com-
panies decreased by $108 million, or by 46.0%, due to a 
general decrease of production volumes. In May 2008, we 
stopped our Ukrainian petrochemical plant Karpatnafto-
chim Ltd. for modernization and construction of a chlo-
rine and caustic production line. 

Expenses for crude oil transportation to refineries

Ехреnses for crude oil transportation to refineries  
include pipeline, railway, freight and other costs related to 
delivery of Group’s own crude oil to refineries for further 
processing.

2010 VS. 2009

Expenses for crude oil transportation to refineries in-
creased in 2010 by $93 million, or by 9.7%, due to an 
increase in transportation tariffs and as a result of a real 
ruble appreciation in Russia (see Transportation expens-
es below). Moreover, in 2010, we dramatically increased  
volumes of own crude oil supplies to TRN. 

2009 VS. 2008

Expenses for crude oil transportation to refineries  
decreased in 2009 by $117 million, or by 10.9%, due to 
a decrease in transportation tariffs as a result of a real 
ruble devaluation in Russia (see Transportation expens-
es below), and change in crude oil supply structure —  
an increase in the proportion of crude oil we purchased 
from third parties. The price of purchased crude oil typical-
ly includes transportation costs, and the crude oil is pur-
chased from a source geographically closer to the destina- 
tion refinery than crude oil from our own production.

Power generation and distribution expenses

2010 VS. 2009

Power generation and distribution expenses increased 
by $204 million, or by 45.3%, following expansion of our 
power generating business and as a result of the real ruble 
appreciation in Russia.

2009 VS. 2008

Power generation and distribution expenses increased 
by $190 million, or by 73.1%. Our power generation and 
distribution business emerged in May 2008 and substan-
tially expanded in 2009 that was reflected in operating 
expenses growth. 

Other operating expenses 

Other operating expenses include expenses of the Group’s 
upstream and downstream enterprises that do not relate 
to their core activities, namely sales of transportation 
services, crude oil extraction services, operating expenses 
of our gas processing plants, costs of other services pro-
vided and goods sold by our production and marketing 
companies, and of non-core businesses of the Group. 

2010 VS. 2009

In 2010, our other operating expenses decreased by  
$63 million, or by 4.5%, mainly due to decrease of volume 
of transportation services provided abroad.

2009 VS. 2008

In 2009, our other operating expenses decreased by  
$162 million, or by 10.5%. In 2008, other operating ex-
penses included $116 million of excise included in 
processing fee paid to third parties refineries, compared to  
$54 million in 2009. Besides, other operating expenses in 
Russia were affected by the ruble devaluation. Outside of 
Russia, operating expenses were lower than in 2008 due 
to a decrease of transportation services provided.

 
Cost of purChased Crude oil, gas and 
produCts

Cost of purchased crude oil, gas and products includes 
cost of crude oil and refined products purchased for trad-
ing or refining, gas and fuel oil to supply our power gen-
eration entities and the result of hedging of international 
crude oil and refined products sales.

2010 VS. 2009

In 2010, cost of purchased crude oil, gas and products in-
creased by $11,602 million, or by 36.3%, due to an increase 
in crude oil and refined products prices and increase in 
volumes of refined products purchases.

In 2010, we recognized a $232 million expense from hedg-
ing, compared to a $781 million expense in 2009. 
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2009 VS. 2008

Cost of purchased crude oil, gas and products decreased 
by $5,874 million in 2009, or by 15.5%, due to a decrease 
in international crude oil and refined products prices. The 
effect of decreased prices was partly compensated by an 
increase in purchases due to scaling up trading operations 
outside of Russia, especially in the fourth quarter of 2009.

In 2009, we recognized a $781 million expense from  
hedging, compared to a $902 million gain in 2008. 

transportation expenses

2010 VS. 2009

In 2010, our transportation expenses increased by  
$778 million, or by 16.1%. This was primarily due to in-
crease of ruble denominated pipeline and railway trans-
portation tariffs in Russia, which was emphasized by the 
ruble appreciation.

Our actual transportation expenses related to crude oil 
and refined products deliveries to various export desti-
nations, weighted by volumes transported, changed in 
2010, compared to 2009, as follows: crude oil pipeline tar-
iffs increased by 23.3%, railway tariffs for refined products 
transportation increased by 21.1%, crude oil freight rates 
decreased by 7.8%, and refined products freight rates  
increased by 23.8%.

2009 VS. 2008

In 2009, our transportation expenses decreased by  
$630 million, or by 11.5%. This was primarily due to  
a decrease in freight rates and railway transportation tar-
iffs in Russia. It should be noted that ruble denominated 
transportation tariffs in Russia increased in 2009, but this 
increase was offset by the ruble devaluation.

Our actual transportation expenses related to crude oil 
and refined products deliveries to various export desti-
nations, weighted by volumes transported, changed in 
2009, compared to the previous year, as follows: crude 
oil pipeline tariffs increased by 8.9%, railway tariffs for re-
fined products transportation decreased by 10.9%, crude 
oil and refined products freight rates decreased by 42.3% 
and 50.1%, respectively.

selling, general and administrative 
expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses include gen-
eral business expenses, payroll costs (excluding extraction 

entities’ and refineries’ production staff costs), insurance 
costs (except for property insurance related to extraction 
and refinery equipment), costs of maintenance of social 
infrastructure, movement in bad debt provision and other 
expenses.

2010 VS. 2009

In 2010, our selling, general and administrative expenses 
increased by $252 million, or by 7.6%, substantially due 
to the effect of ruble appreciation on selling, general and 
administrative expenses in Russia and salaries indexation. 

2009 VS. 2008

In 2009, our selling, general and administrative expenses 
decreased by $554 million, or by 14.4%. The decrease was 
primarily due to the devaluation of the ruble. Neverthe-
less, this was partially offset by movements in provision 
for bad debts and the effect of changes in the Group’s 
structure.

depreCiation, depletion  
and amortization

Depreciation, depletion and amortization expenses in-
clude depletion of assets fundamental to production, de-
preciation of other productive and non-productive assets 
and certain intangible assets.

2010 VS. 2009

Our depreciation, depletion and amortization expenses 
increased by $217 million, or by 5.5%. 

2009 VS. 2008

Our depreciation, depletion and amortization expenses 
increased by $979 million, or by 33.1%. The increase was a 
result of the Company’s capital expenditures and the cor-
responding increase in depreciable assets, in particular 
due to putting in production the Yuzhnoye Khylchuyu oil 
field. 

exploration expenses

2010 VS. 2009

During 2010, exploration expense increased by  
$118 million, or 54.1%. Dry hole costs increased by  
$108 million to $225 million.

In 2010, we charged to expense cost of dry wells in Co-
lumbia and Cote d’Ivoire in amount of $112 million and 
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$68 million, respectively. Dry hole write-off in Russia 
amounted to $42 million in 2010.

2009 VS. 2008

During 2009, exploration expense decreased by  
$269 million, or by 55.2%. Dry hole costs decreased by 
$200 million to $117 million.

In 2009, we charged to expense the cost of a dry well 
in Saudi Arabia totaling $56 million. Also, we expensed 
dry hole costs related to our project in Azerbaijan in the 
amount of $9 million. 

In 2009, we charged to expense $30 million as idle costs 
related to first phase of drilling an exploratory well in Gha-
na.

Dry hole costs in Russia amounted to $22 million, prima-
rily relating to Western Siberia.

interest expense

2010 VS. 2009

In 2010, interest expense increased by $45 million, which 
is 6.7% more than in the previous year. This increase main-
ly relates to discounting of the VAT recoverable of our 
refinery in Ukraine as a result of the restructuring of this 
receivable.

2009 VS. 2008

In 2009, interest expense amounted to $667 million, or 
70.6% more than in 2008. This was a result of the termina-
tion of interest capitalization related to assets in Timan- 
Pechora after completion of their construction and a 
general increase in our indebtedness and cost of borrow-
ings due to unfavorable situation on capital markets (see  
Liquidity and capital resources — Financing activities).

equity share in inCome of affiliates

The Group has investments in equity method affiliates 
and corporate joint ventures. These companies are prima-
rily engaged in crude oil exploration, production, market-
ing and distribution operations in the Russian Federation, 
crude oil production and marketing in Kazakhstan and  
refining operations in Europe. Our largest affiliates are  
Turgai Petroleum, an exploration and production compa-
ny operating in Kazakhstan, and ISAB and TRN refineries.

2010 VS. 2009

At the end of 2009, we increased our share in LUKARCO 
from 54% to 100%, thus increasing our stake in Teng-
izchevroil, an exploration and production joint-venture  
in Kazakhstan, to 5%. Largely as a result of this, our share 
in income of affiliates increased by $121 million, or by 
34.5%. 

2009 VS. 2008

Compared to 2008, our share in income of affiliates  
decreased by $24 million, or by 6.4%.

other non-operating inCome

In 2010, other non-operating income included  
a $438 million gain related to successful settlement of a 
corporate dispute between a Group company and a CNPC 
group company regarding Turgai Petroleum, our joint 
venture in Kazakhstan, and a $96 million expense related 
to provisions accrued in respect of claims to the Group 
companies by Federal Anti-monopoly Service of the  
Russian Federation (FAS of Russia). 

As a result, other non-operating income in 2010 amount-
ed to $125 million, compared to a $13 million loss in  
2009 and a $244 million loss in 2008.
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2010 VS. 2009

In 2010, taxes other than income taxes increased by  
$2,504 million, or 38.7%, mainly due to an increase in 
mineral extraction taxes in Russia. This is explained by an 
increase in the tax rate following the increase of interna-
tional crude oil prices. 

Application of zero tax rate for crude oil produced in Ti-
man-Pechora and decreased rate for depleted oilfields led 
to approximately $1,313 million tax reduction (in 2009 — 
about $961 million). The major oilfield where we benefited 
from zero extraction tax rate was the Yuzhnoye Khylchuyu 
field. In early December 2010, accumulated volume of 
production from the Yuzhnoye Khylchuyu field exceeded 
the incentive level of 15 million tonnes and since that mo-
ment we have been paying extraction tax in full.

2009 VS. 2008

In 2009, taxes other than income taxes decreased by 
51.9%, or by $6,990 million, mainly due to a decrease in 
mineral extraction taxes in Russia. This is explained by a 
decrease in the tax rate resulting from the low level of 
crude oil prices. Moreover, the change in the tax rate calcu-
lation effective from January 1, 2009 led to approximately  
$754 million decrease in the extraction taxes. Effect from 
the application of the zero tax rate for crude oil produced 
mainly in Timan-Pechora and decreased rate for depleted 
oilfields led to approximately $961 million tax reduction.

 taxes other than inCome taxes

2010 2009 2008

(millions of US dollars)

in russia

Mineral extraction taxes 7,795 5,399 12,267

Social security taxes and contributions 327 330 435

Property tax 479 438 374

Other taxes 93 92 180

total in russia 8,694 6,259 13,256

international

Mineral extraction taxes 69 53 –

Social security taxes and contributions 102 69 77

Property tax 39 32 31

Other taxes 74 61 100

total internationally 284 215 208

total 8,978 6,474 13,464
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exCise and export tariffs

Our excise and export tariffs include taxes on sales of refined products and export tariffs on the export of crude oil and 
refined products.

2010 2009 2008

(millions of US dollars)

in russia

Excise tax and sales taxes on refined products 951 763 956

Crude oil еxport tariffs 10,513 6,251 11,911

Refined products еxport tariffs 3,574 2,306 4,119

total in russia 15,038 9,320 16,986

international

Excise tax and sales taxes on refined products 3,700 3,524 3,984

Crude oil еxport tariffs 136 107 143

Refined products еxport tariffs 4 107 227

total internationally 3,840 3,738 4,354

total 18,878 13,058 21,340

2010 VS. 2009

In spite of a decrease in crude oil and refined products ex-
port volumes, export tariffs increased by $5,456 million, or 
by 62.2%, due to an increase in tariff rates in Russia as a re-
sult of international crude oil prices growth. The increase 
in excises in Russia resulted from the ruble appreciation, 
increase of excise rate and increase in sales volumes. 

Starting from the end of 2009, for crude oil produced at 
certain fields in Eastern Siberia a reduced export duty rate 
was set. Starting from December, 2010 the Group applies 
reduced export duty rate for the crude oil produced from 
the Yu. Korchagin field in the Caspian Sea, however due to 
relatively small amount of crude oil export from that field 
the effect of this incentive on our 2010 financial results 
was insignificant.

2009 VS. 2008

In spite of an increase in crude oil and refined products ex-
port volumes, export tariffs decreased by $7,629 million, 
or by 46.5%, due to the decrease in tariff rates in Russia 
because of the crude oil prices decline. The decrease in ex-
cises in Russia was due to the ruble devaluation. Despite 
the fact that the changes in the Group structure contrib-
uted $101 million to the excise increase, our international 
excises decreased by $460 million, or by 11.5%, compared 
to 2008. Such a fall was a result of a decrease in sales vol-

umes of refined products subject to excise taxes and de-
crease in excise rates, caused mainly by the changes of the 
exchange rates of local currencies to the US dollar.

loss on disposals and impairments 
of assets

2010 VS. 2009

In 2010, loss on disposals and impairments of assets 
amounted to $363 million, compared to $381 million in 
2009. 

As a result of an impairment test performed in December 
2010, we recognized an impairment loss of $163 million 
for certain upstream properties in the Timan-Pechora, 
Western Siberia and Central European regions of Rus-
sia; and an impairment loss of $29 million related to cer-
tain our European downstream assets. We also wrote off 
goodwill related to our Turkish downstream subsidiary in 
amount of $114 million due to a change in market condi-
tions partly caused by legislative changes.

2009 VS. 2008

In 2009, loss on disposals and impairments of assets 
amounted to $381 million, compared to $425 million in 
2008. 
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In 2009, the Company recognized an impairment loss 
of $238 million for certain properties in the Timan-
Pechora and Central European regions of Russia. The 
Group also recognized an impairment loss in amount of  
$63 million related to our project in Iran due to incapabil-
ity of undertaking further works because of the threat of 
economic sanctions of the US Government. Besides, we 
charged to expense $33 million related to realization of 
Atashsky project in Kazakhstan. 

inCome taxes

2010 VS. 2009

In 2010, our total income tax expense increased by  
$357 million, or by 17.9%. Income before income tax in-
creased by $2,407 million, or by 26.6%. 

In 2010, our effective income tax rate was 20.5%, com-
pared to 22.0% in 2009, while the maximum statutory rate 
for the Russian Federation is 20%.

2009 VS. 2008

In 2009, our total income tax expense decreased by  
$1,473 million, or by 42.5%, due to the decrease in income 
before income tax by $3,631 million, or by 28.6%. 

In 2009, our effective income tax rate was 22.0%,  
compared to 27.3% in 2008, which is higher than the 
maximum statutory rate for the Russian Federation  
(20% in 2009 and 24% in 2008). 

reConCiliation of net inCome to eBitda (earnings Before interest, inCome taxes, 
depreCiation and amortization)

2010 2009 2008

(millions of US dollars)

net income 9,006 7,011 9,144

Add back:

Income tax expense 2,351 1,994 3,467

Depreciation and amortization 4,154 3,937 2,958

Interest expense 712 667 391

Interest and dividend income (174) (134) (163)

eBitda 16,049 13,475 15,797

EBITDA is a non-US GAAP financial measure. EBITDA is de-
fined as net income before interest, taxes and deprecia-
tion and amortization. The Company believes that EBITDA 
provides useful information to investors because it is an 
indicator of the strength and performance of our busi-
ness operations, including our ability to finance capital 
expenditures, acquisitions and other investments and our 
ability to incur and service debt. While depreciation and 
amortization are considered as operating costs under US 
GAAP, these expenses primarily represent the non-cash 
current period allocation of costs associated with long-

lived assets acquired or constructed in prior periods. The 
EBITDA calculation is commonly used as a basis for some 
investors, analysts and credit rating agencies to evaluate 
and compare the periodic and future operating perform-
ance and value of companies within the oil and gas indus-
try. EBITDA should not be considered in isolation as an  
alternative to net income, operating income or any other 
measure of performance under US GAAP. EBITDA does not 
include our need to replace our capital equipment over 
time.
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2010 2009 2008

(millions of US dollars)

Net cash provided by operating activities 13,541 8,883 14,312

Net cash used in investing activities (7,296) (8,551) (13,559)

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (6,146) (285) 763

operating aCtivities

Our primary source of cash flow is funds generated from 
our operations. During 2010, cash generated by oper-
ating activities amounted to $13,541 million, which is 
52.4% more than in 2009, mainly due to an increase 
in net revenue. On the other hand, our operating cash 
flows were affected by an increase in working capital by  
$826 million, compared to January 1, 2010. But this in-
crease was relatively small, compared to 2009, when our 
working capital increased by $2,483 million.

The increase of working capital was mainly caused by:

• a $813 million net increase in inventory

• a $783 million net increase in trade accounts receiv-
able and payable

• a $134 million net increase in other assets  
and liabilities

At the same time, the negative effect from the above 
mentioned factors was partly offset by an $830 million net 
decrease in VAT accounts receivable and a $74 million net 
decrease in other taxes accounts receivable and payable.

investing aCtivities

The decrease in cash used in investing activities re-
sulted from a decrease in payments for acquisitions by  
$1,541 million. Our capital expenditures, including non-
cash transactions, increased by $310 million, or 4.7%, 
compared to the previous year.

In 2010, we paid $800 million as a second install-
ment within the acquisition of LUKARCO and invested  

$122 million in common stock of National oil consortium, 
a joint venture of five major Russian oil companies in-
volved into exploration activities in Venezuela.

In 2009, we paid the remaining amount of  
$1,066 million for the acquisition of a 49% stake in the 
ISAB refinery complex, approximately $600 million within 
the acquisition of 45% interest in the TRN refinery, and 
settled a $150 million liability within the acquisition of  
Akpet. Other acquisitions refer to advances for down-
stream assets in Russia.

finanCing aCtivities

In 2010, net movements of short-term and long-term 
debt generated an inflow of $35 million, compared to an 
inflow of $1,489 million in 2009.

In December 2010, we completed the issuance of  
$1.5 billion 2.625% senior unsecured convertible bonds 
due June 2015. The bonds are convertible into LUKOIL 
ADRs listed on the London Stock Exchange each repre-
senting one ordinary share of LUKOIL. The bonds were 
issued by a Group company at 100% of their principal 
amount with the conversion price set at $73.7087 per  
LUKOIL ADR. Bondholders will be able to convert their 
bonds into LUKOIL ADRs at any point from 40 days after 
the issue date to the sixth dealing day prior to the final 
maturity date. We will have the right to redeem the bonds 
at any time after December 31, 2013.

In November 2010, we completed the issuance of a dual-
tranche offering of 6.125% notes due 2020 in aggregate 
principal amount of $1.0 billion. The notes were issued in 
two tranches at the same time and form part of the same 
series. $800 million of the notes were issued at a price of 
99.081% of their face value, resulting in a yield to maturity 

liquidity and capital resources
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of 6.25%, and $200 million of the notes were issued at a 
price of 102.44% of their face value, resulting in a yield to 
maturity of 5.80%.

As a part of Company’s shares purchase option from 
a subsidiary of ConocoPhillips, in September 2010, a 
Group company purchased a series of equity-linked notes 
exchangeable for 17,500,000 LUKOIL ADRs issued by 
UniCredit Bank AG for approximately $980 million.

In August 2010, we raised a $1.5 billion loan facility from 
a group of banks due in one year. The facility was partially 
prepaid in November 2010 in amount of $1.0 billion.

In August 2010, we purchased approximately 7.599% 
of our shares at $53.25 per share for approximately  
$3.44 billion from a subsidiary of ConocoPhillips. 

In June 2009, we completed offering of three series 
of stock exchange bonds on MICEx, altogether worth  
15 billion rubles. Coupon rate for each of the issues was 
set at 13.5%. The bonds had maturity period of 364 days 
and were repaid in June 2010. 

In February 2009, we received short-term loans of  
$500 million and 17 billion rubles from Sberbank to fi-
nance our working capital. Also, in the first quarter of 
2009, we received a long-term loan of €1,000 million from 
Gazprombank. All these loans were repaid in 2009.

Credit rating

In November 2010, Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services af-
firmed its long-term corporate credit rating and all debt 
ratings on the Company at BBB- with stable outlook.

In October 2010, Moody’s affirmed the Company’s long-
term corporate family rating and long-term issuer rating 
of Baa2 with stable outlook.

In February 2011, Fitch Ratings affirmed the Company’s 
long-term issuer default rating of BBB- with stable outlook 
and short-term issuer default rating of F3.

Our credit ratings have not changed since then.
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analysis of Capital expenditures

2010 2009 2008

(millions of US dollars)

Capital expenditures1

Exploration and production

Russia 3,936 3,916 6 813

International 997 771 1,076

Total exploration and production 4,933 4,687 7,889

Refining, marketing and distribution 

Russia 945 808 1,346

International 375 508 721

Total refining, marketing and distribution 1,320 1,316 2,067

Chemicals

Russia 27 13 23

International 49 100 98

Total chemicals 76 113 121

Power generation and distribution 420 283 364

Other 95 135 148

total capital expenditures 6,844 6,534 10,589

acquisitions of subsidiaries 2

Exploration and production

Russia – – 4

International 922 300 357

Total exploration and production 922 300 361

Refining, marketing and distribution 

Russia 7 212 636

International 3 2,0693 1,397

Total refining, marketing and distribution 10 2,281 2,033

Power generation and distribution – 10 3,1914

Other – 1 3

Less cash acquired – (19) (190)

total acquisitions 932 2,573 5,398

1 Including non-cash transactions and prepayments.
2 Including prepayments related to acquisitions of subsidiaries and non-cash transactions.
3 Including $100 million of non-cash part of consideration for acquisition of TRN.
4 Including $1,969 million of non-cash part of consideration for acquisition of TGK-8.
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During 2010, our capital expenditures, including non-
cash transactions, increased by $310 million, or 4.7%, 
compared to the previous year. Our capital expenditures in 
exploration and production increased by $246 million, or 
by 5.2%. Our capital expenditures in Iraq in 2010 included 
payment of $112 million non-recoverable signature 
bonus for entering West Qurnah-2 project. In April 2010, 
we started commercial production on the Yu. Korchagin 

field in the Caspian Sea. Maximum annual production 
from this field is expected to be 2.5 million tonnes of oil 
and gas condensate, and 1.0 billion cubic meters of gas.

Capital expenses of our power generation and distribution 
entities related to fulfillment of their investment program. 

The table below shows our exploration and production capital expenditures in promising new production regions.

2010 2009 2008

(millions of US dollars)

Northern Timan-Pechora 285 385 1,878

Yamal 162 131 161

Caspian region1 370 532 420

Ghana 87 73 34

Cote d’Ivoire 92 31 11

Iraq 172 – –

total 1,168 1,152 2,504

1 Russian and international projects.

Capital Commitments  
and ContraCtual oBligations

Under the terms of existing exploration and production li-
cense agreements in Russia the Group has to fulfill certain 
operations: oil and gas exploration, wells drilling, fields 
development, etc., and the Group also has commitments 
to reach a defined level of extraction on the fields. Man-
agement believes that the Group’s approved annual capi-
tal expenditure budgets fully cover all the requirements of 
the described license obligations.

Group companies have commitments for capital expendi-
ture contributions in the amount of $720 million related 
to various production sharing agreements over the next 
27 years.

The Company has signed a three-year agreement for the 
years 2010–2012 for drilling services with OOO Eurasia 
Drilling Company. The volume of these services is based 
on the Group’s capital construction program, which is  

re-evaluated on an annual basis. The Group estimates the 
amount of capital commitment under this agreement for 
2011 to be approximately $1,139 million.

The Company has signed a strategic agreement for the 
ongoing provision of construction, engineering and 
technical services with ZAO Globalstroy-Engineering.  
The volume of these services is based on the Group’s 
capital construction program, which is re-evaluated on an 
annual basis. The Group estimates the amount of capital 
commitment under this agreement for 2011 to be approx-
imately $349 million.

The Group has a commitment to execute the capital con-
struction program of its power generation segment and 
under the terms of this program power plants with total 
capacity of 890 MW should be constructed. Currently the 
Group is approving certain amendments to the capital 
construction program, including its extension by the end 
of 2013. As of December 31, 2010, the Group estimates 
the amount of this commitment to be approximately 
$660 million.

contractual obligations, other contingencies 
and off balance sheet arrangeMents 
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The following table displays our total contractual obligations and other commitments:

(millions of US dollars) total 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 after

on balance sheet

Short term debt 794 794 – – – – –

Long-term bank loans and borrowings 2,071 954 337 378 129 119 154

Long-term non-bank loans and borrowings 1,693 53 51 50 24 21 1,494

6.375% Non-convertible US dollar bonds, 
maturing 2014 896 – – – 896 – –

2.625% Convertible US dollar bonds, 
maturing 2015 1,388 – – – – 1,388 –

6.356% Non-convertible US dollar bonds, 
maturing 2017 500 – – – – – 500

7.250% Non-convertible US dollar bonds, 
maturing 2019 595 – – – – – 595

6.125% Non-convertible US dollar bonds, 
maturing 2020 998 – – – – – 998

6.656% Non-convertible US dollar bonds, 
maturing 2022 500 – – – – – 500

7.10% Russian ruble bonds, maturing 2011 262 262 – – – – –

13.35% Russian ruble bonds, maturing 2012 820 – 820 – – – –

9.20% Russian ruble bonds, maturing 2012 328 – 328 – – – –

7.40% Russian ruble bonds, maturing 2013 197 – – 197 – – –

Capital lease obligations 152 62 20 20 20 20 10

total 11,194 2,125 1,556 645 1,069 1,548 4,251

off balance sheet

Operating lease obligations 846 220 168 130 110 100 118

Capital commitments in PSAs 720 662 20 2 2 2 32

Capital commitments of power generating 
segment 660 345 169 146 – – –

Obligation under contract with 
OOO Eurasia Drilling Company 1,139 1,139 – – – – –

Obligation under contract with 
ZAO Globalstroy-Engineering 349 349 – – – – –
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 litigation and Claims

 On November 27, 2001, Archangel Diamond Corporation 
(“ADC”), a Canadian diamond development company, filed 
a lawsuit in the District Court of Denver, Colorado against 
OAO Archangelskgeoldobycha (“AGD”), a Group compa-
ny, and the Company (together the “Defendants”). ADC  
alleged that the Defendants interfered with the transfer of 
a diamond exploration license to Almazny Bereg, a joint 
venture between ADC and AGD. ADC claimed total dam-
ages of approximately $4.8 billion, including compensa-
tory damages of $1.2 billion and punitive damages of  
$3.6 billion. On October 15, 2002, the District Court dis-
missed the lawsuit for lack of personal jurisdiction. This 
ruling was upheld by the Colorado Court of Appeals on 
March 25, 2004. On November 21, 2005, the Colorado 
Supreme Court affirmed the lower courts’ ruling that no 
specific jurisdiction exists over the Defendants. By virtue 
of this finding, AGD (the holder of the diamond explora-
tion license) was dismissed from the lawsuit. The Supreme 
Court found, however, that the trial court made a proce-
dural error by failing to hold an evidentiary hearing before 
making its ruling concerning general jurisdiction regard-
ing the Company, which is whether the Company had sys-
tematic and continuous contacts in the State of Colorado 
at the time the lawsuit was filed. In a modified opinion 
dated December 19, 2005, the Colorado Supreme Court 
remanded the case to the Colorado Court of Appeals (in-
stead of the District Court) to consider whether the law-
suit should have been dismissed on alternative grounds 
(i.e., forum non conveniens). On June 29, 2006, the  
Colorado Court of Appeals declined to dismiss the case 
based on forum non conveniens. The Company filed  
a petition for certiorari on August 28, 2006, asking the 
Colorado Supreme Court to review this decision. On 
March 5, 2007, the Colorado Supreme Court remand-
ed the case to the District Court. On June 11, 2007, the  
District Court ruled it would conduct an evidentiary hear-
ing on the issue of whether the Company is subject to 
general personal jurisdiction in the State of Colorado. 
Discovery regarding jurisdiction was commenced. On 
June 26, 2009, three creditors of ADC filed an Involuntary 
Bankruptcy Petition putting ADC into bankruptcy. ADC 
ultimately confirmed entry of an Order For Relief and  
the matter was converted to a Chapter 11 Case by or-
der dated September 29, 2009. On November 25, 2009, 
after adding a claim, ADC removed the case from the 
Colorado District Court to the US Bankruptcy Court. On  
December 22, 2009, the Company filed a motion seeking 
to have the case remanded to the Colorado District Court.  
On December 31, 2009, before there was a ruling on 

the motion seeking remand ADC filed a motion seeking 
withdrawal of the reference to the Bankruptcy Court and  
requesting the case be heard by the US District Court. On 
February 3, 2010, the US Bankruptcy Court ordered the 
Motion For Withdrawal Of The Reference be transferred to 
the US District Court for further action. All pending mo-
tions as well as discovery were stayed pending further or-
der of the Court. On July 7, 2010, the District Court denied 
ADC’s Motion for Withdrawal of reference and returned 
the case to the Bankruptcy Court for the determination 
of the Company’s Motion for Remand and Abstention 
seeking return of the case to the Colorado state court. On 
October 28, 2010, the Bankruptcy Court granted the Com-
pany’s Motion for Remand and Abstention and remand-
ed the case to the Denver District Court (Colorado state 
court) where it is now pending. ADC is expected to com-
mence discovery regarding general jurisdiction shortly af-
ter the Court holds a status conference on March 18, 2011. 
Management intends to contest jurisdiction and denies 
all material allegations against the Company. Manage-
ment does not believe that the ultimate resolution of this 
matter will have a material adverse effect on the Group’s 
financial condition.

As of the date the financial statements were available 
to be issued 76 claims in relation to a violation of the 
anti-monopoly regulation were initiated against several 
Group companies in Russia and abroad. The Group com-
panies were accused of violations primarily involving 
abuse of their dominant market position and execution  
of coordinated actions in oil products retail markets.

In 2008 and 2009, the Federal Anti-monopoly Service of 
the Russian Federation (“FAS of Russia”) considered two 
cases which resulted in decisions being issued against 
a number of major Russian oil companies, including the 
Company and the Group’s refinery plants, alleging abuse 
of their dominant position in the oil products wholesale 
market of the Russian Federation.

As for the first case, the Group refinery plants appealed 
the decisions of FAS of Russia in the Moscow Arbitration 
Court. These appeals were combined in one proceeding. 
In addition the Group’s refinery plants appealed against 
the administrative fines accrued by FAS of Russia to the 
courts in their locations. Due to abandonment of the 
claim by the Group’s refinery plants the combined pro-
ceeding was terminated on December 13, 2010.  Due to 
the same reason appeals against the administrative fines 
of the Group’s refinery plants have also been terminated. 
The Group’s refinery plants filed an application to FAS of 
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Russia asking for payment deferrals for the fines accrued. 
As of the date the financial statements were available to 
be issued, deferral has been approved for some of the 
Group’s refineries. The remaining applications are under 
consideration.

As for the second case, the Group’s refinery plants 
filed claims against the decisions of FAS of Russia and  
administrative fines accrued. Due to the signing of the 
agreement between FAS of Russia and OOO LUKOIL- 
Volgogradneftepererabotka, OOO LUKOIL-Nizhegorod-
nefteorgsintez and OOO LUKOIL-Permnefteorgsintez 
fines were significantly reduced and lawsuits were termi-
nated. A similar agreement is agreed to be signed with 
OOO LUKOIL-UNP. Currently, proceedings on this case 
are stayed. OOO LUKOIL-Nizhegorodnefteorgsintez has 
already paid the fines. FAS of Russia approved payment 
deferrals for OOO LUKOIL-Volgogradneftepererabotka 
and OOO LUKOIL-Permnefteorgsintez. OOO LUKOIL-UNP 
is going to file an application for payment deferrals to  
FAS of Russia.

The total amount of administrative penalties claimed 
from the Group which are estimated to be possible and 
probable is currently $106 million, of which a provision of  
$96 million was accrued in the Group’s consolidated  
financial statements as of December 31, 2010 as probable 
to be paid. These expenses were included in “Other non-
operating expense” of the consolidated statements of in-
come.

On February 9, 2011, FAS of Russia filed a new lawsuit 
against the three largest Russian oil companies, includ-
ing the Company, accusing them of abuse of their domi-
nant position in the oil products market. However, the  
Company is not aware of the claim details until the case 
starts being considered. The order of legal proceedings 
has not been received by the Company as of the date the 
financial statements were available to be issued. 

In March 2010, an ethanol purchase agreement signed  
by Getty Petroleum Marketing Inc., a Group Company, 
and Bionol Clearfield LLC came into force. The initial 
term of the agreement was five years. On June 1, 2010,  
Getty Petroleum Marketing Inc. filed an Arbitration claim 
to make amendments to the ethanol purchase agree-
ment and to compensate for losses. On June 18, 2010,  
Bionol Clearfield LLC filed a counter-claim to the Arbitra-
tion tribunal of the American Arbitration Association with 
examination of a case in Boston to execute the agree-
ment or to pay compensation. The amount of the claim of  
Bionol Clearfield LLC is $250 million. The counterpar-
ties came to an agreement about the schedule of court 
hearings and documents submission. Hearings began on 
February 16, 2011. At this time it is not possible to pre-
dict whether any of the issues in the Arbitration are re-
mote or probable, or the likely outcome of the Arbitration.  
Management does not believe that the ultimate resolu-
tion of this matter will have a material adverse effect on 
the Group’s financial condition.

The Group is involved in cost recovery disputes with the 
Republic of Kazakhstan. The Group’s share of the claim is 
approximately $244 million. Management is of the view 
that substantially all of the amounts subject to dispute 
are in fact recoverable under the Final Production Sharing 
Agreement. Management believes that the ultimate reso-
lution of the claim will not have a material adverse impact 
on the Group’s operating results or financial condition.

The Group is involved in various other claims and legal 
proceedings arising in the normal course of business. 
While these claims may seek substantial damages against 
the Group and are subject to uncertainty inherent in any 
litigation, management does not believe that the ulti-
mate resolution of such matters will have a material ad-
verse impact on the Group’s operating results or financial  
condition.
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The preparation of financial statements in conformity 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America requires management to select 
appropriate accounting policies and to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. See Note 2 
“Summary of significant accounting policies” to our 
consolidated financial statements for descriptions of the 
Company’s major accounting policies. Certain of these 
accounting policies involve judgments and uncertainties 
to such an extent that there is a reasonable likelihood that 
materially different amounts would have been reported 
under different conditions, or if different assumptions had 
been used.

Business ComBinations

PURCHASE PRICE ALLOCATION

Accounting for the acquisition of a business requires the 
allocation of the purchase price to the various assets and 
liabilities of the acquired business. For most assets and 
liabilities, purchase price allocation is accomplished by 
recording the asset or liability at its estimated fair value. 
The most difficult estimations of individual fair values 
are those involving property, plant and equipment 
and identifiable intangible assets. We use all available 
information to make these fair value determinations 
and, for major business acquisitions, typically engage 
an outside appraisal firm to assist in the fair value 
determination of the acquired long-lived assets. We have, 
if necessary, up to one year after the acquisition closing 
date to finish these fair value determinations and finalize 
the purchase price allocation.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

Our consolidated financial statements include the 
financial position and results of the Company, controlled 
subsidiaries of which the Company directly or indirectly 
owns more than 50% of the voting interest, unless 
minority interest shareholders have substantive 
participating rights, and variable interest entities where 
the Group is determined to be the primary beneficiary. 
Other significant investments in companies of which the 
Company directly or indirectly owns between 20% and 
50% of the voting interest and over which it exercises 
significant influence but not control, are accounted for 
using the equity method of accounting. Investments in 
companies of which the Company directly or indirectly 

owns more than 50% of the voting interest but where 
minority interest shareholders have substantive 
participating rights are accounted for using the equity 
method of accounting. Undivided interests in oil and gas 
joint ventures are accounted for using the proportionate 
consolidation method. Investments in other companies 
are recorded at cost.

revenue reCognition

Revenues from the production and sale of crude oil and 
petroleum products are recognized when title passes 
to customers at which point the risks and rewards of 
ownership are assumed by the customer and the price 
is fixed or determinable. Revenues include excise on 
petroleum products sales and duties on export sales of 
crude oil and petroleum products.

Revenues from non-cash sales are recognized at the fair 
market value of the crude oil and petroleum products 
sold.

suCCessful efforts aCCounting  
for oil and gas aCtivities

Accounting for oil and gas activities is subject to special 
accounting rules that are unique to the oil and gas 
industry.  Property acquisitions, successful exploratory 
wells, all development costs and support equipment and 
facilities are capitalized.  Artificial stimulation and well 
work-over costs are included in operating expenses as 
incurred.

PROPERTY ACQUISITION COSTS

For individually significant undeveloped properties, 
management periodically performs impairment test 
based on exploration and drilling efforts to date. For 
undeveloped properties that individually are relatively 
small, management exercises judgment and determines 
a periodic property impairment charge as required that is 
reported in loss on disposals and impairments of assets.

 ExPLORATORY COSTS

For exploratory wells, drilling costs are temporarily 
capitalized, or “suspended”, on the balance sheet, pending 
a judgmental determination of whether potentially 
economic oil and gas reserves have been discovered 

 critical accounting policies 
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by the drilling effort.  If a judgment is made that the 
well did not encounter potentially economic oil and 
gas quantities, the well costs are expensed as a dry hole 
and are reported in exploration expense. Exploratory 
wells that are judged to have discovered potentially 
economic quantities of oil and gas and that are in areas 
where a major capital expenditure would be required 
before production could begin, remain capitalized on the 
balance sheet as long as additional exploratory appraisal 
work is under way or firmly planned.  There is no periodic 
impairment assessment of suspended exploratory well 
costs. Management continuously monitors the results 
of the additional appraisal drilling and seismic work and 
expenses the suspended well costs as dry holes when it 
judges that the potential field does not warrant further 
exploratory efforts in the near term. 

Other exploratory expenditures, including geological and 
geophysical costs are expensed as incurred.

proved oil and gas reserves

Due to the inherent uncertainties and the necessarily 
limited nature of reservoir data, estimates of reserves are 
inherently imprecise, require the application of judgment 
and are subject to change as additional information 
becomes available. The estimates are made using all 
available geological and reservoir data as well as historical 
production data.  Estimates are reviewed and revised as 
appropriate.  Revisions occur as a result of changes in 
prices, costs, fiscal regimes, reservoir performance or a 
change in the Company’s plans.

Proved oil and gas reserves are the estimated quantities 
of crude oil, natural gas liquids including condensate 
and natural gas that geological and engineering data 
demonstrate with reasonable certainty can be recovered 
in future years from known reservoirs under existing 
economic and operating conditions.  Reserves are 
considered proved if they can be produced economically 
as demonstrated by either actual production or conclusive 
formation tests.  Proved reserves do not include additional 
quantities of oil and gas reserves that may result from 
applying secondary or tertiary recovery techniques not 
yet tested and determined to be economic.  The proved 
reserves include volumes which are recoverable up to 
and after license expiry dates. Proved developed reserves 
are the quantities of proved reserves expected to be 
recovered through existing wells with existing equipment 
and operating methods.

Management has included within proved reserves 
significant quantities which the Group expects to produce 
after the expiry dates of certain of its current production 
licenses in the Russian Federation. The Subsoil Law of the 

Russian Federation states that, upon expiration, a license 
is subject to renewal at the initiative of the license holder 
provided that further exploration, appraisal, production 
or remediation activities are necessary and provided 
that the license holder has not violated the terms of the 
license. Since the law applies both to newly issued and old 
licenses and the Group has currently renewed nearly 50% 
of its licenses, management believes that licenses will be 
renewed upon their expiration for the remainder of the 
economic life of each respective field.

impairment of long-lived assets

Long-lived assets, such as oil and gas properties (other 
than unproved properties), other property, plant, and 
equipment, and purchased intangibles subject to 
amortization, are assessed for impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amount of an asset group may not be 
recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used 
is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of 
an asset group to the estimated undiscounted future 
cash flows expected to be generated by that group. If the 
carrying amount of an asset group exceeds its estimated 
undiscounted future cash flows, an impairment charge 
is recognized by writing down the carrying amount to 
the estimated fair value of the asset group, generally 
determined as discounted future net cash flows. Assets 
to be disposed of are separately presented in the balance 
sheet and reported at the lower of the carrying amount or 
fair value less costs to sell, and are no longer depreciated. 
The assets and liabilities of a disposed group classified as 
held for sale are presented separately in the appropriate 
asset and liability sections of the balance sheet.

deferred inCome taxes

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized 
in respect of future tax consequences attributable to 
temporary differences between the carrying amounts 
of existing assets and liabilities for the purposes of the 
consolidated financial statements and their respective 
tax bases and in respect of operating loss and tax credit 
carryforwards. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities 
are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply 
to taxable income in the years in which those temporary 
differences are expected to reverse and the assets be 
recovered and liabilities settled. The effect on deferred 
income tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates 
is recognized in the consolidated statement of income in 
the reporting period which includes the enactment date.

The ultimate realization of deferred income tax assets 
is dependent upon the generation of future taxable 
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income in the reporting periods in which the originating 
expenditure becomes deductible. In assessing the 
realizability of deferred income tax assets, management 
considers whether it is more likely than not that the 
deferred income tax assets will be realized. In making 
this assessment, management considers the scheduled 
reversal of deferred income tax liabilities, projected future 
taxable income, and tax planning strategies. 

An income tax position is recognized only if the uncertain 
position is more likely than not of being sustained upon 
examination, based on its technical merits. A recognized 
income tax position is measured at the largest amount 
that is greater than 50% likely of being realized. Changes 
in recognition or measurement are reflected in the period 
in which the change in judgment occurs.

asset retirement oBligations

Under various laws, contracts, permits and regulations, 
the Group has legal obligations to remove tangible 
equipment and restore the land or seabed at the end 
of operations at production sites. The largest asset 
retirement obligations of the Group relate to wells and 
oil and gas production facilities and pipelines. The Group 
records the fair value of liabilities associated with such 
obligations when incurred. Estimating the future asset 
retirement obligations costs necessary for this accounting 
calculation involves significant estimates and judgments 
by management. Most of these obligations are many 
years in the future and the contracts and regulations 
often have vague descriptions of what removal practices 
and criteria will have to be met when the removal event 
actually occurs. Asset removal technologies and costs are 
constantly changing, as well as political, environmental, 
safety and public relations considerations.

ContingenCies

Certain conditions may exist as of balance sheet dates that 
may result in losses, but the impact of which will only be 
resolved when one or more future events occur or fail to 
occur.  The Group is required to both determine whether 
a loss is probable based on judgment and interpretation 
of laws and regulations and determine whether the loss 
can be reasonably estimated.  If our assessment of a 
contingency indicates that it is probable that a material loss 
will arise, and the amount of the liability can be estimated, 
then the estimated liability is accrued and charged to the 
consolidated statement of income.  If our assessment 
indicates that a potentially material loss is not probable, 
but is only reasonably possible, or is probable but cannot 
be estimated, then the nature of the contingent liability 
is disclosed in the notes to our consolidated financial 

statements.  Loss contingencies considered remote are 
generally not disclosed unless they involve guarantees, 
in which case the nature of the guarantee is disclosed.  
The Company’s management continually monitor known 
and potential contingent matters and make appropriate 
charges to the consolidated statement of income when 
warranted by circumstance.

use of derivative instruments

The Group’s derivative activity is limited to certain 
petroleum products marketing and trading outside of 
its physical crude oil and petroleum products businesses 
and hedging of commodity price risks. Currently this 
activity involves the use of futures and swaps contracts 
together with purchase and sale contracts that qualify 
as derivative instruments. The Group accounts for these 
activities under the mark-to-market methodology in 
which the derivatives are revalued each accounting 
period. Resulting realized and unrealized gains or losses 
are presented in the consolidated statement of income 
on a net basis. Unrealized gains and losses are carried as 
assets or liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.
 

reCent aCCounting pronounCements

In December 2010, the FASB issued Accounting Standards 
Update (“ASU”) No. 2010-29, “Disclosure of Supplementary 
Pro Forma Information for Business Combinations.” This 
ASU requires that the pro forma information be presented 
at if the business combination occurred at the beginning 
of the prior annual reporting period for purposes of 
calculating both the current reporting period and the 
prior reporting period pro forma financial information. 
The ASU also requires that this disclosure be accompanied 
by a narrative description of the amount and nature of 
material nonrecurring pro forma adjustments. The ASU 
No. 2010-29 is effective for the Group for the reporting 
periods ending after December 15, 2010. The Group 
adopted ASU No. 2010-29 for the 2010 annual financial 
statements. This adoption did not have a material impact 
on the Group’s results of operations, financial position or 
cash flows.

In December 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-28, 
“When to Perform Step 2 of the Goodwill Impairment 
Test for Reporting Units with Zero or Negative Carrying 
Amounts.” This ASU modifies Step 1 of the goodwill 
impairment test for reporting units with zero or negative 
carrying amounts. As a result, ASU No. 2010-28 is 
eliminating an entity’s ability to assert that a reporting 
unit is not required to perform Step 2 because the 
carrying amount of the reporting unit is zero or negative 
despite the existence of qualitative factors that indicate 
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the goodwill is more likely than not impaired. Therefore, 
goodwill impairments may be reported sooner than 
under current practice. The ASU No. 2010-28 is effective 
for the Group for the reporting periods ending after 
December 15, 2010. The Group adopted ASU No. 2010-28 
for the 2010 annual financial statements. This adoption 
did not have a material impact on the Group’s results of 
operations, financial position or cash flows.

In July 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-20, “Disclosures 
about the Credit Quality of Financing Receivables and the 
Allowance for Credit Losses,” which amends Accounting 
Standards Codification (“ASC”) No. 310, “Receivables.” 
This ASU provides financial statement users with greater 
transparency about an entity’s allowance for credit 
losses and the credit quality of its financing receivables 
and requires entities provide disclosures that facilitate 
financial statement users’ evaluation of the following: 1) 
the nature of credit risk inherent in the entity’s portfolio 
of financing receivables; 2) how that risk is analyzed 
and assessed in arriving at the allowance for credit 
losses; 3) the changes and reasons for those changes in 
the allowance for credit losses. The ASU No. 2010-20 is 
effective for the Group for the reporting periods ending 
after December 15, 2010. The Group adopted ASU  
No. 2010-20 for the 2010 annual financial statements. This 

adoption did not have a material impact on the Group’s 
results of operations, financial position or cash flows and 
did not require additional disclosures.

In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-06, 
“Improving Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements,” 
which requires reporting entities to make new disclosures 
about recurring or nonrecurring fair-value measurements 
including significant transfers into and out of Level 1 
and Level 2 fair-value measurements and information 
about purchases, sales, issuances, and settlements on 
a gross basis in the reconciliation of Level 3 fair-value 
measurements. This ASU also clarifies existing fair-value 
measurement disclosure guidance about the level of 
disaggregation, inputs, and valuation techniques. ASU 
No. 2010-06 is effective for interim and annual reporting 
periods beginning after December 15, 2009, except 
for the detailed Level 3 roll forward disclosures (which 
are effective for the annual reporting periods starting 
after December 15, 2010 and for interim periods within 
those annual reporting periods). The Group adopted the 
requirements of ASU No. 2010-06 (except for the detailed 
Level 3 roll forward disclosures) starting from the first 
quarter of 2010. This adoption did not have a material 
impact on the Group’s results of operations, financial 
position or cash flows.
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Certain statements in this document are not historical 
facts and are “forward-looking.” We may from time to 
time make written or oral forward-looking statements 
in reports to shareholders and in other communications. 
Examples of such forward-looking statements include, 
but are not limited to:

• statements of our plans, objectives or goals, 
including those related to products or services

• statements of future economic performance

• statements of assumptions underlying such 
statements

Forward looking statements that may be made by us from 
time to time (but that are not included in this document) 
may also include projections or expectations of revenues, 
income (or loss), earnings (or loss) per share, dividends, 
capital structure or other financial items or ratios. Words 
such as “believes,” “anticipates,” “expects,” “estimates,” 
“intends” and “plans” and similar expressions are intended 
to identify forward-looking statements but are not the 
exclusive means of identifying such statements. By their 
very nature, forward-looking statements involve inherent 
risks and uncertainties, both general and specific, and 
risks exist that the predictions, forecasts, projections and 
other forward-looking statements will not be achieved. 
You should be aware that a number of important factors 
could cause actual results to differ materially from the 
plans, objectives, expectations, estimates and intentions 
expressed in such forward-looking statements.

These factors include:

• inflation, interest rate and exchange rate fluctuations

• the price of oil

• the effects of, and changes in, Russian government 
policy

• the effects of competition in the geographic and 
business areas in which we conduct operations

• the effects of changes in laws, regulations, taxation 
or accounting standards or practices

• our ability to increase market share for our products 
and control expenses

• acquisitions or divestitures

• technological changes

• our success at managing the risks  
of the aforementioned factors

This list of important factors is not exhaustive. When relying 
on forward-looking statements, you should carefully 
consider the foregoing factors and other uncertainties and 
events, especially in light of the political, economic, social 
and legal environment in which we operate. Such forward-
looking statements speak only as of the date on which 
they are made, and, subject to any continuing obligations 
under the Listing Rules of the U.K. Listing Authority, we 
do not undertake any obligation to update or revise any 
of them, whether as a result of new information, future 
events or otherwise. We do not make any representation, 
warranty or prediction that the results anticipated by such 
forward-looking statements will be achieved, and such 
forward-looking statements represent, in each case, only 
one of many possible scenarios and should not be viewed 
as the most likely or standard scenario.

forward-looKing stateMents



RefeRence InfoRmatIon 

The most complete and up-to-date information about LUKOIL 
can always be found on the Company’s website: www.lukoil.ru 
(Russian) or www.lukoil.com (English).

The site also provides information about trends and results of 
LUKOIL’s business, as well as accurate and up-to-date informa-
tion about events concerning the Company and the whole 
spectrum of LUKOIL activities, including details of the Com-
pany’s social and environmental policies. 

The Investor Center section of the site presents the com-
pany's financial and industrial results, dividend history, share 
prices, an investor calculator, presentations for investors,  
and Company reports. 
 
Legal address and central office
11, Sretensky Boulevard, Moscow, 101 000, Russia

central Information Service
Tel: +7 (495) 627-44-44, 628-98-41 
Fax: +7 (495) 625-70-16

Shareholder Relations Department
Tel: +7 (495) 627-48-84, (499) 973-73-46
Fax: +7 (495) 627-41-91
E-mail: shareholder@lukoil.com

Investor Relations Department
Tel: + 7 (495) 627-16-96
Fax: + 7 (495) 981-72-88
E-mail: ir@lukoil.com

Press Service
Tel: +7 (495) 627-16-77
Fax: +7 (495) 627-16-53
E-mail: media@lukoil.com

LUKoIL Stock consulting center 
3 (Building 1), Pokrovsky Boulevard, Moscow, 
101 000, Russia
Tel: + 7 (495) 627-41-91, 627-43-80
Fax: + 7 (495) 627-41-91

nIKoIL Registrar company
8 Ivano Franko street, Moscow, 121108, Russia 
Tel/fax for individuals: + 7 (495) 933-67-39
Tel/fax for corporates: + 7 (495) 926-81-61

Published reports

Electronic versions of the following reports are available on 
the Company web site: 

1. Report on Company Business.
2. Consolidated Financial Accounts.
3. Quarterly Consolidated Financial Accounts.
4. Management Discussion and Analysis  

of Financial Situation and Results of Operations
5. Analyst DataBook.
6. Fact book

concepts and abbreviations 
used in the Report

Mentions of ‘OAO LUKOIL’, ‘LUKOIL Group’, ‘the Group’, ‘LUKOIL’, 
‘the Company’, ‘we’ and ‘our’ are equivalent for the purposes of 
this Report and refer to LUKOIL Group of companies, to LUKOIL 
and/or its subsidiary enterprises, depending upon the context 
in which the terms are used. 

The average rouble/dollar exchange rate for 2010  
(30.37 roubles/dollar) is used in conversion of rouble figures for 
expression in dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

Figures for reserves and production of oil include oil, gas 
condensate and gas liquids.

‘Regions’ with a capital ‘R’ refers to administrative divisions 
of the Russian Federation, ‘regions’ with a small ‘r’ refers to 
general geographical divisions.

‘Reference fuel’ is a rough measure to enable comparisons 
between different types of fuel, based on their energy content.  
1 tonne of reference fuel = one tonne of crude oil = 1,000 cubic 
meters of natural gas.

abbreviations

boe — barrels of oil equivalent (1 boe = 6,000 cubic feet of 
gas)
km — kilometer 
ppm — parts per million
PSA — production sharing agreement
RTS — Russian Trading System
MICEx — Moscow Interbank Currency Exchange

216




	Contents
	Letter to Shareholders
	LUKOIL in the World
	Main Operating and Financial Indicators
	Events in 2010
	Oil & Gas Exploration and Production
	Licensing
	Oil and Gas Reserves
	Geological Exploration
	Oil Field Development and Production
	Gas field development and gas production

	Oil Refining, Gas Processing and Petrochemicals
	Oil Refining
	New catalytic cracking complex at the Nizhny Novgorod Refinery
	Production of Lubricants
	Gas processing
	Petrochemicals

	Power Generation
	Product Deliveries and Marketing
	Crude oil deliveries
	Gas Deliveries
	Gas productionand supply structure
	Petroleum product marketing

	Trade balance of LUKOIL subsidiaries (2010)
	Technology and Innovation
	Exploration & production technologies
	Refining Technologies
	Information Technologies

	Social Responsibility
	Protecting the Environment
	Health and safety
	Personnel and Social Programs
	Sponsorship and Charity

	Corporate Governance and Securities
	Corporate Governance
	Board of Directors and Management Committee
	Members of the Board of Directors of LU KOIL
	Committees of the Board of Directors
	Management Committee of LUKOIL
	Changes in Group Structure
	Financial management
	Internal Control and Internal Audit
	Information disclosure
	Company securities
	Dividends

	Consolidated Financial Statements
	Independent Auditors’ Report
	Consolidated Balance Sheets
	Consolidated Statements of Income
	Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Comprehensive
	Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
	Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
	Supplementary Information on Oil and Gas Exploration and Production Activities

	Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations
	Key financial and operational results
	Operational highlights
	Main macroeconomic factors affecting our results of operations
	Year ended December 31, 2010, compared to years ended December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008
	Liquidity and capital resources
	Contractual obligations, other contingencies and off balance sheet arrangements
	Critical accounting policies
	Forward-looking statements

	Reference Information



